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ABUSES OF CORPORATE POWER

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 14, 1976

Coxaress oF TEE UNITED STATES,
SUBCOMMMITIEE ON PRIORITIES AND
Ecoxony 1x GOVERNMENT OF THE
Jornt EcoNonrrc CoOMMITTRE,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m., in room
1318, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. William Proxmire (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present : Senator Proxmire.

Also present: Richard F. Kaufman, general counsel; Loughlin F.
McHugh, professional staff member; George D. Xrumbhaar, Jr.,
minority counsel; and M. Catherine Miller, minority economist.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN PROXMIRE

Chairman Proxarre. The subcommittee will come to order.

Good morning, Mr. Hills. We are happy to have you here. 7

Today we begin the first in what I expect will be an extended series
of hearings on the subject of abuses of corporate power. The focus
will be on official corporate crimes and impreper behavior: Bribes,
kickbacks, illegal campaign contributions, and other improper uses
of corporate funds.

I use the phrase, “official corporate crimes,” to draw an important
distinction. We are not talking about petty theft or embezzlement
within the firm, an official who steals money from the corporation.
That is something we know about and something that we all deplore
and something that of course crops up at any time under any cir-
cumstances. We are talking about something else other than what is
generally referred to as white-collar crime.

We intend to concentrate on cases where corporations have wrong-
fully used their funds as a matter of policy, with the approval and
active participation of top corporate management.

The numerous disclosures that have been made so far—involving
some of the largest and most prestigious firms in America—suggest
that at least an important part of the private sector is a house of
marked cards, composed of kings of corruption, jacks of all illicit
trades, and aces of political influence.

We need look no further to understand the loss of consmmer con-
fidence than the companies that have been involved in these kinds of
excesses. Private enterprise seems unable to monitor itseif. Instead,
it is undermining itself.

(1)
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In the hearings we will ask the following questions:

One, what is the extent and seriousness of corporate abuses? Are
the cases isolated and exceptional or do they indicate pervasive,
deep-rooted problems?

Two, how seriously is economic policy being distorted to serve the
demands of private companies?

Three, what are the estimated costs of corporate abuses to the tax-
payer, the consumer and the sharcholder?

Four, are new solutions, including new legislation, needed to deal
with these problems? . - , ‘

If corporate abuses of power have become pervasive, then all of
us need to consider, where do we go from here?

Qur first witness is Flon. Roderick M. Hills, Chairman of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Mr. Hills, we are very happy to have you here. You have a very
interesting statement. Go right ahead.

STATEMENT OF HON. RODERICK M, HILLS, CHAIRMAN, SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ACCOMPANIED BY STANLEY
SPORKIN, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Mr. Hirrs. Thank yvoun, Mr. Chairman. T am particularly pleased
to be before this subcommittee on this subject. Based on the 60 plus
days I have served at the Commission, I am pleased to say, on behalf
of all the Commissioners, that nothing makes us quite so proud as the
efforts of a relatively small number of people in this area. The effects
they have had on American business I think will prove to be a major
asset to American business.

We don’t know the answers to all your questions, Senator. We do
know that our program is progressing, and I hope that in my testi-
mony which I shall give in large part this morning, and in my
prepared statement, we can say something that is relevant to those
questions.

I will attempt to deseribe our voluntary program, that is our effort
to elicit from corporations throughout the country a willingness to
come in and tell us they will give us answers to many of the questions
vou have asked. I think it is instructive, as sad as we may be about
some of the practices that have hoen uncovered, to see how the corpo-
rate apparatus will react once it faces up to the problems of the past.
The very distingnished lawyer from New York, John J. McCloy, in
his report of the Special Review Committee to the board of directors
of a major oil company faced with many of these problems, has pro-
vided a text for future corporate hehavior. We are pleased to see this
morning. in a press release frem that company, a stetement from the
board saying that it will set up a permanent committee on business
principles to establish a code of corporate ethics for its employees
throughont the world. :

My own judgment is that American business has too often catered to
pressures and interests, not recognizing its own strengths and not rec-
ogniring its own responsibilities.

I do not intend. Senator, to speak entirely verhatim from my state-
ment which was previously submitted to the subcommittee. Further, as



the Senator knows, we have provided the staff with a large number
of documents, including all the complaints and various reports that
we have received. I should like, however, to spend some time on what
we believe to be the more important features of the Commission’s en-
forcement and disclosure programs today.

The Commission’s enforcement program has focused on companies
which have maintained secret funds outside the normul financial ac-
countability system, and on cases in which companies have engaged
in various illegal practices. It is important, as the Senator has pointed
out, to note that in each case there was direct involvement and partici-
pation by senior management officials. In each case there was a distor-
tion, either by misstatement or omission, of the real purposes for which
corporate funds were spent.

The practices uncovered in the course of these investigations re-
vealed problems of serious magnitude—bonuses to selected corporate
employees which were rebated for use in making illegal domestie po-
litical contributions by such corp¢ - “ions; use of an offshore corporate
subsidiary as “cover” for a revol - -+ cash fund for distributing di-
verted corporate funds for both dis: tic and foreign political activi-
ties, all of which were illegal in " . place where paid; anonymous
foreign bearer stock corporations used as depositories for secret illegal
kickbacks offered in this country; payments to foreign consultants
which were redirected to management and used for illegal domestic
political contributions and commercial bribery; overt corporate pay-
ments to foreign government officials in return for favorable business
concessions; and tens of millions of dollars paid to consultants, the
payments used allegedly to bribe foreign government officials in order
to procure business.

But I must say, Mr. Chairman, that in many of these cases, we are
dealing with the allegations of the corporate officials as to where tha
money went. We must say to this subcommittee we do not now have
proof as to where these funds did go in many cases. In other words,
we do have corporate officials telling ns that these moneys went to
foreign governmental officials. As yet, however, some of the account-
ings that have been ordered, eitlier by settlement or by court decree,
in Commission enforcement actions, have not been completed. Accord-
ingly, there are still large amounts of money unaccounted for.

The Commisgion has brought civil actions, injunctive actions, in
various U.S. district courts against nine corporations, including, of
course, some of this Nation’s largest, with sales ranging from approxi-
mately $100 million to $18 billion. Corporate officers and directors
have been included as defendants in practically all of the cases. Im all
but two of the cases the Commission has charged violations of the
proxy solicitation provisions of the Securities Exchange Act. In three
of the actions the Commission charged violations of the antifraud
provisions of the act. In all but one it was alleged that senior manage-
ment officials, often the chief executive officer, participated in the vio-
lative activities. '

Chairman Proxyare. Could I ask you—I am going to ask you as we
go along here—to identify the firms. But in view of the fact that you
say, “In all but one of the cases it was alleged that senior management
officials participated in the violative activities,” what was the firm
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in which there was no evidence that senior management officials par-
ticipated ? Can you recall that?

Mr, Hrs. Stan, do you know thie name of that company?

Senator, I have not done so in the testimony that I prepared, but I
can identify the companies, if the Senator wishes, as we go along.

Chairman Proxacre. All right. Will you do that?

My, Hrrs. Yes. And we can have——

Chairman Proxarrrn., Could you have your man come forward ?

Mr. Hiras. Yes. We have the information, and we will do it.

Chairman Proxmrre. Go right ahead.

Mr. Hmrs. I should note again the problem in ¢ach situation, the
violative conditions alleged were facilitated by the maintenance of
false and inadequate corporate books and records.

Senator, as you well know, I am pleased to introduce Mr. Sporkin
who is Director of the Enforcement Division of the SEC.

Chairman Proxsrme. Very happy to have you. We know of your
outstanding reputation.

Mr. Hrrrs. It should be noted that, while some of these cases in-
volved domestic payments only and some involved foreign payments
only, in fact, most of them involved both.

The Commission’s first case involved the allegation that a major
maring construction company——

Chairman Proxnare. What was the name of that concern?

Mr. Hrrrs. That, Senator, was United Brands.

Chairman Proxmire. United Brands.

Mr, Hrurs. That a major marine construction company and its
%hi'ﬁfl—'—l am so sorry. That is quite incorrect. That is American Ship-

uilding.

Chairman Proxmire, Is that American Shipbuilding?

Mr. Hinrs. That is American Shipbuilding. It involved the alle-
gation that a major marine construction company and its chief execu-
tive officer represented that $120,000 in payments had been made to
employees and others as compensation when, in fact, those payments
were the means by which the corporation made political contributions.

In a subsequent domestic case, the Commission alleged that a major
manufacturing company and three of its officers and directors

Chairman Proxmrre. What was that, 3M? .

Mr. Hrrs. That is 3M Corp. It placed over $630,000 into a secret
cash fund created by false entries in the corporate books and records
purportedly for insurance and legal expenses. Almost $500,000 of this
fund was allagedly used for unlawful political contributions. This
case also involved as a defendant the company’s chief executive officer.

A third domestic case was brought against a major municipal serv-
icing organization, Sanitas Service Corp——

Chairman Proxame. What corporation?

Mr. Hrues. Sanitas. S-a-n-i-t-a-s. The complaint charged the com-
pany and officers, including a former chairman of the board, with pay-
ing over $1,200,000 to a corporation, wholly owned by a former exec-
utive vice President, for the purpose of using these funds for illegal
political payments, bribes, and kickbacks. The Commission further
alleged that the former board chairman and two of the other defend-
ants had concealed the true nature of these payments in periodic re-




ports and proxy materials file with the Commission and disseminated
to the company’s shareholders,

The first foreign case was brought against a major food products-
concern. This is United Brands. The company had advised share-
holders ina current report on form 8- of a reduction in an export tax
imposed by a Central American country on the company. The Com-
mission charged that this report should also have revealed that the
company had allegedly agreed to pay $2.5 million to high government
officials of that country in exchange for a government decision to
reduce the export tax, and that $1.25 million was, in fact, paid to cer-
tain officials. The complaint also alleged that the company’s books and
records were falsified to conceal the disbursement of these funds, and
that the defendant had made additional cash payments of about
$750,000 to officials of a FEuropean government to secure favorable
business opportunities for the company.

Chairman Proxatire. That was United Brands.

Mr, Hmas. Yes, Senator.

A second foreign snit charged a major industrial products company,
General Refractories, its chairman of the board, and its executive vice
president with making vndisclosed payments of about $400,000 to offi-
cials of two Eunropean governments without properly accounting for
this sum on the corporate books and records,

Chairman Proxsrme. That was General Refractories?

Mr. Hrrrs, General Refractories,

The remaining cases brought by the Commission involva both domes-
tic and foreign payments. One suit against a major multinztional oil
company, Phillips Petroleum, and its top officers alleged that over $2.8
million in corporate funds had been disbursed to two foreign corpora-
tions by means of false entries on the corporate books and records, and
that most of this sum was returned to the United States largely for ille-
gal political contributions and related expenses. The complaint further
alleged that the balance was distributed overseas in cash.

Another major oil company—this is Gulf Oil—and a former com-
pany vice president were charged with creating a secret fund for
unlawful political contributions and for other purposes. The complaint
alleged that, by means of false entries on the corporate bocks and rec-
ords, $10 million in corporate funds were given to a foreign subsidi-
ary, and other company subsidiaries, of which about $5.4 million was
returned to the United States and used largely for making illegal
political contributions. In addition, it was alleged that the balance of
the money was disbursed overseas in cash.

Senator, if I may point ont again, in this case it was the report of the
special review committes headed by John J. McCloy that can give
all of us some hope that when brought to light, when forced to face the
consequences of this type of investigation, companies can cause major
structural changes to occur in how ﬁley do business,

In another case, against a major defense contractor and its top
officers

Chairman Proxyire. What was that firm ?

Mr. Hirxs, Northrup Corp., Senator. It was alleged that a secret
fund of over $475,000 was generated from recycling of purportedly
bong fide payments to a European consultant and was utilized for
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unlawful political contributions, as well as for other purposes. Fur-
ther, the Commission alleged that approximately $30 million of cor-
porate funds had been disbursed to various consultants and others, a
portion of which was disbursed without adequate controls to insure
that the funds were used for the purposes indicated.

In a case against a large independent oil company, Ashland Qil
Corp., its chief executive and other officers, the Comumission alleged that
$780,000 of corporate moneys had been diverted to a secret fund main-
tained largely for illegal political contributions. The complaint also
alleged that over $4 million in cash was transferred or disbursed to
individuals overseas without adequate records to insure that the funds
were used for the purposes indicated.

Settlements have been reached with all of the defendants in five
cases; the rest are in litigation as to all or sonie of the defendants. In
those instances where settlements hiave heen reached, final judgments
of permanent injunction by consent have heen entered by the court,
with the settling defendants neither admitting nor denying the allega-
tions of the Commission’s complaint. These judgments. enjoin the
defendants from further violations of the Federal securities laws as
alleged in the complaint, and provide for certain ancillary, and we
think important, relief.

In addition to these actions, the Commission has also filed subpena
enforcement actions in the Federal courts against two very large cor-
porations seeking to compel them to comply with investigative sub-
penas calling for the production of documents and testimony neces-
sary for Commission investigations. In both cases. after hearings, the
court ordered the defendants to comply with the Clommission’s sub-
penas. In one case, involving a major defense contractor, the court
ordered that, except in dealings with agencies with law enforcement
responsibilities, the Commission give the defendant and interested
agencies of the U.S. Government advance notice before releasing the
subpenaed documents to any third party, other than a grand jury. In
so providing, however, the court expressly stated that nothing in the
order was to limit the investigative or enforcement efforts of the Com-
mission. In the second case, the court’s order requiring compliance with
the investigative subpena also called for similar protection against
premature disclosure of the subpenaed documents.

Chairman Proxarnire. What was the second case?

Mz, ITirs. Oceidental Petroleum.

The Commission currently has a number of active investigations
pending involving major U.S. corporations. Certain of these Investi-
gations have been diselosed, cither in the context of Commission
actions secking judicial enforcement of our investigatory subpenas, or
by the corporations under investigation.

In those actions where defendants have consented to the entry of
final judgments of permanent injunction, we are satisfied, Senator,
that the Commission has obtained the relief it is expressly authorized
to seek under the Federal securities lows. These final orders of perma-
nent injunction are, of course, enforceahle by criminal contempt pro-
ceedings in the event of further violations. In addition, important
ancillary relief—and by that we mean relief not specifically provided
in the Federal securities laws but which a court of equity may, in the
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exercise of its diseretion, grant in the interest of justice—has been
obtained,

Typically, these final orders have required the subject company to
establish a special comunittee, generally comprised of independent
members of its board of directors, in order to conduct a full investiga-
tion of the irregularities alleged in the Commission’s complaint. The
committees have generally utilized outside Jegal counsel and independ-
ent auditors, and have conducted detailed inquiries into the com-
pany’s books and records, and its past and present management and
corporate operations. After the conclusion of an investigation, the
special committee submits a complete report of the investigation to
the board of directors, which, of course, has the ultimate responsibility
for reviewing and implementing any recommendations contained in
the veport,

Again I direct the subcommittee’s attention to the report of the
Special Review Committee to the board of divectors of Gulf Oil Coryp.
for the subcommittee’s interest.

These inquiries by outside directors have served tivo most important
functions. First, they have provided the corporation and its shave-
holders with a mechanism, independent of the management that may
have been responsible for the alleged wrongdoing, to determine the
extent and nature of the problems involved, and to determine whether
restitution should be sought on behalf of the corporation or other
action initiated against past or present management. In short, this
form of ancillary relief has provided for a new governance of the cor-
poration, to protect the interests of the stockholders.

Our action in this vegard has been consistent with the longstanding
Cominission policy of advocating a greater role for independent dirvee-
tors in the affairs of publicly held companies. As early as 1940, fol-
lowing the McKesson-Robbins investigation, the Commission urged
the formatioin of committees of nonoflicer divectors to participate in
arranging the details of corporate aundits, In Mareh 1972, the Com-
mission again endorsed the establishment of audit conunittees com-
posed of ontside directors for all publicly held companies to afford the
greatest possible protection to investors who vely upon the financial
statements of such companies,

Again, in December 1974, the Commission urged registrants to
ereate awdit committees of the board in order to provide more effective
communication between independent accountants and outside directors,
and required proxy statement disclosure of the existence of, or the
ahsences of, such a committee, .

Second, the special committees that have resulted from the Com-
mission’s enforcement actions have served the equally important func-
tion of communicating important information concerning past man-
agement activities to public sharcholders. Thus, the investigative
reports prepared hy the outside directors have been filed, as required,
by the final orders enteved, with the court as part of the record in the
action, and with the Commission as an exhibit to a form 8-K current
report. . ~,
- The investigative reports for six corporate defendants have been
filed. These reports have substantially verified the substance of the
Commission’s allegations in each case, and in certain instances, revealed
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additional instances of cdomestic and foreign payments. Five of the
reports recommended that the subject companies adopt remedial pro-
cednres designed to prevent recurrence of the practices in question.
Additionally, as a result of Commission enforcement actions, the activ-
ities of the Watergate spectal prosecutor, shareholder actions, and for
other reasons, certain management defendants and others have made
restitution in excess of $1 million to the corporations.

In six of these actions, the companies consented to court ordered
prohibitions against further illegal political contributions, the main-
tenance of off-the-boolks cash funds, or further falsifying any corpo-
rate books and records. In each case, the Commission %rms retained
the right to seek further relief if it is not satisfied that the company
has fully complied with the terms of its undertakings and the final
judgment entered by the court.

I would like now to turn to a discussion of the Commission’s volun-
tary disclosure program. The primary allegations, if I may say again
in cach of the cases brought, relate to the maintenance of funds out-
side the normal financial accountability system for purposes of making,
among other things, illegal domestic political contributions. The crim-
inal indictments of several of these corporations and their executives
for such illegal activities led the Commission to publish a public state-
ment expressing the view of its Division of Corporation Iinance con-
cerning disclosure of these matters in filings with the Commission.
That statement appears in Securities Act release No. 5466, March 8,
1974. Generally, the disclosures about domestic contributions in re-
sponse to that releage have been detailed, and have included informa-
tion on the method of freeing the money from normal corporate con-
trols, and information concerning those involved both in making and
receiving payments. Copies of the relevant portions of filings contain-
ing these disclosures have, of course, been submitted to your staff.

The secret funds that were maintained by some of those companies
were apparently used for a varviety of purposes, including, in some in-
stances, foreign payments in connection with business abroad. One
offect of the Cemmission’s actions alleging failure to disclose the
maintenance of these secret funds has been increased wwareness of
this problem by other registrants. Last summer there was widespread
publicity given to the Commission’s actions, as well as to informa-
tion obtained through congressional inquiries relating to foreign pay-
ments. Questions were raised about the types of disclosure that would
be appropriate under the Federal securities laws and about the actions
tt:lmt companies could take “to clear the board” of past activities of this

ype.

Commrissioner Loomis, in testimony before the House of Representa-
tives Subcommittee on International Tconomic Policy of the Com-
mittee on International Relations, July 17, 1975 and September 30,
1975, suggested that companies concerned about this proﬁlem might
proceed in the following manner:

One, make a careful investigation of the facts, conducted by per-
sons not involved in the activities in question, such as independent
directors;

Two, if the investigation discloses that a problem does exist, the
board of directors then should decide, in consultation with their pro-
fessional advisers, what types of disclosure seem to be called for; and



Three, discuss the matter with the staff of the SEC prior to filing a
document, and fully inform the staff as to the facts.

Commissioner Loomis also stated that the procedures set forth could
lessen the need for enforcement action in particular cases, especially
where the Commissien was informed in advance that a company, not
then under investigation, would 1proceed in such a fashion.

The first company to accept this invitation for voluntary disclosure
was a major oil company which came to our staff last summer. Its rep-
resentatives described——

Chairman Proxarme. What was that firm?

Mzr. Hrrs. That was Cities Service Corp., Senator, that came for-
ward, and as T said earlier, came forward voluntarily. Asthe Senator
appreciates, where we have people coming forth voluntarily there may
be some matters that are easy to speak about and others in which somo
residual possibility of enforcement action may be present. Accord-
ingly, if an investigation is presently pending, there are some matters
that we may come upon which may be inappropriate to speak about.
So far, of course, we have touched on none of these problems.

Chairman Proxnire. Simply just let us know in those cases.

My, Hares. Of course. Thank you, )

In the case I was mentioning, company representatives described in
detail their concerns over foreign activities that had come to the at-
tention of top management, and consulted with the staff on the appro-
priate method of disclosing and stopping such activities. These dis-
cussions led to the filing of 4 current report on form 8-K, a form used
to report the ocenrrence of certain materisl events, describing the pro-
gram that the company intended to undertake. Again, a copy of that
filing is with your staff.

The type of voluntary program undertaken by that company can
be adopted, with appropriate modification, to any company involved
in payments of doubtfi! legality and in maintaining inaccurate books
and records relating to such transactions, Any such company should
first conduct an internal inquiry to determine the extent of such prob-
lems. The company may then enter the “voluntary program” if the
board of directors, one, declares an end to all such practices and, two,
authorizes a complete investigation, both of all matters that have been
discovered, as well as of any similar activities involving the company,
within or outside the United States, within the previous 5 years. Five
years, in our judgment, is a sensible cutoff point since that is usually
the time covered by the financial statements required to be included in
ilings with the Commission. That does not mean, of course, that there
may not be different terms than 5 years depending upon the nature of
the matter.

The exact wording of the action to be taken by the board of diree-
tors, including the declaration to end such practices, will depend on
the discoveries that they have made. The policies adopted by the
board of directors of the previously mentioned company are instruc-
tive. Their policies are as follows:

One, the use of corporate or subsidiary funds or assets for any law-
ful or improper purpose is strictly prohibited.

Two, no undisclosed or unrecorded fund or asset of the corpora-
tion or any subsidiary shall be established for any purpose.
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Three, no false or artificial entries shall be made in the books and
‘records of the corporation or its subsidiaries for any reason, and no
cmployee shall engage in any arrangement that vesults in such pro-
hibited act.

_Tour, no payment on behalf of the corporation or any of its sub-
sidiaries shall be approved or made with the intention or under-
standing that any part of such payment is to be used for a purpose
other than that described by the documents supporting the payment.

Tive, any employee having information or knowledge of any unre-
corded fund or asset or any prohibited act shall promptly report such
matter to the auditor general of the company.

Six, all managers shall be responsible for the enforcement of, and
compliance with, this policy including necessary distribution to
insure employee knowledge and compliance.

Seven, appropriate employees will periadically be required to certify
compliance with this policy.

Eight, this policy is applicable to the corporation and all its domes-
tic and foreign subsidiaries.

In addition to declaring an end to such practices, the board should
authorize a thorough investigation by a committee consisting of inde-
.pendent directors. That committee should be authorized to employ
counsel and independent accountants if deemed appropriate by the
committee. Obviously, in many cases the independent accountant who
regularly audits the corporation is the appropriate firm to be used
unless, of course, circumstances suggest otherwise.

Under the voluntary program, the company will file a report on form
8-IC with the Commission. The report will set forth the facts as the
company then knew them, describe the investigation underway, in-
cluding progress to date, and the declaration of policy to end such
practices, In addition, the company should, whenever appropriate, file
a form 8-IC to report on the progress of the investigation, and file, at
the time of the completion of the investigation, a copy of the report
that the independent committee submits to the board of directors.
Generally, the report should contain a description of the transactions
involved including the amounts, the purposes of the transactions, the
role of management, the tax consequences, the acconnting treatment,
and the effect on income, revenues and assets, or business operations
of a cessation of such payments.

It must be understood that the staff of the Commission will have
access to any information that is discovered or developed during the
investigation. Further, the company will also be expected to describe
the facts as then known in any registration statement or, if appropri-
ate, in a proxy statement. That disclosure. of course, need not await
the outcome of the final report, but should be made on the basis of
current kmowledge.

This procedure has been adapted to other situations, but the general
structure, including internal investigation and discussions with the
staff, is common to all. At this date approximately 15 companies have
met with the stafl to discuss questions in this area, and a numbor of
these companies have filed reports or regisrvation statements describ-
ing questionable foreign payments and the maintenance of improper
books and records in connection therewith. These were not all the re-
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sult of participation in the “voluntary program,” but the types of dis-
closure made, assuming there is no court action, are generally similar
whether the company is in the “voluntary program” or not.

It is difficult, Senator to summarize the types of disclosure that have
been made because, to a very large extent, the disclosure depends on
the particular facts and circumstances of each case. The types of for-
eign transactions that have been disclosed are generally similar to
those alleged in the enforcement actions I have previously described,
and include large, apparently disproportionate, payments made as
“commissions” to “agents” who are in fact Government officials, for
their help in obtaining contracts or business, and payments to political
parties for Government favors. Some payments have been made to
Government employees performing ministerial duties in order to ex-
pedite the company’s business transactions, and some have been part
of a program to evade taxes or currency control laws, These payments
are usually disguised by the maintenance of incomplete or false hooks
and records with little or no supporting documentation.

Although these voluntary cisclosures are generally similar in na-
ture to those resulting from enforcement action, I must point out that
the disclosnres that we have seen in the filings of companies which
have either come in voluntarily or which have contacted and cooperated
with the staff, are Jess detailed than those which have resulted from
court orders. Of course, since we have no final reports vet submitted
pursuant to the voluntary program, adequacy of the disclosures to
date has not yet been determined.

We had one instance which involved a corporation which was pri-
vate at the time of the transaction in question. As described in my pre-
pared statement, we determined, in that instance, that no disclosure
WaS Necessary.

The committee has asked for our views as to the adequacy and effec-
tiveness of the present laws and regulations and any recommendations
we may haye {or improving them. As the commattee knows, a primary
purpose of the Federal securities laws and the Commission’s regula-
tions is to protect investors by requiring issuners of securities to malke
full and fair disclosure of material facts. Tn my opinion, these stat-
utes provide the Commission adequate aunthority to require appro-
priate disclosure about the matters T have been discussing in order
to protect stockholders. And as the Senator knows, we are in the midst
of the voluntary disclosure program. and it is not possible at this
stage to answer the four questions the Senator has posed in any com-
plete fashion.

Chairman Proxyome. How long will it take before vou feel you will
be able to answer those questions?

Mr. Hrrs. The questions that the Senator has presented to us have
considerable relevance to the documents we have provided your staff,
the voluntary disclosure reports and other eyidence. It is difficult for
me to tell how much additional information you may wish to have,
You obviously will have access to considerably more material as our
program goes forward. The judgment as to when we have enough
information to answer the questions in detail is, of course, problematic.
T have no doubt that we can provide very material evidence on those
questions in the near future. :
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Chairman Prox3mre. You mean within a couple of months you would
be able to give us some kind of estimate?

M. Hiris. Senator:

_Cﬁmirman Proxsmre. You can qualify your estimates any way you
wish.

Mr. Hirrs. Of course. We will undertake, Senator, to provide
within 60 days an answer to the four questions based upon the in-
formation that we have from a number of sources.

Chairman Proxarre. Thank you.

My, Hiris. Where possible, of course, where no investigation is un-
derway, we will do it in the fullest possible fashion and we will have
to decide at that time how good a job we can do. We do, however, have
a very large sampling of the American business world coming forward
voluntarily with the voluntary disclosure program.

Chairman Proxarire. We should have this by mid-March then.

My, Hirrs. We will undertake to have it to you by March 15.

There are two additional points to be made. First, our enforce-
ment actions to date, generally speaking, have been based upon al-
leged transactions involving the payments of large amounts of money
which were caused to be inaccurately stated on the company’s books
and records by top corporate officials. They were concealed from the
company’s board of directors in most cases, as far as we can tell, and
often from its auditors. The ancillary relief that we have obtained in
most of these actions has had the effect of providing a new governance
for those corporations by requiring that the board of directors be pro-
vided with adequate information so that appropriate action can be
taken to protect the stockholders of that company.

In my view, an effective system of corporate accountability requires
that the facts pertaining to illegal payments not be concealed from a
corporation’s independent accountants or its board of directors. This
is the key point. The system of government regulation of business dis-
closure by the Securities and Exchange Commission will not work
unless the books and records are kept in good faith.

Second, we are aware that many commentators have said that too
much uncertainty exists, and they have asked the Commission to for-
mulate guidelines. There are two points to be made in response to
that. As the Senator will appreciate on the basis of the testimony
that I have gone through, not much uncertainty exists within the
corporations involved as to what apparently happened, and no un-
certainty should exist as to the need for the Securities and Exchange
Commission to pursue those matters for the purpose of corporate
accountability. Now, it is unlikely, in my judgment, that we shall ever
be able to provide a guideline with any kind of simple mathematical
formula to help corporations decide what is in the interests of the
stockholders of that company. It is my personal hope that we will,
however, be able to provide some better guidance in the near future.

Senator, as I said at the outset, as a newcomer to the Secuirities and
Iixchange Commission I am particularly proud of the SEC’s efforts in
this area, spearheaded, of course, by the Enforcement Division with
its 200 people in Commission headquarters. Qur Division of Corpora-
tion Finance, and our General Counsel’s office have also all had a
major impact on the business world, and I am more than pleased to
appear before this subcommittee to say so.
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Hills follows:]

PrEPARED STATEMENT OF HoN, RopERIoKk M, HiLrs

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee: I appreciate the opportunity to
testify before thiz Subcommittee on the subject of *Abuses of Corporate Power,
PBribes, Kickbacks, Politieal Contributions and Other Improper Payments.”

I understand that the Subcommittee is primarily interested in all relevant
actions taken by the Securities and Exchange Commission during the past twn
years to investigate violations of the federal securities laws velated to sucl ac-
tivities, and in our views as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the federal se-
curities laws for these purposes. Accordingly, I will first discuss the enforce-
ment actions brought in this aren, and the disclosure contained in documents filed
with the Commission.

INTRODUCTION

For approximately eighteen months, one aspect of the Commission’s enforce-
ment program has focused on companies which have maintained secvet funds
outside the normal finaneial accountability system and engaged in a variety of
illegal practices which were facilitated by the maintenance of false or inade-
quate corporate books and records, In each case, there svas direct involvement and
participation by senior management officials ¢oupled with, in most eases, a con-
cealment of the practices from the full board of divectors and ountside auditors.

As the Watergate Special Prosecutor's Office began to obtain convictions
against some of America’s Iargest public companies for violations of the Federal
Corrupt Practices Act, it became clear that the Commission should commence
its own investigation of management misuse of corporate funds. The practices
uncovered in the course of tiese investigations revealed problems of a serious
magnitude:

(1) Bonuses to selected corporate employees which were rebated for use in
malking illegal domestie political contributions by such corporations;

(2) Use of an offshore corporate subsidiary as “cover” for a revolving cash
fund for distributing diverted covporate funds for both domestic and foreign
political activities, all of which were illegal in thie place where paid ;

(8) Anonymous foreign bearer stock corporations, used as depositories for
secret illegal “kickbacks" on purchase or sales contracts;

(4) Payments to foreign consultants which were diverted to management and
used for illegal domestic politieal contributions and commereial bribery ;

(8) Direct, corporate payments to foreign government officials in return for
favorable business concessions; and

(6) Payments, aggregating tens of millions of dollars, to consultants or com-
mission agents, made with fecounting proceduies, controls and records which,
if existent at all, were insufficient to document whether any services {vere even
rendered by such consultants or agents, or whether siich services were commen-
surate with the amounts paid. In soine cases the parties involved liave Etated
that the payments were used to bribe féreign government officials in order to
procure business, No foreign official has, however, yet confirmed the receipt of
guch monies for such purposes, and there still are large amounnts «of such pay-
ments for which no accounting has been made.

ACTIONS FILED

To date, the Commission has brought civil injunctive actions in various United
States District Courts against nine corporvations including some of this nation’s
largest publie corporations with annual sales ranging from approximately $100
million to $18 billion. In eight of 'these cases corporate officers and directors
have also been included as defendants.

Tach case involves differing fact situations, but they arve siniilar in significant
respects. In each the Commission has alleged that the defendants violafed the
reporting provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by filing periodie
reports with the Commission which omitted or misstated material information.
In ail but two of these cases, the Commission also charged violations of the proxy
solicitation provisions of that Aect. In three of the actions, the Commission
charged violations of the antifraud provisions of that Aet. In all but one of
the cases it was alleged that senior management officinls participated in the
violative activities, and those individuals were also named as defendants.

T8-547—T7T 2
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I should note again that in each of these nine cases, the violative conduct
alleged was facilitated by the maintenance of false or inadequate corporate
books and records. It should also be noted that, while some cases involved
domestic payments only, and others involved foreign payments only, the majority
involved both domestic and foreign payments.

The Commission’s first case included the allegation that a major marine con-
struction company and its chief executive officer represented that $120,000 in
payments had been made to employees and others as compensation when, in
fact, those payments were the means by which the corporation made political
contributions,

In a subsequent domestic case, the Commission alleged that a major manu-
facturing company and fhree of its officers and directors placed over $630.000
into a secret cash fund created by false entries in the corporate books and records
purportedly for insurance and legal expenses, Almost $500,000 of this fund was
allegedly used for unlawful political contributions. This case also involved as a
defendant the company’s chief executive officer.

A third domestic case was brought against a major municipal servicing or-
ganization charging the company and officers, including a former chairman of the
board, with paying over $1,200,000 to a corporation wholly owned by the former
executive vice-president for the purpose of using these funds for illegal politieal
payments, bribes and kickbacks. The Commission further charged the former
board chairman and two of the other defendants with concealing the true nature
of these payments in periodic reports and proxy materials filed with the Com-
mission and disseminated to the company’s shareholders.

The first foreign case was brought on April 9, 1975, against a major food
products concern. The company had advised shareholders in a current report on
Torm 8-K of a reduction in an export tax imposed by a Central American coun-
fry on the company. The Commission charged that this report should also have
revealed that the company had allegedly agreed to pay $2.5 million to high gov-
ernment officials of the country in exchange for a government decision to reduce
an export tax, and that $1.25 million was paid to certain officials. Furthermore,
the complaint alleged the company’s books and records were falsified to conceal
the disbursement of these funds and that the defendant had made additional
cash payments of about $750,000 to officials of a Buropean government to Secure
favorable business opportunities for the company. '

A second foreign suit charged a major industrial products company, its chair-
man of the board, and its executive vice-president with making undisclosed
payments. of about $400,000 to officials of two Turopean governments without
properly accounting for this sum on the corporate books and records.

The remaining cases brought by the Commission involve both domestic and
foreign payments. One suit against a major multinational oil company and its
top officers alleged that over $2.8 million in corporate funds had been disbursed
to two foreign corporations by means of false entries on the corporate hooks
and records and that most of this sum was returned to the United States largely
for illegal political contributions and related expenses. The complaint further
allrged that the balance was distributed overseas in cash.

Another major oil company and a former company vice-president were charged
with creating a secret fund for unlawful political contributions and for other
purposes. The complaint alleged that, by means of false entries on the corporate
hooks and records, $10 million in ecorporate funds were given to a foreign sub-
sidiary, and other company subsidiaries, of which about $54 million was
returqed to the Tnited States and used largely for making illegal political con-
tributions. In addition it was alleged that the balance of the money was dis-
bursed overseas in eash.

On another case, hgainst a major defense contractor and its top officers, the
Comm}ssion charged that a secret fund of over $475,000 was generated from
reeveling of purportedly bona fide payments to a Buropean consultant and was
utilized for wunlawful political contributions, as well as for other purposes.
Turther, the Commission alleged that approximately $30 million of corporate
funds had been disbursed to various consultants and others, a portion of which
was dishursed without adequate controls to insure that the funds were used
for the purposes indieated.

Tn a case against a large independent oil company, its chief executive and other
officers. the Commission alleged that $780,000 of corporate moneys had been
diverted to a secret fund maintained largely fov illegal politieal contributions.
The complaint also alleged that over $4 million in cash was transferred or dis-



bursed to individuals overseas without adequate records to insure that the funds
were used for the purposes indicated.

Settlements have been reached with all of the defendants in ﬁve cases; the
rest are in litigation as to all or some defendants.

In those instances where settlements have been reacled, final judgments of
permanent injunction by consent have been entered by the Court, with the gettling
defendants neither admitting nor denying the allegations. of the Commission’s
complaint. These judgments enjoin the defendants from furtber violations of
the federal securities laws as alleged in the complaint, and provide for certain
ancillary velief.

In addition to these actions, the Commission has algo filed subpoena enforce-
ment actions in the federal courts against two very large corporations seeking
to compel them to comply with investigative subpoenas calling for the production
of documents and testimony necessary for Commission investigations. In both
cases, after hearings, the court ordered the defendants to eomply with the Com-
mission’s subpoenas. In one case involving a major defense contractor, however,
the Court ordered that, except in dealings with agencies with law enforcement
responsibilities, the Commission give the defendant and interested agencies of
the United States Government advance notice before releasing the subpoenaed
documents to any third party, other than a grand jury. In so providing the Court
expressly stated that nothing in the order was to limit the investigative or
enforcement efforts of the Commission. In the second case, the Court’s order
requiring compliance with the investigative subpoena called for similar protection
against premature disclosure of the subpoenaed documents,

The Commisgsion cnrrently has a nnmber of active investigations pending
involving major U.S. corporations. Certain of these investigations have been
disclosed either in the context of Commission actions seeking judicial enforce-
ment of Commission investigatory subpoenas or by the corporations currently
under investigation,

ANCILLARY RELIEF

In those actions where defendants have consented to the entry of final judg-
ments of permaunent injunction, the Commission has obtained the velief it is
expressly authorized to seek under the federal securities laws. These final orders
of permanent injunction are, of course, enforceable by criminal contempt pro-
ceedings in the event of further violations., In addition, important ancillary
relief—that is, relief not specifically provided in the federal securities laws but

.which a eourt of equity may, in the exercise of its discretion, grant in the interest
of justice—has been obtained.

Typically, these final orders have required the subject company to establish
a special committee generally comprised of independent members of its board of
directors, in order to conduct a full investigation of the irregularities alleged in
the Commission’s complaint, The committees have generally utilized ontside legal
counsel and 1ndependent auditors and have condncted detailed inguiries info
the company's books and records, its past and present management and cor-
porate operations. Upon the continsion of an investigation, such special com-
mittees submit a complete report of the investigation to the hoard of directors,
swhich, of course, has the ultimate responsibility for reviewing and implementing
any recommendatlons contained in the report.

These inquiries by outside directors have served two important functions. First,
they have provided the corporation and its shareheclders with a mechanism,

. independent of the management that may have been responsible for the alleged
wrongdoing, to determine the extent and nature of the problems jnvolved, and
whether restitution should be sought on hehalf of the corporation or other action
initiated against past or present management.

This action is consistent with the 1ongstsmding Commission policy of advocat-
ing a greater role for independent directors in the affairg of publicly held cor-
poratxons. As early as 1940, following the McKesson-Robhins investigation, the
Commission mged the formation of committeés on non-officer directors to par-
ticipate in arrangiug the details of corporate audits. In March 1972, the Com-
mission endorsed the establishment of audit committees composed of outside
directors for all publicly held compamies to afford the greatest possible px'otec-
tion to investors who rely upon the financial statements of such companies.
Again, in December 1974, the Commission urged registrants to create audit com-
mlttees of the board in order to provide more effectwe communication between
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independent accountants amd outside directors and required proxy statement
disclosure of the existence or absence of such a committee.

Second, the special committees that have resulted from the Commission’s en-
forcement; actions have served the equally important function of communicat-
ing important information comcerning management's activities to public share-
holders. Thus, the investigative reports prepared by the outside directors have
been filed, as required by the final orders entered, with the Court as part of the
record in the action, and with the Commission as an exhibit to a Form §-K
current report.

The investigative reports for six corporate defendants have been filed. These
reports have substantially verified the substance of the Commission’s allegations
in each case and, in eertain instances, revealed additional instances of domestic
and foreign payments. Five of the reports recommended that the subject com-
panies adopt remedial procedures designed to prevent recurrence of the pras-
tices in question. Additionally, as a result of Commission enforcement actions,
the activities of the Watergate Special Prosecutor, shareholder actions, and for
other reasons, certain management defendants and others have made restitution
in excess of $1 million to the corporations.

In six of these actions, the companies consented to court ordered prohibitions
against further illegal politieal contributions, the maintenance of off-the-books
cash funds, or further falsifying any corporate books and records. Further, in
each case, the Commission has retained the right to seek further relief if it ig
not satisfied that the company has fully complied with the terms of its under-
takings and the final judgment entered by the court.

DISCLOSURE

The primary allegations in each of the cases brought relate to the maintenance
of funds outside the normal financial accountability system for purposes of mak-
ing, among other things, illegal domestic political contributions. The criminal
indictments of several of these corporations and their executives for such illegal
actvities led the Commission to publish a public statement expressing the view
of its Division of Corporation IFinance concerning disclosure of these matters
in filings with the Commission (Securities Act Release No. 5466, March 8, 1974).
Generally, the disclosures about domestic contributions in response to that re-
Jease have been detailed, and have included information on the method of free-
ing the money from normal corporate controls, and information concerning
those involved both in making and receiving payments. Copies of the relevant
portions of filings containing these disclosures have already been submitted
to the committee’s staff.

The secret funds that were maintained by some of those companies were
apparently used for a variety of purposes, including, in some instances, foreign
payments in connection with business abroad. One effect of the Commission’s ac-
tiong alleging failure to disclose the maintenance of these seeret funds has been
increased awareness of this problem by other registrants. Last summer, there
was widespread publicity given to the Commission’s actions, as well as to
information obtained through Congressional inquiries relating to foreign pay-
ments. Questions were raised about the types of disclosure that would be appro-
priate under the federal securities laws and about the actions that companies
could take to “clear the board” of past activities of this type.

In this context, Commissioner Loomis, in testimony before the House of Rep-
resentatives Subcommittee on International Iconomie Policy of the Committee
on Imternational Relations (July 17, 1975 and September 30, 1975), suggested
that companies concerned about the problem might proceed in the following
manner:

(1) Make a careful investigation of the facts, conducted by persons not in-
volved in the activities in question; such as independent directors;

(2) If the imvestigation discloses that a problem does exist, the Board of
Directors should decide, in consultation with their professional advisers, what
tynes of disclosure seem to be called for; and

(8) Discuss the matter with the Commission staff prior to filing a document
and fully inform the staftf as to the facts.

He also indicated that the procedures set forth could lessen the need for
enforcement action in particular cases, especially where the Commission was
informed in advance that a company, not then under investigation, would
proceed in such a manner,
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The first company to accept this invitation for voluntary disclosure was &
major oil company which e¢ame to our staff last summer. Ifs representatives
deseribed in detail their concerns over foreign activities that had come to the
attention of top management, and consulted with the staff on the appropriate
method of disclosing and stopping such activities, These discussions led to the
filing of a current report on Form 8-XK, a form used to report the oceurrence of
certain material events, deseribing the program that the company intended fo
undertake. A copy of that filing has been provided to your staff.

The type of voluntary program undertaken by that company can be adopted
with appropriate modification, to any company which has been involved in pay-
ments of doubtful legality and in maintaining inaccurate books and records
relating to such transactions, Any such company should first conduct an internal
inquiry to determine the extent of such problems, The company may then euter
ihe “voluntary programs” if the board of directors (1) declares an end to all
such practices and (2) anthorizes a complefe investigation, both of all matters
that have been discovered as well as of any similar activities involving the com-
puny (within or outside the United States) within the previous five years, Five
vears is 4 sensible cut off point since that is usually the time covered by the
financial statements required to be included in filings with the Commission. Of
course, events prior to that time may also be material if part of a continuing
program or related to existing material contracts or business operations.

The exact wording of the action to be taken by the beard of direetors, including
the declavation to end such practices, will depend on the activities discovered.
The policies adopted by the board of directors of the previously mentioned com-
pany are instructive:

(1) The use of corporate or subsidiary funds or assets for any unlaswful or
improper purpose is strictly prohibited,

(2) No undisclosed or unrecorded fund or asset of the corporation or any
subsidiary shall be established for any purpose.

(3) No false or artificial entries shall be made in the books and records of the
corporation or its subsidiaries for any reagon, and no employee shall engage
in any arrangement that results in such prohibited act.

(4) No payment on behalf of the corporation or any of its subsidiaries shall
be approved or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such
payment is to be used for a purpose other than that deseribed by the documents
supporting the payment.

(3) Any employee having information or knowladge of any unrecorded fund
or asset or any prohibited act shall promptly report such matter to the auditor
general of the company.

(6) All managers shall be responsible for the enforcement of, and complignee
with, this policy including necessary distribution to ensure employee knowledge
and-compliance.

(7) Appropriate employees will periodically be required to certify compliance
with this poliey.

(8) This policy is applicable to the corporation and all its domestic and foreign
subsidiaries.

In addition to declaring an end to such praectices, the board should authorize
a thorough investigation by a committee consisting of independent directors. That
committee should be authorized to employ counsel and independent accountants
if deemed appropriate by the committee. Normally, the independent accountants
who regularly audit the corporation would be used unless eircumstances
suggested otherwise,

.Under the voluntary program, the company will file a report on Form 8-K
with the Commission. The report will set forth the facts as the company then
knew them, describe the investigation underway, including progress to date, and
the declaration of policy to end such practices. In addition, the company should,
whepevgr appropriate, file a Form 8-K to report on the progress of the in-
vestigation, and file, at the time of the completion of the investigation, a copy
of the report that the independent committee submits to the board of directors.
g}enerz}lly, the report should contain a description of the transactions involved
including the amounts, the purposes of the transactions, the role of management,
the tax consequences, the accounting treatment, and the effect on income,
revepues, and assets or business operations of a cessation of such payments,

it must be Junderstood that the staff of the Commission will have aceess to.
auy information that is discovered. or developed during the investigation. Fur-
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ther, the company will also be expected to describe the facts as then known in
any registration statement or, if appropriate, in a proxy statement. This dis-
closure need not await the outcome of the final report, but should be made on
the basis of current knowledge.

This procedure has been adapted to other situntions, but the geneml structure,
including internal investigation and discussions with the staff, is common to
all, Approximgtely fifteen companies have met with the staff to dlSClNS questions
in this area and a number of these companies have filed reports or registration
statements describing questionable foreign payments and the maintenance of
improper books and records in connection therewith, These were not all the result
of participation in the “voluntary program”, but the types of disclosure made,
assuming there is no court action, are generally similar whether the company
is in the “voluntary program” or not.

It iz difficult to summarize the types of disclosure that have been made be-
cause, to a large extent, the disclosure depends on the particular Tacts and cir-
cumstances of each case. The types of foreign transactions that have been dis-
closed are generally similar to those alleged in the enforcement actions I have
previously described, and include large, apparently disproportionate, payments
made as “‘commissions” to “agents” to aid in obtaining contraects or business;
payments to “agents”, who are in fact government officials, for their help in
obtaining contracts or business ; and payments to politieal parties for government
favors. Some payments have been made to government employees performing
ministerial duties in order to expedite the company’s business transactions,
and some have been part of a program to evade taxes or currency control laws.

These payments are usually disguised by the maintenance of incomplete or
false ‘books and records with little or no supporting documentation. Although
these voluntary disclosures are generally si~ilar in nature to those resulting
from enforcement action, I must point out that the disclosures that we have
seen in the filings of companies which have either come in voluntarily or which
have contacted and cooperated with the staff, ave legs detailed than those which
have resulted from court orders. Of course, since no final reports have yet been
submitted pursuant to the voluntary program, the adequacy of the disclosures
to date have not yet been determined.

In at least one instance, however, after discussion with the staff and Com-
mission it was determined that no disclosure was necessary. In that case, the
company had been private at the time of the transactions, the transactions in-
volved small amounts of money used basically for gifts to minor foreign govern-
ment employees, top management was not involved in the practice, and accounts
were kepf reflecting such paynients. The company nevertheless adopted a poliey
prohibiting such practices in the future.

LEGISLATIVE RECOMMENDATIONS

You have asked for our views as. to the adequacy and effectiveness of the
present lasvs and regulations and any recommendations we may have for im-
proving them. As youn know, a primary purpose of the federal securities laws and
the Commission's regulations is to protect investors by requiring issuers of
securities to malke full and fair disclosure of material facts. In my opinion, these
statutes provide the Commission adequate authority to require appropriate dis-
closure about the matters T have been discussing in order to protect stockholders,

There are a few additional points T would like to malke. First, our enforcement
actions filed to date have, generally speaking, been hased on alleged transactions
that involved payments of large amounts of money which were caused to be
inpccurately stated on the companies’ bonks and records by top corporate officers.
Thus, they were concealed from the companies‘ boards of directors and often its
anditors. The ancillary relief obtained in most of these actions has had an effect
on the “governance of the corporations” by requiring that the boards of directors
he provided with adequate information so that approprmte action can be taken
to protect the interests of public investors. In-my view, an effective system of
corporate accountability requires that facts pertaining to iYlegal payments not
be concealed from a corporation’s independent accountants or its board of
directors. This is a key 'noiut Nothing else in the system will work unless the
books and records are kept in good faith.

Second, many commentators have suggested that too much uncertainty exists
in this area and ask that the Cnmnnssmn formulate guidelines, While it is un-
likely that we can promulgate rules with any simple nmthematical formulas, it
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is my personal hope that we will soon be in a position to provide more guidance,

Finally, we at the Comnmission are proud of what our staff of 2,000 employees—
and enforcement staff of some 200—have accomplished. We are confident that
our future actions will continue to promote the public interest in this difficult and
important area.

Chairman Prox»me. Well, thank you very much, Mr, Hills, for a
very, very interesting and provocative and helpful statement.

T would like to start off with a partial solution, and I think you
would agree it is only a partial solution, to the very, very serious prob-
lem that confronts us. The voluntary program, as you suggested, is
designed to, in effect, have corporations do a far more adequate job
than they have in the past in becoming responsible for their own
deeds and to provide full information for directors, and so on.

You say in the course of your remarks, that the disclosures we have
seen in the filings of companies that have either come in voluntarily
or which have contacted, and cogperated with the staff are less detailed
than those which have resulted from court orders. And this is at the
heart of our problem. Can you really expect these corporations to
police themselves effectively under any circumstances?

Mr. Hirrs. Well, Senator, we also said that we at the SEC have
not seen the final reports that we have required, and that we can't
make a judgment as to the adequacy of the independent investigation
until we see those final reports. But we will have access to those final
reports, and we will have a continuing regulatory responsibility with
respect to these corporations. Therefore, the question of the adequacy
and the independence of the investigation are judgments that our staff
will have to make, and then make recommendations to the Commis-
sion from time to time as the program progresses.

I would say at the present time we are encouraged to believe that

these corporations recognize the seriousness of the problem and will
proceed accordingly. Obviously, if we are not satisfied that a program
of a voluntary nature has progressed satisfactorily we will have to
take whatever enforcement action is appropriate.
* Chairman Proxyme. What assurance do we have that that action
will be taken? The SEC as you say has an excellent record. We are
very cognizant of the ability and of the determination of Mr. Sporkin
and other outstanding members you have on your staff, but you have
a limited staff. You have about 200 people in the Enforcement Division,
isn’t that right 2

Mr. Hyurs. Well, we of course have the regions which add another
200 people to the enforcement efforts.

Chairman Prosaire. You have what altogether, 400 altogether?

Mr, Hirrs. Four hundred enforcement, and, in the voluntary pro-
gram, we are talking about the Division of Corporation Finance.

Chairman Proxyre. But we do have a lot of corporations in this
country and this may simply be the suggestion of the extent of this
problem. We don’t know as yet, you can’t tell us as yet, how widespread
this is. That is what you are going to tell us, I takeit,on March 15,

Mr. Hiurs. Senator, it is obviously sufficiently widespread for the
SEC to be considerably concerned about it and for the Government,
to take an interest in it. The question of the regulation of corporations
generally is a matter transcending disclosure of records to the invest-
ing public and to the SEC. Any corporation that is not willing to ac-
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cept its responsibilities runs the risk of serious litigation. The cor-
porations and the efforts of the SEC are aided by both the accounting
iyorld, independent public accountants, and the professional obliga-
tions of lawyers who represent these companies and must establish
their own relationship with the auditors to make certain that the
corporations come forward. .

The staff of the SEC has been greatly aided by its capacity to se-
cure settlements involving, for example, the preparation of a so-
called McCloy report. Obviously, if we were unable to get this form
of settlement and this form of report, we would have come to the
Senate, and to the House and ask for a very greatly expanded staff,

Chairman Proxarmme. Well, that may or may not be a good one. Iow
do you kuow whether that is a complete report, and whether other
corporations may or may not be able to report that way? I agree with
you that John McCloy is a remarkable man, of great integrity and
ability, but I just wonder how many.John McCloys we have, and if
-every corporation has one. You see, one of the things that really
bothers me a great deal is, in spite of these very startling and dramatic
disclosures that you have made to us this morning, there is not a record
-of many resignations or firings. It is true just this morning that Gulf
fired some of their top officials, but this is the exception. In many cases
there doesn’t seem to be any action on the part of these corporations
against these people who have engaged in violations of the law and
in bribery and kickbacks, and even admitted it is part of their
operations, There doesn’t seem to be any corrective action. The one
kind we understand is when they get rid of the management that
has done that, fire them.

Mr. Hrrs., Senator, the question that you raise involves, of course,
a number of related matters. First, has the criminal process, the
criminal proseentorial activities of the Federal Government worked
adequately ? I have no reason to think that it is not working adequately.
Will these corporations in the governance of themselves take the
actions that this form of disclosure suggests are appropriate? This
country fortunately is one that relies upon disclosure and in foreing
these companies to say openly what they are doing.

As we said earlier, the long-standing position of the Securities and
Exchange Commission has been that independent directors should
form an audit committee to meet with the outside auditors. The ques-
tion of whether or not a company has such an outside committee is
itself a subject of which we require disclosure.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, obviously the system hasn’t worked so
far. Thatis why we are in this difficulty. You see

Mr., Hirrs. Senator, the question of when.

Chairman Proxarme. The problem with me, as you know as a man
who has been in business and has been very successful and has a fine
reputation, you know how business so often operates. The people who
work in the corporations are each other's friends and supporters. The
directors are chosen very often by the officers on the basis of their
friendships and their knowledge of each other. That is an understand-
able tendency. There is nothing criminal in it. It is just human, to
protect each other, and not to be vindictive, and to be as tolerant as
possible and to try to get along and to help each other. So I am con-
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cerned with relying too much on this kind of discipline even though
there may be an unusual situation where it will work, and work well.

I realize you have a limited staff and we can’t have all of this done
by Government personnel. That would be a mistake, too, I am just
wondering if we can find a way of making this effective enough so
that we are more definitely assured that we won’s have this kind of
recurrence in the future.

My, s, Senator, I amp——-

Chairman Proxmizs, Could I ask Mr. Sporkin do you want—I beg
your pardon.

Mr. Hiris. I am as concerned as the Senator is about the problem he
has described. It cannot be understated, and I don’t mean to suggest
that it should be. But I am equally confident, not only from my ex-
perience with the SEC, but %rom years that I have spent both in
business and in the practice of law, in the strength and capacity of
management to resist, in most cases, these pressures, and confident
that the industrial world, for the most part, is sound.

I am also confident that that world is reacting to the problem in
much the same way the Senator and the SEC have reacted. We met
only recently, in the past few weeks, with a committee of the inde-
pendent auditors and a committee of the bar association to discuss ways
in which those independent professional people will have to accept
both professional responsibility and, of course, resultant civil liability
for failure to perform their professional obligations. One important
aspect of these obligations is the professional responsibility to come
forward when they see that the company that they represent is not
making the disclosures required of them by the law.

I am confident that major progress has been made, and I am con-
fident that the professional world, both in the business community
and in the community of independent counsel and independent audi-
tors, will make the kind of progress that the Senator hopes for. It is
necessary that that world respond in that fashion.

Chairman Proxmire. You see, the problem is that it is obvious that
some have come forward, and have come forward probably because
they recognize they may get easier treatment if they come forward
voluntarily, but the tough question is how do we determine how perva-
sive and widespread this is. We have much evidence that it is wice-
spread. We have the chairman of the board of Lockheed saying that
all the aerospace companies are doing this, and some of them coming in
and confessing they do—Northrup and Grumman. We have the same
kind of statement from the oil corporations saying we do it but so
does everybody else. And some of them coming in and admitting that
they have done it. It seems to be something that is extremely serious,
extremely widespread, a very tough problem, and one in which I think
we need vigorous followup and some kind of evidence like the resigna-~
ti%n or firing of the people who have been responsible for this kind of
activity.

Mr., Hires. It would be instructive I believe, Senator, for the sub-
committee to have, and I am sure your staff has considerable material
on this topic, information concerning what the independent account-
ing firms have done in response to this problem and the procedure they
follow. They are different from the ones they have employed in the
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past. My own observations are that major changes have been made in
auditing practice. '

Chairman Proxasrire. Let me just say the staff informs me that so far
what we have been told by the information we have is that the account-
ing procedures have been totally inadequate either to determine what
has been going on or to assure us that they can prevent it in the future.

My, Hiras. %enator, in the cases that we have referred to this morn-
ing, there is no doubt that the accounting procedures either were in-
adequate or inadequately carried through. I have no doubt that major
strengthening has to be made and is being made. But are the account-
ing procedures of the UTnited States entirely inadequate? I think not.
I think, there again, we are quite proud of the work that has been
done by the accounting staff of the SEC over recent years under the
leadership of former Professor Burton in providing new accounting
rules, new stimuli, to the accounting profession.

My own experience with a troubled company in which we needed
a major accounting firm to help us was that I was quite proud of the
job the accountants did, and even pleased to pay the bill for the re-
sults we received. So this is an area of concern. but I think we should
not fail to recognize that the profession is responding,

Chairman Proxarre. But none of these violations were disclosed by
the private firms, by the private accountants or auditing firms. They
were discovered either by the Watergate prosecutor, by the SEC——-

Mr. Hivrs. That is correct.

Chairman Proxarre. So that procedures so far have failed us.

Mr. Hirrs. I said I thought that there is no question that the pro-
cedures in these cases were either woefully inadequate or woefully and
inadequately carried out.

Chairman Proxacme. So all we veally know is that they are woe-
fully inadequate.

Mr. Hirrs. And T think it is a proper area of inquiry to determine
what changes have been made by accounting firms to remedy this
matter, I think the Sentor will see progress.

Chairman Proxamare. Can you tell us what is the total number of
large corporations against which the SEC has filed civil suits or which
are under active investigation or which have made voluntary admis-
sions of improper payments?

Mr, Hrrrs. There are nine civil suits—the total number of companies
under investigation today is, Senator, something like 30,

Chairman Proxarme. And how many have made voluntary admis-
sions of improper payments?

Mr. Hirzs. We have 15 coming forward in some voluntary fashion
or other.

Chairman Proxarare. Are they all under investigation ?

Mr. Hirrs. Well, the fact that they are coming forward means obvi-
ously that that is a form of investigation. The voluntary——

Chairman Proxyre. Not necessarily.

Mr, Hrmrs. The administration of the voluntary disclosures program
is performed by the stafl of the Division of Corporation Finance, and
the degree of investigation is something that is worked out on a case-
by-case basis.

Chairman Proxarre. Are those 15 included in the 30 or not?

My, Srorsiy. Not necessarily. :
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Chairman Proxatre. Not necessarily ¢ Can you tell us, Mr, Sporkin,
the extent to which they are?

Mr. Seorxaw. I would say the large majority would not be included.
I think it is important, Senator, if I can explain a little bit more about
the voluntary program. One of the key elements of the voluntary
program is that there be an immediate declaration of cessation of ac-
tivites. That is really the crux of the program. So that means that at
least, Senator, in the future the conduct must stop. Now the reason that
Isay that they are not under investigation ig that these——

Chairman Proxame. Let me just interrupt there, Mr, Sporkin., As
I say, you know the admiration and respect I have for you and T don’t
mean to compare the SEC with the Comptroller of the Currency’s Office
but Mr. Smith got a cease and desist order in 1962 against U.S. Na-
tional Bank in San Diego and yet for 10 years they went right on doing
exactly what they were doing before and nobody did anything about it.
They really made no attempt to enforce the cease and desist order and
that was a formal court order.

What assurance do we have, becanse you have moved in the way you
have, that wo are going to get compliance?

Mzr, Seorxrn. Well, in that regard, the thing that the program has
as a key part is that, once you have a cessation and you have the
voluntary steps being taken as mentioned by Chairman Hills, when the
final report comes in, we will have access to both the report and the
underlying data. It is our intention to veview that report quite care-
fully to see what is involved. And I think that that is extremely im-
portant. It will be monitored very closely, but the key p~lat here is
that, since these firms have come in voluntarily, I don’t think you
would want to start up an investigation right away, I think it would
be counterproductive, and I don’t think we would get the kind of vol-
unfarism that we need in this kind of program.

My, Hmis. Senator, I think it is terribly important to consider that
the deeision as to when an investigation 1§ going to he undertaken is
based in large part on the judgrent of the staff and the {ommission,
In these cases, the staff will come to the Commission and make their
recommendations. A judgment has to be made as to the integrity and
the eapacity of the people that ave undertaking the investigation on
behalf of the company.

Chairman Proxanme. Doesn’t it also depend on whether or not you
have adequate staff to do the job?

My, Hirs. No, Senator.

Chairman Proxarre. The investigation ?

Mer. Hrres, T think that, in mv judgment, without question, where we
see a corporation willing to hire people of integrity, a John McCloy,
and provide him with counsel, staff, and auditing effort, and further
provide him with an outside committee of the board of directors, that
we can be satisfied that that investigation will be a better investigation
than we could provide if our staff wasthree times aslarge.

Chairman Proxamme. T am talking about the fact that you have 30
active investigations going on now in this area alone.

Mr, Hrurs, Yes.

Chairman Proxarre. I wonder how many you can conduct effectively
with the limited staff that you have.
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Mr. Hirrs. Mr. Sporkin and his staff, Mr. Leverson and his staff
have, in my judgment, done an absolutely masterful job, although I
can say to the chairman that we are strained. We have to consider how
best to allocate our resources, but at the present time I am satisfied, and
T trust that Mr, Sporkin is satisfied, that we have the staff to continue
the investigations that we want to continue. Obviously:

Chairman Proxaire. May I ask, Mr. Sporkin, are you satisfied ?

Mr. Seorxix. Well, I am never satisfied, but what can you do? You
are never going to have enough people, and I think this is part of the
system. You are never going to have enough policemen in this country
to cut out

Chairman Proxarire. No. T recognize that and I certainly don’t mean
you ought to have a very big staff. T am just wondering if you have
enough to do the job now in view of what obviously confronts us,
and what I think is on a shocking and very serious scale.

Mr. SrorkIn. Senator, the way I try to approach a problem is to
try to size up the problem and determine how we can deal with that
problem with the resources that we have. That is why we have devel-
oped the concept of involving the private sector here. What I am sav-
ing to you, is that with the staff that we have, we are going to be
gtretched thin. I believe, however, that, if all the things fall into place,
we can continue to get the MeCloy’s and the Manny Cohen’s and people
of that caliber to do this kind of work, I think we will be all right.

I must add one thing to the Chairman’s statement. In the Ashland
case, if you recall, they had a private counsel, Charles Queenan. Jr.,
of Pittsburgh, who prepared the report. He prepared a report that
was a very factual and elaborate report, but the full report wasn't
submitted.

Now, the Commission backed that person up 100 percent, and said
that we wanted the entire report. So you are having people of tremen-
dous caliber, such as the McCloy’s and what have you. So I am rela-
tively comfortable.

Certainly as we get stretched thinner and thinner—ive have discussed
it with the Chairman and the Chairman has discussed it with us—
problems arise concerning how we are going to reallocate people with-
in the Commission to be able to deal with these matters. In other
words, when we have a priority in my operation we will probably aet
some more people down from other operations that don’t have the
same kind of priority. But we are going to attempt to handle these
within the confines of the resources that we have.

Mr. Hiczs. Senator, I think that is a good point. We have tried, in
these past weeks, to identify those arveas which are not critical to en-
forcement activities, to find out where we have surplus people, to shift
them into enforcement if necessary. All I can say, of course, is that
today, this month, we can do the job. Whether or not we will have to
come and seek additional assistance, either becanse of enforcement
activities or other responsibilities given to us by Congress, is a matter
for the future.

Chairman Proxmre. Let me be blunt, Mr. Chairman, and say that I
understand there is a split within the Commission that could impede
these investigations. Some members feel the SEC is going too far,
that the Justice Department should investigate illegal payments. One
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Commissioner, A. A. Sommer, suggested in a speech on December 8
of last year that the SEC should pull back and restrain itself in
future cases.

Now, you are a new man, and you may be a swing vote. What I want
to know is, what is your position ¢ Will you support——

Mr. His. Senator

Chairman Proxarre. Will you support a continued vigorous role
for the SEC, pushing forward, even intensifying these investigations?

Mr. Hrrrs, Senator, I am not familiar with the speech you mention,
but I can tell you with some strong feeling that neither Commissioner
Sommer nor any other SEC Commissioner has in any way restrained
the efforts of the enforcement division. Issues of how to provide for
accounting disclosures, and how to do so many other things, obviously
provide a lively debate from time to time. But I will tell you with
complete certainty that in the avea of investigation, this Commission
will do whatever has to be done to provide the resources to do the
‘nvestigations properly.

Chairman Proxare. Disclosures are really the essence of this thing
and the Commission itself has to support making these disclosures
public, sometimes by a vote, I presume.

Mz, Hrrs. Concerning disclosures of corporate activity in the cases
to date, we are relying as Mr. Sporkin eaid, in large part of the in-
vestigations undertaken by the special counsel and by the outside audi-
tors. Those veports have been made public and have been filed with
t1e Commission. In each case, the question of what the disclosure may
ot may not be is a matter of concern, but in no case of which I am
aware, certainly no case since I have been here, is this a matter of any
considerable debate. In other words, in these kinds of cases where
tlie top corporate management of a corporation has deliberately falsi-
fied records, and where illegal activities have been made, the reports
have been detailed and precise.

Chairman Proxarire. All right, sir,

Now, let me ask you this. You say five of the nine cases have been
settled by consent. Will you tell us the names of the companies whose
cases have been settled, and indicate what the settlements provide,

Mr. Seorrry. You want the names, Senator, of the cases that have
been settled ? Yes; I can give you those right away.

. Northrop, Ashland, Phillips, Gulf, 3M, American Ship. They have
een

Chairman Proxmme, Six.

My, Seormiw. Six cases have been settled. T’m sorry.

Chairman Proxmimze. I understood there have been five.

My, s, Six corporate cases have been settled. There are some
-cases going forward. ;

Chairman Proxare. Tell us in each case very briefly what were the
-settlements. What do the settlements provide?

Mr. Seorxxx. Tach of them: ‘

Mr, s, I think my prepared statement, Senator, tried to articu-
late that we have had this ancillary relief. I will be happy to go back
over It but in each case we have had injunctions prohibiting future
condluct of this kind, and an ancillary program for an investigation.

Chairman Proxmmre. Were there any firings or dismissals as a result
.of thege? Or any fines?
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Mzr. Srorkin. Well, we cannot fine, Senator, and the firings

Chairman Proxyme. I know you can’t fire but——

Mr. SrorxIn. Fine. Fine. I'm sorry.

Chairman Proxmire. But first as a result of your action, was the cor-
poration taking action?

Mr. Srorgiy. My answer, Senator—I'm sorry—is that we cannot
fine.

Chairman Proxyire. Cannot fine. The courts can fine, hiowever.

Mr. Srorxin. Not under actions we bring.

Chairman Proxnre. I see.

Mr. Srorkin. There have been some very stiff actions taken. If you
will recall, in the 3M matter they cleaned house. As a matter of fact,
that might have been an over-reaction but as the allegations in that
case were only of about $14 million or $600,000. I do share your-concern
with respect to the others, other than what happened today, and other
than in the 3M case.

Chairman Proxame. Other than the 3M case and the Gulf case,
there haven’t been dismissals or firings as a result of this?

M. Seorxrv. Not that I can——ro

Mr. Hrs. Senator, if T may interject, we can surmize a number of
things, but it would be wrong, I think, for our agency to make a
judgment as to why any given individual left a company or was fired.
Our effort has been, however, to make certain that there was a new
form of governance capable of conducting the type of investigation
that we are dealing with. And that has been, in terms of the ancillary
relief. The principal capacity of the Commission in this respect is the
capacity to produce a report, such as in the Gulf case.

Chairmana Proxarre. See, here the way it looks to us is that nothing
is happening. True, you have got a new governance. It may work. Wea
hope so. You are getting reports. But nobody has been punished,
nobody has been fined. Well, there have been some fines. Getting off
scot-free. In most of these companies there is no discipline.

Mr. Hrczs. We would not want to comment on any pending criminal
investigations or criminal prosecutions, but if a criminal activity has

ceurred, Senator, we have to rely upon the prosecutorial powers of
our State and Federal Governments to take care of that. That cannot,
of course, be the responsibility of the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, although as the Senator is aware, the resources of our Com-
mission are used by Federal prosecutors in the course of their in-
vestigations.

Chairman Proxnrre. All right. Let’s get into that, then. You men-
tioned some criminal indictments in your prepared statement. Were
all or most of the indictments as a result of the investigations of the
Watergate prosecutor?

Mr. Seorxin. I would say virtually all of them ; yes, sir.

Chairman Proxanre. How many indictments have been as a result of
SEC investigations, any ? .

Mr. Srorxin. None so far, sir.

Chairman Prosare. Well, you see, the Watergate prosecutor has
followed up, hasn’t he, so that the guardian that has given us results
here isno longer around.
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Mr. Hirs. Senator, this is obviously an area in which we have to be
careful, but we begun our first civil action in 1974. Was it in April?

Chairman Proxrome. It seems to us as if Justice is letting SEC do
it all because you can’t fine. There is no punishment when you handle
it.

Mr, Hicrs. All T am saying is our first case was brought in the
middle of 1974, We have a long and close relationship with the re-
spective U.S. attorneys around the country. I would hope that the
U.8. attorneys would be responsive to any evidence we might have in
our files that does involve eriminal conduct.

Chairman Proxsrme. That is 18 months and there has been no
prosecution,

Mr. SrorxiN. Let me explain what the problem is, Senator. In a
way, what has happened here shows you how good the system is and
how it works. We picked up this area as a result of the Watergate spe-
cial prosecutor’s work. Now, what has happened is, as you know, he
brought actions in those cases, and most of the cases that I mentioned
here today were the result of those actions. Therefore, as far as I can
see right now, there would be no real question as to whether we counld
bring additional criminal actions in those cases.

In other words, there were settlements in those cases. What we do,
however, is to pick up the information because what the prosecutor’s
office disclosed was only the tip of the iceberg and we, on our own,
picked it up and have now exposed the entire iceberg.

Now, with respect to cases that were not picked up by the prosecutor,
gfﬁ:ourse there is going to be a timelag until all these matters get

ully—

Chairman Proxare. I am wondering about that timelag. It seems
to me it is a pretty long timelag. We have got 18 months.

Mr. Hizas. This was since the first case prosecuted, American Ship-
building.

Chairman Proxnzre. I assume you kept Justice informed.

My, Hrcs. Senator, yes, we have such a responsibility.

Chairman Proxaure. Flas Justice expressed interest in what you are
doing?

Mr. Hrrzs. Tt is very difficult to talk about whether there has or has
not been a criminal referral. I am satisfied. We spent a lot of time
with our staff, that is historically, and currently our staff alerts the
Justice Department to matters involving alleged or possible criminal
conduct. '

Chairman Proxmire. Well, I want to ask you, does it appear to you
that Justice is vigorously investigating and. prosecuting, where ap-
propriate, in all cases where criminal laws appear to have been vio-
lated, orisit dragging its feet.?

Mr. Hircs. Senator, I am not capable of, nor do I think it is proper
to comment on that. :

Chairman Proxare. Well I think it is. T would disagree with you,
Mr, Chairman, on that. After all, you're an individual agency and
you are the ones who are responsible. I was outraged when your
predecessor wasn’t prosecuted by Justice for perjury when he ap-
"peared before our committee and lied to us, went up to New York and
admitted under oath that he had lied twice, and they wouldn’t take
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any action. It seems to me it would be proper in our case, and proper
in your case where you have referred the matters to their attention,
and there doesn’t seem to be any——

Mr. Hirrs. There was o comma there when I paused to breathe, I
cannot comment on how good a job Justice does, what its resources
are broadly, or whether it has sufficient money to investigate this area.
1 indicated before that when we are involved in some matter involving
possible criminal violations, we alert Justice. I can say generally that
the Senator can be satisfied we would follow the same practice in all
cases. We make referrals to Justice and normally provide manpower
from our stafl to assist in the investigation. I know of no case involv-
ing what we ave talking about right now in which we have veason to
believe Justice fell down. Let me assure the Senator this. Where there
is a case where we have reason, where the enforcement division comes
to this Commission and says it feels there has not been proper criminal
followup, I shall yefer the matter to the Justice Department, speak to
the Attorney General about it, and call our feelings to his attention.

Chairman Proxyare. Do you know of any effort—is Justice doing
anything on any of these cases?

My, Seorxin, Yes; they are, Senator.

Chairman Proxnire. Yes?

Mr, Seorxrw. I think it would be inappropriate to discuss this and
I must reaffirm what the chairman said. I know of no instance wheres
Justice in any of these casesis dragging its feet.

Chairman Proxarrre, Well, we are suspicious because there is not
o very reassuring record under either party—I don’t mean to be parti-
san about it—of Justice prosecuting top officials of corporations or,
for that matter, top officials in government. They seem to be allergie
to that kind of action.

Mr, Hives. Senator, if I may make one comment, which T am sure
the Senator appreciates, but I am sure it is helpful in the context of
my testimony. We do have a system based upon the need for stock-
holders to know the quality of their management. We do have a proxy
system and a disclosure system. It is our job to make sure that stock-
holders know the kind of management they have in this respect, and
the system is such that there is no way that we can require a given
board of dirvectors to fire or hire anyone. We can insist, as a matfer of
&3 forcement, as we have so often, that an independent capacity be
generated to do some of these investigations so that the proxy material
will reveal this. That is the system. We, of course, can comment or not
as to whether somebody should have beeen fired, but that really, in the
final analysis, has to be left to the stockholders. All we can do in this
system is display that for the stockholders’ observation,

Chairman Proxare. Did Justice take any position in enforeing the
subpena in the Lockheed case?

Mr, Hrs. I'm sorry.

Chairman Proxarme. Did Justice take any position in enforcing the
subpena in the Lockheed case ?

Mr. Hirs. The Lockheed case, Senator, involves no policy posi-
tion on the part of the Justice Department. That isthe simple answer,
But although the Justice Department itself took no policy position
with respect to the subpena, the Justice Department representing its
client, the State Department, took a position in the Lockheed case.
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Chairman Proxayme, What position was that? o

Mr. Hixxs. The State Department, before I came to the Commission,
had indicated an interest generally in matters involved in the Lock-
heed files. At a later date, when I was at the Commission, the Justice
Depadrtment informed us that the Secretary of State on behalf of the
State Department wanted to express a concern that there could be
materials in the files of Lockheed that would be detrimental to the
national interest of the United States. ' N

Chairman Proxuire. So the only record we have of the Justice De-
partment position, and as you say it is not a policy position on their
part, reflects the State Department’s cover-up, suppression, not dis-
closing, because the Secretary of State thought it might have unfortu-
nate foreign policy implications, o - T '

Mr. Hirrs. Senator, if I may finish, the conclusion will speak for
itself, the State Department simply asks the Justice Department to
express to the court a concern. On behalf of the Securities and Tix-
change Commission, I asked that the degree of concern be articulated
in soms fashion. We were worried lest the expression of econcern be
interpreted by the court as interferring with our capacity to prosecute
that case. With the great cooperation of the Justice Department we
were able to secure the cooperation of the State Departmeént: The State
Department people assured me, and agréed with me, that they did not
intend in any way to interfere with our investigation and they, at our
request, provided the court with their view of what a satisfactory order
would be. We insisted that, in view of this expression of interest, an
expressed proviso be put in the order providing that nothing in the
court’s order would interfert with the capacity of the Securities and
Exchange Commission to have that material in its hand and to use it
in any way necessary for the jurisdiction of the SEC. So that, while
the Justice Department expression of interest on behalf of State might
have been construed as interference with the SEC, we are satisfied
that the order which issued does not in any way interfere with our
capacity. SR

Chairman Proxammre. Let me ask you about those subpena enforce-
ment actions, You mentioned two subpena enforcement actions. Is it
correct to say that SEC had to go to court to enforce the subpenas be-
cause the companies refused to obey them ¢ ‘

My. Hmrs. We only have two at the present time, Senator; yes.

Chairman Proxstre. And you had to go to court?

Mr. Seorern. Absolutely. ) c

Chairman Proxsrre. And that is Tockheed and Occidental.

My, Srorxrx. Correct.

Chairman Proxams. How much delay in weeks or months have
been caused by the defiance of the subpenas in these cases?

Mz, Sporkxn. Too long., - : -

Chairman Proxnare. What ¢

Mr. Seorxin. Too long. R -

Chairman Proxayare, But you cannot tell us. :

Mz, Seorkrn. I cannot precisely, but it has been months, Senator.

Chairman Prox»re. Six months? .

Mr. Srorkiv. I don’t know whether it is that long, but at least 3 to
4 months. :

78-547—77——3
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Chairman Proxanre, Can you briefly summarize the violative con-
‘duct these two corporations committed or were suspected of having
committed ?

Mr. SporsIN. Senator, I think it inappropriate to do that because
‘at the investigative stage we are attempting to go find the facts. No
allegations acfually have been made, and while I did argue the Lock-
heed case, my knowledge on the other case is limited.

Chairman Proxaure. Lockheed admitted to another committee
which I was chairing that they had made kickbacks. They didn’t call
them bribes. They called them kickbacks. They admitted that publicly.

M. SrorkiN. That is correct.

Chairman Proxame. It is correct that Lockheed has refused to
disclose many of the details of the improper or questionable payments
it has made, and that the effect of the court’s ruling is to withhold
these details from public disclosure?

My, Hmas. Senator, granted that the delay has been much too long,
but to my knowledge we now have at the SEC control over those
documents.

Chairman Proxaire. I am sorry. I missed that last.

Mr. HiuLs. We now have control over the documents which would
reveal the information, if it exists, on this subject.

Chairman Proxaire. Well, do you as an agency have a position on
whether or not, these documents should be publicly disclosed?

Mr. Hrs. We couldn’t possibly make a decision now, Seénator,
until we have thoroughly investigated that case. I think it 1s instrue-
tive to look at what has happened in the nine cases before. It is very
difficult for us to do anything more than say that the process in the
cases that we have brought has resulted in a thorongh investigation
by independent counsel and independent members of the boards of
directors. That in turn, has vesulted in a veport which was filed and
made public containing all of the information the Senator has made
reference to.

Chairman Proxmire., Let me see if we understand the same thing
by a thorough investigation. Are you satisfied that the agency has all
the details of the Lockheed payments including the names of all re-
cipients, the amounts, the purposes for which they were made, and
the names of the foreign govermments?

My, Hiwis. We are only satisfied that we have a court order that
will give us that information.

Chairman Proxare. You don’t have that information?

Mr. Hrres. It is massive documents that ave in the possession

Mr. Srorkrx. We will never be able to give you that assurance even
after

Chairman Proxarme. When do you expect to—what is the likeli-
hood that SEC will file a civil suit?

Mz, Sporrin. Of course, the Commission will have to determine
that. I think the investigation will be completed within the next 3 to
4 months.

Chairman Proxaure, Now, can you tell us whether or not you agree
with the position taken by State and Justice in the subpena enforce-
ment action against Lockheed ?

My, Hirrs. That we agree?
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Chairman Proxarre. Do you agree or disagree or is your position,
like Justice whicl: is apparently a no policy position? :

Mr, Hiurs, Senator, we intend to investigate thoroughly these mat-
ters. We have responsibility, of course, under the securities laws of
the United States to do so, and we shall perform that responsibility.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, do you agree or disagree with the State
Department? State Department wants to suppress this information.

Mpr. Hirs. Senator, I would not characterize the State Department
action in any other way than I have, namely, as an expression of
interest. The specific information is not before me and is not in our
possession at the present time.

Chairman Proxarre. So you still don’t have the details of those
bribes.

Mr. SeorxiN. We truthfully have nothing more than a court order
that, if complied with, will give us that information if it exists.

Chairman Proxame. You ave waiting for compliance on the part of
Lockheed ?

Myr. Hres. Excuse me. We have, naturally, in the course of the in-
vestigation, gathered other information in addition to what we have
sought from Lockheed.

Chairman Proxzrre. That order was issued several weeks ago, and
you don’t have the details as yet, is that right ?

Mr. SporkiN. Senator, I think we do have the details of certain trans-
actions from other sources. At this stage, we ave in the process of getting
control of the records. These records have been made available to us.
We had our people ont there. The question was whether we could take
them back with us. That has been the issue. What we want is to have
them here in Washington so we can eviluate them and nse them in fur-
therance of our investigation. So we do have information, but what I
am saying is we cannot say here that—all the documents from Lock-
heed, I am now told, are in-house.

Chairman Proxyrre. Allthe what, sir?

Mr. SrorgiN. Are in-house.

Chairman Proxatke. You have them now?

Mpr. SporkrN. Yes, sir. :

Chairman ProxyIre. All right. Has State or Justice intervened in
any other SEC case?

My, Hires, You mean in the history of the Commission?

Chairman Proxare. Well, in recent years? :

Mzr. Hiois. Let me say I would not characterize it as anintervention.
I would characterize it as an expression of interest and, of course,
many ‘Government agencies from time to time express an interest in
something the SEC is doing. That part is not unusual.

Chairman Proxarre. Well, may I ask, what do you think that expres-
sion of interest was designed to clo if not to suppress the data and pre-
vent disclosure? ) ‘

My. Hrues. Well, Senator——

Chairman Proxorire. That was its purpose, wasn’t it ?

Mr. Hirnes, Senator, it did not interfere with our capacity to get the
evidence. When I asked for a more explicit understanding of what pre-
cisely the letter meant, the Justice Department provided us with their
form of proviso so that there could be no misunderstanding of what the
real intention was.
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Chairman Proxmire. Does the,court order in this case bar you from
providing the committee with the information contained in the sub-

penaed documents? : o T

Mr. Hrxs, Does it bar us from providing the information to this
committee? ; co . o
.. Chairman Proxsige. Yes. . o

My. Hrurs. The order. provides a form of continuing jurisdiction by
the court. S ' : : P

- Chairman Proxmrre. Yes, but you can get the information?

Mor. Hirrs. We can get the information. : R

Chairman Proxarre. Could you then disclose it to this committee,
and would you doit? . T

Mr., Hmrs. We can provide it if any other law enforcement agency
of the Government, or another agency of Government with law enforce-
ment responsibilities, or a grand jury asks us for documents. We must
notify the courts of that inguiry.

Chairman Proxyare. Well, we want that information. - .

Mr. Hirrs, Well, Senator, of course, there are several issues here. We
have had a long and a good relationship with Congress, At the pres-
ent time, we are in the course of an investigation. And I would hope
that nothing this or any other subcommittee needed would. cause an
interference with the course of the investigation. Obviously, the judg-
ment, is largely that of the Division of Enforcement reflected in its rec-
ommendations to our Commission. So, from our standpoint, at the pres-
-ent time, with the matter actively under investigation, we would hope
that no one else would want certain of that information. If the sub-
committee does wish it, we, of course, will have to comply with the
terms of the subpena order by notifying the court. . =~ |
. Chairman Proxmire. You see, this isn’t just a matter of our being
curious for ourselves. I feel very strongly that the most effective way
to deter corporations from committing abuses of this kind is to dis-
close this. Once we know the names of people being bribed I think
that would have by far the most effective results in discouraging
bribery in the future. S

My. Hirrs. Senator, we can only ask that the subcommittee look at
the records in the cases that we have completed. I would hope that
the subcommittee would consider those cases successfully completed.

Chairman Prox»rme. Well, could you assure this committee that at
the time the SEC completes its case against Liockheed, or enters into
a consent agreement, that the details of all the illegal or improper
-payments will be fully disclosed ?-
~ Mr, Hiras. Senator, I can assure the subcommittee that we will
follow the same procedure with full vigor in Lockheed as we have in
‘the other cases including a very careful documentation of what has
happened. :

Chairman Proxmmre. There is something quite different here,
though. The State Department doesn’t want it released. :

Mzr. Hires. Concerning the State Department, Senator, the Federal
Reserve Board, and Department of Commerce, we will be interested
in anything they wish to say to us. But they will not, as they never
have in the past nor, can I assure the subcommittee, will they in the
future, interfere with our completing our investigation. And I think
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it is very important to focus on the subpena, which goes to some
lengths to spell out the responsibilities. ’

Chairman Proxame. The question remains, We want the investi-
gation completed, but how about disclosing the facts? Will they be dis-
closed or not ?

Mr. Hius. Senator, of course, I cannot make any judgment at this
time as to what should or should not be disclosed, but you can be abso-
lutely certain that, if the same types of circumstances arise in Lock-
head, or any other case as have arisen in previous cases, the SEC
will pursue the same course of action as it has in the past. I have no
way of knowing, first of all, whether we will get o settlement, which,
it we did, would include the sme form of requirements for investiga-
t:on we have had in other cases. If we don’t get a settlement, I have
1) way, of course, of knowing what the court will order, but the SEC
will take what steps we think are necessary to make relevant facts
available to the stockholders of the Lockheed Corp. I have no doubt,
Senstor, that we will accomplish that objective if the facts that are
gncov:\red are of the same nature as in the cases we have brought to

ate.

Chairman Proxuire. Now, you stress the fact that in all nine of
the SEC cases the corporate abuses were accompanied by false or in-
adequate corporate books and records and that most of the cases in-
volved illegal or improper domestic and foreign payments. Does such
falsification of corporate books and records constitute a violation of
SEC’s laws or regulations and do they constitute criminal violations?

Mr. Hrras, Lcan’t say in all cases.

Mr. Sporkin. There is no provision that prohibits just what you
stated, Senator, However, we have taken the position

Chairman Proxacre. I am sorry. I missed that. No provision——

Mr. Sporkin. There is no provision that provides, with respect to
the kinds of companies we are talking about, that that could be a vio-
lation of the law.

Mz, Hixxs. Let me say, Senator, of course, we do not enforce or in-
terpret the criminal laws of the Federal Government, and whether it
is or is not, is a matter for the U.S. Department of Justice to decide.

Chairman Proxare, Well, then, it would seem to me that maybe
we ought to consider, as the legislative body for our Government,
making it a violation of the law, How would you feel about that?

Mr. Hrres. That, I think, Senator, is a matter that the people in
charge of enforcing the criminal laws must have the primary re-
gponsibility for. '

Chairman Proxmire. Well, you have responsibilities, too.

Mz, Hiras. I don’t know—

Chairman Proxurre. Wouldn’t it assist you if you knew that you
could prosecute for violation of the law when people—when there
was a falsification of corporate books? ;

Mr. Hiris. We prosecute falsification of the books in the sense that
we bring civil injunctive actions and we seek and secure the remedies
we need to get the information. .

Chairman Proxurre. But those are slaps on the wrist, not even any
fines, no dismissals. They can do it and if they get caught they say
they will be good boys, but there is no punishment.
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Mr. Hirrs. But that, Senator, is a matter for criminal jurisprudence.
VWhether or not what they have done should constitute a crime, be
prosecuted by the Department of Justice, is a matter that will not either
aid or abet us,

Chairman Proxarire, Couldn’t it aid and abet you if it were a crime
so you would have more compliance? Obviously you can give us a long
list of falsification of records and books and we have been successful
in getting the important leads we need in getting the documents. If
the question is statements by public officials, I think the question is not
whether it would help us get the information. I think the question is
whether or not making something a crime or not would keep it from
happening. That is an entively different issue. It seems to me it would
help, Of course, people will commit erimes. They have throughout his-
tory and they will continue to do it, but it just seems to me they are
less likely to do so if they know it is a crime, subject to being punished,
fined, picked up, obviously jailed.

M. Hires. I guess if you were a behavioral scientist you might say
that a man would be less likely to give evidence if it showed his actions
were & crime, but that is not a concern of ours.

Mr. Seorxin. Senator, if I may, I don’t want to leave the record in-
complete. We have alleged that false books and records were a part of
the violative act. We have also alleged in our cases that, in order for
a company to provide adequate financial information, it must have
adequate bools and records. So we are picking up the fact that there
are madequate books and records in the types of cases that we bring.

You must remember, Senator, that in order for us to bring a case, we
have to allege a violation, and a violation of our act can be a civil act
as well as a eriminal act. So in my mind there would be no additional
deference if a4 criminal action could be piggybacked on the basis of the
allegations that we made assuming that you have the requisite erimi-
nal intent. That is what the Chairman is speaking about. That deter-
mination must be made by the Department of Justice. But I think the
fact that there can be a violation is clear in my mind.

Chairman Proxamre. Let me ask you about something else. You say
the SEC has a number of other active investigations. In fact, you said
there were 30 investigations——

Mr. Sporery. Approximately.

Chairman Proxanre [continuing]. Being conducted right now
against major corporations. Do these investigations involve the same
kinds of bribes, kickbacks, political contributions, and other illegal
improper contributions as the ones we have discussed so far?

M. Srorxin, They involve that and there ave also some different
wrinkles. As the Chairman mentioned, each case is pretty much its
own textbaok on how to do these kinds of things. There are others——

Chairman Proxyime. But they do then involve bribes, kickbacks, in
many cases political contributions.

Mr. Sporg1x. Yes; that is corvect.

Chairman Proxare. What are some of the——

Mr. Hrrs. You have to say “allegations” at the present time.

Chairman Proxarms. Yes, sir. What ave some of the other allega-
tions—you are correct—sonie of the other wrinkles you refer to?

ot
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My, SrorriN. There ave, and again these arve allegations, matters
under investigation involving so-called domestic bribery. That is
bribery that is not to foreign governments.

Chairman Proxarire. In this country ?

Mz, Srorxix. In this country. These ave problems that are alluded
to in the testimony, including payments with respect to exchange rates,
under currency controls, and tax evasion in foreign countries. These
are the little wrinkles that we have seen, but T must tell you that every
time I pick up one we find another wrinkle.

Chajrman Proxare, When you say commercial bribery, you ave
talking about bribery of the Government officials?

Mr. Srorxin. No.

Chairman Proxatre. Bribery of other corporate officials in order to
get a sale?

Mr. Seorgrx. No. Commercial bribery is o bribery of somebody, a
private person to insure profit. In other words, let’s assume a company
wants to sell its products in an area, and it generates a slush fund and
uses the money out of there in order to say to customers, “We want you
to use our product and not use our competitor’s product.”

Chairman Proxaore. What I am getting at, is one corporation sell-
ing anothexr. A bribe to the procurement official of the other corpo-

ation,

Mr. SeorrrN, That is the kind of thing T am talking about, Senator.

Chairman Proxsore. How many of these cases are being actively
investigated?

Alr. Srorgrx. I would think it is under 10. T will have to get the
figure and correct the testimony.

Chairman Proxmme. Will you give us the names of the major
corporations currently being actively investigated ?

My, Sporgxy. Not on a public basis, Senator. I think that wounld be
wrong.

Chairman Prox»are. You said that some have already been named
in the press and in court actions. Can you give us those?

Mr. Hirs. We have, Senator, either hecause we brought actions or
because they have made voluntary disclosure. Lockheed, of course,
Occidental, of course, both of which I mentioned earlier, are instances
on which I can make comments. There are public statements by offi-
cials of varipus companies—Exxon, McDonnell Douglas, American
Adrlines, and Braniffi—and I only make references to those state-
ments without wishing to add to them. ,

Chairman Proxsime. How does the SEC decide when to open such
an investigation? Do you have written guidelines and to what extent
does the limited number of your staff influence your decision to begin
investigation ?

Mr. Hizrs. Well, Senator, the Director of the Division of Enforce-
ment has broad authority to begin informal investigations. His guide-
lines to his people and the judgments they use are obviously in a
large measure the product of experience. Let me make two distine-
tions. An investigation has two stages. The Division of Enforcement
must obviously look into something, and at some stage it decides it
neecls o formal order of investigntion based upon its desire to pro-
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ceed to a more formal level. At the first level, the Division of Enforce-
ment must act on its own. When it decides it needs & formal order of
investigation, it comes to the Commission and presents a written sub-
mission that carefully describes the facts as alleged. We listen to staff
recommendations, and then we decide whether or not to grant a formal
order of investigation.

Chairman Proxmire. Mr. Sporkin is head of the Enforcement
Division.

Mr. Hurs, Mr. Sporkin is the head of the Division of Enforcement.

Chairman Proxuire. Let me ask Mr. Sporkin, you say you have 80
investigations underway now?

Mr. Seorkxn. Thirty in certain areas, Senator.

Chairman Proxmirs. Certain areas. I beg your pardon.

How do you decide that just those 30 will be investigated, not 60,
100, 300? Obviously you have a limit on what you can do because of
the size of your staff, isn’t that correct?

Mcr. Seorxin. Yes, Senator, but I know of no case involving mat-
ters of this kind that we are not looking at. ‘

Chairman Proxmire. You feel you are investigating every single
case on which you feel there is evidence that would warrant an in-
vestigation regardless of—even if you had a much bigger staff.

Mr. Srorkiy. The way you phrased it the answer would be no. I
can’t say that we are investigating every single case. For example,
as the chairman mentioned in his testimony in one instance some pay-
ments were made by a private corporation but were cleaned up before
the corporation became public. In that case, the facts didn’t amount to
much and we dropped it.

Chairman Proxatre, Yes. Of course there are many cases that you
wouldn’t investigate. No question about that. What I am saying 1s,
Ar(la thel;e cases that you would investigate if you had the staff capacity
to doso!

Mr. Srorxrn. In this area, I know of no such case.

Chairman Proxaare. When you say “this area” you mean.what?

Mr. Seormxn. I am talking about the way you have defined it and
the chairman has defined it—bribes, kickbacks.

Mor. Hirs, The subject of this inquiry.

Mr. Srorkin, This inquiry. This is too sensitive an area and it is
an area that concerns me., There have been instances where there have
been questions raised as to whether there is—there is disclosure re-
quired or not, and those matters will all be brought with recommenda-
tions to the Commission. A

Chairman Proxyme. Now, as you know, a number of corporations
have voluntarily admitted making illegal or improper payments since
your investigation began including Kxxon, Merck, Cities Service,
Public Service Co. of New Mexico. Will you tell us whether they are
some of the ones under active investigation?

Mr. Hrs. No, Senator. I think it is inappropriate for us to com-
ment on any investigation. It involves not just the corporation, of
course, but 1t involves individuals, members of the public, so it would
be quite contrary to our policy to talk about investigations.

Chairman Proxmme. In recent weeks, McDonnell Douglas and
Grumman have made public admissions of illegal improper payments.
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My, Hnas, T misspoke myself slightly. Obviously we will be en-
gaged in discussions with any company that comes forward under our
voluntary program. . . . o

Chairman Prox»uxe. I think your statement is proper. Are these
two firms, M¢Donnell and Grumman, which made public admission of
illegal payments, are they being actively investigated ? ‘

Mr. Hilrs. They are in contact with the SEC. Obviously, they have
said things that are public admissions. They are involved with the
Commission. : o

Chairman Proxaore. I thought you said McDonnell Douglas was
under investigation. : ,

My, Hrves. I think I very carefully have not stated anything about
anything or anyone under investigation. S

Chairman Proxyme. You stated something about some things. T
hope you have. Otherwise I have certainly wasted the last 2 hours,

McDonnell Douglas admitted making payments of $214 million to
persons who might be legally considered officials of foreign govern-
ments. It also claims no false accounting entries were utilized and that
none of the questionable payments involved the sale of military prod-
uets. Yet I asked Chairman Garrett last spring to examine the filings
of each of the top 25 defense contractors to determine whether any
of them made such questionable payments, and I was later told that
none could be detected from the filings. Doesn’t this indicate that at
least McDonnell Douglas Corp., failed to disclose its payments and,
therefore, violated SE(C’s disclosure requirements?

My, Hmis. Senator, I think the comments you made speak for
themselves.

Chairman Proxmme. What you are saying is they did, correct?

M. Seorkrx. Senator, would you allow us diseretion?

I think an inquiry will have to be made and I am not saying there
is one in this arca, but there has to be an inquiry before you can make
any determination such as that. I don’t think it would be appropriate
for us to sit here and say that a corporation did or did not violate the
Iaw without getting all the facts.

1?[11 1IIILLs. ‘We have taken note obviously of the comments made
publicly.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, as we mentioned earlier, in each of the
nine cases filed by the SEC, the illegal or improper payments were
tacilitated by false or inadequate corporate books and records. Can
vou tell us whether McDonnell Douglas maintained false and inade-
quate books and records that facilitated the payments of $214 million,
or do their records show that the moneys were paid to officials of
foreign governments?

My, Hrrxs. I cannot comment o that, Senator.

Chairman Proxarre. Mr. Chairman, wounld you like to add any-
thing ¢ T am just about to conclude the hearing.

Mr. Hmxs. No, Senator. I would simply say two things. First, we
did welcome the chance to testify. Second, I should say, and I am
reminded by Mr. Sporkin, that we do have, obviously, in any case we
bring, the right to seek receiverships for grievous violations of the
law. Thus, there are cases that can be so serious that we do, in effect,



38

have the power to cause a change in management. We use it very
seldom.

Chairman Proxarme. I would like to conclude by saying that the
SEC is an outstanding agency and I think your performance this
morning has been very, very cooperative, helpful, constructive, and
I commend you. If all agencies were as diligent as you are, and as
competent as you are, and as concerned with the public interest and
with ethical conduct by American business, we wouldn’t have the prob-
lems we have. I think you have done an excellent job, and have been
most responsive and I am very grateful to you.

The subcommittee will stand in recess until tomorrow morning
at 10 o'clock. )

[ Whereupon, at 11 5 a.n., the subcommittee recessed, to reconvene
at 10 a.m., Thursday, January 15, 1976.]
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ABUSES OF CORPORATE POWER

THURSDAY, JANUARY 15, 1976

Congress oF TiE UNITED STATES,
SUBCOMMIITEE ON PRIORITTES AND
Ecoxo0ay IN GOVERNMENT OF THE
Jorxr Ecoxoatic CoMAMITTEE,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursnant to vecess, at 10:05 a.m., in room
1318, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon, William Proxmire (chair-
man of the subcomimittee) presiding.

Present: Senator Proxmive and Representative Rousselot.

Also present: Richard . Kaufman, general counsel: George D.
Krumbhaar, Jr., minority counsels and M. Catherine Miller, minority
economist.

Orexing StareyENT oF CrmamyaN Proxarme

Chairman Proxarre. The subcommittee will come toorder.

The American people ave being bombarded with a steady drumfire
of disclosures of criminal and mmproper activities by many of our
largest and most prestigious corporations.

Yesterday we learned as many as 50 major corporations have been
sued or are under investigation by the SEC or have voluntarily ad-
mitted being involved in illegal or improper payments.

These revelations, coming after the shocks of Vietnam, our most un-
wanted wa *Watergate, and the CTA and FBI scandals, are unwel-
come and ¢ - .cartening news.

But we must face the facts. The abuse of corporate power is a high
priovity issue and one that meirts extensive public debate and
discussian.

While the extent and pervasiveness of this problem remains to be
seen its seriousness is readily apparent.

_ Yet the response of the Federal (Government has been disappoint-
ing. :

Except for the SEC, most other Government agencies seem to be
sitting on their hands or aiding and abetting the payment of bribes and
kickbacks. ) ‘ h

I have seen no signs of activity by the ¥BI, Justice Department, or
IRS. The State Department’s actions have not been helpful.

I might say, Mr. Gutmann, that as T understand it, this report that
vou have here should be put in perspective. And you tell me if I am
wrong, correct me on how your investigation was made on which much
of this report is based. But you didn’t investigate, follow up on lead

e . (39) G
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-or tips or suggestions or requests to investigate particular companies
because they were alleged to have violated the law; as I understand it,
you simply selected two contractors at random, Bell Helicopter and
Martin Marietta, to see if the same pattern of corporate abuse existed
there as-was alleged to have existed 1n other areas, you walked in with-
out any previous tips of wrongdoing and began investigating. Is that
roughly a picture of the basis on which you developed this report ?

Mr. Guraany. That is correct, yes, sir.

Chairman Proxsrre. The reason I stress that is because I think that
some of what you report—and I am glad that you give the detail—but
some of the detail indicates a sort of petty action which most people
would regard as not being serious. But I think when the whole thing
is put in perspective, this being something that was just discovered
on the basis of walking into what I would say would be a typical op-
eration of the contractor, we get a better picture of the kind of opera-
tion which may be going among the contractors for our
(Government.

I understand, Mr. Gutmann, you are testifying for GAO in place
of Robert Keller who is ill. You are the Director of Procurement and
Systems Acquisition Division of GAO?

Mr. Gorarany, Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxaire. And the report you are reporting on was pre-
pared under your jurisdiction, is that correct?

Mr. Gursran. Yes,indeed.

Chairman Proxmire. Would you identify the gentlemen with you
and then proceed ?

STATEMENT OF RICHARD W. GUTMANN, DIRECTOR, PROCUREMENT
AND SYSTEMS ACQUISITION DIVISION, GENERAYL ACCOUNT-
ING OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY JOHN F. FLYNN, DEPUTY DIREC-
TOR; ROBERT H. HUNTER, JR. OFFICE 0F GENERAL COUNSEL;
AND FRANCIS M. DOYAYL, FIELD OPERATIONS DIVISION.

Mr. Guraany. Thank you, sir. I would like to first express Mr.
Keller’s regrets at his being unable to attend here this morning.! He
has a mild case of the flu that he is doctoring. We hope to see him back
to work within a week or so. KR

To my far right is Marvin Doyal, from our Field Operations Divi-
sion, who is one of the site supervisors on this work. ) i

To my immediate right is John Flynn, who is a Deputy Director of
the Division. He is the man who programs work in the general area
of contracts, contract pricing, and contract administration.

To my left is Robert Hunter, from our Office of General Counsel,
who helps us when we deal with legal matters. ‘

I do have a short statement to present, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Proxarme, All right, sir. And if you summarize it, the
entire statement will be printed in full in the record. -

. Mr. Gurmann. It is an honor and a privilege to represent Mr. Staats
- and Mr. Keller this morning on what is indeed an extremely important
subject, one that must be of concern to everybody.

2 See Mr. Keller's prepared statement, with an attachment, beginning on p. 59.



AL S

eRnE IRy

41

‘We all have read in recent years the illustrations of corporate abuse
of power. And GAO, of course, is sceling some way in which we can
contribute to the deterrence of such abuses.

My statement covers some of our prior and more recent work omn
several procurement matters, particularly the relationship between
selected prime contractors and their subcontractors.

Previously, in November 1978, we testified before your subcommittee
on review of allepations that officers and employees of Litton Indus-
tries, Ingalls Shipbuilding Division, Pascagoula, Miss., engaged in
improper activities with subcontractors.

s you may recall, our review shotwed that procurement practices
had been questionable, but the data we obtained did not indjcate pay-
ments of fees or kickbacks. We did not have a basis, therefore, for
recovery actions under the Antikickback Act.

Under the act—41 U.S.C. 51-54—payment either directly by or on
behalf of a subcontractor to a prime contractor holding a negotiated
(Government, contract, or to its employees, or to a higher tier subcon-
tractor, or to its officers and employees, either as inducement for the
award of a subcontract, or as an acknowledgment of a subcontract or
purchase order previously awarded, is prohibited. - - ‘

Also under this act, it is conclusively presumed that the kickbacks
are ultimately borne by the Government, and prime contractors are
required to withhold from subcontractors; upon the direction of the
contracting agency or the GAO, the amount of any kickback. In.addi-
tion, the act provides for both civil recovery and criminal prosecution.

Now, to deal quickly here with the status of the cases tﬁat we have
referred to, the Department of Justice, they are, of course, responsible
for investigating violations of criminal laws, except in certain spe-
cialized areas where the responsibility is assigned to other Government
agencies. Therefore, we follow the policy of referring to the appro-
priate criminal law enforcement agency, generally the FBI, all infor-
mation concerning criminal law violations arising in our work.

Skipping now. to some of the specific cases that we referred——

Chairman Prox»ume. Before you do that, I think I might just as
well question you as we go along befare you get into specific questions.

First, I want to ask about the referrals of earlier cases to the Justice
Department. Youmention referrals of matters to Justice on five differ-
ent occasions, from October 1973 to March of 1975. How many differ-
ent cases were included in those referrals and what kind of possible
law violations were involved ? : ' :

Mr. Gormany. Well, we referred Ingalls—a total of 12.

Chairman Proxmire. There were 12 cases referred to Justice?

Mzr. Gurmany. Yes, approximately that number.  And in each case
we felt that there was enough evidence for GAO to withdraw from
the case because there was evidence of violation of Federal criminal
or civil law, ; ’

Whenever we have some indication that there may be a violation of
a criminal law, or an illegality that is not within the province of GAO
to resolve, we are obliged to refer those cases to the Department of
Justice for congsideration. In these cases we did have some indications
that violations of criminal law could be involved.



42

Now, I emphasize that they could have been involved, because we
in agreement with the Department of Justice do not go far enough in
a case to fully develop a convincing or proven case of illegality.

‘Chairman Proxaire. I understand. But what I would like to get is,
first what kind of cases were referred ? o

Mr. Gorarany. Well, in many cases there was indeed an indication
that there had been kickbacks made.

Chairman Proxare. Was that the most common violation?

Mz, Goraraxw. Yes; in those 12, that was the most common viola-
tion that we referred.

Chairman Proxarms. As I understand it, you say that you don’t of
course make the determination as to whether that should be followed
up by the Justice Department, and at the same time you don’t refer
these matters to Justice lightly. As I understand it, any referral is
cavefully scrutinized by your Legal Department and personally re-
viewed by the Comptroller General, is it not?

Mr. Guraany. It certainly is serutinized by our Legal Department,
yes, sir. Our General Counsel advises us as to whether or not we should
proceed further with development of the case or refer it to the FBI.

Chairman Proxarre. And when you refer it to the FBI and the
Justice Department you do so because you think it may merit
prosecution ? ,

Mr. Gormany. Yes. And of course we don’t have assurance of that
because we have not used any of the normal investigative type of prac-
tices that the FBI is authorized to use. '

Chairman Proxzre. Bub what you are telling us is that in each
of those cases the Justice Department simply didn’t go along with
the General Accounting Office, it refused to prosecute any of them,
and in some cases refused even to investigate, is that correct?

My, Gurazaxy, That is correct. ‘

- Chairman Proxarire: All right, sir.

Mr. Gurazaxy. We might turn now then to the most recent work.
The attached report, the appendix to our prepared statement
< Chairman Proxarr. And you are working from your prepared
statement this morning? , ‘

- Mr. Guraranw. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxarre. I beg your pardon. Go right ahead.

Mr. Gursranw. Referring to the veport that we gave you of Novem-
ber 19, in three instances described in the attached report, we con-
tacted Justice personnel on possible violations of Federal law.

First, on October 24, 1974, our Dallas field office briefed Dallas FBI
agents on the sale of surplus materials by a subcontractor. This is ex-
ample 1, on page 12 of the attached report. The next day we were
advised that the U.S. attorney could not identify a breach of Federal
criminal law and had decided not to investigate the matter further.

Second, on January 17,1975, we referred the matter of the purchase
of an airplane ticket by a subcontractor for a prime contractor em-
ployee—example 1, page 9 of the attached report—to the FBI office in
Dallas. Prosecution of this case was declined by the U.S. attorney,
Trort Worth, Tex. - : ' '

We referred another case in March of 1975. And this case as de-
clined for prosecution by the TU.S. attorney in California.
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"e did additional work, as you recall, in response to your request.
In the additional work that we started in spring of 1974, we took
two approaches. First, we were concerned primarily with whether or
not there were violations of the Anti-Kickback Act. This work was
performed in two prime contractor locations in ovder to determine
the feasibility and practicability of performing audits without benefit
of allegations as you mentioned in your opening remarks.

The second review was concerned primarily with the overall effec-
tiveness of prime contractors’ purchasing and subcontracting pro-
cedures, and the Government surveillance over such activities. Here
of course we were concerned with the question of whether or not the
contractors’ procurement management, procurement procedures, and
practices were such as to deter and make difficult the payment of
kickbacks.

We summarized our work, in our veport to you entitled “Subcon-
tracting by the Department of Defense Prime Contractors: Integrity,
Pricing, and Surveillance,” the report that I mentioned is attached.
‘We can talk a little bit about the kickbacks that we found, and possible
existence of kickbacks. For example, we found where subcontractors
had presented gifts to and had frequently entertained prime contractor
employees who were in positions to influence purchasing decisions.
Prime contractor employees were involved in apparent conflicts of
interest. Purchases had been made through sales agents for no ap-
parent reason and the prices had been increased to cover the sales
agent’s fees. Transactions and relationships between the various con-
tractor and subcontractor employees were guestionable.

Those examples ave described in detail in the attached report and
I1 would like to discuss them later. Mr. Doyal is very familiar with
theni.

Chairman Proxarare. At this point let me say that your report on
defense contracting deletes the names of the corporations involved in
the investigation. And it was my determination that we fill the names
in. And we have acconiplished this by keying the report that yon have
and indicating the names of the contractors involved in each case.

I understand that is available to the press, and is the basis for the
specific examples that you are going throngh within the attached
report. ’

Now, let me get into these specific cases, at least to some extent.

The first example involves frequent gifts, gratuities and entertain-
ment by subcontractors to prime contractors.. The prime contractor
of conrse is the firm that gets the contract from the Defense Depart-
ment. The subcontractor is the one that does part of the work for the
prime contractor. Your first example is based on the case described on
page 9 of the GAO report, which involves its subcontractor, Trio
Manufacturing, Inc., and B. & M. Machine Co., doing business with
Bell Helicopter, the prime contractor, is that correct?

Mr. Gurstany. Yes, sir, A ,

Chairman Proxacre. Will you give us the details of this case, in-
dicating why you question them ? '

Mr. Guraranw. All right, sir.

I believe it would be desirable at this point to ask Mr. Doyal to -

ron through this case for you. He is the one most familiar with the
details and can get into any questions you might like to ask.
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M. Doyal, will you talk about that?

Mz, Dovar. The reason we reported these two matters was that over
90 percent of the business by these two firms was with the prime con-
tractor. The people who were being entertained were those persons at
the prime contractor’s plant who made procurement decisions whether
or not to award to these firms.

One of the subcontractors was a small local machine shop. As of
March 29, 1974, it had about 400 outstanding open purchase orders
with the prime contractor. _

During calendar year 1973 the purchasing agent responsible for
making awards to the company had been entertained 10 times, the
buying group supervisor, the next lower in line of authority at the
prime contractor’s plant, had been entertained 31 times, and the
buyer, who did quite a bit of the work in making the purchases, had
been entertained 24 times by this firm.,

This entertainment generally consisted of meals and drinks, and
on occasions it cost less than $25.

The company that we are talking about

Chairman Proxarire. $25 on each occasion ?

Mr. Doxarn, Oneach oceasion ; yes, sir.

The company we are talking about had been established in 1964
by a former employee-of Bell Helicopter. :

The firm’s unaundited financial statements covering the most recent
fiscal year shows sales in the range of about $1.2 million.

The president told us that over 90 percent of his business had been
made from Bell Helicopter.

‘While the amount of the entertainment expense doesn’t appear
too significant, we found that a majority of this entertainment, as I
stated earlier, had been provided to the prime contractor employees
who made the decisionsto award subcontractsto his firm.

The second company that we discuss in the first example is another
machine shop. The firm’s sales are about $3 million a year. We were
notified that 95 percent of this firm’s sales are to Bell Helicopter and
their entertainment expense for the most recent year was about $32,000.

Again, they entertained the people who were in authority to award
contracts to them. The purchasing agent was entertained 14 times
during the calendar year 1973, the buying group supervisor 19 times,
and the buyer one time, and 43 other occasions of entertainment were
granted to Bell Helicopter employees.

It is interesting to note that the purchasing agent, buying group
supervisor and buyer that we talk about in both cases are the same
persons. It is the same purchasing agent, the same buying group
supervisor, and the same buyer.

In addition, our review at this second firm uncovered the gift of an
airline ticket. To find out what that airline ticket represented we con-
tacted the subcontractor and looked at the records and asked what it
was about,

According to his records, entertainment was provided the buying
group supervisor, we have mentioned before, between May 25 and 28,
1973, a Memorial Day weekend and it was reported in the company
president’s travel expense book in the following manner. May 25, air-
port entertainment, and tips, $10.75, May 26, the Hungry Tiger—
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that is a restaurant located near Palm Springs, Calif.—dinner, enter-
tainment and tips.

May 27, Reno’s and Trader Vic’s Restaurants, lunch, dinner, and
tips, $44.25.

May 28, airport entertainment and tips, $8.80.

On May 25, 1973, the company’s president purchased an airline
tSickt_st——I have the number—for one round trip from Dallas to Palm

prings.

Now, a rental car invoice was also among their records for $68.04,
showing a car was checked out on May 25 at the Palm Springs airport
and returned on May 29.

‘We then went to the airline company and checked their records and
found out that on May 25, 1973, the airline ticket we mentioned earlier
was issued to the buying group supervisor’s secretary.

On May 27, 1973, the return portion of the ticket was exchanged for
another ticket in Tos Angeles for a return flight to Dallas.

We looked at the prime contractor’s record to trace the buying
group supervisor and his secreta.rg to see where they were and what
they were doing at this time. And we found that the buying group
supervisor was on: a business trip to Seattle and Los Angeles between
May 28 and 25. According to the prime contractor’s record he de-
parted . Dallas on the morning of May 23 for Seattle, and later that
day flew to Los Angeles. :

His expense report showed that he returned to Dallas May 25. He
claimed taxi fare from the airport to his residence. -

And his expense report shows that he departed Dallas for Nashville
on the morning of May 29 and proceeded to other locations on the
east coast.

On May 25, 1978, the buying group supervisor’s secretary picked up
his cash advance and airline tickets for the trip to Nashvilie and on to
the east coast. The payroll records show that she signed out at noon
for four hours of sick leave on the same day.

The personnel records show the secretary later married the buying
group supervisor September 28 and subsequently was transferred to
the contractor’s quality assurance department.

‘We began to interview the people involved and other interviews of
the prime contractor employees were conducted by a security official
and by a Federal law enforcement official on February 10, 1975. These
interviews disclosed that the buying group supervisor did not return
to Dallas -as indicated on his expense report, but rather drove from
Los Angeles to Palm Springs with the subcontractor’s corporate sec-
retary treasurer. ' :

Chairman Proxyire. I think you have given us a flavor of this.
Then I wish you would insert the rest of it for the record, if there is
something of great substance that would add to it.

[The following informstion was subsequently supplied for the
record :] - :

The president of the subeontractor firm, his wife, and the buying group super-
visor's secretary flew from Dallas to Palm Springs on May 25, 1973, They were
met at the Palm Springs airport by the supervisor and the secretary/treasurer.

The buying group supervisor's secretary (now his wife) acknowledged that

her airline ticket had been paid for by the subcontractor and that the fare had
not been repaid.

780477 7—4
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Interviews also disclosed that the five people spent the weekend in Palm
Springs at the vacation home of the secretary/treasurer. Contrary to the en-
tertainment expenses shown in the subcontractor records, the individuals
dined at the secretary/treasurer’s vacation home the entire time they were af
Palm Springs. The secretary/treasurer had driven the supervisor and his seere-
tay from Palm Springs to Los Angeles on May 27, 1973, for their return flight to
Dallas.

Chairman Proxarme. Does that cover it fairly well and give us an
idea of what is going on?

My, Dovar. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxyire. Your report contains similar cases does it not,
involving Bell Helicopter, Martin Marietta and other large contrac-
tors and a number of other smaller firms?

M. Dovar. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxarmme. You make the point in your prepared state-
ment that such gifts and gratuities are tax deductible as business ex-
penses under the Internal Revenue Code. Wonld you agree that the
tax laws are an incentive to business firms to make these kinds of gifts,
and to some extent the laws encouraging unethical and perhaps illog-
ical conduct?

Mr, Gurarany. Yes, I think the fact that these kinds of expenses are
decluctible makes it easier at the very least for contractors to make
payments, because they can recover a significant portion of the costs
they have ineurred.

Chairman Proxarme. Why wouldn’t it be desirable to eliminate or at
least to modify their tax deductible provision in order to eliminate the
meentive? Couldn’t an argument be made that frequent gifts, gratui-
tixos ;md entertainment could be employed to evade the Anti-Kickback
Act?

Mr. Guraany. Yes, I think that argument could be made. Cer-
tainly if the expenditures were nondeductible for tax purposes, the
people doing the entertainment would be somewhat more inhibited,
although the costs in all likelihood would still be included in the price
they charged their customer. Now. such costs are unallowable when
dealing with the Government under the armed services procurement
regulations. Aad presumably-

Chairman Prosacme. That is another point. So that the taxpayer iy
affected in the first place becanse it is a deduction from the taxes that
otherwise would be paid, but second, he is hit most dirvectly and em-
phatically by the fuct that this is a charge to the Defense Department,
and therefore to the expenditures of the Federal Government, for the
entire cost of enbertainment, or the entire cost of whatever is done on
behalf of the procurement official of the prime contractor; isn’t that
correct ?

Mr. Gurrany. No, the entertainment costs are nonallowable under
negotiated contracts awarded by the Government, even though they
may be deductible for income tax purposes.

Chairman Proxarze. These costs that were deseribed here are not
reimbursable expenses on defense contracts?

Mz, Grrarany. That is correct. The costs of lunches, and so on, are
expressly unallowable by the armed services procurement regulations
under negotiated contracts. Now, where contracts are advertised, or
where there is somie degree of competition, in those situations enter-
tainmenc costs are included.




Chairman Proxatre. In this particular case, the one we have been
discussing here, was it allowable as a relmbursement expense?

My, Gursany. Did we cheel that out?

M. Dovaz. These were not cost type contracts, they were fixed price
contracts. The subcontractor was hield to o fixed price. And this would
be o pavt of the way he determines the price for his product.

Chairman Proxatire. Now, has this been true throughout the in-
vestigations that you made? YWas this the case in every instance, that
it was not reimbursable, not payable by the Defense Department, were
these all ﬁxed-yice contracts?

My, Dovar. Subeontracts; yes, sir.

Mr. Guraranw. It veally could have been included in the price
charged.

Chairman Proxyee. Let me go back again. They are not reim-
bursable. But they might very well be incorporated, and they would
be incorporated, that all likelihood, in the price, I would think, be-
cause any kind of a sensible subcontractor would take that into ac-
count as anticipated costs, including entertainment costs, in making
his bid and establishing the price, would he not?

Mr. Goraany. Yes, But it-depends, Mr. Chairman, on the nature of
the contract that we are dealing with. It it is a firm fixed price contract
where the prices are arrived at through negotiation, based upon the
best data yvailable with respect to priov costs of producing the item,
et cetera, the entertainment costs are not specifically identified. So you
don’t know whether the proposing contractor has some entertainment
costs in there or not. When we are dealing with a noncompetitive
situation or in a cost type product, that is, where the final price is
based upon actual incurred costs, the entertainment costs are sapposedd
to be deleted from the contractors price proposal. And—DCAA has
the responsibility for auditing those proposals.

Chairman Proxmme. Are you satisfied, Mr. Gutmann, that this
was done in this particular case?

Mr. Gurmany. No, sir. In these particular cases, now, we are deal-
ing with subcontracts for the most part, where it is reasonable to
assume that entertainment costs were passed on to the prime contractor
and ultimately borne by the Government. ‘

Chairman Proxaome. That is exactly the point I have been trying
to make. I wanted to know which it was. And now you tell us that in
these cases these entertainment costs were passed on to the prime con-
tractor, you say, and horne ultimately by the taxpayer?

Mr. Gurmanw. That is right. Because here we are dealing with
subs that are firm fixed price. And of course before I could be a little
broader in terms——

Chairman Proxaore. Somehow I have failed to communicate to
you my question. I want to knew whether or not the taxpayer 1s ulfi-
lmat;ely paying for this entertainment cost. And now you tell me that
16 18. ’

My, Guraany. In this particular case ; yes. In many other cases; no.

Chairman Proxumire. But in this particular case; yes?

My, Gurmany. Yes. ‘

Chairipan Proxamre. Now, the second example you gave us, con-
tained on page 11 of the GAO report, involves a sales 2gent G. F.
Bohman Associates, a subcontractor, Applied Resources ‘Corp.; and a
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prime - contractor, Martin Marietta. Can you describe briefly what
happened in this case?

Mr. Doxar, Yes, sir. I will be a little brief on this one.

In March of 1973 the subcontractor we are dealing with here Applied
Resources, Inc., offered to sell to Martin Marietta a certain kind of
switch at a set price. The subcontractor, Aaplied Resources, was re-
forred to the manufacturer’s representative, G. F. Bohman Associates,
by prime contractor employees. The reasons for the referral are dis-
puted. We couldn’t identify them. The subcontractor then entered into
an agreement with the manufacturer’s representative to pay a 5-
percent commission on all sales, and a new proposal was prepared to
Martin Marietta where the price being offered was increased by 5 per-
cent to cover the cost of the commission.

We asked the president of Applied Resources why he had entered
into an agreement with the manufacturer’s representative rather than
going directly to Martin Marietta. :

In response to our question he told us that he had gone at the sug-
gestion of a prime contractor employee to borrow a calculator. The
representative, the manufacturer’s representative had provided the
caleulator, and then there ensued a discussion regarding the sales
agreement. They then entered into the sales agreement and prepared
the new. proposal for Martin Marietta with the increase of 5 percent.

e said that the representative’s service, the manufacturer’s repre-
sentative service probably weren’t necessary for the sale to Martin
Marietta, and that the commission he was paying was for the repre-
sentative to generate additional business at a later date. _

The manufacturer’s representative told us that the prime con-
tractor had not forced the subcontractor to make a contract with
him or to enter into a sales agreement with him. He said that the
prime contractor’s buyer had telephoned him and informed him
that the man needed a calculator and directed him to his hotel room
where the discussion which resulted in the sales agreement occurred.
He said that he was paid a commission to develop business in the
future for Applied Resources.

In this case we couldn’t identify the benefit to the prime con-
tractor from the 5 percent commission on the sale of those switches.

‘Chairman Proxarme. Now, is it fair to say, then, that in this case
the sales agent got a percentage or a $28,500 commission from the
subcontractor under a general agreement to drum up business for
the subcontractor? _ :

Mr. Dovar. Business in the future; yes, sir.

Chairman Proxaure. Business in the future, not related to the
particular product to which the $28,500 was added, is that right?

Mr. Dovaxr. Not related to the prodnct sold to Martin Marietta;

es.

Chairman Proxmire. So the entire commission wag simply taxed
onto the price paid to Martin Marietta, by the subcontractor?

Mr. Doyar. Yes, sir. g

Chairman Proxame. And that in turn would be paid for by the
Federal Government and the Federal taxpayers. :

Mr. Guraany, Yes, sir, '
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 Chairman Proxyire. So that the taxpayer ultimately had to pay
the commission in full, just as the taxpayer pays for the gifts and
entertainment, isthat correct ? S REEEE T

Mz, Doxax. Yes,sir. o T
* Chajrinan Proxmme. Now, the second example én page:11 of the
report is a variation of the scheme. I would like for you to explain
what happened there. ‘ -

Mzr. Dovar. This is an example dealing with a sales brokerwho has
no plant or equipment. In fact, he is an employee of a subcontractor.
So we have moved down really one level in the scheme of ‘contracting,
from prime contractor first-tier subcontractor to second-tier sub-
contractor. In this instance a contract wids awarded by the prime
contractor to a first-tier subcontractor, who subcontracted the entire
order to one of his employees, who was acting as a subcontractor.
And this gent in turn subcontracted even lower to another firm. When
we started back up the ladder with cost, after having gone down
with the contract paper, we find that the actual producer’s cost for the
item—there were several thousand of these items—was a $1.25 per
unit. The Government, through the prime contractor, ultimately
wound up paying $3.49 per unit. _

Chairman Proxsrire. In other words, Martin Marietta gave a sub-
contract to a subcontractor, B. & M. Machine Co.? :

Mr. Doyxar. Bell Helicopter, sir.

Chairman Proxyre. It wasn’t Martin Marietta but Bell Helicopter?

Mr. DoyaL. Yes. '

Chairman Proxmyme. And B. & M. turned the job over to & sales
broker, J. &J. Sales. » :

Mr. Doxar. Yes, sir. ' ‘

Chairman Proxmmee. And J. & J. has no plant and equipment, it
it strictly a broker? '

Mr. Doxar. Yes, sir. ‘

Chairman Proxarme. And he then turned the job over to K
Products Co.? :

Mr, Dovar. Right. ~ o

Chairman Proxayime. Which actually does the work. So both J. & J.,
who did no work, and B. & M., who did no work; attached their
fees to the cost of the job, and Bell Helicopter ends up paying

"much more, - : o B

Mr. Dovar. $3.49 versus $1.25. - : -

Chairman Proxsare. They paid more than'three times the actual
price charged by the guy at the bottom of the totém pole who'did
the work, is that correct ? : e e e

Mr. Doyar: Yes,sir. o S SR

Chairman Proxurre. Now, let’s turn to example 1 on page 12 of the

GAO report. Will you summarize what happened in that case?

Mr. Dovarn. This deals with the sale of surplus parts by a first-
tier subcontractor to a surplus parts dealer. The parts were manu-
factured to the specification of the prime contractor, They were ac-
cumulated in a way that we do not lmow, we don’t know how they

~were accumulated. They were sold for $1,950. And we checked with
the prime contractor to see what their present value was. And he told
us it was about $190,000. The two people in the first-tier subcon-



. 80

tractor’s plant who handled the sales and were responsible for the
sale of the parts as surplus later received as consultant. fees $6,500 from
the purchaser. The purchaser of the parts is now selling them, some
of them, back to the other first-tier subcontractors, and they are being
delivered to the prime contractor, and ultimately to the Government.

Chairman Proxarre. In other words, in this case it was OSM ?

My, Dovar. Yes, siv. It stands for old serap metal.

Chairman Proxmire. They paid two employees of the subcontractor,
Murdock Machine & Engineering, the sum of $6,500 for the priv-
ilege of purchasing a load of surplus parts from the Bell Helicopter?

Mr. Dovar. Noj they were parts that had been manufactured by
Murdock Machine & Engineering to Bell Helicopter’s specifications,
but they were still at the Murdock plant.

Chairman Proxarme. And they paid Murdock ?

Mr. Doxarn. No; the scrap metal dealer paid $1,900 for them, and
then later paid these two Murdock employees $6,500.

Chairman Proxatme. The parts had a current market value of
$190,000?

Mr. Dovar. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxare. Which means Bell probably paid more than
t]}altti;or the parts as they were built to Bell's specifications, is that
right?

Mzr. Doyar. The parts cost more than that to Bell, yes, sir.

Chairman Proxamme. OSM paid less than $2,000 to Bell, less than
a third of what it paid to Murdock which acted as a broker in this
case, is that correct ?

Mzr. Doyar. No, siv. Murdock recovered $1.900. It.is its two employees.
The $6,500 that the two employees received wasn’t for Murdock, that
was for their own personal use. They controlled the sale.

Chairman Proxarme. QOSM paid $2,000°

Mr. Doxar, Yes. sir, to Murdock for the parts.

Chairman Proxarre. For which they got parts that had cost in ex-
cess of $190,0002

Mr. Doyar. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxare. They paid $2,000 for something which cost
$190,000, they paid approximately a penny on the dollar.

Mr, Dovar. About that, yes, sir.

Chairman Proxaure. Would you say that the original price for
the part paid by Bell was charged off on one ot its defense contracts
to the Pentagon, and that therefore the taxpayer paid for them.

Mr. Dovar. We couldn’t trace it, sir, we tried and could not.

Chairman Proxaure. Somehow that $190,000 was made available
for only $2,000, and if the taxpayer didn’t pay for it, who did ?

Mz, Doyar. We don’t know who did. ’
" QChaimnan Proxarme. How can anyone else pay it Will you explain
it?

Mr. Dovar. The manufacturer, Bell Helicopter, makes more than
just helicopters for the Government, they also make helicopters for
commercial use.

Chairmdn Proxarire. What would be a reasonable conclusion? What
are the options, if you don't want to be too precise about it, what would
be the possibilities heve? There is a possibility, is there not, that the
taxpayer had to pay the entire payment ?
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Mbr, Dovar. Yes, sir, there is a possibility.

Chairman Proxame. Is that a likelihood ?

Mr, Doxar. Yes, sir, I think it is likely.

Chairman Prexarme. There is also the possibility, you say, that Bell
somehow just assumed that, and it reduced their profit by that much?

Mr, Doxar. There is a possibility that Murdock may have.

Chairman Proxyure. Has GAO found a tendency on the part of
the prime contractor to not award their subcontracts competitively ¢
Is it possible that the giving of gifts and other arrangements dis-
conraged competition ?

Maybe I should ask Mr, Gutmann on that,

Mr. Guraraxy. We have found a variety of practices when we look at
the prime contractors’ procurement procedures. They do indeed con-
tain a lot of competition. We have on the other hand found instances
where, when an initial buy from a supplier was competitive, subsequent
buys were noncompetitive. And we have seen situations where the
prices for the same item subsequently paid on a noncompetitive basis
tended to rise.

We have recommended that the prime contractors’ procurement ac-
tivities take into consideration the possibility of changing circum-
stances, where they may be buying in greater quantities than the first
competitive buy, which would tend to depress the price. The costs
might have gone down, the costs to the supplier may have gone down
as a result of improvements in his mannfacturing process, or simply
proceeding down the slope of the learning curve.

It is as a result, difficult for us to generalize. We find some contrac-
tors procurement activities are pretty good. And many of them ean
be improved.

Chairman Proxarre. Then in the GAQ report you say these ave the
four prime contractors you examined, about 100 procurement trans-
actions totaling almost $50 million. for which $7 million were for
subcontracts for less than $100,000. “Qur sampling showed that
about 1 percent of the subeontracts had heen awarded—83 percent
of the dollars—noncompetitively.”

So that the evidence is that most of the awards, more than 80 pereent
in dollar terms were noncompetitive,

Mr. GoTaany, Yes.

It is a little bit dangerous to generalize from those statistics too,
beecause in some cases the contractors would be buying standard off
the shelf items where the prices had been set at the competitive market
price. It may be a catalog item, in other words.

Chairman Proxmire, I think it should be reiterated that these exam-
ples and many others contained in the GAQ report were uncovered
almost at random. GAQO just selected two prime contractors, went to
their facilities, and began examining books and asking questions to
see whether the situation previously revealed in an earlier investiga-
tion at Litton Industries was general, as a result of specific informa-
tion about improper payment that we got in the Zit¢on case. Your find-
ings, together with what you learned in interviews with employees
and officials. suggest that these practices are common and perhaps
widespread ? o - . N

' Mr, Gurpeany. Yes; sir. We think they probably were widespread.
As you indicated carlier, they scem to be rather small. But the im-
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portant thing, it seems to me, is thatthey tend to rveflect an attitude
of top management in the corporations. We have seen’ situations, such
_as at GI, where there was a very strong program to discourage the
acceptance of gratuities and entertainment. There was an-investiga-
“tive staff-who periodically looked at this procurement procedure. So
I would not want to generalize on the basis of my findings, because
we did find some situations that were fairly clean. .~~~

I think what it points up is that the top management of these cor-
porations have to be encouraged, and indeed perhaps required where
the Government is involved, to have a setrong program that discour-
ages the kind of abuses that this committee has been concerned about.

Chairman Proxarme. That is very helpful. And I am also glad that
you mentioned—say G.E., General I]ectric?

Mr. Gormany. Yes.

Chairman Proxame. You said they have a strong policy, a good
policy of discouraging acceptance of gratuities ? '

My, GuTaany. Yes, they do.

Chairman Proxmire. We ought to compliment them and highlight
that. I think it is good to hear. But you seem to indicate that that may
be the exception, or at least there is no additional evidence that you
have that there are other firms that have taken that kind of an issue—
or do you haveit?

Mr. Guraanw. Yes, we have other indications.

Chairman Proxuire.—All right, let’s hear it.

Mr. GuraanN. Lockheed, for example, has a strong internal se-
curity force that polices the procurement activity from the stand-
point—including the standpoint of the possibility of kickbacks, and
acceptance of gratuities and entertainment, et cetera, by the procure-
ment people. )

Chairman Prox»mre. That is very interesting in view of the fact
that Chairman Houghton testified to us that they did engage as a
matter of corporate policy in kickbacks. And he identified it when
he testified before the Banking Committee. He said exactly that. But
vet they have a policy of discouraging kickbacks with respect to their
subcontractors. And that part is commendable. : .

Mpr. Gurmany. Yes, it is.

Cha.i?rman Proxareze. It is interesting to have that division, though,
isn’tit? " ' - S
© Mr. Guraas . The problem here is, of course, when top management
is involved, that tends to supervise the activities of any. internal
activity. ‘ - ‘ o

Chairman Proxnire. Supposing we proceed, then, if you can sum-
marizé the rest of your presentation. And I don’t want to be unfair
to Mr. Rousselot if he has any questions as we go along. -

Representative Rousseror. I appreciate that. I am still listéning.

,,,,,,

Chairman Proxmire. Go ahead and summarize the remainder of
your prepared statement, and then I have some other questions. -

Mr. Gurnany. I think I might highlight this point, our recommen-
dation that appears in the prepared statement, and also is in the report
that is attached. - o

We recommend. that; to foster public policy against such improper
or questionable practices, to deter such practices, and to increase the
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integrity of the Federal procurement process, the Secretary of De-
fense amend the armed services procurement regulation to require that
cach negotiated Government contract include a clause specifically pro-
hibiting payment of gratuities by subcontractors to higher tier con-
tractors. We included a proposed clause in our report. ]

And this would prohibit the payment of gifts and gratuities regard-
less of whether direct relationship between the payment and the spe-
cific contract award can be established. ‘

Incidentally, that is one of the stumbling blocks that we have found
with respect to the Anti-Kickback Act. Lawyers tell us that we have to
develop a direct relationship between the payment in a specific con-
tract before we can consider it a kickback of some kind.

The clause we recommend would also prohibit payments by sub-
contractors to higher tier contractors similar to those we noted during
our review, since the proposed clause does not require that it be shown
that payments were made as an inducement for or as an acknowledg-
ment of contract awards. Additionally, the clause would provide for
contract termination—a remedy which is not included in the Anti-
Kickback Act but which would further public policy against favorit-
ism in awarding Government contracts and subcontracts. Finally,
the clause would require that violations or suspected violations of the
Anti-Kickback Act be brought to the attention of appropriate Govern-
ment officials. v

In addition, the Congress may want to consider action amending 41
U.S.C. 51-54 *o prohibit such payments as those addressed by the
clause or amending the Internal Revenue Code to prohibit deducting
such payments as business expenses when paid by a subcontractor to a
higher tier Government contractor. ,

We have covered the fact that there is a possibility that these ex-
penses have been included in overhead charged to Government con-
tracts, despite the fact that they are unallowable. The DCAA does
indeed review the reasonablenes of costs, overhead type costs, that
are incurred.

And in those cases the specific cost center has what they call a cost
rating, that is CWAS. And it means the contractors weighted average
share In cost risk. The theory here is sound. Tt simply means that if a
contractor’s business is predominantly commereial, or fixed price in
nature, he has an incentive to hold his costs to a reasonable level.

Our concern with that, of course, in the Department of Defense and
this committes is that it is possible to inadvertently relax when a con-
tractor has a CWAS rating, relax to the extent that some unallowable
costsare in there that shouldn’t be. ' ‘

We are reviewing the application of CWAS now to determine
whether or not that has been abused.

The Government surveillance of the contractors purchasing system
is done in a variety of ways, through contractor procurement system
reviews, on-going surveillance by administering contracting officers,
and periodic audits by Defense contract auditors. .

Government Procurement Systems reviews are generally made by
the DCAS. If the system, the procurement system, is approved as a
result of these reviews, in most cases the need for the Government
review and approval of individual subcontracts is eliminated.
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| The Government surveillance on kickbacks was limited to determine
the

Chairman Proxsrree. In other words, after the system is approved
there is very little direct surveillance by the Government, i1s that
correct?

Mr. GurmANN. Yes, except for certain types of subcontracts that ave
above a certain level, and where there is a clear absence of competition,
the Government does not necessarily bind itself.

Chairman Proxarme. Generally we don’t know what is going on in
the subcontracting avea, and these resolutions you have made today in
your report seem to me to underline that generally.

Mr. Guraraxy. Again, Mr. Chairman, it is very difficult to generalize
in this arca. Thre arve a lot of reviews made. There are annual re-
views of specific contractors by contractor purchases, they examine
into the extent to which the competition is obtained, and so on.

Nevertheless, where people are not predisposed to conform to good
procurement practices, no matter what his government is going to do,
they are going to find a way to get around it. To the extent they are
predisposed to avoid good procurement practices, it is going to be
very diffieult for DCA A or anyone else to keep them straight.

Representative Roussuror. On the basis of their study, how often
does that happen, where they got around them ¢

Mr. Guraany. How often does what happen ?

Representative Rousseror. On the whole procurement process how
often would that occur on a percentage basis?

Mr. Guratanx. I am unable to give you a figure on that, a per-
centage.

Representative Roussrror. What is your guess?

Mr Gurmaxxy. You are looking for the percentage that the prime
contractors procurement processes are inadequate ?

T bave no basis for speculating on that. There are just so many of
them, there are tens of thousands of them. And T really don’t know.

Again, in this whole area of corporate abuse of power the success in
diminishing it goes to one thing I mentioned before, and that is top
management level concern and the interest in this subject, and the
example that they set with respect to it. And the other is a strong,
credible deterrent that there is indeed going to be severe punishment
for abuses that are uncovered.

Chairman Proxarree. That certainly isn’t present. Here we have
case after case after case veferred to the Justice Department, and no
action taken.

M. Guraaxy. That is true. v

Chairman Proxarmee. In almost all of these cases the additional costs
are just passed onto Uncle Sam, and he pays it. So it just seems to me
that there is no effective deterrent. either economic deterrent, or en-
forcing the law. Lknow of no effective enforcement.

Mr. Goraraxw. T think that is true to a degree, Mr. Chairman. And
T don’t want to appear to be defending the Department of Justice,
they are capable of doing that themselves. But as you said at the out-
set, the cases that we are talking about here are rather small in rela-
tion to the magnitude of things that the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the BT ‘ :
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Chairman Proxsme. We had the Chairman of the Securities and
Exchange Commission before us yesterday. And they had gotten ab-
solutely no action out of the Justice Department on anything. There
were no fines, there were no criminal action of any sort. And there
was case after case after case of violation. But I would agree that we
need more testimony, this is just the beginning, before we can come to a
conclusion. And we certainly want the Justice Department to have its
day in court. And it hasn’t appeared.

(o ahead.

Mr. Gouryaxy., We found that Government surveillance on kick-
backs was limited to determining the acceptability of the contractor’s
written policies on gifts and gratuities and ascertaining, through dis-
cussions with purchasing management, that the provisions of the
Anti-Kickback Act had been made known to the purchasing organiza-
tion and the vendor community. »

Iaving said that, I am not sure what else we could reasonably expect
them to do. Because as I have said, the contractors own stated and re-
inforced policy is the best way of getting this current situation cleared
up. It really 1s very difficult to do from the outside, if people in an
organization are determined to conceal from Government auditors
and examiners and investigators what it is that they are doing, and
DCAA, like GAQ, does not have the kind of investigatory talent or
responsibility or authority to get in and find these things. It is really
the Department of Justice. ‘

That pretty much concludes the comments we had about our kick-
back work.

Turning now tothe Loclkheed situation, if you wish.

Chairman Proxarrre. Will you summarize as quickly as you can on
Lockheed? T have a number of questions on the Lockheed situation.
And Mr. Rousselot may have some also.

Mr. Gurmanx. As you know, we got into this subject last summer,
and we asked for information last summer. And they declined to give it
to us. I wrote to them and asked them for all of the information, and
" they declined to give it to us. And subsequently the Securities and
Tixchange Commission went to court to get similar kinds of informa-
tion you asked us to get. And so we have not pursued it after receiving
Lockheed’s denial of my request for access.

Now, at the moment—and I would ask Mr. Hunter to fill this in
from a legal standpoint and correct me if I'm getting off—the court
has ruled that the information concerning tle recipients of the com-
missions is and/or bribes or illegal or Improper payments, however
they are going to be characterized, to foreign officials, and the names of
those people, have not been made available to date. The court, while
releasing the information provided by Lockheed to SEC, has retained
jurisdiction over that information, and anybody elsc that wants it
must go back to the conrt to get it. :

In other words, there is some vecognition heve that disclosure of
names may not be in the best interest of ecither Lockheed or the
Government. '

Now, Mr. Hunter might want to elaborate on the legal situation here.
But that is as T understand it today. ~ : :

Mr. Hoxrer. I think that is a good statement.
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Chairman Proxarme. Then I will proceed with some questions T have.

With respect to the Lockheed payment of bribes to foreign govern-
ment officials, the Loan Guarantee Act requires mandates, directs the
GAO to audit the books, records and transactions of any borrower
under the act. And of course Lockheed is the only borrower under the
act. My question is, Were such audits performed by the General
Accounting Office where mandated by law, and if so, why didn’t they
reveal the 1llegal and improper practices Lockheed was engaged in
before they were disclosed last year?

Mr. Gurmaxn. Yes, sir, GAO has made audits periodically, as
required under the Loan Guarantee Act. The question of the nature,
illntensity and extent of detail of that audit is, I think, what is at issue
here.

‘We have construed our responsibilities under that act to mean that
we should be concerned with Lockheed’s ability to repay the loans that
the Government has guaranteed. We tallked originally to the framers
of that legislation, the Loan Guarantee Act, as to what they meant by
an audit. And they did not mean a detailed audit of the nature that
might disclose and might not disclose the payments in question here.

gain o special kin§ of examination and investigation is necessary
to disclose payments—— '

Chairman Prox»ure. I call your attention to the law. It is one thing
totalk to the author of the amendment—and the author of the amend-
ment in the House was a very able man and he knows his own intent—
but the language of the law, it seems to me, is governing and not the
intent of author. This is what the law says: :

The General Accounting Office shall make a detailed ,au_'dit of all accounts,
books, records and transactions of any borrower with respeet to which an appli-
cation fora loan guarantee is made under this act. The General Accounting Office
shall report the results of such audit to the Board and to the Congress. *

No such detailed audit, it seems to me. was conducted. If it had
been I think we would have been aware of this and might have been
able to prevent some of this action. .'

Mr. Gurmany. Well, we might have been and we might not have.
Normal sudit techniques by and large would not disclose these kinds
of things. Where you have separate bank accounts established, and
Wher?i money is laundered, this just simply does not show up in the
records. ‘

Now, as far as the making of a detailed audit is concerned, if we are
to report annually on Lockheed’s ability to repay the loan under the
Guaranteed Loan Act, in the first place, we couldn’t make a detailed
audit in 1 year. A really detailed audit in one sense of the term means
examining every document and tracing original documentation, checks
that are written, invoices that are at issue, material-— :

Chairman Proxatmre. With an enormous corporation like Lockheed
it could take a long time, even with an organization the size of GAQ.
But it seems to me that you could find on some kind of a spot basis,
some kind of an investigative basis to determine whether this kind
of activity was being undertaken or not; that is, the bribe, the kick-
back, the laundering of funds, the using of bank accounts abroad. You
tell me that you would have to have a comprehensive audit taking
yearsin order to uncover that kind of thing ? T ‘
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Mzr. Gyrmany. No; I am saying that we would have to use investiga-
tive techniques with which by and large we ate not familiar, because
we have not done that kind of work, and we do not have the aunthority
for it, and indeed when we, find something, even the indication that
something might be illegal, that either criminal or civil fraud might

-be involyed, we are required to withdraw from the case and turn it
_over to the Department of Juspice. = C e

Chairman Proxaire, After last years disclosure I agked the GAO
to investigate the payments that were illegal, and report beak fo Con-
gress with details, including names of recipients, amounts, purposes
of the payment, and the foreign governments involved. Now, what

_you are saying here is that you have not been able to do this because
Lockheed. has refused to give you access to its.books and records.
And have you reported this fact to the Loan Guarantee Board and the
Secretary of the Treasury who was Chairman of the Board? And if so,
what was the Board’s reaction? L

Mr. Gurmanwy. We have not reported it to this date. We would
expect to report that in a report we now have in final stages of process-
ing which I expect to be issued here in Jarivary, our normal report on
our work under the Guarantee Loan Act. T L

Chairman Proxare. Has Mr. Staats talked to Secretary Simon, the
Chairman of the Board about this? S T

Mr. Gormaxy. I don’t know whether he has or not. o

Chairman Proxyrre. It seems to me that this is such a serious rebuf,
and malkes it so difficult for you to carry out the intent of the law, that
it is 2. matter that should have been disciissed Wwith him, "~~~

Mr. Gormany. The intent of the law, again, we think goes to the
question of, are Loclkheed’s assets adequate to satisfy, to pay off those
Joans. And beyond that, to get into the details of their various transac-
tions, it just doesn’t seem practical forustodoit. ;.

Now, as far as the specific records that you are talking about, and
the question of whether or not the information with respect to the
names of the people and the countries involved is concerned, there is
a very real question as to whether or not it is necessary for us to have

" that information in order for us to satisfy ourselves as to whether or
not it appears at a given point in time that Lockheed is going to be able
to repay their borrowings. - o

Chairman Proxure. I wonder if that is up to your judgment. Isn’t
that something for Congress to determine? Congress directed you to
make the audit. You state in your testimony that acceéss to the informa-
tion has not been pursued pending the outcome of Securities and Ex-
change Commission litigation to obtain the same information. I am
not sure why you awaited the outcome of that litigation. But in any
event it was completed several weeks ago. And the court ruled that
SEC was entitled to obtain the data. Yesterday we were told by the
Chairman of the Securities and Exchange Commission when he
testified before the committee that they have all the documenits in their
possession. So will you now proceed to get the information I requested ?

Mr. Guraany. Sir, this would require us to go to court and make a
case that it is necessary for us to discharge our responsibilities, We are
of the opinion, sir, that Congréss and this committee would be much
more likely to be successful in such an endeavor than the GAO would.
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" Chairman Proxanre. In other words, you are telling us that you
won’t doit?

Mr. Gurmaxn. Well, sir, I really can’t say that on behalf of the
Comiptroller General of the United States. If he is asked to-do it or
directed to do it I am sure he would do it. At the present time, as-T
say, we have a real question as to whether or not it is necessary for us
to discharge our responsibility. And we think that there is a good
chance that we would be turned down, whereas you would not be
turned down.

Chairman Proxarmre. You also state that the Defense Audit Agency,
DCAA, has not been able to obtain information because Lockheed
refused to give it aceess to its commercial banks and records. Do you
Iknow whether DCA A or the Pentagon has pursued this matter further
and then taken steps to get access and determine whether Lockheed
paid any bribes in conmection with foreign sales of military weapons
or aircraft.

Mr. Guraaxy. They are working on it, I understand. They haven't
obtained access. One of them is the same problem we have. What is
“nvolved there is a commission transaction, The Federal Government
is not involved other than asa guarantor of the loan.

Chairman Proxarme. That is a pretty big involvement, and involve-
ment, of over $200 million.

Mr. Guraaxy. Yes; and if one concedes that that is the extent of
our involvement. then you get to the question, is it likely that Lockheed
is going to be able to pay off this loan. And we come up with the
answer, yes, it is likely.

Chairman Proxamte. Maybe one of the wayvs they will be able
to pay off the loans is that this helps their work to the point where
thev will be able to sell their planes. Tf thev do that they will be able
to develop such sales and you have revenue so that they can have the
profits and the income to pay off the loan. )

Mr. Guraaxy. Well, that is unfortunately true. And we get back to
the question of whether or not the detervents for this kind of action
are adequate to offset the potential gain by those who take these
actions. Now. we certainly do not condone

Chairman Proxarme. T don’t mean to blame you or the GAOQ, but
it looks as if this Government is somehow getting into the position,
because we have guaranteed a Lockheed loan, and because of Lock-
heed’s financial weakness, they think—and I think we ave suckered
into taking a position which is unsound—their financial position may
depend on whether or not they can use bribes and other illegal activity
to secure sales. Then we are put in the posttion of, if not condoning it,
at least not taking any action to stop it, with a notion that the Federal
Government won't have to come in with the funds.

Mr. Gumranx. This is exactly the position Lockheed has taken.
And I agree with you 100 percent, it pnts the——

Chairman Proxrme. It certainly isn’t a position that the Federal
Government can take. If I were chairman of Lockheed I hope I
wouldn’t take that position, but I might. But I ean’t understand how
the Federal Government can take that position. Secretary Simon has
spoken out directly against bribes, he spoke against them in the
Banking Committee. He thought it was a counterproductive, vicious
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kind of act on the part of the people engaging in it and we should
do everything to disconrage it. But I get the impression, however,
that we aren’t taking the kind of action that we could take to stop it.
The best thing we could do is expose the people who ave getting the
bribes. That would be the end of it. I realize it would have an adverse
effect on Lockheed, perhaps, and perhaps on the guarantee. It is a
price that the Governinent ought to be willing to pay, if Lockheed
isn't.

Mr. Guraaxy. As you say, that is indeed a position that Lockheed
has talken.

Chairman Proxyrre. Mr. Rousselot.

Representative Rousseror. Mr. Gutmann, is it possible that under
the Renegotiation Act which we have extended for a brief time, which
deals simply with the procuvement contracts by a firm, that we could
amend that act to provide for civil penalty in kickback cases?

Mr. Gurmany. Well, sir, T would say it certainly can be done. But

“we would have to give it some thought. If you were to ask me, would
it Le a practicable, feasible thing to do, I don’t know how it would be
enforced by the Renegotiation Board, for example, with the relatively
small staff they have, the limitations on the number of detailed andits
that they can make. The big problem again is finding a kickback,
taking action offsetting the amount. And holding it from the prime
contractor and subcontractor that are involved is not as hard as finding
it in line. Once it is found you can get the money back. T don’t know
how the Renegotiation Board would necessarily improve the situation
that we have got today.

Representative Rousseror. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Proxarrs, Thank you, gentleman, very much. We appre-
ciate your investigation and your veport. And we appreciate your
appearance. I-hope you will give my regards to Mr. Keller. And I hope
that he will vecover promptly.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Keller, with an attachment,
follows:] .

PrEPARED §1ATEMENT or HoN. RoBeErt K. KELLER, DEPUTY COMPTROLLER GENERAL
oF THE UNITED STATES

My, Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I am pleased to appear
before your Subcommittee today. My statement covers some of our prior and
more recent work on Federal procurement matters, particularly the relation-
ships between selected prime contraectors and their subcontractors.

PRIOE WORK BY GAO IN THE AREA OF PRIME CONTRACTORS' PROCUREMENT ACTIVITIES

On November 14, 1973, we testified before your Subcommittee on our review
of allegations that officers and employees of ILitton Industries, Ingalls Ship-
building Division, Pascagoula, Mississippi, engaged in improper activities with
subecontractors. :

As you may recall, our review showed that procurement practices had heen
questionable, but the data we obtained did nof indicate payments of fees or
kickbacks, We did not have a basis, therefore, for recovery actions uiler the
Anti-Kickback Act. o

The Anti-Kickback Aet (41 U, 8.C. 51-54) prohibits payments either divectly
ar indirectly by or on behalf of a subcontractor (1) to a prime contractor
holding a negotinted Government contract or to its officers and employees o
(2) to a higher tier subcontractor or to its officers and employees, either as
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inducement for the award of a subcontract or purchase order or as an acknowl-
edgment of 1 subcontract or purchase order previously awarded. Under this act,
it is conclusively presumed that kickbacks are ultimately borne by the. Govern-
ment, and, prime contractors are required to withhold from subconfractors,
upon the direction of the contracting agency or the GAO, the amount of any
kickback. In addition, the act provides for both civil recovery nnd criminal

prOSecutmn
STATUS OF CASES REFERRED BY GAO TO DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

The Department of Justice is responsible for investigating violations  of
eriminal laws, except in certain specmhzed areas where the responsibility is
agssigned to other Government agencies. Therefore, we follow the :policy of
referring to the appropriate criminal law-enforcement agency, generally the
TBI; all information concerning criminal law violations arising .in. our work.
In most cases no further audit or investigative action is taken by the GAOQ
on matters directly relating to the criminsl aspects. Where the cases involve
GAO's civil and administrative responsibilities, however, an understanding is
reached as to how the cognizant criminal 1aw-enforcement agency: and GAO
are to discharge their respective responsibilities.

On October 23, 1973, we sent the Attorney General our report on selecteu
subcontracts anded by Ingaus Shipbuilding Division of Litton Industries,
Inc., because the facts presented in the report seemed to indicate. v1olat10ns of
I‘ederal criminal law.

‘We were recently told that the U.S. attorney declined to prosecute the matters
in this case because the I'BI had not found sufficient evidence to bring the matter
to trial, The case was closed in Septembe,s 1975,

On January 11, 1974, we sent to the Department of Justice several other. al-
legations on matters disclosed by a consultant to the Joint Eeonomie Committee,
The Department decided that the evidence in these cases was not considered
sufficiently indicative of violations of Federal criminal law to wmmnt tmnsmlf-
tal to the FBI.

In three instances described in the attached report, we cuntacted .Tustlce
personnel on possible violations of Federal law.

(1) On October 24, 1974, our Dallas field office briefed Dallas FBI agents
on the sale of surplus materw.ls by a subcontractor. (This is example 1, on
page 12 of the attached report.) The next day we were advised that the U.S,
attorney could not-identify a breach of Federal eriminal law and I:ad demded not
to investigate the matter further.

(2) On January 17, 1975, we referred the matter of the purchase of an airline
ticket by a subcontractor for a prime contractor employee (example 1, page 9
of the attached report) to the I'BI office in Dallas, Prosecution of this case was
declined by the U.8. attorney, Fort Worth, Texas.

(3) On March 6, 1975, we referred another case to the Dallas FBI office.
(This is example 3 page 16 of the attached report.) This case was declined
for prosecution by the U.S. attorney, Central Distriet of California.

REQENT WORK BY GAO IN THE AREA OF PRIME CONTRACTORS' PROCUREMENT ACTIVITIES

Our letter to you dated February 6, 1974, described our additional reviews
of prime contractors’ procurement and subcontracting activities. We took two
basie approaches. The first was a review- concerned primarily with-whether or
not there were violations of the Anti-Kickback Act. This review was performed
‘at two prime contractor locations in order to determine the feasibility and
practicability of performing audits of this type without benefit of allegations of
wrongdoing., The second was a review concerned primarily with -the overall
effectiveness of prime contractors’ purchasing and subcontracting procedures
and the Government surveillance over such activities. This work was performed
at four prime contractor locations.

We summarized our recent work in our report to you titled “Subcontracting
By Department of Defense Prime Contractors: Integrity, Pricing, and Surveil-
lance” dated November 19, 1975 (Copy Attached). First, I would like to recap
briefly what we found when we inquired into the possible existence of kick-
backs at the two prime contractor locations. Then, I will discuss the results of
our reviews of the four prime contractor procurement systems,
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ANTI-KIOKBACK ACT AND PRIME CONTRACTOR-SUBCONTRACTOR RELATIONSIIIPS

In reviewing records at the prime contractors’ plants and at selected subcon-
tractor plants, we noted a number of fransactions and relationships which we
considered questionable because they involved the payment of gratuities or
because they otherwise violated good procurement practices. For example, we
found instances where:

(1) Subcontractors had presented gifts to, and had frequently entertained,
prime contractor employees who were in positions to influence purchasing
decisions.

(2) tPrime contractor employees were involved in apparent conflicts of
interest.

(8) Purchases had been made through sales agents for no apparent reason,
and the prices had been increased to cover the sales agents’ fees.

(4) Transactions and relationships between various prime contractor and
subcontractor employees were questionable.

These examples are described in detuail in the attached report, As mentioned
earlier, we discussed with law enforcement officials those transactions where
the facts and circumstances indicuted possible violations of the Anti-iickuvack
Act,

One subcontractor told us that gifts and gratuities of the type noted during
our review were tax deduetible as business expenses. Generally, entertainment
expenses are deductible vnder the Internal Revenue Code when incurred in
connection with the production of income. Gifts and gratuities ave also deductible
as business expenses with the limitation that they not exceed $25 a person.
Illegal payments, however, are not allowable business expenses. Since it is diffi-
cult to prove that small-dollar-value gifts and gratuities, such as we noted, have
influenced the award of subcontracts, and therefore violated the Anti-Kickback
Act, it appears that such gifts and gratuities could be claimed as business
expenses for income tax purposes.

‘We recommend that, to foster publie policy against such improper or question-
able practices, to deter such practices, and to increase the integrity of the Fed-
eral procurement process, the Secretary of Defense amend the Armed Services
Procurement Regulation to require that each negotiated Government contract
include a clause specifically prohibiting payment of gratuities by subecontractors
to higher tier contractors. We included a proposed clause in our report.

The proposed clause would prohibit the payment of gifts and gratuities, regard-
less of whether a direct relationship between the payment and the specific con-
tract award can be established, It would also prohibit payments by subcon-
tractors to higher tier contractors similar to those we noted during our review,
since the proposed clause does not require that it be shown that payments were
made as an inducement for or as an acknowledgement of contract awards. Addi-
tionally, the clause would provide for contract termination—a remedy which
is not included in the Anti-Kickback Act but which would further publie policy
against favoritism in awarding Government contracts and subeontracts. Finally,
ithe clause would require that violations or suspected viclations of the Anti-
Kickback Act be brought to the attention of appropriate Government officials.

In addition, the Congress may wani to consider action amending 41 U8.C.
51-54 to prohibit such payments as those addressed by the clause or amending
the Internal Revenne Code to prohibit deducting such payments as business
expenses when paid by a subcontractor to a higher tier Government contractor.

REVIEWS OF DEFENSE CONTRACT COSTS

It is possible that the improper or guestionable expenses that we have been
discussing would be included in overhead charged to Government confracts. In
pricing negotiated defense coniracts, reviews are made by the Defense Contract
Audit Agency (DCAA) to determine the reasonableness of costs proposed. Re-
views are also made by DCAA to determine the reasonableness of general and
administrative expenses and other overhead costs incurred by contractors and
allocated to Government contracts. The test of reasonableness for many cost
elements is excluded from the DCAA scope of worlk when a contractor’s business
iy predominately commercial or of a fixed-price nature, 9n the theory that the
contractor has a built-in incentive to minimize costs. This concept is referred to
by ct}helg)si.apartment of Defense as contractor weighted average share in cost risk
or CWAS,

78~547 O—1T7. 5
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The primary responsibility for reviewing confractor costs is with DCAA. We
have the responsibility for evaluating how DCAA is performing its assigned
responsibilities, and we are making reviews for this purpose on a continuing
basis,

OVERALYL, EFFLCTIVENESS OF PRIME CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT SYSTEM

Our review of the procurement systems of four other prime contractors gener-
ally showed their purchasing policies, procedures, and internal controls were
hased on sound procurement principles. However, several areas needed attention.
For example: (1) contractors generally considered past prices to evaluate the
reasonableness of current prices for noncompetitive awards valued under $100.000
although: conditions which could affect prices had changed since the past prices
were established and (2) other weaknesses in procurement procedures and in-
ternal controls at individual contractors’ plants, such as failure to consolidate
purchase of low-dollar-value items, weakness in bid control procedures, and lack
of controls over purchase orders. These areas are discussed in detail in our
report.

GOVERNMENT SURVEILLANCE

Government surveiliance of contractors’ purchasing systems is done through
contractor procurement system reviews, ongoing surveillance by administrative
contracting officers, and periodic audits by defense contract auditors.

The Government’s procurement system reviews are generally made by the De-
fense Contract Administration Service for the administrative contracting officer
to insure that the contractor's procurement system continues to warrant an
form with applicable laws, Government procurement regulations, contract
clauses, and sound industrial practices, and adeguately protect the Govern-
ment’s interests. A favorable determination results in system approval and, in
most cases, elimination of the need for Government review and approval of indi-
vidual subeontracts. Government procurement regulations require cognizant
administrative contracting officers to maintain an adequate level of surveillance
to insure that the contractor’s procurement system continues to warrant an
approved status.

Government surveillance on kickbacks was limited to determining the ac-
ceptability of the contractor’s written policies on gifts and gratuities and ascer-
taining, through discussions with purchasing management, that the provisions
of the Anti-Kickback Act had been made known to the purchasing organization
and the vendor community. If Government representatives detect or suspect a
viplation of the Anti-Kickback Act, they are to refer the matter to higher head-
quarters for a decision on action to be taken, in accordance with procurement
regulations.

In evaluating the overall surveillance of procurement activities at the four
contractor plants, we found that the contractors' system had been reviewed and
approved on the basis of procurement system reviews. Ongoing surveillance was’
generally restricted to required review and consent to specific types of subedn-
traets, and annual procurement system reviews were relied on to identify system
wenknesses,

The weaknesses we noted had not been identified by either the ongoing sur-
veillance or the periodic procurement system reviews.

We recommend that the Secretary of Defense direct procurement review
teams, during their reviews of contractor procurement systems, to give greater
attention to determining whether contractors are conducting adequate price-cost
analysis for procurements nnder $100,000.

STATUS OF WORK ON LOCKHEED PAYMENTS TO FOREIGCN OFFICIALS

On August 28, 1975, you requested us to determine the amounts of payments
made by Lockheed Corporation to foreign officidls in order to consummate sales
to foreign countries, as well as the names of the officials involved. We requested
this information from Lockheed on September 8, 1975, and as of this date they
have not given us access to any of the information except for records relating to
the amount of payments that mav have been churged to general overhead allo-
cable to Government contracts, We advised you o1 Lockheed’s position on Qcto-
ber 20, 1975. The Loan Guarantee Agreement provides access to all books and
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records which in our discretion we determine necessary or appropriate in con-
nection with the loan agreements, including matters which may bear upon Lock-
heed’s ability to repay the loans on time. Access to the information has not been
pursued by us pending the outcome of Securities and Exchange Commission liti-
gation to obtain the same information.

We have, however, examined DOAA's reports on Lockheed's overhead for fiscal
years 1969 through 1973. To date DCAA has not found sny of the questionable
payments included in the overhead costs borne by the Government. DCAA is
presently reexamining Lockheed records to determine whether any questionable
payments were included in overhead accounty for the §l4-year period ended
June 30, 1975, We have requested DCAA to furnish its workpapers to us for review
as soon as thelir work is complete. DCAA is also attempting to expand its review
to include several commercial divisions. Lockheed, however, has denied DCAA
access to records relating to its commercial work.

Phis. concludes my statement Mr. Chairman, We will be glad to answer ques-
tions you or the other members of the Subcommitiee may have.

Attachment:
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REPORT TO THE SUBCOMMITTEE
ON PRIORITIES AND ECONOMY
IN GOVERNMENT

JOINT ECONOMIC COMMITTEE

BY THE COMPTROLLER GENERAL
OF THE UNITED STATES

Subcontracting By
Department Of Defense Prime
Contractors: Integrity,
Pricing, And Surveillance

A discussion of subcontracting kickbacks and
related transactions, pricing subcontracts
valued at less than $100,000, and the surveil-
lance of contractor purchasing systems.

PSAD-76-23 hOV.18,1975
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LIST OF CUNTRACTORS DISCUSSED 1N

G T TRD w23
DATED i iMBER 19, 19:9

B-117748

Nome and location of contractor

Bell Hellcoptor Company
Fort Worth, Texas

Martin Marietta Corporation
Orlando, Florida

International Telephone and Telegraph Corporation
Defense Communications Division
Nutley, New Jersey

LTV-Aergspace Corporation
Michigan Division
Sterling Heights, Michigan

McDonnell Douglas Corporaticn
McDonnell Aireraft Company
St. Louls, Missouri

TRW Systems Group
Redondo uceach, California

General Electric Company
Alrcraft Engine Group
Evéndale, Ohio

Ladish Company, Ladlsh Pacific Division
Los Angeles, California

Trio Hanufacturing, Inc,
Euless, Texas

B & M Machine Company
Hurst, Texas

6. F, Bohman Assoclates
Orlando, Florida

78-547 144
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Name su: socati o oi contractor

Applied Resources Corporation
Fajrfield, New Jersey

Jones Brothers
Orlando, Florida

J & J Sales
Fort Worth, Texas

K Products Company
Fort Worth, Texas

Murdock Machine and Engineering Company
Irving, Texas

osM
Grand Prairie, Texas

Shellcast Foundries, Inc.
Montreal, Canada

Hemet Casting Company
Hemet, California

Florida Testing and Research Company
Orlando, Florida

QED Incorporated
Orlando, Florida

Hydraulic Research and Manufacturing Co.
Valencia, California

Larco Engineering Company
Dallas, Texas

Tri~Tech
St. Petersburg, Florida

Beckman Manufacturing Company
Centerville, Ohio
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woint and location of contractor

®., €. Englineering
Simivalley, California

B & L Products
North Ridge, California

Aeroquip Marman
Jackson; Michigan

Anpren Microwave
Syracuse, New York

Tomkins-Johnson Compsny
Jackson, Michigan
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COMPROLLER GENERAL O THU UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, D.C, 20848

B-~177748
NOV 19 1975
The Honorable William Proxmire
Chairman, Subcommittee on Priorities
and Economy in Government
Joint Economic Committee
Congress of the United States

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In response to your request, we have summarized our
recent work in evaluating Department of Defense prime con-
tractor and subcontractor procurement activities. We also
were concerned with whether any prime contractor-subcontractor
relationships violated the Anti-Kickback Act (41 U.S8.C. 51-54}.

At twdf;;ime contractor locations, we inguired into the
possible existence of kickbacks without any previous indica-
tion that such activities were occurring at these locations.

(6234

At fgi; other prime contractor locations, we looked
into the overall effectiveness of the purchasing and subcon-
tracting systems, including the Government's surveillance’
of system operations.

ANTI~-KICKBACK ACT AND PRIME
CONTRACTOR~-SUBCONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIPS

The Anti-Kickback Act prohibits the payment of any fee or
gratuity by a subcontractor to a prime contractor or higher
tier subcontractor as an inducement for award of a subcontract.
This law applies to: negotiated contracts and provides for crim-
inal penalties and recovery by the Government of the amount of
the fee. There is, however, no specific contracc clause now in
use to preclude such payments as those addressed by the act or
those which tend to promote favoritism in the award of subcon-
tracts.

nman

In reviewing records at twgfprime contractors' plants
and at selected subcontractor plants, we noted a number of
transactions and relationships which we considered question-
able because they involved the payment of gratuities or be-
cause they otherwise violated good procurement practices. For
example:

1. Some subcontractors had given gifts to and had
frequently entertained prime contractor employees
who were in positions where they could influence
purchasing decisions.

w>
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2. Some prime contractor employees were involved in
apparent co.fli-t of-interest situations.

3. Some purchases had been made through sales agents
for no apparent reason, and the prices had been
increased to cover the sales agents' fees.

4. Other situations involved questionable transactions
and relationships. These examples are described
in detail in appendix I.

We discussed with appropriate law enforcement of.icials
those transactions developed during our review where the facts
and circumstances indicated possible violations of the Apti-
Kickback Act. We understand that the Internal Revenue Service
and/or the Department of Justice is currently investigating
some of these transactions.

The Department of Justice officials told us in informal
discussions that the exchange of low-dollar-value gratuities,
such as we found, would not generally be important enough to
warrant investigation and prosecution. .

Appendix II discusses three kickback cases which were
reported to the Department of Justice, independent of our
review. Two of these cases are currently under investigation
and one-~involving kickbacks paid before 1968--resulted in
a conviction.

Both prime contractors we reviewed had a policy which
discouraged their employees from accepting entertainment,
gifts, or other gratuities when such activities were consid-
ered unusual or when they might influence, or be thought to
influence, employees' judgment in making a purchase or other
type business decision. WNeither of the two prime contractors,
however, had defined what constituted unusual entertainment,
and therefore accepting or rejecting offers was left to the em-
ployee's subjective judgment. The possible range of acceptable
activity is illustrated by the following statements,

--The procurement department manager of one of the two
prime contractors said that accepting entertainment
from local subcontractors more than twe or three times
a year was unjustified.

-~The security department officials of the same con-
tractor believed that nominal entertainment {e.g. meals
and drinks costing from $5 to $7.50) received as often
as 20 to 30 times a year was not as important as one
major entertainment costing from $100 to $150.

2

b



70
B-177748

In contrast to the piime countractors' policies discussed
above, another major Defense prime contractor's policy 'is to
prohibit the employees' accepting gratuities. For example,
the prime contractor's policy statement provides that each
employee must:

~~Decline any entertainment, gift, gratuity, compensa-
tion, or favor offered by suppliers and promptly
report such offer to his immediate supervisor.

~~Promptly report to his immediate supervisor any gift,
gratuity, compensation, or favor received by him from
suppliers and then return it to the sender or otherwise
dispose of it as directed by his supervisor.

Also each November the prime contractor sends a letter to all
active vendors reminding them of the company's policy on gra-
tuities. The letter includes the following statement.

“All * * * personnel are prohibited from accepting
any gifts or favors and are required to return
anything and everything they receive, whether it
be received at work or at home. The value of the
gift is not a criterion and all gratuities will

be returned to the sender."

Officials of the prime contractor discussed above
believe their program is effective because the gift offerings
by vendors has almost stopped over the last 10 years, and
they cited two examples of buyers who were ‘alleged to have
been receiving gratuities and whose employment was terminated.

One of the subcontractors we contacted told us that gifts
and gratuities of the type we noted during our review were
tax deductible as business expenses. Generally entertainment
expenses dre deductible under the Internal Revenue Code when
incurred in connection with or related to the production of
income. Gifts and gratuities are also deductible as business
expenses with the limitation that they not exceed $25 a per-
son. Illegal payments, however, are not allowable business
expenses under tho Internal Revenue Code. Since it is diffi-
cult to prove that small-dollar-value gifts and gratuities
such as we noted had influenced the award of subcontracts and
therefore violated the Anti-Kickback Act, it appears that such
gifts and gratuities could be claimed as busihess expenses for
income tax purposes.
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CONCLUSION

We are concerned about gifts and gratuities that have been
given to contractor and subcontractor employees who were in po-
sitions where they could influence contract awards to lower tier
contractors. Because it is difficult to prove that the small-
dollar-value gifts or gratuities we noted were given to influence
the award of subcontracts, we plan to take no recoupment action
under the Anti-Kickback Act. Nevertheless such gifts or gratui~-
ties, in our opinion, should be discouraged because they tend
to promote, favoritism in awarding Government subcontracts,
particularly when a pattern of repeated gratuities or entertain-~
ment has been established, even though each individual instance
may be of small value.

RECOMMENDATION

We recommend that, as a means of fostering public policy
against improper or questionable practices, such as those dis-
cussed In this report; as a deterrent to such practices; and
as a means of increasing the integrity of the Federal procure~
ment process, the Secretary of Defense amend the Armed Services
Procurement Regulation to regquire that in each negotiated Gov-
ernment contract a glause be included specifically prohibiting
payments of gratuities by subcontractors to higher tier con-
tractors involved in Government contracting.

The . clause is intended to prohibit the payment of gifts and
gratuities, regardless of whether a direct relationship between
the payment and the specific contract award can be established.
It is intended also tao prohibit payments by subcontractors to
higher tier contractors similar to those we noted during our re-
view, since the clause does not require that it be shown that
payments were made as an inducement for or as an acknowledgment
of contract awards. Additionally the clause will provide for
contract termination--a remedy which is not included in the

" Anti-Kickback Act but which is in furtherance of public policy

against favoritism in awarding Government contracts and subcon-
tracts. Finally the clause will require that violations. or
suspacted violations of the Anti-Kickback Act be brought to

the attention of appropriate Government officials.

. We suggest that the clause be worded along the following
lines, similar to the present contract clause prohibiting giv-
ing gratuities to Government employees.
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PRIME CONTRACTOR-SUBUCONTRACTOR GRATUITIES

“(a) No officer, partner, employee, ‘or agent of
the contractor or any tier subcontractor holding

a contract, agreement, or purchase order to per-
form all or any part of the work required under

a negotiated Government contract shall solicit or
accept, directly or indirectly, any glft, gratuity,
favor, entertainment, loan, fee, commission, or
any other thing of monetary value from any officer,
employee, or agent of a subcontractor at any tier
which obtained, or is seeking to obtain, work

under or related to Government contracts with

the contractor or any higher tier subcontractor.

"(b) The Government may, by written notice to
the contractor, terminate the right of the con-
tractor to proceed under this contract if it

is found, after notice and hearing, that gratui-
ties, as described in paragraph (a) hereof, have
been solicited or accepted.

"(c) If this contract is terminated as provided
in paragraph (b} hereof, the Government can
pursue the same remedies against the contractor
as it could pursue if there were a breach of

the contract by the contractor.

"{d) If the contractor has information of
violations or suspected violations of this
clause or of 41 U.S.C, 51, the contractor shall
report the facts and circumstances to the appro-
priate Government contracting officials.

"{e)} The contractor shall insert a similar
clause establishing the right of the prime
contractor or any subcontractor hereunder at
any tier to terminate lower tier subcontracts
if gratuities as defined in this clause are
solicited or accepted."

Since the above clause does not make the payment of
gratuities illegal and since it is difficult to prove such
payments violate the Anti-Kickback Act or other laws, the
Congress may want to consider action to make such payments
clearly illegal by amending 41 U.S.C. 51-54 to prohibit
sich payments as those addressed by the clause or amending
the Internal Revenue Code to prohibit deducting S0ch
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payments as business expenses when paid by a subcontractor to
a higher tier Government contractor.

OVERALL EFFECTIVENESS OF
PRIME CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT SYSTEM

Our review of the procurement systems of four other
prime contractors generally showed their purchasing policies,
procedures, and internal controls were based on sound procure-
ment principles. However, several areas needed attention.
For example: (1) contractors generally compared past and
current prices to measure the reasonableness of current
prices for noncompetitive awards valued under $100,000
although conditions which could affect prices had changed
since the past prices were established and (2) other weak-
nesses in procurement procedures and internal controls at
individual contractors' plants, such as failure to con-
sglidate purchase of low-dollar-value items, weakness in
bid control procedures, and lack of controls over purchase
orders. These areas are discussed in detail in appendix III.

GOVERNMENT SURVEILLANCE

Government surveillance of contractors' purchasing sys~
tems is done through annual contractor procurement system
reviews, ongoing surveillance by administrative contracting
officers, and periodic audits by defense contract auditors.

The Government's annual procurement system.reviews are
made for the administrative contracting officer to determine
whether the contractor's procurement sysStem and practices
conform with applicable laws, Government procurement regula~
tions, contract clauses, and sound industrial practices and
adequately protect the Government's interests. A favorable
determination results in system approval and, in most cases,
elimination of the need for Government review and approval
of individual subcontractors. Government procurement regula-
tions require cognizant administrative contracting officers
to maintain an adequate level of surveillance to insure that
the contractor's procurement system continues to warrant an
approved status.

Government surveillance regarding kickbacks was limited
to determining the acceptability of the contractor's written
policies on gifts and gratuities and ascertaining, through
discussions with purchasing management, that the policy angd
the provisions of the Anti-Kickback Act had been made known
to the purchasing organization and the vendor community.

nmon



B~177748

If Government representatives detect a violation or suspect
a violation of the Anti-Kickback Act, they are to refer the
matter to higher headquarters for a decision on action to be
taken, in accordance with procurement regulations.

In evaluating the overall surveillance of procurement
activities at four contractor plants, we found that the’
contractors' systems had been reviewed and approved on the
basis of recent procurement system reviews. Ongoing sur-
veillance was generally restricted to required review and
consent to specific types of subcontracts, and apnual
procurement system reviews were relied on to Ldentify system
weaknesses.

The weaknesses we noted had not been identified by
either the ongoing surveillance or the periodic procurement
system reviews.

RECOMMENDATION

We recommend that the Secretary of Defense direct pro-
curement review teams, during their reviews of contractor
procurement systems, te give greater attention to determining
whether contractors are conducting. adequate price-cost
analysis For procurements under_ $100,000.

We have discussed the matters presented in this report
with local contractor and agency officials but, as your
office requested, we have not submitted this report to the
Department of Defense for formal written comment.

As you know, section 236 of the Legislative Reorganiza-
tion Act of 1970 requires the head of a Federal agency to
submit. a written statement on actions taken on our recommen-
dations to the House and Senate Committees on Government
Operations not later than 60 days after the date of the
report and to the House and Senate Committees on Approprla—
tions with the agency's first request for appropriations made
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more than 60 days after the date
in touch with your office in the
copies of this report to be sent
and the four other Committees to
ments of section 236.

Since

<

/
Al 44

Compt
of th

of the report. We will be
negar future to arrange for
to the Secretary of Defense
set in motion the require-

rely youc‘s,

4 Mk

roller General
e United States
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PRIME CONTRACTOR-SUBCONTRACTOR

RELATIONSHIPS
In reviewing the subcontracting activities of two prime A
contractors, where special attention was given to possible 8
kickbacks, we found several guestionable transactions and
relationships.

PRIME CONTRACTOR EMPLOYEES
PROVIDED GIFTS AND FREQUENT ENTERTAINMENT
BY SUBCONTRACTORS

Following are examples of situations where subcontrac-
tors gave gifts or favors to the prime contractor employees.

gxample 1
gxample o U, ¢ ¥

Two local subcontractors that made over 90 percent of
their sales to a Government prime contractor frequently enter-
tained selected employees of the prime contrd@teér. Prime con- A
tractor records as of March 29, 1974, showed that these two
subcontractors each held over 400 outstanding subcontracts,
many more than most other subcontractors. The majority of
the subcontracts had been awarded by buyers supervised by
procurement employees who had been most frequently enter-
tained. syOne subcontractor entertained three of the prime

J. contractor's employees a total of 65 times in 1 year. The
entertainment generally consisted of meals and drinks cost-
ing less than §$25 each time.

I-—————amhe other subcontractor's records showed that the prime
contractor's employees had been entertained 189 times during
the 2-year period ended September 30, 1974. 'This entertain-
ment, according to subcontractor records, generally consisted
of meals and drinks. However, we found that this subcontrac-
tor also had (1) purchased an airline ticket. that was used by
a prime contractor employee and (2) loaned credit cards and a
television set to a buying-group supervisor.

Example 2 H

A large subcontractor paid over $200 for gifts and gratu-
ities for a prime contractor's buyer. The gifts and gratui-~
ties ranged from golf balls and green fees to an autographed
football. During 1972 and 1973 the subcontractor was awarded
:ubcgntracts totaling more than $200,000 by this prime con-

ractor.
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The subicontractor toid ug that ils policies and
procedures on granting gifts and qratuities conformed to
the Internal Revenrc Serv.ie regulations. One Internal
Revenve Service rule {regulation 1.274-3) allows firms to
deduct the cost of business gifts to individuals not in
excess of $25 a year.:  Regulations 1.274-2(c) and 1.274-2(d}
allows firms to deduct the cost of entertainment directly
related to or associated with the active conduct of a trade
or business and directly before or after a bona fide busi-
ness discussion when the purpose represents zn active effort
by the taxpayer to obtain income or some other business
benefit.

Example 3 L K

—— A subcontractor 's sales repréﬁentatlve entertained 13 em-~
ployees of a prime GOntractor at a total cost of $431. Those
entertained included the former and current directors of ma-
terial, the manager of central procurement, a buyer, and an
expediter. The entertalnment included a night at a dinner
theater for three employees and their wives and meals and
drinks at various clubs and parties for them and for other
employees.

Example 4 3

In February 1973 a prime contractor procurement official
purchased a used tractor from the subcortractor providing AA
groundskeeping services. He paid $450 for the tractor and

other equipment. The tractor's needed repairs were made at

a cost of $175, which brought his total investment to about
$625.

Local farm implement dealers told us that the market
value of a tractor ‘in like condition was between $1,000 and
$1,200 and one in good condition was about $1,700. Another
official of the prime*contractor told us that'he d1d not B
believe there was a conflict of interest because the procure-
ment official did not get a very good deal on the tractor and
there was no indication that favoritism was shown in approv-
ing the 1973-74 award to the subcontractor,

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SUBCGNIRACTORS
AND SALES AGENTS

There are manufacturers' representatives, sales brokers,
and engineering firms throughout the subcontracting structure,
and generally they can provide good and valuable services to
prime contractors and subcontractors.

10
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Armed Services Procurement Regulation 15-205.37 dated
april 16, 1973, recognize: Jhat selling costs arise in the
marketing ot the contractor's products and that these costs
.nclude sales promotions, negotiation, liaison between Govern-
ment representatives and contractor's personnel, and other
related activities.

The requlation states that the costs are allowable to
the extent that they are reasonable and allocable to Govern-
ment business. Allocability is to be determined ‘in the light
of reasonable benefit to the Government from such activities
as technical, consulting, demonstration, and other services
which are for such purposes as application or adaptation of
the contractor's product to Government use.

We 1dentified the following relationships between sub-
contractors to Department of Defense (DOD) prime contractors
and sales agents that did not appear to benefit the prime
cantractor or DOD.

Example 1 K
L A manufacturer's representative received $28,500 in com-

missions from & *subcontractor on sales. to a DOD prime con- e——f
tractor. The subcontractor increased the price it offered
the prime contractor by an amount equal to the commission.

| -Bubcontractor officials told us that the commission was not
for obtaining business solely with the prime contractor.
The commission had been paid under an agreement with the man-
-»ufacturer's representative who was to develop business for
the subcontractor. Because the representative had not devel-
oped any business for the subcontractor except that with the

B »prime contractor, the agreement had been terminated.

Example 2 N J 0

A sales‘broker who: had nq/pla t or eguipment had received
subcontracts from first-tier subcgntractors of a DOD primee~
contractor. For the one subcontriact we were able to fully
trace, the sales broker had immediately resubcontracted the
entire order to an unquallfled reducer. * The sales broker
charged the first-tier subcontractor twice the actual pro-
ducer's price, and the DOD prime contractor paid almost three
times the actual producer-s price.

OTHER QUESTIONABLE TRANSACTIONS
AND RELATIONSHIPS

) In reviewing prime contractor and subcontractor activi-
ties, we found a number of other questionable transactions
and relationships,

11
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Example 1
A _ .. Tvwo employees of a first~tigr iubcontractor to a
Governfiént*prime contractor recefived about $6,500 in con-

P

sultant fees from a surplus-partg dealer. The payments were
made after a sale to the surplus Nealer that was handled by
one of the two employees, The sale involved surplus parts
built to the prime contractor's specification. The sale
price was $1,950 for parts having a current market value of
about $190,000.

Neither the prime contractor nor the first-tier
subcontractor has acknowledged that the sale resulted in a
financial loss. However, the subcontractor dismissed the
two employees shortly after we reported this matter to the
subcontraceor’'s management.

Example 2 6

A contract for servicing primé contractor_ggﬁiglga,uasﬁe—}<
awarded without competition. teo a sales firm*FThat representd
a number of the prime contractor's suppliers. An official
of the firm also owned and operated a service stationm.

The sales firm official said that he had contacted one B
of his friends, a procurement officjal of the prime“Tontrac-=
tor, about getting some vehicle maintepance business. This
official referred him tc a buyer who, in turn, referred hinm
to the manager of transportation material, The sales firme~——
official later received the contract,

The sales Yirm official later purchased jewelry having
a catalog value of $80 at a 50~percent discount for the
manager of transportation, the employee who approved most
of the sales firm's vehicle maintenance. The employee reim-
bursed the sales firm for its cost of the jewelry.

This official is the same one mentioned in example
3 under “Prime Contractor Employees Provided Gifts and
Frequent Entertainment by Subcontractors® on page 10 and in
example 1 under “Relationship Between Subcontractors
and Sales Agents" on page 11.

Example 3 R

A subco#&ractor, who had previously produced castings
and who held the tooling under an earlier subcontract, had
its low bid rejected on a follow-on requirement, Instead
an award was made to another source whose price was about
$14,000 higher.

S

12
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K

The original subcontractor had.tooling in its plant
fcam the previous order and proposed tu uze this tooling to B
produce undec the new order. The prime contractor's buyer
told the original gubcontractor that company engineers had
R—-sa&d”that“fﬁé'tooling in the subcontractur's plant could not
be used and that he had therefore rejected the subcontrac-

tor's offer.

The subcohtractor submitted a memorandum to the prime-’B
contractor's management concerning the award to andther
source. Following investigation of the matter by contractor S
employees, the award to the second*source was terminated and
an award was made to the originaléBubconttactor. The sub- R
contractor delivered the castings on schedule, and the primeq.s
contractor accepted them,

An official of the original dubcontractor told us that
he believed the buyer and an engineer had conspired to place
the award with the other k¥Source because of "a possible Kick— )
bazk. Ve do not, however, have any facts that indicate that
prime contractor employees benefited from the award to the
second source.

Example 4

A prime contractor's quality control otficial respon-
sible for accepting material from suppliers established a
Tl*company to test the hardness of metal fasteners purchased
by his employer from these suppliers. This employec—-owned
B'Esﬁisﬁ;ﬁhas been operating since 1969 and has earned about
$58,000, most of which was generated from testing done for
prime contractor suppliers. No lot of items tested by this
company had ever been rejected by the prime contractor.

At the time this employee-owned company was established,
the employee consulted management and they found no conflict
of interest.

Example 5 U
In é%?f/;;ve subcontracts totaling $2,951 were awarded -8

to a company whose principal stockholders were prime contrac-—
tor employees, TFour of these awards showed that company as
the only suggested source; the awards were initiated in the
department where two stockholders worked. The buyer who
placed the orders told us that he had been unaware that
prime contractor employees were stockholders in that company.

8 v
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The prime coﬁ%ractor's tegal counsel told us that the
conflict of interest committee reviewed the above matter and
ruled that the three employees had a conflict of interest.

As a result the committee directed that these employees dis-
pose of their interests in the supplier company. ‘The disposal
action was delayed because of financial ptoblems, and it had
not been completed at the close of our retiew.

v
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A KICKBACK CASES

U#é of the two prime contractors in this portion ot our
review acknowledged that it had been the victim ol a kivk- SR .
back scheme some ymars earlier. The secondécontractor  tald
us that it had recently referred a kickback allegation tu
the Department of Justice., During our review a major sub-e€
contractor developed evidence that it too had been the
victim of a major kickback scheme. Brief synopses of these
three cases follow.

CASE 1

A 1968 investigation by a prime contractor's security
group and the Department of Justice developed allegations
that 10 of the prime contractor's employees had received
entertainment, gifts, transportation, and/or money from
12 subcontractor firms. One employee admitted receiving
a total of about $6,037 in cash fraom three subcontractors;
other employees admitted receiving tickets to sporting events,
trips to resort areas, moving expenses, and fregent entertain-

ment. V/

The employee whondmitted receiving $6,037 and one of
the presidents of a contractor firm who pald about $4, 1zs
to him were later convicted of violations of the Anti-
Kickback Act. The employee was Fined $5,000; the subcontractor
official was placed on probation for 13 months. Five prime
contractor employees, including the one convicted, resigned
or had their employment terminated. One of these is now

J- employed by a subcongractor to the prime contractor, &————-——

In: this case the subcontractor made payment to a ficti-
tious firm established in the employee's wife's maiden name.
These costs were passed on to the prime contractor as a
part of the subcoatractor’s tokal price. Reportedly. the
scheme was disclosed during bankruptcy proceedings for one
af the subcontractors. &w

CASE Z Y
B\i During 1973 a second-tier subrontractor to a Sovernment ‘,x

prime contractor had been asked by a first-tier subcontracto
to create a fund to pe used to pay kickbacks to a prime con-
tractor employee. The fund was to be created by increasing
the amount of the second-tier subcontract by $5,000. The
second-tier subcontractor refused to do so and reported the
matter to the prime contractor.

1s



AA

83

APPENDIX 1II APPENDIX 1!

Before we started our review, prime contractor officials
had referred the case to the Department of Justice for in-
vestigation. The prime contractor's internal audit staff
also investigated other subcontract awards to the first-~
tier subcontractor but did not make the results of its in~
vestigation available to us.

CASE 3 v A

Late in 1974 an affiliate of a Government prime con-
tractor serving as a first-tier subcontractor discovered 2
that, of about $151,000 billed by and paid to a second—tief(
subcontractor, $125,000 represented duplicate billings,
Another gecond-tier subcontractor was paying a 20-percent

commission on sales made to the same affiliate. About one-

half, or about $20,000, of the commission was paid to the
affiliate's manager of subcontracts, The affiliate, dis-
missed nine employees who were directly or indirectly in-
volved,

This matter was discovered as the result of an oral
report to the affiliate's management by an informant and
was later confirmed by one of the affiliate's cost ac-
countants. This case had been referred to the Department
of Justice, and it was actively investigating this case
at the close of our review.

16
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OVERALL EFFECTIVENESS OF

PRIME CONTRACTORS' PURCHASING SYSTEMS

SUBCONTRACTING VOLUME AND EXTENT OF COMPETITION

The amount of DOD procurement dellars awarded to prime
contractors, which ultimately are passed on to subcontrac-
tors, is important. The ratio of subcontracting volume to
total sales for the four DOD prime contractors whose sub-
contracting activities we examined during this review ranged
from about 20 to 55 percent. In 1973 these prime contractors
awarded subcontracts totaling approximately $540 million,
including $210 million in subcontracts of less than $100,000
each.

nmmon

At each of the four prime contractors, we examined about
100 procurement transactions totaling almost $50 million, of
which $§7 million worth were under subcontracts of less than
$100,000. Our sampling showed that about. 61 percent of the
subcontracts had been awarded-—83_9e:cent of the dollars--~
noncompetltlvely

nmohH

EXTENT OF PRICE OR COST ANALYSIS
AT FOUR CONTRACTORS REVIEWED

Effective price competition assures' that the prices ob-
tained are fair and reasonable. Ilowever, in a noncompetitive
environment *her methods must be used to insure fairness and
reasonableness of subcontract prices. The methods contrac-
tors use most often are price analysis and cost analysis. In
certain situations, however, no analysis is deemed necessary
because subcontractors are offering goods or services to the
Government at the same prices they are offered to the public.

Price analysis involves examining and evaluating a pro-
spective price without evaluating the separate cost elements
and proposed profit of the prospective supplier whose price
is being evaluated., 1In contrast cost analysis is much more
thorough and involves reviewing and evaluating a contractor's
cost or pricing data and the judgmental factors applied in

pro:ectlng from the data to the estimated cost to form an .

opinion on the degree to which the contractor's proposed
costs represent what performance of the contract should cost,
assuming reasonable economy and efficiency.

For subcontracts between $10,000 and $100,000, prime
contractors generally used price analysis to measure reason-
ableness. The following table compares noncompetitive awards
sampled -at the four contractors and the methods used to
analyze the prices,

17
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Number of
Analysis arders Total
Price 62 $2,579,381
Cost 6 268,246
None g 1,229,320
Total 107 $4,076,947

For about half of the transactions, all that the prime
contractors did in analyzing prices was compare proposed
prlces with previous prices. Further, in five instances the
price analyses were made after the subcontracts were awarded--
these analyses seem to have been a waste of time since in most
cases the prices were already established. In the remaining
sample of subcontracts where price analyses were made, the
methods used for evaluating the reasonableness of proposed
prices included comparison of proposed prices with competitive
prices and with in-house technical or engineering estimates
and comparisons based on buyers' or reguesters' knowleddge.

EXAMPLES OF POOR PRICE ANALYSES

A valid indication of the fairness and reasonableness of
a proposed price can be obtained by comparing the proposed
price with past prices when

--past prices were based on competition or were properly
tested for reasonableness;

--other conditions affecting price, such as guality,
quantity, and schedule, either remain unchanged or
can be reasonably well identified and projected; and

-~economic conditions remain stable.

When any of these three conditions is not met, addi-
tional price or cost information should be obtained to insure
the reasonableness of the .proposed price. Many subcontracts
valued at less than $100,000 were awarded although these
conditions were not met, and the only work donz was a com-~
parison between past and proposed prices.

Past price not based on competition E
On Aungust 13, 1973, a prime contractor awarded a noncom-

petitive purchase order totaling $60,815.65 for four different
proprietary items,;as shown below.

BB
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Description Unit price
Coupling, half $28.81
Coupling 24.61
Coupling 32.09
Coupling 34.90

The purchase order folio showed that, in evaluating the
reasonableness of the quoted prices, the buyer considered the
prices previously paid for four previous purchases of coupl-
ing halves and three previous purchases of couplings. We
determined that the previous buys used in the comparison were
also noncompetitive purchases from the same supplier. De-
tailed cost and pricing data was not requested for the Auqust
1973 purchase.. The buyer could not give us any additional
factors he had considered in analyzing prices for this pur-
chase. The prices were accepted without negotiation.

Quality, quantity, or schedule
requirements changed cC

F For a September 1973 procureme#ﬁ totaling $83,153, a

- prime contractor compared the unit prices of production hard-
ware with prices paid in June 1973 for engineering hardware,
as shown below.

Proposed procurement Previous procurement
Quantity Unit price Quantity Unit price
11 $680 1 $405
6 605 2 322
7 605 2 322
19 233 4 50
19 510 2 239
16 510 6 239

In addition, the proposed procurement included $45,%31
for testing and data costs for production hardware compared
with $15,670 for a previous procurement of engineering hardware.
The buyer did not evaluate the difference in prices. Increas-
ing the quantity and moving into production from engineering
development generally should result in a reduced unit price.
The prices in this case, however, were higher than the
engineering hardware prices.

Changed economic conditions

On September 11, 1973, a $38,855 noncompetitive, sole- [
source purchase order for actuator cylinders was awarded to
a supplier which was the only established, gqualified source.

?
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The price analysis consisted of comparing the proposed price
with previous prices. ‘'This comparison showed the proposed
unit price of $1,850.23 to be more than double the latest
purchase price of $922.74. The supplier justified the in-~
crrase on the hasis that neqgotiations in 1986 were basrd on
large lot runs and that the actual orders received had been
in lots of one, Eive, etc., The supplier concluded that ac-
tual cost data showed the part had been a source of profit
erosion and that it was necessary to raise the price. There
were no negotiations, and the price was accepted.

The purchase history record of this item showed no at-
tempts to analyze the reasonableness of the price increase.

No price-cost analysis before
subcontract award I3

"3

At one contractor location, we identified 19 noncompe-
titive procurements totaling $1,001,000, for which required
analyses were not made before contract negotiations  and award.
In 7 cases no analyses were mude; in 12 cases ahalyses were
made after negotiations and award. These procurements were
identified through random and judgmental selections of pro-
curements.

We compared the negotiation records for the 19 procure-
ments with the sample procurements over 5100,000 whose prices
were analyzed before award and found that subcontract prices
over $100,000 had been reduced by more than 10 percent and
the 19 awards by only 0.1 percent.

Results of negotiation

With price-cost Without price~cost
analysis analysis
{over $100,000) ($10,000 to $100,000)
Proposed price $8,049,878 $1,002,068
Negotiated price 7,220,792 1,000,937
Negotiated reduc-—
tion $ 829,086 $ 1,131
(LA JUSEY &1
Percent reduction 10.3 0.1

One explanation for the greater negotiation success with
contracts over $100,000 was the contractors' obtaining cer-
tified cost data from subcontractors and determining reason-
ableness of price through cost analysis.

20
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.

OTHER WEAKNESSES IN CONTRACTORS'
PURCHASING SYSTEMS

Certain other matters needed attention for improved
pucchasing efficiency and control.

Failure to consolidate buys
of Jow-dollar-value items

The procedures used at two contractor locations did not
ancourage consolidating low-dollar-value procurements. The
way they were procuring low-dollar-value items resulted in
(1) the avoidance of required procedures on competitive pur-
chases and (2) costly adainistrative expenses which could be
disproportionate to the value of the items purchased.

Weaknesses in bid control procedures

At two contractor locations procedures for controlling
incoming supplier quotations were weak and could possibly
lead to bid manipulations, At each location bids were given
directly to the buyers and were not recorded at the time of
receipt by an independent unit.

Lack of control over purchase orders

One contractor had a lack of control over purchase
orders. Under the contractor's purchasing system, the same
numbered document was used as both the purchase requisition
and purchase order. The system entailed assigning blocks of
purchase requisitions-purchase orders to th» functional de-
partments throughout the plant. This procedure resulted in
purchase requisitions-orders arriving in the procurement de-
partment out of numerical' sequence. Complicating the prob-
lem, the contractor did not keep a purchase order register.

Lack of management awareness of
single/sole-source procurements

One contractor's procurement officials were not prepar-
ing a monthly single/sole-source report to the director of
procurement, contrary to the contractor's regulations. The
report was to insure compliance with the contractor's intent
to reduce noncompetitive procurements. We found that 62 of
102 purchase orders had been awarded noncompetitively.

Misleading and erroneous data
in _contractor procurement files

. At one contractor location misleading procurement data
in contractor files created an erronesus impression concern-
ing the sequence in which purchase orders were awarded and °

21
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analyzed. Documents in procureuent files relative to 7 of
the 19 procurements we identified as being placed before
price-cost analyses by the respongsible department (see

p. 20) gave the impression that the analyses had been made
before the orders were placed. Two purchase order dates

had been changed, four purchase orders were postdated, and
one price-cost analysis report date was changed by the buyer.

We brought the matters discussed -in this appendix to
the attention of the responsible contractor officials at the
close of our review. In most cases the contractors had taken
or were considering corrective actionms.

22
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Chairman Proxmire. Our next witness is Mr. Ralph Nader.
We are honored to have Mr. Ralph Nader this morning, and Mr.
Mark Green, who is the director of research, the Corporate Account-

ability Research Group, who also has done work in preparation of this
statement.

Mr. Nader, go right ahead.

STATEMENT OF RALPH NADER, CONSUMER ADVOCATE,
ACCOMPANIED BY MARK GREEN

Mzr. Naper. Mr. Chairman, thank you for your invitation to discuss
the subject of corporate corruption.

Not perhaps since the robber baron era, and certainly not since the
1930s—when New York Stock Exchange president, Richard Whitney
was convicted of stock theft and utility mogul Samucl Insull escaped
prosecution by fleeing abroad dressed as a woman—ha3s America wit-
nessed such an epidemic of corporaz: crime.

Indeed, the developments and disclosire relating to corporate crime
in recent weeks have reached an allt:me pealk,

The evidence to support this cJaim of an epidemic of corporate crime
appears daily on newspaper business pages and front pages. Indeed,
reading the Wall Street Journal, it is as if you were reading the Crime
Street Journal.

Lockheed acknowledges giving out $202 million between 1970 and
1975 in payoffs to foreign politicians, parties and agents in order to
win overseas contracts. Gulf Qil makes a $4 million bribe to South
Korean officials, and hands out $5 million in illegal political contribu-
tions in this country. United Brands gives a $1.3 million bribe to Hon-
duran officials in exchange for a reduction in its export tax on bananas.

The following corporations have admitted to making an illegal cam-
paian contribution or paying a bribe to a foreign agent or official, as
of October 27, 1975 : American Airlines, American Ship Building, Ash-
land Oil, Branift Airways. Carnation, Diamond International, Exxon,
Goodyear Tire & Rubber, Greyhound, Gulf Qil, Lockheed, Mercantile
Trust, 3M, Northrop, Phillips Petroleum, Singer, American Home
Products, Cities Service, Del Monte, Merck & Co., Mobile Oil, Mon-
santo, Occidental Petroleum, Southwestern Bell Telephone, and United
Brands.

Aerospace firms seeking Pentagon contracts have lavished valuable
benefits on procurement officials; for example, Northrop had Defense
Department personnel to its duck hunting lodge 144 times between
1971 and 1973, thereby violating Executive order 11222 which for-
bids Government employees from aceepting anything of value from
companies seeking husiness with their department.

I submit, Mr. Chairman, that these revelations reflect a far more
pervasive interlock between Government officials engaged in the pro-
curement business and defense contractors. )

The question now needs to be probed as to whether there is not sig-
nificant delegation of foreign policy and military policy activities tn
these defense contractors, since it is relatively easy over a period of
5 or 6 years to svphon away for unaccounted activities hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars in defense appropriations. Ind:zed, one querpment
official, when he was asked, is it possible for about $3 billion in the
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last 6 to 7 years to be syphoned away for illicit activities by the de-
fense contractors without detection, that Government official said,
yes, over a G-year period. It is done by inflated defense contracts and
all the mumbo-jumbo in the financial relationships between the agen-
cies and the defense contractors this committee has been looking into
for sometime.

So it is not merely a little payola or a few duck hunting lodges, these
are the kind of surface superficialities of a much more intensive inter-
lock system which is also made more persuasive by the practice of
Defense Department officials or military officials going into the defense
contract companies after retirement.

The Watergate Special Prosecutor has obtained convictions of or
guilty pleas from 22 corporations and 21 individuals. Newsweek re-
ported that, although the Special Prosecutor has evidence to move
against “hundreds” of firms, 1t had to drop these cases when Congress
recently shortened the statute of limitations.

One might add that these convictions or guilty pleas are only a few
of the many that could have been obtained if there was an adequate
prosecutoral resource and tenure to the Watergate Special Prosecutor
or any other similar Justice Department unit. The fact of the matter
is that the Justice Department has been expending the huge bulk of its
funds in the area of crime in the streets. Flowever ineffective the ex-
penditure of these funds has been, particularly under LEAA, very
little has been expended on corporate economic crimes or crimes
involving Government-corporate relationships. Indeed, most Federal
prosecutors shy away from these kind of prosecutions. For one reason,
they are extremely time consuming or complex, because the defendants
usually have the most imaginative corporate lawyers representing
them. The evidential problems are significant as well because of the
diffusion and secrecy of the corporate structure.

So we are looking at the tip of the iceberg in the sense that this is

what has come forward with the most miniscule of Federal prosecu-
torial resource and efforts.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has successfully sued nine
companies for failing to disclose illegal foreign bribes or domestic
contributions. The Internal Revenue Service is currently auditing
the books of 110 companies for illegal deductions related to such pay-
offs. Attorney General Edward Levy acknowledged in an October 9
letter to us that his Department was conducting “in excess of 50
investigations in the area of illegal political contribut’uns.”

Of course in today’s paper there was the announcement that there
wil be set up a public integrity office in the Justice Department to deal
with Government or political corruption, which very often involves
corporate payoffs and other extended temptations.

Are all these, at worst, just a clutch of rotten apples—or is much of
the business barvel rouvien? It is, of course, impossible, given present
data collection systems, to conduct a scientific “corporate crime
prevalency study”; we only know of firms publicly exposed, since
other culpable companies do not volunteer their gnilt. Still, the pre-
sumption is strong that these illegal practices are common. First of
all, where illegal bribes and payoffs amount to competitive advantage
in a particular industry, that competitive advantage is either going
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to squeeze out the more honest competitors, or it is going to induce the
more honest compeitors to take up these illicit or nefarious practices.
In short, bad business activities run out good business activities much
as Gresham’s law would do in the monetary area.

One businessman, for example, told me that it was almost impossible
for him to compets in his particular area of business because inter-
corporate bribery between buyers and sellers was so extensive. Indeed,
this problem of interbusiness payofls, which has hardly been touched
in the last few years of disclosures, is probably the next dimension of
inquiry by interested Government prosecutors. In the procurement
business .alone, for example, if one company is a big buyer of a
commodity and several companies are bidding for that business, the
temptations for these kinds of payoffs are greater than those that occur
in (Government procurement areas affecting private contractors.

Many of the most important and established corporations in the
country were involved, I am referring to the specific disclosures in
corporate crimes—firms no more or less prone than others to prevail-
ing political and commereial pressure. These companies involve such
diverse industries as aerospace, food processing, oil, sewing machines,
airlines, banking and office supplies. In the early 1960, W. K. White-
ford, then Gulf Qil chairman, reportedly talked “to top management
of some other major oil companies and learned that all of them had
setup arrangements® similar to Gulf’s illeeal payofls system—accord-
ing to the company’s own internal report. When Archie Carroll of the
University of Georgia surveyed 238 business managers last year,
60 percent agreed that the go-along ethic of CREEP’s junior members
“is just what voung managers would have done in business.” When
the American Management Association surveved 3,000 business
execufives, 70 percent said they had been expected to compromise per-
sonal princinles to attain organizational standards. A survev of 531
top and middle managers by the Opinion Research Clorp. in Julv 1975
found 48 percent agreeing that foreign bribes should be paid if such
practices were prevalent—even though illegal—in that foreign country.

I might add that there is some vociferous business dissent to this tvpe
of behavior. One particular article by Stanley Marcus, the head of
Neiman Marcus, which anpeared in the New York Times recently
strongly dissented from this tvne of conforming criminal behavior

QOtherwise, in the pure purswit of pure profits, anything goes—law
and ethies notwithstanding. A1l of which makes understandable the
grim conclusion of former SEC Chairman Ray Garrett, Jr. that “This
is bribery. influence peddling and corruption on a seale I had never
dreamed existed.”

Indeed. the justification of many exposed executives was that “every-
one cloes it.” This and other rationales for recently disclosed illegality
deserve examination.

Point 1. Payoffs are common practice abrogd—perhaps common
practice, but still illegal in virtually all conntries. When some busi-
nessman says that it is common practice abroad. that does not mean
that it is legal abroad. That X can always cite a Y who violates the
law can hardly exculpate X’s illegalitv—unless law enforcement is to
sink to the lowest common denominator—or in special circumstances,
for example, where the arbitrary enforcement of the law on less than
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1 percent of the subjects betrays the kind of political persecution, or
a gross negligence in enforcing the law on 99 percent of the subjects.
And that can raise unequal protection claims under the U.S. Constitu-
tion. But this is certainly not that situation. ’

Another defense by the culpable companies is that what they do
doesn’t viclate U.S. law, what they do abroad.

Title 18 of the United States Code does not explicitly prohibit for-
eign bribes—an omission which ghould be corrected—but such activity
can still violate U.S. law. Many firms took deductions for such pay-
ments, although the IRS forbids deductions for activities abroad which
would be illegal here. Also, the Federal Trade Commission, outgoing
Chairman Lewis Engman told us, is investigating whether such activ-
ity diseriminates against competitors who don’t bribe—and hence is
an “unfair trade practice” under section 5 of the FTC Act. He told
us this about 2 months ago, so perhaps, Mr. Chairman, you might
want to inquire of the FTC as to the status of this investigation. This
is u potentially very powerful tool indeed, because if these payoffs can
bo considered unfair trade practices, they can be brought in under
another inforcement ambrella for action and for possible damage
payment to the damaged parties.

Another defense by the corporations is that payets are necessary to
proteet properties. Gulf Chairmaxt Bob Dorsey explained that his
firm’s $4 nullion payment to the South Eorean ruling party seemed
essential to protece his company’s $300 million investment there. But,
to take this example, would an ally so militarily dependent on the
United States cavalierly damage the interests of a major American
firm? When subsequently asked in Senate hearings why he didn’
go to the State Department to protest extortionate pressure, Dorsey
replied, “It never occurred to me.”

Mr. Dorsey just resigned from the chairmanship of the Gulf Oil

)

Actually, payofls can jeopardize properties—as Gulf should be well
aware. After malking $350,000 in payments to Bolivian officials, a new
regime, as a vesult, expropriated Gulf’s holdings and is now withhold-
ing the firm’s $57 million indemnity. New governments can predicta-
bilt)ir _wlzmt to retaliate against American firms who corrupted earlier
officials,

Another defense by the company is we did it for our shareholders.
This view is extremely shortsighted. A company may indeed persuade
itself that only payoils can win a lucrative contract, but what of the
potential longrun costs. An extortionist invariably comes back for
more, and other officials may make additional demands when they
perceive a company is known to be responsive, There is the risk of
local law enforcement—an ITT director was convicted in Belgium of
bribing a high official for an equipment contract—and the risk of
exposure in the United States, with adverse publicity and SEC, Jus-
tice Department, IRS and shareholder suits ensuing. One can hope-
fully agsume that 33, Novthrop, and Phillips Petroleum, if they
could do it all again, wouldn’t. _

And there is the claim by the corporate defendants that recent busi-
ness violations result from too many laws. No, this is not an Art
Buchwald parody but, the earnest claims of Murray Weidenbaum and
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the Wall Street Journal. According to Mr. Weidenbaum, a former
Assistant Secretary of the Treasury, “the fundamental cause of the
lawbreaking can be seen to be the tremendous and often arbitrary
power that the society has given the Federal Government over the
private sector.” The Wall Street Journal editorialized that recent dis-
closures “in part reflect the number of new laws, inspired partly by
{olks like Mr. Nader and Mr. Udall, that businessmen can potentially
run afoul of.” Laws like those against foreign bribes, domestic payoffs,
pollution, monopoly and continual tax evasion? Are Weidenbaum and
the Journal serious? Their logic has some interesting applications:
The only thing wrong with serious consumer fraud or wife beating
are those bothersome consumer protection and assault laws. This view
is—there is no kinder way to describe it—nonsense. These illegal
activities that we are referring to are not mere technical violations
resulting from honest error, they are not these honest error type
situations which any company or many individuals could run afoul
of under the matrix and complexity of laws in the country. These
illegalities are serious systematic deliberate violations of basic legal
proTli‘bitions, most often by high corporate officials, or under the con-
doning of high corporate officials.

Finally, the argument that commercial pressure compels all cor-
porations to pay off foreign agents is simply not true. Fortune has
reported that RCA and Xerox Tave a strict policy against such prac-
tices, they believe it is both moral and feasible to say no.

I am going to summarize the rest of the testimony, Mr. Chairman.
I would like the entire testimony to be ineluded in the record.

Chairman Proxmrre. Without objection it will be done.

Mr. Naper. The costs of corporate crime—not only foreign bribes
and domestic contributions, but also regulatory violations, antitrust
violations, and financial swindles——are huge. The chamber of com-
merce in 1972 estimated that white-collar crime costs Americans $40
billion annually. That estimate deals very heavily with internal cor-
porate violations like embezzlement and internal employee theft and
the like. It does not include antitrust violations, which amount to tens
of billions of dollars more every year. The electoral machinery bid
rigging cases of 1961 stole more from consumers via price overcharges
than all the property crimes, street property crimes, that is, for that
yenr combined.

Finally, there is the political toll of business violations kickbacks
and bribes abroad that can distort foreign national priorities to accom-
modate American companies. One can only guess how policy has been
perverted as a result of political bribes and payoffs. But what was
the purpose of all that Gulf cash in blank envelopes if not to shape or
misshape legislation in its favor? Here the line between an outright
bribe to fix the Congressman’s vote and an illegal contribution is thin
if not nonexistent.

Many of the costs of corporate crime have been underplayed by
scholars and practitioners in the criminal law enforcement area. In-
deed, vne scholar, Prof. James Wilson of Harvard, pointed out in one
of his books that street crime is so much more serious than business
crime because it makes personal interrelationships almost impossible.
‘Well, without in any way denigrating the tragedy of street crime, Mr.



P

95

Chairman, consider what kind of relationships business crime makes
impossible, like physical injury or even death can come from tainted
foods or harmful drugs sold in violation of the Poor Food and Drug
Act. Financial losses produced often cripple a family’s entire savings,
financial losses caused by the swindles that have been brought to the:
attention of State attorneys general throughout the country, or by the
frauds that violate the rules of the Securities and Fxchange Com-
mission, or the erosion of a family’s income by the sale of goods based
on misrepresentation or antitrust violations, or the damage that busi-
ness crime does to the Nation’s social, economic and political institu-
tions. Restraint of trade tends to undermine the principles of free
enterprise that the antitrust laws are intended to protect. Brought all
together, crime in the suites, crime at the highest levels of these cor-
porate institutions, has a rotting effect through the society. Society is
very much like a fish in this respect, it rots from the head down.

Federal agencies seem to agree here with those commentators who
think that concentration should be heavy on street crime, often at the
expense of corporate crime. Perhaps because of the lack of public
outrage over the invisible or unfocused tolls of corporate crime, Fed-
eral law enforcers have made business crime a low priority. In a Novem-
ber 1975 report, Paul J. Curran, the outgoing U.S. attorney for the
southern district of New York, complainec‘?tha’t “except for the Securi-
ties and Exchange Conunission and the Internal Revenue Service,
which operate in fairly narrow areas, the Federal agencies responsible
for investigating these (white-collar crime) cases are simply not
doing the job.” Until the creation of the YWatergate Special Prose-
cutor, the Justice Department had almost never moved against illegal
business contributions to political figures. At present, there is not
even a reporting category for business crime in the FBI's detailed
annual compendium, “Crime in the United States™—although there
are 27 other categories. The hundreds of millions spent on local law
enforcement by the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration goes
largely for more armaments and equipment to fight street crime—
with barely traceable amount applied to white-collar crime. The De-
fense Department has for years tolerated or winked at foreign bribes;
its recently disclosed memorandum, “Agents’ Fees in the Middle
East,” acknowledges the existence of agents’ fecs, a euphemism for
bribes, of at least 4 to 6 percent on arms contracts.

The exposure of corporate crime must rest on more than the con-
fluence of the events surrounding Watergate. And the way to deter sucl
violations requires more than the existing insubstantial penalties.

You indicated in your invitation, Mr. Chairman, that you wanted
some recommendations about what can be done about these corpo-
rate erimes. One way to deter such violations requires more than the
existing insubstantial penalties. Fines imposed by judges i antitrust
cases almost invariably are insignificant compared to the amounts
llegally garnered. The SEC and Antitrust Division often conclude
their cases with consent decrees by which defendants deny they vio-
lated the law but promise to obey it in the future—an obligation
they presumably labored under before the decree was signed. Since
the companies recently prosecuted for illegal contributions paid an
average fine of $7,000, and earned an average $77,000 a minute, it took
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each about 6 seconds to pay their debt to society. A survey by New
York Times reporter Michael Jensen found that “most of the 21
business executives who admitted their guilt to the Watergate Spe-
cial Prosecutor in 1973 and 1974—especially those from large corpora-
tions—are still presiding over their companies * * * only two wenp to
jail, They served a few months and were freed. Most are still ensconced
in their paneled corporate offices with platoons of lawyers and public
relations men at their disposal.”

‘With these failures in mind, any program of sanction and deterrence
must appreciate the two special qualities of corporate crime. First,
unlike the tempestuous and treacherous spouse or the impoverished
and desperate mugger, suite criminals are sophisticated and delibera-
tive businessmen who engage in crime after carefully calculating the
benefits and costs. And second, as law professor Christopher Stone
has written in “Where the Law Xnds,” “We have arranged things so
that the people who call the shots do not have to bear the full risks,”
that is, 1t is difficult to pinpoint and punish individual violations
within that collective body called the corporation.

If the likelihood of personally getting caught and the penalties for
getting caught are sufficiently great, potential business law violators
should be able to literally calculate that crime does not pay. That is
a traditional recommendation, Mr. Chairman. Let’s go on to some
others.

Ideally, the Justice Department should create a separate division
on corporate crime, This division should be delegated authority to
investigate and prosecute a wide range of business crimes, from mail
fraud to regulatory offenses to the illegal distribution of political
contributions or bribes, here and abroad, by corporate oflicers or
their agents.

Next, it should be evident that foreign or domestic bribes are an
“unfair trade practice” under the Federal Trade Commission Act.
And that was pointed out earlier in my testimony as a new avenue
to improve the efficacy of law enforcement.

TFurthermore, given the reality that our prisons are places of cruelty
and breeding grounds for recidivism, serving time does not often lead
-to rehabilitation, Still, it is discriminating to send pickpockets and
checkbouncers to prison but not convicted businessmen. One survey
indicated that 16 percent of those guilty of securities fraud actually go
to jail while 71 percent of those convicted of auto theft do. In the first
82 years of the Sherman Act, which is both civil and criminal, there
were only four instances when businessmen actually went to jail for
their criminal violations; in hundreds of other cases, sentences were
suspended.

1 might add, Mr. Chairman, that probably one of the best tech-
niques for prison reform is to make sure more corporate criminals end
up in prison. They wouldn’t stand for the conditions. And they often
become reformers after they have left their incarceration and returned
to civil society.

So that punishment falls on those individuals responsible, corporate
officers convicted of willful corporate related violations should be dis-
qualified from serving as a corporate officer or director in any American
corporation or partnership for 5 years after conviction, guilty plea or
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nolo contendere plea. This is only logical. One does not reemploy an
embezzler as a bank teller. Union officials under the Landrum-Griffin
Act and broker-deaers under securities laws can be similarly suspended
for pertinent violations. There are many positions available in a com-
pany for such a corporate law violator vther than management or the
board, which are peculiarly positions of major trust,

Furthermore, fines should be calibrated to the size of the firm and
the “size” of the violation. Business crime has its own cost curve. If
companies are punished with penalties which are the equivalent of
wrist slaps, the result is predictable. If we make the cost of a convic-
tion sufficiently high, it should discourage many violations which now
are profitable to pursue. And a violation by GM—given the firm’s
resources and impact—should nus be penalized the same as Mrs.
Smith’s Pie (Fortune’s 833d industrial irm). Instead of absolute fines,
there would be percentage fines based on gross sales—so the fine would
fit the crime. .

‘We are elaborating all of these sanctions, Mr. Chairman, in a report
which we will release next week on the case of Federal chartering
of joint corporations.

There is also the problem of how to deal with corporations which
repeatedly violate the law. In addition to percentage fines, penalties
for a particular law violation should increase for corporate recidi-
vists—since by definition the company has not been successfully
deterred. For example, if a firm violated the Sherman Act or antibrib-
ery statute three times in 8 years, the percentage fine for its third
offense would be greater than for its first offense.

- Finally, defendants in cases of corporate wrongdoing are often en-
joined from future violations, but are almost never required to pay
restitution. Shareholder suites may seek and obtain restitution, though
this does not invariably occur. These are very arduous suits to bring
and conclude successfully. Ideally, agencies like the SIEC and Justice
Department, as a part of any relhief, should insist on restitution being
made by those culpable to their victims or their company.

Autocratic chief executive officers, whose handpicked “inside direc-
tors” dominate their boards of directors, lack the kind of external
accountability that encourages responsible and lawful decisionmaking.
Instead, boards of directors should monitor and oversee executive deci-
sionmaking. And those boards should be filled with full-time outside
directors.

Company indemnification and isurance plans often provide for reim-
bursement to officials who plead nolo contendere in criminal cases or
who are found liable in, or agree to settle, a civil lawsuit—if they
thought they were acting “in the best interests of the company.” These
cushions against personal accountability for illegality contribute to the
managerial feeling of being above the law. So that responsible busi-
nessmen feel the sting of personal sanctions, such provisions should be
prohibited.

This committee could perform a valuable function by advocating
that Federal agencies maintain and release regular compliance reports,
The public may occasionally learn of a regulatory violation by a
company, but nowhere is there a systematic report on the level of
violations and resources in particular areas. For example, a com-
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Pliance report could contain the following: The laws enforced by the
-ageney, the resources given it, and the remedies available to it—dfor
«example, recall, repair, fines, warning letters, referrals to Justice for
_prosecution, and so forth; a list by company of each violation estab-
lished and the corrective action required and taken; a statement of
‘what additional tools are needed—~for example, subpena staff—for the
agency to perform its mission adequately; an analysis of priorities
for compliance nctivities and how they are determined; an analysis
of the cost to citizens and the economy of the level of violations un-
covered and the cost of the level of estimated violations.

With such information altogether in one report, Federal regulators
and their congressional monitors can better appreciate the costs of
regulatory violation and better deter them. As in so many other areas
of Government regulation over business, knowledge is power and a
prerequisite to fair enforcement of the Iaws.

Thanl you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Nader follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF RALPE NADER

Mr, Chairman, thank you for your invitation to discuss the subject of corpo-
rate corruption.

Not perhaps since the robber baron era, and certainly not since the 1930s—
when New York Stock Bxchange presidert Richard Whitmey was convicted of
stock theft and ufility mogul Samnuel Ingull escaped prosecution by fleeing abroad
dr.essed as a woman—has America witnessed such an epidemic of corporate
grime,

The evidence to support this claim appears daily on newspaper business pages
and front pages. Lockheed acknowledges giving out $202 million between 1970
and 1975 in payoffs to foreign politicians, parties and agents in order to win
overseas contracts. Gulf Oil makes a $4 million bribe to South Korean offivials,
.and hands out $5 million in illegal political contributions in this country, United
Brands gives a $1.3 million bribe to Honduran officials in exchange for a reduc-
tion in its export on bananas® Aerospace firms seeking Pentagon contracts
have Javished valuable benefits on procurement officials; for example, Northrop
had Defense Department personnel to its duck hunting lodge 144 times between
1971 and 1978, thereby violating Executive Order 11222 which forbids govern-
ment employees from accepting anything of value from companies seeking busi-
mess with their department.

The Watergate Special Prosecutor has obtained convietions of or guilty pleas
from 22 corporations and 21 individuals., (¥ewsweek reported that, although the
Specinl Prosecutor has evidence to move against “hundreds” of firms, it had
to drop these cases when Congress recently shortened the statute of limitations.)
‘The Securities and Exchange Commigsion has successfully sued nine companies
for failing to disclose illegal foreign bribes or domestic contributions. The In-
ternal Revenue Service is currently auditing the books of 110 companies for
illegal deductions related to such payoffs. Attorney General Hdward Levy
acknowledged in an October 9th letter to us that his department was conducting
“in"excess of 50 investigations in the area of illegal political contributions.”

Axre all these, at worst, just a cluteh of rotten apples—or is muech of the busi-
ziess barrel rotten? It is, of course, impossible to conduet a scientific “corporate
erime prevalency study'; we only know of firms publicly exposed, since other
culpable companies do not volunteer their guilt. Still, the presumption is strong
that these illegal practices are common. Many of the most important and es-
.

1he following corporations have admitted to making an illegal campaign contribution
or paying a bribe to a foreign agent or officlal, as of October 27, 1975. (See, Investor
Responsibility Resenrch Center, The Corpgrate Watergate (October, 1973) : American Air-
1ines, Amerienn Ship Building, Ashland Oil, Braniff Airways, Carnation, Dinmond Inter-
natlonal, Exxon, Goodyear MTire & Rubber, Greybound, Gulf 011, Lockheed, Mercantile
Trust, 3M, Northrop, Phillins Petroleum, Singer, American Home Products, Clties Service,
Del Mente, Merck & Co., Mobil Oil, Monsanto, Occidental Petroleum, Southwestern Bell
Teleplione, and United Brands.
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tablished corporations in the country were involved, irms no more,or legs prone
than others to prevailing politieal and commercial pressure. These companies’
iuvolve such diverse industries as aeroypace, food processing, oil, Sewing ma-
chines, airlines, banking and office supplies, In the early 1960s, W, K, Whiteford,
then Gulf Oil chairman, reportedly talked “to top munagement of some other
major oil companies and learned that all of them had set-up arrangements”
similar fo Gulf's illegal payoffs system—according to the company’s own inter-
nal report, When Archie Carr¢ll of the University of Georgia surveyed 238 busi-
ness managers last year, 60 percent agreed that the go-along ethic of CREEP’S
junior members “ig just what young managers would have done in business.”
When the American Management Association surveyed 8000 business esecuiives,
70 percent said they had been expected to compromise personal prineiples to ate
tain organizational standards, A survey of 531 top and middle ‘managers by the
Opinion Research Corporation in July, 1975 found 48 percent agreeing that for«
eign bribeg should be paid if such practices were prevalent (even though illegal)
in that foreign ceuntry.

In other words, in the pure pursuit of pure profits, anything goes—law and
ethics notwithstanding, All of which makes understandable the grim conclusion
of former SEC chairman Ray Garrett, Jr. that “This is bribery, influence-
peddling and corruption on a scale I had never dreamed existed.” :

Indeed, the justification of many exposed executives was that “everyone doeg
ti;t'” This and other rationales for recently disclosed illegality deserve examina-

ion. .
Payoifs are common practice abroad.—Perhaps common practice, but stiil il-
legal in virtually all countries. That X can always cite a Y who violates the law
can hardly exculpate X's illegality—unless law enforcement is to sink to the
lovrest common denominator.

They don't violale U.S. low—Title 18 of the U.S8, Code does not explicitly
prohibit foreign bribes—an omission which should be corrected—but such ac-
tivity can still violate U.S. law, Many firms took deductions for such payments,
slthough the IRS forbids deductions for activities abroad which would be il-
legal here. Also, the Federal Trade Commission, outgoing chairman TLewis
Engman told us, is investigating whether such acfivity @iscriminates againsg
competitors who don’t bribe—and hence is an “unfair trade practice” under
Seetion 5 of the 'TC Act.

Payoffs are necessary to protect properties—Gulf chairman Bob Dorsey ex-
plained that his firm's $4 million payment to the Scuth Korean vuling party
seemed essential to protect bis company’s $300 million investment there. But,
to take this example, would an ally so militarily dependent on the U.S. cavalierly
damage the infterests of a major American firm? When subsequently asked in
Senate hearings why he didn't go to the State Department fo protect extor-
tionate pressure, Dorsey replied, “It never occurred to me.” Actually, payoffs
can jeopardize properties—as Gulf shonld be well aware, After making $350,000
in payments to Bolivian officials, a new regime, as a result, exproprinted Gulf's
holdings and is now withholding the firm's 57 million indemnity, New govern-
ments can predictably want to retaliate against American firms who dorrupted
earlier officials,

e did it for our shareholders~This view is extremely short gighted. A
company may indeed persuade itself that only payoffs can win a lucrative con~
tract, but what of the potential long run costs? An extortionist invariably comes
back for more, and other officials may make additional demands when they per-
ceive & company is known to be responsive. There is the risk of local law en-
forcement—an I'MT director was convicted in Belgium of bribing a high official
for an equipment contract—and the risk of exposure in the U.8., with adverse
publicity and SEC, Justice Department, TRS and shareholder suity ensuing.
One can hopefully assume that 3M, Northrop and Phillips Petrolenm, if they
could do it all again, wouldn’t.

Reeent hicginess violations result from too many laws.—~No, this is not an Art
Buchwald parody but the earnest claims of Murray Weidenbaum and the Wall
Street Journal. According to Mr, Weidenbaum, a former Assistant Secretary of
the Treasury, “the fundamental cause of the law-breaking can be seen to be ths
tremendous and often arbitrary power that the society has given the Federal
Government over the private sector.” The Journal editorialized that recent dis-
closures “Tiln part (reflect] the number of new laws, inspired partly by folks
like Mr. Nader and Mr, Udall, that businessmen ean potentially run afoul of.’
Laws like those against foreign bribes, domestic payoifs, pollution, monopoly
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and continual tax evasion? Are Weidenbaum and the Journal serious? Their
logic has some interesting applications: the only thing wrong with serious con-
sumer fraud or wife-beating are those bothersome consumer protection and as-
sault laws, This view is—there is no kinder way to describe it—nonsense.

JFinally, the argument that commercial pressure compels all corporations to pay
off foreign agents is simply not true. Fortune has reported that RCA and Xerox
have a strict policy against such practices. Father Theodore Hesburgh reported
that one U.S. company told a Latin American finance minister it “would not pay
one cent in mordita [bribes], take it or leave it. The government took if. . . .
Bverybody’s happy except some of those sleazy characters who aren't being paid
off,” An Arab businessman told the Washington Post that Nestles, a Swiss multi-
national corporation, dominates the processed food market in many Arab coun-
tries even though it refuses to pay agents’ commissions, “If the [other U.S, and
Buropean companies] stood firm, they could end the payoff system quickly,” he
said.

Thus, it is both moral and feasible to say “no.” :

The costs of corporaté crime—not only foreign bribes and domestic contribu-
tions, but also regulatory violations, antitrust violations, and financial swindles—
are huge. The Chamber of Commerce in 1972 estimated that white. collar crime
costs Americans $40 billion annually—a figure which does not include antitrust
violations. The electrical machinery bid-rigging cases of 191 stole more from
consumers via price overcharges than all property crimes for that year combined.
It was a successful patent and price conspiracy which raised the price of 100
tetracyeline antibiotic capsules to $51 (it dropped to $5 after an FI'C enforce-
ment action) and another criminal agreement raised the price of guinine, needed
largely by elderly people for heart ailments, by more than 300 percent. The 108
and Bquity I'uuding scandals each involve over a quarter billien dollars in out-
right fraud. “Business criine imposes three kinds of ¢osts on society,” said the
President's Commission on Law Enforcement and the Administration of Justice
in The Challenge of Crime in a Free Society.—It continues:

“(1) Tirst, physical injury or even death can come from tainted foods and
harmful drugs sold in violation of the Pure Food and Drug Act, foods sold in
violation of the Pure Iood and Drug Act, foods sold in violation of local health
laws, and various violations of safety laws and housing codes.

“(2) Second, financial losses are produced, for example, by the marketing of
worthless, defective, or injurious products in violation of Post Office Department
regulations, by frauds that violate the rules of the Securities and Bxchange
Commission, and by the sale of goods based on misrepresentation in advertising.

“(3) Third, [there is] the damage it does to the Nation’s social, economic, and
political institutions., Restraint of trade tends to undermine the principles of free
enterprise that the antitrust laws are intended to protect.”

The New York Times, editorializing about this last point on July 20, 1975, con-
cluded that illegal business payments lead to *‘the present atmosphere of public
cynicism and distrust toward business . . . if it is permitted to continue, [it]
could in the end be the death of the free enterprise system, . . . Business’s own
conduct will in large part determine the outcome.” . )

Finally, there is the political toll of business violations. Kickbacks and bribes
abroad can distort foreign national priorvities to accommodate American com-
panies. As Senator Frank Church commented to a Lockheed official in hearings
before his Multinational Subcommittee, “If you base your sales on payoffs to
government officials and make them rich, then you force these governments in
the direction of military purchases, when other purchases might be far more
beneficial to them and to their people.” And domestically, one can .only guess
how policy has been perverted as a result of political bribes and payoffs. But
what was the purpose of all that Gulf cash in blank envelopes if not to shape,
or misshape, legislation in in its favor? Here, the line hetween an outright bribe
to fix a congressman’s vote and an illegal contribution is thin, if not non-existent.

Many of these costs of corporate crime, however, are often invisible to the
public’s eye. There are no burned out buildings or rioters to flash on the evening
news. This comparative lack of visible drama has misled even some experis.
Harvard professor James Q. Wilson disparages the importance of white collar
crime, “Unlike predatory street crime,” these economic violations don't make
“difficult or impossible the maintenance of basiec human communities.” Which
¢onfirms Nicholas Murray Butler's observation that “An expert is one who knows
more and more about less and less.” True, a citizen would prefer to be illegally
overcharged than mugged, but he or she would undoubtedly also prefer to be
mugged than to ingest a carcinogen or be given a drug whose adverse reaction
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shortens his ox her life. The issue, however, should not be a battle of hiypotheticals.
Whatever the damage caused by street griminals, suite eriminals exact a substan-
tial tribute from gociety. 'Lhe latter, exploiting the faith people have in business
leaders, violates our frust—and hence inspixes mistrust. “If the word ‘subversive’
vefers to efforts to make fundamental changes in 2 social system,” socinlogist
Edwin Sutherland wrote in his 1949 classic White Collar Crime, “the business
leaders ave the most subversive influence in the United States.”

Tederal agencies seem o agree morp with Wilson than Sutherland. Perhaps
because of the lack of public outrage over the invisible or untocused tolls of cor~
porate crime, federal law enforcers have made business crime a low priority. In
a November, 1975 report, Paul J, Curran, the outgoing U.S. Attorney for the
Southern District of New York, complained that “Bxcept for the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the Internal Revenue Service, which operate in fairly
narrow areas, the federal agencies responsible for investigating these [white
collar erime] cases are simply not doing the job,” Until the creation of the Water-
gate Special Prosecufor, the Justice Department had almost never moved against
illegal business contributions to political figures, At present, there is not even a
yeporting category for business crime in the FBI's detailed annual compendium,
“Crime in the United States”—although there are 27 other categories. The hun-~
dreds of millions spent on local law enforcement by the Law Enforcement Assist-
ance Administration goes largely for more armaments and equipment to fight
street erime-—with a barely traceable amount applied to white collar crime, The
Defense Department has for years tolerated or winked at foreign bribes; its re-
cently disclosed memorandum, “Agents’ Fees in the Middle East,” acknowledges
the existence of agents fees, a euphemism for bribes, of at least four to six per-
cent on arms contracts.

The recent avalanche of disclosed corporate crime was sef off by small, flukish
rocks. For example, Common Cause successfully sued to get CREIIP's list of pre-
April 15, 1972 donors, some of whom had illegally contributed corporate funds;
a Watergate Special Progecutor, created because of a bizarre and mauffed burglary,
sought and obtained the kind of convictions its parent department had shunned;
El Black, the chairman of United Brands, leapt 44 sfories to his death-—in-
spiring investigations which led to foreign bribes by his company and others.

The exposure of corporate crinie must rest on more than the confluence of such
coinecidental events, And the way to deter such violations reguires more than the
existing insubstantial penalties. Fines imposed by judges in antitrust cases almost
invariably are ingignificant compared to the amounts illegally garnered. The SEC
and Antitrust Division often conclude their cases with consent decrees by which
defendants deny they violated the law but promise to obey it in the future—
an obligation they presumably labored under before the decree. Since the com-
unies recently prosecufed for illegal contributions paid an average fine of $7,000,
and earned an average $77,000 a minute, it took each about six seconds to pay
their debt to society. A survey by New York Times reporter. Michael Jensen
found that “most of the 21 business executives who admitted ‘their guilt to the
Watergate Special Prosecutor in 1973 and 1974—especially those from large cor-
porations—are still presiding over their compauies, . . . Ounly two went to jail.
They served a few months and were freed. DMost are still ensconced in their
paneled corporate offices with platoons of lawyers and public relations men at
their disposal.”

With these failures in mind, and program of sanction and deterrence must
appreciate the two special qualities of corporate crime. First, unlike the tempes-
tuous and murderous spouse or the impoverished and desperate mugger, suite
erimingals are sophisticated and deliberative businessmen who engage in crime
after carvefully ealculating the benefits and costs. And second, as law professor
Christopher Stone has written in Where the Law Ends, “we have arrdanged
things so that the people who call the shots do not have to bear the full risks”;
i.e, it is difficult to pinpoint and punish individual violations within that collec-
tive body called the corporation,

It the likelibood of personally getting eaught and the penalties for gelting
caught ave sufficiently great, potential business law-violators should be able fo
literally calculate that crime doesn’t pay. If otherwise, profit-obsessed business-
nien may consider illegality a very logical option. The following pyoposals_can
help ensure that the potential costs of corporate crime outweigh its perceived
benefits:

Ideally, 'the Justice Department should create a separate Division on Corporate
Crime, This Division should be delegated authority to investigate and prosecute
o wide range of business crimes, from mail fraud to regulatory ¢ifenses to the
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illegal distribution of political contributions or bribes, here or abroad, by cor-
porate officers or their agents. (Antitrust enforcemnt would remain within the
Antitrust Division.) The complexity and pervasiveness of corporate crime, as
well as the ingenuity of its perpetrators, justify that the Justice Department
create o special division to focus on this area—rather than deal with it piecemeal,
if at all, The Assistant Attorney General in charge of the Corporate Crime Divi-
sion (AAG) would be nominated by the President, subject to confirmation by the
Congress. T'o insulate the Division from the kind of political pressures that could
engulf aud eviscerate it, the AAG should not be a member of the President’s
party and he or she should not have run for public office within the past six
years.

It should be evident that foreign bribes are an “unfair trade practice” under
the Federal 'rade Commission Act. But since it is not to many observors, federal
law should make explicit the illegality of such behavior, New legislation should
clearly prohibit the collection of 4 fund for making Dbribes to foreign agents,
officials or political figures,

Given the vealify that our prisons are places of cruelty and breeding grounds
for recidivism, serving time does not often lead to rehabilifation. Still, it is
discriminating to send piclk-pockets and check-bouncers to prison but not con-
vieted businessmen. One survey indicated that 16 percent of those guilty of
securities fraud actually go to jail while 71 percent of those convicted of auto
theft do. Tn the first 82 years of the Sherman Act, which is both eivil and
criminal, there were only four instances when businessmen actually went to
jail for their criminal violations; in hundreds of other cases, sentences were
suspended. The lnw must punish violators equitably, not according to their rank
in. society. The threat of incarceration may be the most powerful deterrent to
middle and upper class business managers—as the Antitrust Division came to
appreciate immediately after the imprisonment of several executives in the 1961
electrical equipment cases.

So that punishment falls on those individuals responsible, corporate officers
convieted of willful corporate-related violations should be disqualified from
serving as a corporate officer or director in any American corporation or partuer-
ship for five years after o conviefion, guilty plea or nolo contendere plea. This is
only logical. One does not re-employ an embezzler as a bank teller, Union officialy
under the Landrum-Griffin Act and broker-dealers under securities laws can Le
similarly suspended for pertinent violations. There are many positions available
in a company for such a corporate law violator other than management or the
board, which are peculiarly positions of trust.

Fines should be calibrated to the size of the firm and the “size” of the viola-
tion, Business crime has its own cost curve, If companies are punished with
penalties which are the equivalent of wrist slaps, the resulf is predictable, If we
make the cost of a convietion sufficientlv high, it should discourage many viola-
tions which now are profitable to pursue. And a violation by GM—given the
firm’s vesources and impact—should not be penalized the same as if by Mrs,
Smith's Pie (Fortune's 833rd industrial firm). Instead of absolute fines, there
would be percentage fines based on gross sales—so the fine would fit the crime.

This approach has some modest precedent. Judge William . Mulligan fined
IBM for failure to produce documents in the Justice Department’s current
antitrnst proceeding. He analyzed the size and resources of IBM and then
settled on a fine of $150,000 a day——one appropriate to IBM but not a small
firm or a street-waller. His decision acknowledged the need to gradate fines
to get a response from business, rather than employing the equivalent of a
corporate traflic ticket. In common market nations such as West Germany, anti-
trust and other laws now impose fines on the basis of a percentage of the gross
annual sales or profits of the firm, rather than in stated dollar amounts which
have progressively less sting the greater size of a firm.

‘There is also the problem of how to deal with corporations which repeatedly
violate the law. In addition to percentage fines, penalties for a particular law
violation should increase for corporate recidivists—since by definition the -com-
pany has not been successfully deterred. For example, if a firm violated the
Sherman Act or aunti-bribery statute three times in three years, the percentage
fine for its third offense would be greater than for its first offense.

Defendants in cases of corporate wrong-doing are often enjoined from future
violations, but are almost never required to pay restitution. Shareholder suits
may seelk and obtain restitution, though this does not invariably occur. Ideally,
agencies like the SBC and Justice Department, as a part of any relief, should
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insist on restitution being made by those culpable to their vietims or their
company,

Autoeratic chief executive oflicers, whose handpicked “inside directors” doini-
nate their boards of directors, lack the kind of external accountability that
encourages responsible and lawful decision-making. Instead, boards of divectors
should monitor and oversee executive decision-making, To accomplish this goal,
which was the original concept of the board, requires a full-time board comprised
of “outside” directors. Such uan independent authority should help make execu-
tives think twice before casually approving millions of dollars in illegal pay-
ments to foreign agents.

Company indemnification and insurance plans often provide for reimbursement
to officials who plead “nolo contendere” in criminal cases or who are found
liable in, or agree to settle, 4 civil lawsuit—if they thought they were acting “in
the hest interests of the company.” These cushions againgt personal account-
ability for illegality contribute to the managerial feeling of being above the law.
So that responsible businessmen feel the sting of personal sanciions, such pro-
visions should be prohibited.

Finally, this committee could perform a valuable function by advocating that
federal agencies maintain and release regnlar compliance reports. The public
may oceasionally learn of a regulatory violation by a company, but nowhere is
there o systematie report on the level of violations and resources in particular
areas. I'or example, & compliance report could contain the following: the laws
enforced by the agencey, the resources given it, and the remedies available to
it—e.g., recall, repair, fines, warning letters, referrals tv Justice for prosecution,
ete.; a list by company of each violation established and the corrective action
requived and taken; a statement of what additional tools are needed—e.g.,
subpoeua power, increased penalties, more statutory authority, increased staft—
for the agency to perform its mission adeguately; an analysis of priorities for
compliance activities and how they are determined; an analysis of the cost to
citizeny and the economy of the level of violations uncovered and the cost of the
level of estimated violntions. :

With such information altogether in one repoxt, federal regulators and their
congressional monitors can better appreciate the costs of regulatory violation
and better deter them, As in g0 many other aveas of government regulation over
business, knowledge is power,

Chairman Proxnmire. Thank you very much, Mr, Nader, for a re~
markable statement, and a most helpful and thoughtful statement.

There are a number of parts of your statement which are useful.
Nobody else has given us anything like an estimate of how prevalent
this kind on corporate abuse of power is. You go into considerable de-
tail in indicating a number of hard bits of evidence to suggest it is
quite prevalent.

And also I thought it was most helpful to eall to our attention the
fact that we have on the books a provision which the outgoing Chair-
man of the Federal Trade Commission says could be used right now,
and it has not been used ever to my knowledge, to proseribe any kind
of unethical conduct. It didn’t occur to me, for instance, when Mr.
Honghton was up before us, and admitted that they had engnged in
this practice, that this FTC power could have beew used at that time.

Mr., Naprr. It is so important because it deals right with the problem
of bad business driving out good business, when 1t becomes an unfair
trade practice, and it protects the honest businessman.

Chairman Prox»ure. I am happy to gel a number of your recom-
mendations. They are all very helpful. The compliance report, I think,
is something that we can follow up on, too, that would be most useful.

I would like to ask you a couple of things before I get into your ree-
ommendations. First, L had a call yesterday after the hearings from a
man who told me that he refused to pay a bribe to an official in a for-
eign country. He had a moderate-sized business. And they were very
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dependent on the business they got in that country. And as a result of
refusing to pay the bribe, they lost that business, and it had a very,
very serious effect on their operations.

1 think that this is a common coinplaint on the part of businessmen
who say, well, it is fine to have this theory, we Iknow that the morals
and the ethics ave all against us, but we like in a hard, cruel world, we
have to make a living. If we don’t bribe, we are going to suffer a big
loss. What would be your answer to that? .

Incidentally, this man wants to testify before this committee. And
we are going to have him before us, because I think that lind of view-
point should be expressed and challenged and discussed. What would
be your answer?

Mr. Naper. First of all, once bribes are made they involve the com-
pany in further extortionate demands. They involve the company in
succumbing to temptations to further illegal activities, because once
tainted they tend to lower their guard. And it subjects the company
to the risk of the consequences of any coup d’etat or change of govern-
ment. So from a long-range viewpoint it can be a very, very short-
sighted practice.

Second of all, if the company refuses to pay the bribe and not do
business in that country, it ought to make sure it is publicized. Some-
times when it is publicized there are changes made in that country,
or other companies can rally around that kind of refusal to deal. There
is just never any percentage for succumbing to that kind of——

Chairman Proxmire. ow about their going to the State Depart-
ment, what kind of attitude and action could the State Department
talce that would be helpful under these circumstances?

My, Napzr. The State Department, for example, could lead in the
establishment of a public code adhered to by all these companies from
Japan, Western Europe, the United States, and other countries around
the world, that they would not engage in such payoffs. Now, that is
not very self-enforcing. But at least it gives comfort to the pioneers in
these corporate arenas to want to do it right, and that is, if it is true
that many of these companies bribe because the other fellow is bribing,
if they all get together and publiely state that they are not going to
succumb to those activities, & reversal of that process may occur.

Chairman Proxare. Yesterday we had testimony from the Chair-
man of the Securities and Exchange Commission. And they proposed
that we rely very heavily on a policy which they ave following now.
In the case of five of the nine companies that they are prosecuting, five
of them which got consent decrees, they have called for a kind of in-
ternal self-discipline. They have asked for directors and officers who
were not involved in bribery to move in and to take over and to make
sure that they developed policies that would prevent this, and make
reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The particular
example Chairman Hills gave, Gulf, John McCloy—he is a man of
great integrity, and highly respected, and he apparently has been re-
sponsible for very effective action by that corporation.

I am very interested in this. I think it is a practical approach.
Because it is obvious that we cannot develop, or probably would not
develop, the kind of staff personnel in the SIEC or the Justice Depart-
ment to act in all these cases. It relies on business to do the job it
should have been doing anyway.
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At the same time I am disturbed about the weakness in this pro-
posal, because it relies on people taking care of themselves, which i
a very tough thing to do. Occasionally you get a John McCloy, a
tough fellow, who has the prestige and the power and the will to act.
But it is so unusual that it may be kind of a weak reed to rely on.
What do you think?

M. Naper. Mr. Green will reply to that.

Mr. GreeN. As we have seen in the last day, the results of an internal
report ean be very dramatic. Bob Dorsey resigned from Gulf as a,
result of a report. But I have always heen reluctant to depend on the
voluntary virtue of companies who have admitted to crimes to ve-
form themselves. When I recently conducted some interviews at the
SEC on these issnes, the stafl and the oflicials acknowledged that the
reason for these subsequent reports as part of the consent decree was
to save them staff time. And they feel very stretched now because of
inadequate staff as it is.

I would like to go much further and require as & part of a consent
decres not merely that they promise never to do it again—as we
pointed out, presumably they knew that before they agreed to a cou-
sent deeree—but to require vestitution to inhocent vietims or the com-
pany itself, to require the kind of continual reporting that will more
routinely disclose illegal bribes and political offers in this country,
rather than have it oceur exceptionally after something as unusual as
a Common Cause lawsuit to get CREEP’s list, and Watergate and
the Special Prosecutor’s office, which are so unique that ther are
hardly the kind of reeds you want to depend on.

So I think if we agree to the SEC’s complaints, the initial reaction
of Congress could be to assess how much more personnel do they need
to systematically oversee the companies which may be bribing abroad
or paying off at home. But without that additional staff they are
going to have to rely cn the companies themselves, which I think
could ultimately be self-defeating.

Chairman Proxare. Mr. Nader, I would like to ask you or Mr.
Green-—we just had the GAO testify before us, and I would like to
ask you how they might better serve Congress in their area of corpo-
rate excesses. Do either one of you gentlemen have any suggestions
on what GAO can do to keep Congress better informed and better
ablo to conduct its investigations in order to legislate?

Mr. Naner. Yes; I think first of all the GAO has tended to be wenk
in its recommendation of compliance systems that could be legislated
by Congress for these agencies to adhere to. It is simply not enough
to report on the abuses and make the kinds of recommendations that
aren’t going to make much difference. There has to be an agency com-
pliance reporting system that will alert Congress when agency inac-
tion over the years leads to the fostering and the proliferation of these
kinds of illegalities by private corporations. ~

That is one very, very important measure that the GAO could do,
to work on a system of compliance to submit to the Congress which
would involve effective reporting measures every year.

Chairman Proxaire. Mr. Ronsselot.

Mr. Rousseror. You have both mentioned continual reporting as
one way to prevent this. And yet you mention that it might not be
done on a voluntary basis. How could this be achieved ?
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Mr. Greex. If you had as part of a law, for example, increased
corporate disclosure, or as a section of a Federal chartering act that
companies regularly release this kind of information—and suppose
they don’t, because they don't want to admit their guilt, that they
have been paying off the agents for commercial purposes, then you
can build into that law very strict sanctions, so that if they do violate
it, they pay for it in a way that will deter them. Right now, as was
indicated in the testimony, the penalty, for example, for illegal politi-
cal contributions is so small that it takes the average firm € seconds
to pay off their penalty. Obviously that is not a deterrent. And it pays
to pay off with such poor law enforcement and sanctions. But if, for
example, you penalize the company 5 percent of the gross annual sales
if they violate a serious provision of disclosure law like that, then they
can make a very obvious cost-benefit judgment, and they are sophisti-
cated men that can do that, and they won’t engage in that activity.

Mr. Naver. I might add, Mr. Chairman, appropos your GAO ques-
tion, a fascinating study by GAO would be to survey its own recom-
mendations, its own multiple reports over the years to see whether
these recommendations have been adopted, a kind of followup on its
.own reports, a GAQ report on requiring GAO reports. And I think
when you commit them to that kind of review of their own findings
and recommendations, perhaps they can be even more encouraged to
come up with the reforms that you seem to be looking for and that
we arve all looking for. If you go back over 10 years and look througlh
some of these GAO reports and just flip over to the recommendations
section, I wonder what has happened in the last few years, you would
be compelled to make a very pervasive probe into why these agencies
are not structured to respond to these recommendations—many of
which are accepted in the report by the agency that is subject to the

-GAQO review in the first place.

Mr. Roussenor. Now, do you believe we should have the same sur-
veillance of labor organizations to protect their members, too?

Mz, Naber., Yes; certainly. In fact, the situation in some of the
pension funds and othe: great institutionalized illegalities raise the
point as to whether these labor laws are at all enforced by the Depart-
ment of Labor particularly.

Mr. Rowusseror. I was interested, Mr. Nader, in your comment
about—I have forgotten the exact page—but in your testimony as to
the need for more concern for the kind of directors that we have in
corporations. That is easy to tallk about, but in a practical matter of
getting ones appointed that “represent the public view,” how do you
go about that when it is a private corporation? And it is pretty diffi-
cult to achieve that by law, don’t you think ?

Mz, Naver. In our Federal charter report that will be out next weelk
we address ourselves to that very question. And the recommendations
we make ave first that there be full-time directors. This is a full-time
job. When you are on the board of directors of Lockheed or Northrop
or General Motors, that is at the very least a full-time job. It is not
something that you should consider going to once a month or once
every 2 months along with your 10 other director posts and along
with your otlher full-time job as an officer of a bank.

Second, we call for the establishment of cumulative voting, so that
shareholders need not succrunb to the lowest common denominator,
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and groups of shareholders who ave keen on one area of the corporate
performance, such as environment or labov relations or efficiency, can
focus on that. Some States do permit cumulative voting. But many of
the giant corporations go to Delaware, wheve, needless to say, cumula-
tive voting is not encouraged. ’

We are also recommending that there be more information released
so that people can know what this corporation is doing to their lives
and to their interests as a prerequisite of making them not only more
interested in that corporation’s behavior, but alse encouraging divec-
tors to respond to these kinds of situations.

Mr. Green. Also the board would be a fully outside board of direc-
tors. As we read today in the newspapers, the inside directors at Gulf,
who had been selected by Bob Dorsey, wanted him to stay. It was only
becanse of the préssure of the outside divectors, who were not hand-
picked by the chairman, that he eventually had to leave. And with that
kind of outside directorate the board would finally become an inde-
pendent monitor and overseer of executive activity, where when it is
stacked with inside directors it can’t be.

Mr. Rousseror. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Prox»ure. My, Nader, there have been suggestions that
Congress create a special prosecutor, independent of the Justice De-
partment, to handle this problem. How do you renct to that?

Mpr. Napgr. I think there should be a special prosecutor as & perma-
nent office in the Federal executive establishment, subject to the kinds
of conditions that would prohibit any kind of runaway activity or any
abuse of civil vights and liberties.

Chairman Proxyrre. And you would have it outside the Justice
Department?

Mr. Naper. Yes; I would. As long as the Justice Department is a
Presidential appointee, removabie without cause, I find it difficult to
see how acceptable priorities can be divected toward prasecuting these
corporate crimes, and parvticularly these corporate crimes involved in
political activity.

Chairman Proxarme. The same sort of status as the Watergate
prosecutor?

My, Naper. Yes; although that was deemed to be temporary, so per-
haps it needs to be more permanent.

Chairman Proxmire. Can you tell us whether the Federal charter-
ing post would be helpful in controlling corporate views?

My, Naper, Obviously we are devoting 600 pages to saying yes to
that guestion. Briefly, most of the giant corporations in this country,
ITT, GM, Ford, Chrysler, the First National City Bank Holding Co.,
ave chartered in Delaware. It is for a simple reason. Delaware makes
it very easy for them to do what they want vis-a-vis sharecholders and
vis-a-vis other matters. We think it is more anachronistic, given the
fact that these giant corporations operate in 50 or 100 countries around
the world, not to mention their operations nationally. Indeed, Dela-
ware chartering was considered anachronistic back in the early 1900’
when Presidents Teddy Roogevelt and Taft came out for Federal
chartering. We think that the Federal chartering approach would
strengthen the rights of shareholders, make the board of directors more
effective and vesponsive, require more disclosure of information as a
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preemptive factor to foresee and forestall problems and abuses, develop
more effective sanctions under the law, and in effect create some rights
in the community of interests, consumer, labor, shareholders, neigh-
bors, that are often victimized by corporations without having any rem-
edies whatsoever. And in particular, the Hopewell, Va. situation, where
the pesticide Kepone isa perfect example, people living in the area, not
the shareholders, not the consumers, have been very severely affected in
terms of their health and the health of their children, and there is very
little that they could have done about it to prevent it. It is not only to
try to get compensation, for damage already existing, but to try to de-
velop a process where these kinds of situations can be prevented.
Chairman Proxaire. Barlier we heard from the General Accounting
Office a series of cases referred to Justice since 1978 involving appar-
ent; Iickbacks and other violations of the law. Justice dropped every
case. Nothing was done, and we are in the dark as to why. Yesterday
we had the appearance of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
and they were unable to indicate aiy of the cases they brought—and
they have brought a number—in which Justice has taken any action
at all. Do you think it might be useful to require that the Justice De-
partment make a full report to their veferring agencios in such cases
so that we can determine whether that action was justified ?
Mr. Naper. Exactly. When an agency in the Government thinks it is
serious enough to refer a violation or a suspected violation to the Jus-
tice Department, that agency is entitled to something more than indif-
ference and silence on the part of the Justice Department, it is entitled
either ot action or an-explanation as to why no action was taken.
Chairman Proxaare. By the way, to correct an impression that may
be created by your statement in your reference to the Pentagon memo on
agents’ feeg in the Middle East. Bribes and payoffs, and political con-
tributions have been made in other countries and other parts of the
world, in Latin America, Canada, South Korea, Western Germany and
Italy and elsewhere. The practice isn’t limited to the Arab countries, in-
deed much of it is on right here at home, is that correct?
Mr. Naper. That is correct. But the Pentagon has not seen fit to
put out a report on such procurement abuses in Formosa or Latin
America. Perhaps they should put out a series of regional reports.
Chairman Proxmire. Then of course the procurement abuses we
learned about this morning from the General Accounting Oflice were
entirely domestic. ‘ :
Mr. Naper. That is where it starts.
Chairman Proxame: I want to thank you very much, gentlemen.
Do you have any more guestions ?
Mr. RowsseroT. No.
; Chairman Proxaare. I would like to summarize the hearings thus
ar. :
They have established several important facts, First, the problem of
abuse of corporate power is much more serious than most people
understand. It involves a growing list of major firms in many sectors
of tﬁ{a economy operating in the United States and throughout the
world. :

And second, the Federal Government’s response has been mixed,
and less than wholehearted. :
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One small independent agency, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, has done most of the work. But SEC has limited resources and
local authority. The staff of its enforcement division totals 400, 200
here and 200 in the field, less than some of the law firms which serve the
powerful corporations., Most important of all in my view, they don't
have the power to do anything in the way of penalties, they can’ even
slap wrists, or impose a few thousand dollars fine, all they can do is
to take civil action and ask them fo desist, not secure the assurance
that they will. ‘

Third, Congress has not done enough to investigate abuses. And
we are not frankly, in a position to do much.

Our investigative arm, the GAQ, by its own admission, is not set
up or equipped or authorized to investigate the kind of illegal and
improper actions that we have been discussing.

Inote that the Agrienltural Department has launched a new investi-
gation of the food stamp program. I don’t belittle the investigation
or other efforts to expose welfare cheaters. But there seems to be a
reluctance on the part of most agencies to go after powerful corporate
wrongdoers and to take meaningful action once wrongdoing is
identified.

In a sense this reluctance is as significant as the corporate abuses
themselves. It remains to be seer: whether this attitude will change
in the executive branch and in the Congress.

Additional hearings on this subject will be announced in the
future.

QOncee again, thank you very much, gentlemen, for your appearance.
The subcommittee will stand adjourned, subject to the call of the
Chair.

[Whereupon, at 12:18 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, subject
to the call of the Chair.]
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OreNING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN PROXMIRE

Chairman Proxacre. The subcommittee will come to order.

A number of persons have said, in response to discolsures of bribes
-and other improper payments by American business firms, that it is
unrealistic to expect to compete successfully in foreign countries with-
out going along with the bribery system.

So far congressional hearings have focused on the bribes that have
been uncovered. The issue of whether American business can survive
abroad if it adopts a no-payoffs policy and the position that the T.S.
‘Government should adopt, has not been explored. This hearing will
focus on that hidden dimension of the problem.

Following a hearing I conducted in August on the subject of Lock-
heed bribes, I asked my staff to check into the assertion that it was
necessary to make payoffs in foreign countries and everyone did so.

‘Two large aerospace firms were asked to state publicly that they did
not engage in bribery.

Whether the two firms had made payoffs was not known. T assumed
they had not. Neither firm agreed to make a statement. Since our

-initial contact, one of the firms has admitted making payments to
foreign officials and the other is under investigation by the SEC.

Nevertheless, I believe that there are many businessmen who do not
pay bribes—Ithink a great majority of the corporations probably do
not pay bribes—and cannot be shaken down and who act according

-to striet legal principles whether engaged in business in foreign coun-
“tries ov at home.

Today’s testimony will show how two honest and responsible busi-
nessmen refused to become part of the bribery system and the conse-
-quences for their firm, Translinear, Inc.
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It was disclosed last year that the Pentagon has actually been tutor-
ing its contractors on how to malke foreign payoffs.

More recently documents were uncovered showing that the Pentagon
is so zealously pushing arms sales that the cost of its own procurement
for the U.S. armed services have been adversely influenced.

Bribery flourishes in this kind of environment. Among the ques-
tions we will pursue today and tomorrow is where the State Depart-
ment stands in this regard. .

I am pleased to welcome as our two witnesses this morning William
H. Crook and William R. Carden.

Mr. Crook has had a distinguished career in public service and
private life. From 1965 through 1970 he served as Director of VISTA,
Assistant Director of OEQ, member of the United States-Mexico
Border Development Commission, and U.S. Ambassador to Australia.

Mr. Carden has a masters’ degree in history from Baylor University,
a Ph. D. from Emory University and has taught classes in Russian
studies and Eurcpean history in both schools. He served as assistant
to the president at Baylor University, was executive vice president of
a Texas publishing company and is the author of numerous articles
and research studies. :

Gentlemen, before you begin, I would like to read a brief note which
I received this morning from Senator Bentsen of Texas who writes:

I regret that prior commitments in Texas have prevented my being present
today to introduce my 0ld friend and highly respected colleague, the former Am-
basstidor to Australia, Bill Crook of San Markoes, Tex. His firm’s experience with
Toreign governments have been interesting ones and I commend you and the
Joint Beonomie Committee for inviting him to testify today. Sincerely, Lloyd
Bentsen, .

Gentlemen, I have read your written statement. We are happy to
have Congressman Pickle here this morning. And if Congressman
Pickle would like to make a statement in connection with the two

‘witnesses this morning, we would certainly welcome it.

STATEMENT OF HON. J. J. PICKLE, A U.S. REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE 10TH CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT OF THE
STATE OF TEXAS '

Representative Picxre. I thank you very much. I apologize to you
and the members of the committee for being a few minutes late, I

‘appeared before another committee in the Fouse to introduce one of
my distingnished constituents, Judge Homer Thornberry.

" Mr. Crook comes from a very distinguished family in Texas. He
is an honored graduate of Baylor University. He served as regional
director of the OEQ, the poverty program. He was the National Di-
rector of the VISTA program. He was appointed by President Liyndon
B. Johnson as Ambassador to Australia from the United States, He, at
one time, served as president of the San Markos Baptist Academy. He
is a very distinguished administrator. '

. 1 commend you and the members of this committee for looking
into this question of foreign payoffs. In this day and time when we
are having so many headlines about improprieties practiced by our
business people and questions raised concerning those activities, it
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seems to me that somewhere in our Government we should have a
- way to find equiby and fairness for a businessman who makes legiti-
mate investments in other countries. And I think these are questions
that our Government and State Department cught to look into.

I would simply say to this committee I know the Ambassador is
going to present his own case and his own facts, but this is a matter of
integrity and respect and honor in our State and in our Nation. And
I agl glad you have given him a chance to present his side of these facts
to date,

Chairman Proxmmre. Thank you very, very much, Congressman
Pickle. We are indebted to you for coming to us and giving us this fine
statement about your constituent. I am going to ask Congressman
Long, who is a member of the subcommittee, who has a statement he
would like to give.

Representative Lonve. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to asso-
cinte myself with the remarks made by my friend, My, Pickle, T have
had the opportunity of knowing Ambassador Crooks since his early
OLEO days. I was assistant director and he was regional director
down in the Southwestern part of the United States. He did an out-
standing job for OEO in that capacity. And I want to welcome you
here, Ambassador, and tell you that it is a pleasure to have you here.
I want to again say that a,iyl of the good things that have been said
about you by our friend, J. J. Pickle, that I heartily concur in them.

Chairman Proxarme. Thank you very much.

Well, gentlemen, this is a very, very interesting story you have to
tell us here today. It is one that I think goes right to the heart of our
problem about what we do about this very unfortunate and damaging
situation that we know that has developed now around the world with
American businesses paying bribes. And your most enlightening revela~
tion that you can tell us about what situation you are in, gentlemen,
when you are pressurized to take that action, will be helpful.

I understand it would be most constructive this morning if we pro-
ceed on the hasis of having My, Carden go. first, Is that correct? All
right, sir, Mr. Carden, then we will be happy ot have you give your
statement and then we will hear from Mr. Crook and have questions.

STATEMEI\TT 0F WILLIAW E., CARDEN, PRESIDENT,
TRANSLINEAR, ING,

Mr. Canorn, The officers, board of directors, and stockholders of
Translinear, Inc., wish to thank the distinguished members of this
comynittee for the gracious invitation to appear here today. In par-
ticular, we want to express our appreciation to you and your staff
for arranging the details of this testimony.

I want the members of the committee te know that 4 years and $3
million ago we had no idea that 1 day we would be in Washington,
D.C. testifying before a joint congressional committee on the issue of
bringing charges against a foreign country—charges of expropria-
tion of assets, confiscation of equipment, and attempted bribery and
extortion.

On December 4, 1970, the Republic of Haiti and an American firm,
Dupont Caribbean, Inc., signed a “Convention” or contract which
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provided for a 99-year lease and a free port status in return for the
commercial development. of the Ile de In Tortue (the Island of La
Tortue). This island was discovered by Christopher Columbus on his
first voyage to the United States. This small island of approximately
85 square miles lies off the north coast of Haiti, separated by a channel.
Under the terms of the 1978 Convention, the island was te be governed
by a five-man body, quasi-sovereign, called the Dupont Caribbean Free
Port Authority (DCFPA). _

The convention, modeled after Freeport Bahamas and Hong Kong,
oflicially went into effect on June 5, 1971, when it was published in the
government newspaper “Le Moniteur.,” ]

The Translinear investment partnership, located in Dallas, Tex.,
hecame interested in the development potential of this island and, af-
ter extensive investigation into both the investment climate in Hait1
and into the legality of the convention, the partnership invested heav-
ily in the project. We leased 4.800 acres of land of the 5,200 acres re-
leased by the Haitian State, and we purchased one of the seats on the
five-man free port authority (DCFPA). )

Translinear, Inc. was formed by the partnership as the vehicle for
this investment. An internationally known avchitectural firm, Ifell-
muth, Obata, and Kassabaum (I~0-I), was engaged to prepare a
master development plan. The island was surveyed, mapped from the
air, and a topographical map was created (all of the above for the
first time in history for the -island). In August 1972 construction
barges from the United States landed and on August 10 e began
on implementing the master plan.

Parenthetically, I should say there were approximately 10,000 peo-
ple living on this island and they were living in extreme poverty.
There was no monetary economy whatever on the island. There were
no roads. We think we had probably the only internal combustion en~
gines on that island—in the form of our equipment-—that had been
there in at least 40 years. The arrival of Translinear meant new jobs
and new skills to a host of people that were living in poverty. We kept
the Haitian Government fully informed at all points, and we veceived
their approval for all the work that was being done.

I don’t mean to imply that this work proceeded without interrup-
tion and that there were not delays, Both the Haitian state and Trans-
lear, Inc. faced trouble with the tacties and attitude of the original
concessionaire of the project, Dupont Caribbean, Ine. During the sum-
mer and fall of 1972, there had been no meetings called of the Dupont
Caribbean Free Port Authority and, therefore, the administrative de~
velopment of the island was falling far behind the physical construc-~
tion work that we were doing there.

Even a casual observer could see that break was near between Haiti
and DCT unless some pattern of activity was changed on the part of
DCI. As a third party, holding contractual development rights to a
free port in a 99-year lease, Translinear was quite concerned about its
%og&tion should any break develop between the Republic of Haiti and

However, I want to stress that even before the Haitian Govern-
ment did decide to bring charges against DCI, that Translinear was
assured on several occasions at ministerial level that our rights would
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be protected regardless of what happened to DCI. This assurance was-
given by Minister of Interior Cambronne, later Minister of Interior
LaTontant, Minister of Finance Francisque, and by the Director of
the National Bank, Mr. Antonio Andre; plus we received this assuc-
ance in countless conversations with minor Haitian officials.

On February 28, 1973, our own Ilaitian attorney, Mr. Jean Claude
Leger, was called to the office of the Finance Minister, He was told
that the Haitian Government was in fact planning to bring charges
against Dupont Caribbean and that these charges would mean, if they
were successful, that the contract would be canceled, Minister Fran-
cisque, however, continued to assure our attorney that the Translinear
rights would in no case be violated and he urged our attorney to be
present in the court on Mareh 8§ when the charges were brought so-
that he could read a statement for Translinear into the record. This,
in faet, was done.

On Friday, March 23, 1978, two Haitian ministers, the Ministers of
Finance and of Justice, and a government attorney, Mr. Jeanty, who
is now a Minister of Justice, came to Tortue Island to stop all activity
there until the court could decide what to do about DCI. I was present
on the island on that Friday and was told by these Haitian officials
that we would be back at work the following Monday. Minister Fran-
cisque profusely praised the quality of the work that Translinear had
done and repeated several times that any quarrel that Haiti had was.
with Dupont Caribbean, Inc. and not with Translinear. He again re-
peated this to me when we met each other on our return to the main-
land from the island. At the time the work was stopped, Translinear
had completed some 20 kilometers of roads. We hud done the engi-
neering and survey work for a major airport, a dock, new hotels, and
utilities for the island. And when the work was stopped, some 2350
Haitians that had been without work before Translinear came to the
island, were suddenly out of work.

Being assured of and believing in the promise that the work stop
page was only temporary, we left the island on Friday, expecting to
return to work the following Monday. Much of the construction equip-
ment was left in the field. The support van was full of supplies that
later spoiled, and countless maps, plans and engineering drawings
were left in the office trailer. As events developed, however, Trans-
linear was never allowed to resume work on the island. .

At the beginning, we were told “Be patient, be patient, be patient,
have faith in the government and soon you will be back to work.” But
days passed into weeks and months. I made frequent trips to ITaiti in
fruitless attempts to gain clarificntion of this situation. In every min-
ister’s office to which I went, I was always politely received and was.
always assured that the government was inferested in our rights and
that soon we would be back to work on the island.

Gradually, however, a new verse was added to this song: That
Translinear could not resume its work until Haiti completed its trial
with DCIL On August 27, 1973, the trial was completed and the verdict
was in favor of the Haitian Government and the original contract
with DCI was now canceled. Hlowever, and this is very important, the
French civil law system provided for a cancellation and not a rescind-
ing of the contract. This meant that all rights in existence up to that
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point were still in existence. Thus, the rights of third-parties, by
Ilaitian civil law, were still to be protected.

We were privately told at the ministerial level that it would only
be a matter of days now before activities would resume on the island.
There was even some speculation by some ministers to whom I talked
that the new relationship between, fHaiti and Translinear might be in
the form of a joint venture, whereby Haiti would take DCI’s place in
the contract.

On November 15, 1973, the Minister of Commerce, Serge Fourcand,
gave me a letter stating that the Haitian State wished to continue the
project and that the President of Haiti had instructed him to ask
Translinear for a new contract for the development of Tortue Island.

Using some of the finest legal services available anywhere in the
United States, we prepared a new contract, asking for no other rights
than the rights we had enjoyed in the first contract: 4,800 acres of
land in a free port status for 99 years. Translinear guaranteed to the
Republic of Haiti, a minimum investment in this island of $15 million
within the next 5 years in an area of only 4,800 acres. And most im-
portant, we offered to split the profits of this venture 50-50 with the
Iaitian Government.

During the next 18 months, we were subjected to an unbelievable
series of shuffles and delays. The original contract we amended many
times at their request and they made no suggestion of change or
amendment to which we did not agree. I made frequent trips to Haiti,
often for no purpose. Often after I arrived in Iaiti, a Minister fre-
quently would say, “TVe need to reset this appointment 10 days, 2 wecks,
or 3 weeks later” with the promise that with patience, with faith,
that our problems would be solved. I kept the American Fmbassy in
ITaiti fully informed of all the discussions that I had with the Re-
public of Iaiti. And the only counsel that they were ever able to offer
was to be patient. »

In April of 1974, T was informed that Translinear, Inc. could no
longer fly to Tortue Island—even for purposes of maintenance, inspec-
tion or to meet our small payroll of security guards there watching
the equipment. When I suggested the possibility of sailing to the
island rather than flying to the island, if flying was some problem,
I was told that if we attempted to do so, our hoat would “be blown
out of the water.”

In May, 1974, the U.S. Embassy assured me that we now had per-
mission to go to the island, if we would request permission 24 hours
in advance. When this was attempted, it turned out not to be true.
We made dozens of requests and in the next 18 months, Translinear
was only able to fly to the island two times: Once on an official inspec-
tion trip and once merely to drop a small payroll,

Just as disturbing to me as the restrictions on flight to Tortue
Island were new suggestions by the involved Ministers that Trans-
linear now had no rights at all in Haiti—merely the right of hoping
that we might obtain a new contract.

But then, suddenly, in March of 1975, it appeared that we were
making progress toward a new contract. I was in Haiti March and
April. Early on the morning of April 15, I was telephoned at my hotel
by a Translinear employee and asked to stop at his house, When I
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arrived at his home at about 8 o’clock in the mornin% I found the
employee quite frightened. He was in tears. I was to d that he was
instructed to get me to his hounse and to wait there for further
instructions. While he was relating this, a telephone call came sum-
moning us in separate cars to come to a small square in Petionville,
which is a suburb of Port-au-Prince. I sat alone in my car, where I
was joined by an individual who closely resembled a Hollywood grade
B gangster, even down to the details of reflective sunglasses, like those
that had formerly been worn in Haiti by the infamous Ton-Ton
Macoutes. , ,

Speaking in English, he refused to tell me his name, and began to
speak in a contemptuous manner of Translinear’s long efforts to obtain
this new contract. He purported to be a member of the government
and promised that Translinear would receive no contract unless we
agreed to the following conditions: First. We were to fire our highly
respected Iaitian attorney, who had a reputation throughout the
country of refusing to take bribes or make payoffs, and we were to
hire a Mr. Sieyed, who I later discovered was an employee in the
Department of Justice. Second. We were to deposit $500,000 in the
National Bank—

Chairman Proxsrre. That is, he was in the Haitian Department of
Justice? S

Mr. Caroen. That is right, yes.

We were to deposit $500,000 in the National Bank of Haiti.

Third. We were to give yet-to-be-named third parties one-half of
the stock in Translinear, Inc. And.I would say, parenthetically, if
we accepted these first three conditions, it would be an extortion
attempt to gain operating control of an American company.

TFourth. We were to write a letter to the President of Elait1, praising
his administration and promising to begin work—TI should say to re-
sume work on the island in 30 days, if we were granted the contract.

He made additional demands and statements which included the
following: First, We were not to mention this incident to anyone,
particularly to the American Embassy: Second. Unless the demands
were agreed to, the project would be shifted from departinent to
department to department and from ministry to minstry to ministry
and from commission to ecmmission until Translinear would finally
give up and leave Haiti, When I reminded him that our contract was
at the point of signature, he challenged this and said the contract
would be moved to another ministry if we did not cooperate. And
this is exactly what happened. He spoke of other American companies
that had grown tired and left, but mentioned a company that had
received a major mineral development contract because they had been
willing to cooperate. Third. He concluded by telling me that there
was another group waiting in the wings if Translinear did not go
along. And we have since discovered, at least to our own satisfaction,
that there is another group waiting in the wings.

When our discussion was over, the employee, who was obviously
frightened to the verge of hysteria, then repeated the man’s demands
to me in order to malke sure that I had understood everything in this
previous conversation. The small, uvnnamed individual then added
that our employee was to be the contact for me with himself and his
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group. When he asked for my answer, I replied that I could not do
anything until I had gone to the American Embassy to discuss the
situation. He was outraged at this and in Creole he threatened our
employee, promising that Translinear would never reccive the contract.
. I immediately drove to the office of our attorney, who expressed an
opinion that the bribery attempt could, in fact, be real and suggested
I immediately report this to the Minister who was working on the
contract. I first returned to the hotel, where Ambassador Crook was
waiting, and discussed the situation with him. We decided that it
would be best, because of his Embassy experience, if he reported the
attempt to the Embassy and that 1, in turn, would go on fo the Minis-
ter’s office, as the attorney had suggested—to Minister Bayard, who
was Under Minister of Commerce, and was handling the contract
negotiation.

The Minister dismissed this incident as meaningless. FTe assured me
that there was no other individual to whom the President had given
any authority to handle these negotiations, and he reassured me that
it was only a matter of days before we would have this elusive con-
tract signed.

Nevertheless, within 2 weeks the contract discussions were shifted
to another Ministry and then shifted again to the Presidential Com-
mission. I continued to receive assurances that the contract was close
to the point of signature. Then, suddenly, out of the blue, in mid-
June our Haitian attorney telephoned me to veport that the Presi-
dential Commission had been abolished ; that there was no information
on the fate of this project or any other project that the Commission
was handling.

We sent telegrams and letters to the appropriate individuals in
ITaiti, and they brought no response or progress. Then, inexplicably, on
October 20, 1975, Minister Bayard wrote a very critical letter to
Translinear. e accused us of trying to usurp the authority of Iaiti
on Tortue Island. I returned to him by hand a clarifying letter, but
discussions did not seem to be going anywhere. Then I was telephoned
in late November of 1975 by a business friend who told me that the
contract would be signed if Translinear would agree to two conditions:
(1) That any dispute between Translinear and Haiti would be sub-
mitted to Haitian courts rather than to international arbitration, and
this T readily agreed to: and (2) Haiti would have to be in charge
of customs and immigration in the island—as had already been written
into the contract. ITowever, upon my arrival in Haiti, I was presented
with an under-the-table demand for $50,000 before any discussions
would take place. When I refused——-

Chairman Proxarrre. Clould you give us a little bit of detail as to
how this $50,000 demand was made, who made it, and so forth? Do
vou have any evidence whether that was a demand from a Govern-
ment emplovee? '

Mr. Caroex, All vight. When T arrived at the international airport
in Faiti, T was met by two business friends who took me to their home
and said that as soon as they made a telephone call to the Minister,
that we would go to his house. The telephone call was made. They
obviously were disturbed. They spoke to each other for a while in
Creole, which I do not understand. And then they told me that there
would have to be a $50,000 payment to the Minister before the con-
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tract would be signed. I demured in this. There was further discussion,
One of them——-

(Jha?irman Proxarme, These were two business acquaintances of
yours

Mr. Caroen. Yes; they are Haitian businessmen, snd I would
prefer, frankly, not to identify them.

Chairman Proxsrre. Well, 1 am not asking you to identify them.
Can you give us any reason wily you would feel that their demand was
legitimate and was the demand of the Haitian Government oflicials?

Mr. CarpeN. Yes, I have known these gentlemen for the 4 years
that I have been going to Haiti. They were very interested in. the
island development and had helped frequently behind the scenes in
our attempt to get the contract. They introduced me to several mem-
bers of the Haitian Government that I had not been able to meet.
They had never done anything in the whole 814 to 4 years that I had
been going to Haiti to make me feel that they were anything but
friendly and interested in the island development. Both of them
wished to lease land on the island and both of them wished to pub
free port businesses on the island. They are very substantial Haitian
men,

After some furtlier conversation, one of them went to the Minister’s
home and returned and said *It is all over.” And then we discussed
some more why $50,000 would stand in the way of the contract, when
there was so much promise to the Haitian State with the signing of
the contract and of future profits that were to be divided Wlﬁ} I~fz°ut1:
One of them went back to the Minister’'s home the next morning a~w
argued and talked supposedly for a couple of hours there and returned
and said, “Itisno use.” ]

Atter I had refused this bribe attempt, no further discussions took
place. I was told by several sources that the Tortue project was now
dead for good. Thus, a project that began with such great hopes and
perhaps misplaced idealism approximately 4 years and $3 million
carlier ended with a whimper and nof a ;ang. During these 4 years,
Translinear officers, employees and agents had made over 150 trips
to Haiti on behalf of this project. I have made 31 myself. ,

In all that time, we never asked for a single thing we did not con-
tract for in 1972. We then paid nearly $1 million for the leasehold
development rights to 4,800 acres of free port land. We have been
refused Jeasehold title to this land, we have been denied access to the
equipment and materials we were forced to leave there., For 3 years,
we have watched the elements destroy the work we did onithe 1sland
and turn nearly one-half million dollars worth of equipment and sup-
plies into rugted wrecks swith little more than salvage value. And, for
3 years, we have been told to have patience and we would receive &
new development contract for Tortue Islind. The reward of our
patience has been two sleazy bribery attempts, continued denial of
leasehold title to the land, and a denial of access to our equipment.

Our conservative feasibility study shows, that if this project had
been allowed to continue as it started, bv July of .197"" it, would have
had a conservative net worth of $27 million. Irordcally, the Republic
of Flaiti would have shared one-half of the profits of this success,

In my last official communication with Haiti in my letter to Minister
Bryard of October 23,1975, I told him that Translinear was not trying
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to force Haitl to compromise any point or principle of sovereignty—
that we were willing to discuss ang compromise on any issue between
us in order that we might both reach the goal of resumption of a prom-
ising joint venture development of Tortue that would be profitable
and beneficial to both parties.

Senator, L am not a wealthy man. I have very little money and very
little stock invested in Translinear. I can honestly and sincerely say
that forthe past 4 years I have invested my life in this project because
I believed in what it could mean for the Republic of Haiti and for
the people there. I am not only distressed, however, for the loss of
what this might have meant for Haiti; I am distressed for the loss it
represents to the Translinear stockholders, particularly Ambassador
Crook, Mr. Beckham, Mr. Robert Fanning, who are the three prin-
cipals of the Translinear investment partnership. They have poured
a large percentage of their fortunes and their emotional energies into
this project. They have always insisted to me and to other people in
this project that our relations with Haiti, the other stockholders, our
suppliers, and potential investors should always be one of honor and
honesty. It is for that, the loss to these men, the loss to the people of
Haiti, the loss of jobs, the loss of skills, the loss of needed foreign
exchange that this country could have received., Senator, that I feel
it is a tragedy that this project should have ended in the manner it did.

Thank you.

Chairman Proxmure. Thank you, Mr. Carden. Now, Mr. Crook.

STATEMERT OF WILLIAM H. CROOK, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD,
TRANSLINEAR, INC., AND FORMER AMBASSADOR TO AUSTRALIA

Mr. Croox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Proxumire. May I say, incidentally, we will be happy to
have your report, which details the developments in a very helpful,
chronological manner, printed in the record in full* -

Mr. Croox. Thank you, Senator.

Let me express my appreciation this subcommittee and its distin-
guished members and to you, sir, and to your efficient staff and to Sen-
ator Bentsen for his expression, and to Congressmen Long and Pickle
for their comforting support.

‘We have been involved in Haiti for 414 years. And during that time,
we have come to have an extremely high regard for the Haitian peo-
ple—for their hopes and their aspirations for the future. The more
than 300 Haitian men and women who worked for us during those
years, both in offices in Port-au-Prince and in the various projects on
the Island of Tortue, have worked hard and energetically. Had our
project been permitted to continue, and had its growth been on sched-
ule, that number would have increased by now to over 6,000 employees
working for us and for our clients who wanted to establish industries
on the island.

We do not come here in a spirit of troublemaking or hostility, but
out of a genuine concern for what has occurred. Nor do we wish, under
the circumstances of what is happening today, Senator, to appear

1 See report entitled “Summary of Relationships Between the Republic of Haitl and
Translinear, Ine,, beginning on p, 125,
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smug or sanctimonious about refusing to deal under the table.”We can
understand the almost irresistible temptation on the part of American
businessmen to simplify negotiations, end delays, “ut expenses, and
assure profits by passing out American dollars to officials who can cut
redtape, guarantee signatures and deliver contracts. Such practice is
easy to rationalize, when others are doing it and when competition is
fierce. The responsibility of representing stockholders abroad is a
serious one. And while we are sure that our decision to resist bribery
and extortion was right, we are equally sure that the decision was cost-
ly to our stockholders and ruinous to our company. It is my opinion
that no one wants to pay bribes, either voluntarily or under duress.
And everyone knows that a climate of bribery and extortion is expen-
sive, inefficient and unhealthy. An international code of business
ethics is badly needed, and I believe would be enthusiastically sup-
ported by American businessmen abroad. :

The decision my company made nearly 5 years ago to invest in

Haiti was the result of cautious and careful and thorough research.
A new government was in power in Haiti, and the young President
had proclaimed, “}My father brought the political revolution, I will
bring the economic revolution.” The contracts and agreements under
which we would be operating were carefully researched by some of
the best legal minds in Canada and the United States. The initial in-
volvement of my company was that of a manager and subcontractor.
As events developed, however, we found ourselves the principal de-
veloper and investor. The money invested belonged to the principals
of Translinear and to a few stockholders. It came from our own re-
sources, and from bank loans personally guaranteed and repaid by
us.
To assure ourselves of the validity of the contract existing between
the Republic of Haiti and Dupont Caribbean, Inc., we sought and re-
ceived the opinions of the Amevican Embassy in Port-au-Prince, the
School of Law at Southern Methodist University, and the opinions of
prestigious law firms in Montreal, Canada and Dallas, Tex.

The contract under which we were acting was signed by the Presi-
dent of Flaiti and by every member of his Cabinet. The contract con-
tained stipulative clauses against exappropriation and confiscation, and
we proceeded to invest in confidence.

Our first major outlay was in the amount of $800,000 to lease ap-
proximately 5,000 acres on the east side of the island. Before begin-
ning development, we sought and received the title opinion from
Haltian legal counsel. I quote the concluding paragraph of that
opinion :

Therefore, Translinear, Ine has a clear chain of title to the Government land
released by said Government or Haiti to Dupont Caribbean, Inec.,, and the trons-
fer of leasehold interest regarding this land has been effected in accordance
with Haitian law,

Almost simultaneously we entered into a construction contract with
a major American firm and began building 20 kilometers of roads and
installing infrastructure. High altitude aerial photography and land
surveys were completed. A thorough ecological study of the tides and
currents and prevailing winds was made. The arc]{itectnml firm of
Hellmuth, Obata & Kassabavum of St. Louis was commisgioned as mas-
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$2 million had been invested. Construction was ahead of schedule, and
demands for hotel sites, industrial sites, marinas, housing sites and
investment acreage was far greater than anything we had anticipated.
We had been told that there was little water on the island and that
the limited supply in existence would stunt the development. With-
in a matter of a few months, expensive exploration led us to a major
discovery of ample artesian water—ample enough to support a popula-
tion of 10,000 people.

Suddenly, without warning and without cause, Haitian officials of
Cabinet rank arrived on the island to inform us that the project was
closed. We were told that because of litigation between Haiti and a
third party, litigation having nothing to do with Translinear, all work
was terminated. Bulldozers, earth-moving equipment, rock crushers
and a helicopter were abandoned where they sat.

Approximately 20 kilometers of finished road was left to deteriorate
and return to the jungle. OQur manager and foreman were hustled off
the island, leaving behind them valuable files of engineering plans,
bluprints, surveys, topographical maps, aerial photography and sub-
division plats. A Haitian Army soldier was ordered to stand guard in
our camp. Empty barrels were lined up on the runway so that our
plane could not return, and officials of Translinear were informed by
the colonel of the airport in Port-au-Prince that any attempt to reach
the island by boat would result in the Armed Forces of Haiti “blow-
ing the boat out of the water.” When we asked for explanations, we
wers told that the situation had nothing to do with Translinear, that
the Government had no complaints with Translinear, that Translinear-
had met all of its obligations, and that in time we would be per-
mitted to return and resume construction. For a period of several
months, at the expense of over $2,000 a day, we stood ready to re-
turn. But, as the Government continued to delay and to deceive, it
became apparent to us that our equipment had been confiscated and
our assets exappropriated. For more than 2 years, almost 3, we have
been forbidden access to our own leasehold property, and to our equip-
ment and material. I made one inspection trip in the presence of a.
military guard during that time. Finally, in April of 1975, 2 years
after the closedown of the project, we were informed that the last of
six contracts drawn by our attorneys, modified, changed and amended
at the request of the Haitian State, was acceptabtl’e and would be
signed by the President of Haiti.

Within hours of receiving this official assurance, the outrageous
extortion attempt, narrated by Mr. Carden, took place on April 15,
1975, Within an hour of this incident, I had reported in detail to the
Deputy Chief of Mission at the U.S. Embassy in Port-au-Prince.
The threats in the extortion attempt all came to pass. The island is
still closed. We have been told not to return to IHaiti. Negotiations
have ceased, all protests have been ignored, expensive plans and vital
information concerning the project are in the hands of the Haitian
Government; we have sustained staggering financial losses, and the
damage to Translinear, Inc., is in the millions of dollars. In a final
attempt to hawve this injustice addressed, I wired & protest to the Presi-
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dent for Life of Haiti and appealed for intervention on our behalf.
I concluded the wire by saying, and I quote: :

We have acted in good faith, we have obeyed every law, we have observed
every ethic, we have complied with every request and followed every suggestion
of your government. We are not promoters. Money invested has come from the
stockholders of our company and from bank loans. We are honest and success-
ful business men asking only for the protection of international laws and the
privilege of investing in your Country on fair terms and in an honorable man-
ner.

A copy of the telegram was sent to the U.S. Secretary of State. Neither
the government of Haiti nor the government of the United States
has replied.

Chairman Proxmire. What was the date you sent this to the Sec-
retary of State?

Mr. Croox. July 16, 1975.

Chairman Proxyrre. About 8 months ago?

Mpr. CarpEN. That is right.

Mzr. Croox. I might say at this point, Mr. Chairman, that statement
is no longer accurate, because as of Friday of last week, the State
Department did respond.

Chairman Proxycige. After we had asked them to appear and testify
on this matter and after they knew you were scheduled to testify be-
fore a congressional eommittes to disclose what your experience had
been with the State Department and with the Haitian Government,
correct ?

Mzr. Croox. Yes, sir,

Chairman Proxure. Go ahead.

Mor. Croox. We do not know why our assets have been taken from us,
There have been no problems with the population. No labor problems.
No complaints from the people. On the occasion of our one inspection
trip, the newspaper on the north coast ran.an editorial which heartened
the drought stricken area, and I quote from that:

Tast Saturday, on a special plane, the Americans, Mr. William Carden and
Mr. Willlam Orook, members of Translinear, arrived accompanied by some
Haitians. Natually this visit was the subject of the week. There has been much'
talk and the people can see the morning of hetter days for the complete nortl-
west; the reopening of the project which the population have waited for for o
long. The company will be received back with joy.

The closest thing we have ever received to a complaint from official
sources was contained in a letter of October 20, 1975, from the Secre-
tary of State of Commerce and Industry, Henri P, Bayard. Mr. Bayard
rebuked us and accused us with interfering with national sovereignty
by appealing our case to two U.S. Senators—Senator Bentsen and
Senator Kennedy—asking them to inquire in ocur behalf as to the
reasons for the closing of the project and the confiscation of material
and equipment. However, while the first paragraphs of that letter con-
tained the rebulke, the concluding paragraph read thusly:

We want and we are ready to meet at a date convenient to you, the represent-
atives of Translinear, on an official basig in order to work with you on a con-
vention project which would be mutually advantageous to Haiti and to Trans-
linear. )

Thus, our multimillion-dollar puzzle. There have been no charges
brought against us by any official of the Haitian State at any time.
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There has been 1o negative publicity against Translinear in any of
the newspapers of Haiti.-No complaints have been lodged by worlk-
men, by landowners, by merchants, or by any citizen. We have violated
no customs, broken no laws. We have left no bills unpaid behind us.

Our files are replete with official letters and communications from
high Cabinet level Haitian officials. These letters are positive, encour-
aging, and even enthusiastic. They recognize our interest and our in-
vestments and our expenditures. They tell us our investments will be
protected. They tell us our contracts are being studied and with the
exception of minor modifications will be acceptable. As you can imag-
ine, since we have made more than 150 trips to Haiti in the past
5 years, we have met many officials and had numerous meetings in
Government buildings with authorized Government people. These
people have always been courteous and always affirmative. But con-
trasting their gentleness and their courtesy is the abusiveness of an ex-
tortioner in the park who purports to speak for the GGovernment—ifor
the President himself——who predicts that if we do not comply with his
demands the contract will not be granted and negotiations will be ter-
minated. These predictions have come true. From the American Em-
hassy at various times we are told that the problem is smuggling, but
we are not smugglers, and that problem does not exist with us. We are
also told that the problem relates to national security, but our company
isinno way a threat to the Haitian people or to the state. We are told to
be patient and we think we have been patient. After an approximate
$3 million of actual cash investment, not to mention the several pend-
ing projects and money actually in escrow by hotel builders, developers,
and others from Ttaly, from France, from Canada, and from the United
States, the stockholders have demanded of us explanations and action.

We believe the project to be more valuable than ever. The beautiful
Island of Tortuga. discovered by Columbus, served as the pirate base
during the days of the Spanish Main and is one of the most dramatic
and enchanting sites in the world. It is sitnated directly under the
major airlines from Miami to Port-au-Prince, and is in the midst of
the sea lanes of the world. We have found abundant water. We have
opened up one end of the island with a 20-kilometer road. We have
proven that the Freeport concept is extremely popular to industry as
we't .~ to individual investors. The United States, along with other
nations, is spending several million dollars through the Inter-Ameri-
can Bank to build a major highway from Port-au-Prince to the north
coast. This will make the island available for the first time to the
thousands of tourists of Port-au-Prince. We believe this project will
be completed by others. We believe that the Haitian State already
knows who those others will be. Translinear has taken all the risks,
paid all the bills and suffered all the loss. The land is there, the infra-
structure is there, the plans and the engineering are there, and the
equipment to continue to work is there. By right of lease and of law,
these assets belong to American citizens. But any hope of regaining
them appears to us to be remote.

So we have come to ask your help in the recovery of our assets. As
American citizens we are grateful for a government that will hear us.
But T think T speak for American business abroad when I say “hear-
ing” isnot enough. We must also be protected and supported.
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On April 2, 1973, T yeceived o letter from the American Ambassa-
dor in Haiti, From that letter T quote:

Minister of Finance, Francisque, hag assured me that the interests and in-
vestments of Translinear will be protected and that he bupes your company will
continue to carry on its work in Tortuga. Signed, Clinton B, Know, American
Ambassador.

Thani vau,
[The followmtr report was attached to Mr. Crook’s statement:]

SUMMARY OF RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE REPUBLIC OF HAITL AND
TRANSLINEAR, INC.

1970

December 4—Original Convention signed between Republic of Haiti and Du-
pont Caribean, Inec, a Texas Corporation leadquartered in Mastland, Texas.
Convention provided for 99 year leagse and freeport status for 1le de 1a Tortue, an
85 square mile island off the north coast of Haiti. The island was infamous in

7th and 18th centuries for pirate activities but in 1970 it was an undeveloped
area containing about 10,000 people existing in a condition of extreme poverty.

1971

April 5—Convention becomes official through publication in government
paper Le Moniteur.

July 13-—first meeting between principals of Translinear partnership and Du-
pont Caribbean, Ine, Mr. Don Pierson was President of DCIL

July 27—Mr, William H. Crook has telephone conversation with U,S. Ambag-
sador to Haiti Clinton EKnox, who assures him of Convention's soundness and
legality and new favorable investment climate in Haiti.

September 28-—DCT signs a management contract with Equity Capital Man-
agement Corporation (ECM), a company owned by the Translinear partner-
ship.

October~—Architectural firm of Hellmuth-Obata-Kassabaum retained to develop

master plan of project.

HNovember 20—~Becuring of Jean Claude Leger as Translinear attorney in
aiti

\Iovem)ber 30—Amendment of Convention between Haiti and DCI (requested
by Haiti

My, Robert A. Fanning, Translinear partner and attorney, secures release of
1,650 carreaux of lang on Tortue for first development activity (approx. 5,200
acres). Signed copy of release by Minister of Finance, Francigque.

1972

January 20—Convention amendment; published in Le Moniteur.

January 20—1000 acres of land on Tortue leased for 99 years by International
Business Ventures (IBV), a joint venture - controlled by the Translinear
partnership.

Yebruary 7—Redception for leading Haitian government officials and business-
men at Haitian restaurant, La Lanternne. Progress report and development plans
presented. Preliminary Plannm" Report brochure distributed and architectual
model of project shown.

Tebruary 10—Translinear receives $15,000 check from pharmecentical group
wishing to lease land for manufacturing facility.

Tebruary 24—Contract between DCI and Translinear partnership for Trans-
linear to lease additional 8,800 acres of land on Tortue and one seat on five man
Dupont Caribbean Free Port Authority (DCFPA). This organization was pro-
vided for by the Convention and was to be 4 quasi-sovereign body that would
administer the Island as a freeport. ‘Pranslinear forms Translinear, Inc

February 27—Completion and publication by Translinear, Ine. of financial-
feasibility study of Tortue project.

April 11-—Sepaxate letters from Translinear attorney Leger to Haitian Minis-
ter of Finance, Francisque, and Haitian Dirvector of Contnbutmns, Merentie in.

T78-547T—7T—0
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forming them of Translinear’s sub-lease from DCI and Translinear’s right to one
geat on Freeport Authority (DCFIPA).

April 12—Amended contract between Translinear and DCL

April 21-23—Administration aide of Haitian Minister of Interior and Defense
Luckner Cambronne, Mr. Jean Baker in Dallas. Assures Translinear of Haitian
interest in project and support of Translinear’s development efforts.

April—Translinear arranges for and finances survey of released zone of Island
(first survey ever on Island). '

May—Translinear, Inc. opens bank account in Banque Nationale in Port-au-
I’rince and leases office in airport.

May 12—Ietter to Haitian Interior Minister Cambronne. detailing Translinear’s
progress on the development.

May 23—Survey of Island submitted to and accepted by Department of Con-
tributions. Receipt for survey returned.

June 6—ILetter from Department of Contributions confirming lease.

June 14—Letter of response from Attorney Leger to Contributions.

July~Mr. Jim Hobbs, Translinear, Inc.,, Executive-Vice Pregident, moves to
IIaiti to become project director of Island development.

July—Translinear. Inc.. opens office in Port-au-Prince nirpert. Perhaps the most
impressive office in Iaiti, the facility was designed by Haitian architect dMax
Ewald. Translinear is the only non-airline business in the airport.

T.ate July—Completion of the topographic mapping of the released zone of the
Island.

August 4—Letter from . T. Beckham to Mr. Don Pierson, President of DCT,
containing long list of items urgently needing action of Freeport Authority and
asking Pierson for meeting of DOFPA. as soon as possible.

August 10—Arrival on Tortue of construcetion harges and beginning of first con-
struction activity, Translinear, Inc. had signed $455,000 construction contract
with Indian River Construetion Co., of Jacksonville, Florida. Initial confract
was for roads and engineering work for airport, dock and first hotel.

Receipt from Mapco of composite 80’/ x 96’7 color aerial man of Island shot
from 2.500°.

Avngust J4—Meeting with Ambassador Clinte: 7 . - at .S, Embassy to com-
plain of DCI's disruptive activities toward Translinear in Eaiti.

Angust 14—Translinear receives from DCI a “cease and desist” letter calling
for stoppage of all work on Haiti until $50.000 construetion permit paid to DCIL.

August 15—DCI has barrels placed on runway at Tortue to prevent Translinear
plane from landing. Action evokes anger of Haitians and prompts rebuke of
Pierson by Ambassador KXnox.

Angust 16— Translinear letter to Mr. Antonio Andve, Director of National
Bank, asking for his advice regarding Pierson’s demand of $50,000 before Trans-
linear can continue work on Island.

Mr. Andre tells Translinear attorney, Leger, that Haiti is upset with Pierson
actions and is about ready to take action against him.

September 6~—Haiti, under leadership of Antonio Andre and Intferior Minister
Camhronne, calls meeting with DCI personnel. They force DCI to admit validity
of DCI-Translinear confract. confirm validity of Translinear seat on Freeport
Authority, request letter naming Mr. William F. Crook as Translinear representa-
tive to Freeport Board, and give clearance for Indian River Construction Com-
pany. to resume work.

September 7—TLetter from DCOFPA signed by Pierson and Weber Alexandre
(Haitian representative) saying that Translinear can resume work.

September 12—Tetter to Haiti and DCI announcing William Crook as Trans-
linear representative to DCFPA.

September 12—Letter to DCFPA containing documents detailing Translinear
construction plans on the Island, )

September——IOX plots first subdivision on Island—107 lots.

Octoher 4—Progress report to Antonio Andre accompanying $15,000 check to
Bepubl_ic of Haiti (which was due on October 5 as part of DCI's contractual
nbligations to Haitl—assumed by Translinear under April 12 contract with DCI).
Ch(e)‘eic xl:'as illeve\rrcazhed by Republic of Haiti.

ctober 11—Mr. Andre instructs Hobbs to write DCI 1 g i ing
of DOFPA as soon as possible, etfer xequesting meeting

Octoher 20—Mr. Andre instructs Piérson to hold DCFPA in his office at
1:00 P.M. Pierson does not come. :
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October 23—Fobbs meets with Minister Cambronne and is assured of Gov-
ernment’s backing to move forward with DOFPA meeting to obtain approval of
Pranslinear’s requests contained in September 12 letter. . »

October 25—Leger issues title opinion on validity of Translinear land lease.

October 27—>r, Andre sends telegram to Pierson calling for DCFPA meeting
on November 3 and asks Pierson which Translinear partner Pierson wanis on
DCFPA board. Mr. Andre also instructs Leger to have Translinear representa-
tive at the scheduled meeting. . )

Tate October—IBy end of October Translinear is holding 37 license applica-
tions accompanied by over $75,000.00 in checks for presentation to DCFPA.

November 2—telegram to Mr, Andre that Willlam Crook will represent Trans-
linear at meeting.

November 3—Pierson does not appear for meeting.

November 10—Contract between Translinear and Daniel Bourderau, French
hotel chain owner, for $215,000 for liotel site on Tortue. Condition of contract for
validity is meeting of DCEFPA.

November 15—dismissal in Haiti of Minister Cambronne.

November 16—visit to State Department by William Carden, Translinear, Inc,
Administrative Vice-President, requesting advice and direction on problems
faced by Translinear in Haiti.

Novmeber 20—HOK plots second subdivision on Island.

Late November—OQ.P.I.C, filing complete for Translinear project except for
approval letter from Haitian Government.

December 1—Letter to Minister Francisque requesting his signature on lefter
required for O.P.I.C. Insurance.

December 6—2>leeting with Minister of Interior Roger Lafontant. Presentation
of report showing r.cblems Translinear is baving; list of decisions urgently.
needed from DCFPA presented Minister Lafontant reports he is DCFA member
replacing former Minister Cambronne. He sets up meeting for Translinear with
My, Andre who says that Pierson has two weeks to have meeting of DCFPA or
Government will take action against him.

December 18—DBoth Minister Francisque and Mr, Andre tell Hobbs that Haifi
will not sign O.P.1LC. letter until Haition problem with DCI is resolved (but that
it will be signed immediately at that point).

December 28—~—TLetter to Andre Theard, Director of Tourism, asking for his
hielp in getting things moving,

December 29—Conversation with Herve Michele. Consul General of Haifi in
New York, who promises to help when he goes to Haiti in January.

End of December—Completion of H.U.D. filing for sale of Haitian land to
U.S8. citizens with the exception of letter from D.C.F.P.A. stating it is admin-
istrative authority on the Island. DCI refuses to send letter,

1973

January 6—Carden goes to Haiti and meets with Minister Lafontant and
Consul Michel who report that Government is ready to take action against
Pierson and that Cranslinear’s interest will be protected.

January 15—Haitian hotel owner Clement Robitale signs provisional lease for
$164,000 of hotel land.

January 28—Group of Italian developers sign contract for $1,000,000 worth of
land on Tortue with option of $1,000,000 more. Condition of Contract is meeting
of DCTFPA. ‘

January 22—ZLetter to 3Mr. Andre asking what to do about uncashed $15,000
check. No reply.

_JTanuary ’22~—Filing of papers to set up Translinear d'Haiti and deposit of
$5,000 required for same. This done at the suggestion of Haitian officials.

Fehr}mry S—Q—’L‘rip to State Department by Carden asking for advice on
worsening Haitian situation. Polite reception but State refuses to get involved.

Fjebruar,v 14-20—Carden in Haiti. Is told by Minister Francisque that Haitian
patience with DOJ is gone and gction expected soon.

February 28—Pierson summoned to office of Minister Francisque. Is told legal
action is going to be started against him for purpose of cancelling contract,
Translinear attorney Leger also summoned to office where he is told 6f govern-
ments plans and is assured that Translinear’s interests will be respected and
protected by Haiti,
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March 1—Pierson called to Court in Haiti and Government asks for temporary
restraining order—allegations include failure to form Freeport Authority,

March 8—Haitian court meets to indiet Pierson and to announce plans to
bring suit against him.

March 18—Findings of the Court in Haiti issued in favor of the Government,
Order issued to stop work on Island.

March 22—Carden in Haiti, Meets with Minister Francisque who assures
him that although all of Pierson’s activities on the island will be stopped that
Translinear will be allowed fo continue work after a brief interruption.

March  23—Ministers Francisque (finance) and Fortune' (justice) come to
Island where Government attorney Jeanty issues order for work stoppage.
Tranglinear is told it can resume work the following Monday. On Monday
T'ranslinear is informed that the stoppage must continue.

At time work was stopped. Translinear had invested over $2,000,000 in the
project. Over 20 kilometers of roads had been constructed and construction was
ready to begin on a major airport, dock, and the first hotel.

March 27—Carden visits Commerce Minister Jean-Leberre, who assures him
of President’s interest in continuing the project and suggests writing letter to
President. -

Letter to President Duvalier explaining Translinear's development activities
and expressing concern over the work stoppage. No reply.

March 28—Letter to Ambasador Knox expressing concern over the work
stoppage. No reply.

March 30—Translinear, Inc. files suit in U.S. against DCI and Pierson.

April 2—TLetter to William Crook from Ambassador Knox indicating he had
received assurances from Minister Francisque that the interests and investments
of Translinear would be protected and expressing the hope that Translinear
would continue its work.

April 4—Letter to Minister T'rancisque asking for clarificatior of Translinear's
position, where Translinear should take the requests that would normally go
to the DCFPA and what Translinear should do with Lhe license raquests and
cashier checks being held by its Haitian attorney. Nu reply.

April 10—Lefter to new Secretary of Commerce Serge Fourcand asking
for his help in resolving work stoppage. No reply.

April 11—Tetter to President Duvalier explaining financial burden work
stoppage places on Translinear. Letter also explains Translinear’s reasons for
bringing suit against DCI. No reply.

April 12—Pierson attempts to call Freeport Meeting. Carden is in Haii and
instructed by Minister Francisque not to attend,

At the request of Minister Francisque letter is sent to him detailing list of
decisions needed by Translinear from the DCIFPA or its equivalent.

May 8—Telephone conversation between Ambassador Knox and Willinm
Crook in which Ambassador promises to get President to make affirmative
statement about Translinear and the future of the prmect

Mid-May—Translinear distributes newsleiter in Freach in Haiii relatmg its
development activities on Tortuga up to that time.

May 22—Letter to President Duvalier recalling the two previous letters sent
to him and asking for (1) a firm conveying of land titie to Translinear of the
4,800 acres it had leased; and (2) the implementaton of a working Freeport
Authority. No reply.

May 29-—Carden meets with Minister Fourcand who says nothing can be
done about Translinear’'s problem until Government solves problem of urgently
needed sugar mill. Carden promises to find investors who will build the mill
and Minister promises if he does that Translinear “can have anything it wants
on the Island,” Carden tells him Translinear only wants what it contracted for.

June 1—Letter to Haitian Ambassador to U.S., Rene Chalmers asking for
appointment to discuss situation.

June 4—DLetter to Minister Fourcand re"ardmg prospective investor for sugar
mill. No reply.. Several telephone calls to Fourcand 1egardmg mvestors for a
sugar mill received the uniform response that he was not in.

June 5—Meeting with Ambassadcr Chalmers in Washington, D.C. He promised
to help. Carden, while in Washiigton, also meets with representﬂtwes from
0.2.1.0. and the State Department.

June T—Follow-up letter to Ambassador Chalmers explaining situation.
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.June 7—_—Te1ephone call from Attorney Leger reporting on reassuring meetiug
with Minister Francisque. Letter sent to Minister TFrancisque, No reply.

June 21-—First showing of Translinear financed multi-media production of
17-minute ﬁ.lm: “Haiti: Pearl of the Antilles.” Production and equipment
cost approximately $15,000. An English version kept in the United States;
a I'rench version set up in Haiti.

July-——Film shown privately in Haiti to numerous ministers and govern-
ment officials, Unvarying comment that film was the best that anyone had ever
produced about Haiti,

Avgust 22-—Film shown at large reception for Haitian business and governs
ment leaders. Representative of Palace present,

August 27—Judgment of Haitian Court given, finding DCI in breach of
Clauses 6 and 7 of the Convention and cancel the Convention, Attorney Leger
told by Minister of Justice Jeanty that Translinear’s rights are protected.

August 20—Attorney Leger and Carden visit Minister of Information and
Coordination Paul Blanchet who says problem and statement of what Trans-
linear wants. : .

August 31—Carden visits Minister Foureand who is very evasive about when
Translinear can expect to return to work.

September 4—Follow-up letter from Leger to Minister Blanchet.

Seﬁtgmber 6—Copy of Blanchet letter to Justice Fortune’s asking for his advice
and help.

September 7—Minister of Justice Jeanty, on instructions from President, calls
Teger to give him certified copy of Court decision.

Minister of Finance, Bros, calls Attorney Leger to his officer to discuss moving
forward with project. They discuss Translinear’s need of letter for O.P.I.C.
and letter reafiirming land title, Letters are promised soon.

September 25—Carden meéts with officials from Departments of Commerce
and Justice, but promised letters are not forthcoming,.

September-—DCI case appealed to the Haitian Court of Civil Appesals,

October 1-3—Carden has three meetings with Minister Fourcand. Is told in
;:hird meeting that President wants statement from Translinear of what it wishes

o do.

October 4—Letter to President Duvalier outlining Translinear’s position and
asking for clarification of Translinear’s position in view of August court decision.
No reply.

October 4—TLetter to Minister Foureand outlining what Translinear would
like to do. Answer promised by October 12. :

Qctober 12—No answer. .

October 12—Request from Xaitian-American Diversified, Inc., an American
firm, for 370 acres of industrial land on Tortue. They represent 30 companiey
and over 4000 light assembly jobs.

October 23—Letter to Mlle Josette Philippeanx, Charge d'Affairs at the Haitian
Embassy in Washington, asking for help in getting an answer from the Govern-
ment. No reply. : o

October 25-—Letter to Thomas J. Corcoran., Deputy Chief of Mission at U.S.
Bmbassy in Haiti asking for any help Embassy might give in clarifying situa-
tion. No reply. . .

October 26—TMollow-up letter to Minister Fourcand. No reply.. - : .

November 183—Carden meets with Minister Fourcand. Minister reports that
President has instructed him to undertake negotiations with Translinear to re-
sume work. Pronmises to get 0.P.1.C. letter sigried by Minister Bros. 3

November 15—Letter from Minister Fourcand recognizing Translinear's work
and investment and indicating President wishes to continue project. Letter asks
for Transiinear to submit new contract. ’ : .

Lateé November—Attorney Leger comes to Dallas and works with law firm of
Locke, Purnell, Boren, Laney and Neely in drawing up documeint. Document is
examined by International Départménts of Tiaw Schools at SMU and University
of Michigan. : g ' . . , 2

December §—Carden returns to Haiti with proposed new contract. Five copies
with supporting documents are delivered to Minister Fourcand, Carden is told
that Haiti's involvement with- World Cup Soccer competition will prevent any
discussion of contract until after fifst of year. A :

December 29—Telephone call from Yeger with some suggested revisions of con-
tract passed on to him by members of Department of Commerce,
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1974

January 6--Carden returns to Haiti with slightly amended contract and ap-
pointment for yanuary § with Minister Fourcand. .

January S—Minister Tourcand wishes to change appointment to the following
weelk because of a ‘T'rade Commission in Haiti, . .

Tanuary 22—Carden returns to States after failing on seven oceasions to get
Minister Fourcand to agree on an appointment date. .

January 28—Haitlan Appeals Court rules against DCI and in favor of the
Haltian state. .

March 21—Carden back in Haiti and hasg meeting with Minis_te; Trourcand who
reports that Haiti is ready to mnegotiate but that Finance Minister Bros m}lst
algo be involved. After failing in numerous attempts to get an appointment with
Bros, Carden returns to States, . .

April 22—Carden returns to Haiti with three American investors interested
in putting sugar mill in Haiti. Refused appointment by Fourcand. The Colonel
at the airport announces that Tortue Island is now closed to any traffie, in-
cluding Translinear, This is despite the fact that Translinear has nearly $§100,000
worth of equipment on the Island and a monthly payroll for people guarding the
equipment. o

April 29—TLetter to Paul Blanchet, Minister of Interior, asking for permission
to o to Island.

May 2—Carden leaves Haiti. The morning he leaves the U.S. Embassy reports
permission to visit the Island will be given if request is made 24 hours in advance.

May 30—TLetter to Congressman Olin Tengue from State Department (signed by
Linwood Holton) stating that Translinear’s denial of access to Tortuga was for
reasons other than the project and that Translinear could go if they requested
passage 24 hours in advance.

TLast week in July—Translinear investor, A, T. Robertson, Vice President of
Dresser Industries, goes to Haiti and is repentedly refused permission to go to
Island (U.S, Embassy personnel made requests on Robertson’s behalf, but to no
avail.) The Colonel at the airport told the Translinear seeretary that any at-
tempt to sail to the Island would lead the Haitian armed forces “to blow the boat
out of the water.”

June 4—TLetter to Minister Foureand asking for release of the $5,000 deposited
on February 5, 1972 to form Translinear A’Haiti. The government had refused to
sizn the appropriate ‘documents for nearly eighteen months. (After government
officials had suggested this company be formed.)

June 10~—Letter to Mr. John W. Sims, U.S. Department of State, asking for
information on travel ban to island.

June 14—S8ims replies that ban on going to island imposed for security reasons.

June 24—Haitian Supreme Court turns down D. C. I, appeal, exhausting all
appeal procedures.

July 19—Leger sends letters to Minister Bros and Fourcand calling their atten-
tion to Supreme Court decision and suggesting a meeting at their convenience to
begin discussions regarding Translinear.

July 24—Telegram to President Duvalier asking for clarification of Trans-
linear's position.

August 12—Letter to Mr. George High, U.S. State Department, at his request
giving background on Translinear involvement in Haiti.

August 14—Letter to Translinear from Leger saying he has received strong en-
couragement from Minister of Justice Jeanty.

August 22—Carden goes to Washington for visit with State Department.

Late September—Translinear settles out of court with DCIL.

QOctober 2—Telegram to President Duvalier announcing favorable conclusion
to suit with Pierson and asking for right to resume work.

November 4—Letter to Leger from Artand Toureaux, Director General of the
Department of Finanee, asking for Translinear representative to come to Haiti
for a meeting on November 13 with members of the Presidential Commission.

November 9-16—Trip to Haiti by Crook and Carden and two attorneys from
Baker and Botts, Unexpectedly called for non scheduled appointment on morning
of 13th with Xdeuard Dupont, member of Sub-Commission on Foreign Invest-
ment. Dupont informs group that there will be no meeting with Presidential
Commission and that his sub-commission will study project. No presentation or
negotiation allowed.
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Group meets with Minister of Justice Jeanty who promises unrestricted access
to Island when Haitian Government receives certified copy of Translinear—
DCI court settlement, On Saturday evening the Translinear group hogted U.S.
Ambassador Isham for dinner. The Ambassador reported he had talked with the
President about the project. The President was reported to have said that he
knew *“we were serious men.”

November 24—Certified copy of settlement sent to Minister Jeanty,

December 6—Leger receives word from sub-committee they have contract
revisions to suggest. He sends letter to committee asking for study to be halted
until vevisions can be made,

December 12—Dupont gives affirmative reply.

1976

. January 3—ZLetter from Ambassador Tsham to Senator Lloyd Bentsen rvegavd-
ng project.

February 7-—Receipt by Translinear of suggested revised contract.

Tebyuary 12—Haitian attorney Leger comes to U.S. to work with Baker and
Botts on contract revision.

IFebruary 24—Carden returns to Haiti with revised contract where more re-
visiong are made following suggestions of Minister Bros.

March 10—Leger makes further revisions in contract.

March 11-20—Carden in Haiti.

March 15—Letter to Minister Dros, telling of wish to submit new contract,

Mareh 17—Letter to President Duvalier asking for permission to go to Island
to inspect equipment. No reply.

Maveh 1S—Summons to come to office of Henri Bayard, Under Secretary of
Commerce, Minister Bayard informs Carden that President has instructed him
to begin serious negotintions regarding new confract for project. Carden delivers
complete documentation of the situation, Bayard postpones negotiation until
Carden's next trip so he can have time to study proposal.

March 19—Tetter to Minister Buyard confirming conversation and appointment
of April 2,

March 19—Meeting with Leon Jeune, Director of Civil Aviation who veported
Translinear would scon get permanent authorization to go to Island because “the
President has given his okay for your company to be taken care of,”

March 31—Letter from Leger to Minister Jeanty asking for permission for
William Carden and William Croolk to go to Island on their forthcoming trip to
Haiti.

April 2—Telephone call from Leger that meeting is postponed to April 10.

April 818—Carden in Haiti (Crook there part of time,)

April 10—Discussion with Minister Bayard indicates President ig concerned
about questions of Haitian sovereignty and the possible return of exiles to the
Island. Bayard wants Commerce Department Legal Officer to examine contract.
Suggests more negotiation on next trip to Haiti.

April 12—Crook and Carden go to Island. First visit to Island by Trans-
linear personnel in overa year.

April 15—Carden is summoned to clandestine meeting in a park where he ig
approached by someone purporting to be & member of the Haitian Government,
A demand is made for $500,000 and one half of the Translinear, Inc. stock before
a contract will be granted. The attempt is reported by ‘Carden to the Haitian
attorney, Leger, and to Minister Bayard. In the absence of Ambassador Isham,
William Crook reports the incident to David Thompson, Deputy Chief of Mission.
Minister Bayard assures Carden thereis nothing to attempt and promises speedy
conclusion to negotiations,

April 28-May 10—Carden in Haiti,

Auril 29—Discussion with Mr, Montez, legal officer of Deépartment of Com-
meree, regarding any legal reservations he might have about contract,

April 29—Meeting with nlterior Minister Blahehet asking {or permission to go
to Island. No response ever given.

May 7—Meeting with Minister Bayard who said Minister Bros needed to he
involved in negotiations.

May 11—Revision of contract to meet objections of Mr. Montez, .

AMay 22-June 12—-Carden in Haiti, Went to Haiti expecting to meet with Min-
isters Bros and Bayard on May 23. Meeting did not take place until June 4 and
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the only with Minister Bros. Minister Bros inexplieably says tl.lu Contract must
be given to Presidential Commission for further study and revision.

June §—Contract presented to Presidential Commission by Attorney Leger.

June 5—T.etter to President urging resumption of work on Tortue as quick
method of dealing with misery and stavvation caused by extensive drought in
north east. '

June 9—Meeting with Pierre Gousse, Minister of Coordination and Informa-
tion and member of Commission, who said Cominigsion had studied over half the
contract and had no major changes to offer, He reported that the contract had the
highest priority from the President and that Carden should be ready to return to
Halti by June 16-21 for the final negotiations and signing.

{Tune 23—Telephone call from Haitian attorney saying the President has abol-
ished the Presidential Commission ond that a new law has been passed limiting
leaseholds held by foreigners to a maximum term of nine years,

Late June—Haitian attorney in U.S. and calls to say he has been told *it ig all
over” and the project has been dropped. . )

July 18—Telegram to President Duvalier from William Crook asking for elavi-
fication of ranslinear position in view of Translinear investment and encour-
agement by Haitian officials, No reply.

August—Numerous reports from Haiti that President was personally offended
by July 16 telegram, :

September 3—Telegram to President Duvalier apologizing for any offense he
may have taken at telegram of July 16, and again asking for a clarification.

September S—Telex from Leger saying he was contacted by Minister Bayard
who had been told by President to take care of matter. The Minister said he
would like to reach quick resolution of matter “One way or another.”

QOctober §8—Telegram from Carden to Minister Bayard appealing for his help
as a friend to get matters moving,

October 20—Surprisingly strong and hostile reply from Minister Bayard
denounecing Translinear for attempting to use political pressure to squeeze a con-
tract out of Haiti.

October 23—T.etter from Carden to Minister Bayard suggesting a misunder-
standing exists and that Translinear i8 not demanding anything, but wishes an
equal partnership joint venture with Haiti with no sovereignty challenged.

October 27—Letter to Minister Bayard hand delivered to his office by Carden
on trip to Haitl. During five days in Haiti Carden manages one brief visit with
Minister who asks him to be patient and assures him that he is taking care of the
gonh'a(t!;. The Minister promises to complete negotintions on Carden’s next trip

o Haiti.

November 28—Telephone call from Haitian businessman to come to Haiti
as quickly as possible. Minister Bayard is ready to sign contract if two small
problems can be regolved. o

December 1-5—Carden in Haiti, AMet by businessman who says: (1) New con-
tract must specify problems between Translinear and Haiti will be resolved in
Haitian Courts (agreed) ; and, (2) New contract must put customs and emigra-
tion on Jsland under Haitian control (contract already written that way). After
these two items agreed on, Carden was told the Minister would have to have
$50,000. Carden refused. Discussions were abruptly broken off and Carden found
it impossible to meet with the Minister himself, Finding further discussions impos-
sibl(a. Carden made arrangements to terminate all Translinear relations with
Haitl )

Chairman Proxarre. Well, I want to thank both of you gentlemen
for the very interesting story. I want to see if we can get some clearer
understanding of just what happened and what you think should be
done under these circumstances, not onlv bv American business con-
cerned with this kind of situation, but-also by the State Department,
by the Government of the United States. '

Mu. Carden, you deseribed a lengthy situation concerning your busi-
ness investment in Haiti, going back to 1971. Throughout most of this
period, were you encouraged by the Government in Haiti to continue
work on the Tortue project ? '



133

Mr. Carorx. I would say that we were not only encouraged, but
enthusiastically encouraged, until the point—-—

Chairman Proxayare. When you discovered water on this island ?

Mr., Caroen, Well, it was after that.

Chairman Proxarme, Well, wasn’t it vight after that?

M. CarpEN. Yes.

Chairman Proxuire. Doesn’t it sound like what happened is you dis-
covered water that would make your investment much more valuable?

Mr. Carpex. That is one interpretation that could be put on it. Per-
haps that is the one that it should be. We fell that there is some merit
in that evaluation.

Chairman Proxmare. You are very indefinite, and perhaps you can-
not be an%thing else, about this other group. Do you have any indica-
tion whether it 1s another American ¢oncern or leether it is a Haitian
operation or some other country? Do you have any notion or any
evidence?

Mr. CarpEN. Senator, I am a historian by training. And you don’t
like to c][)ut anything down as the written word until you have the facts
inhand. All we have are allegations, but the source where these rumors
come from, we trust rather implicitly. And the word that we have is
that a part of the Presidential Tamily that is now living in the United
States is soon to join in concert with a European group to take our
Place on the island. And the only thing that they are waiting for is for
us to get sick and tired enough of the situation to pull the equipment
of the island.

Chairman Proxmire. How much do you estimate has been Trans-
linear’s total investment in Haiti?

Mr. Carpen. A solid figure is $3 million.

Chairman Proxarre. What was the status of the project at the time
the Haitian Government issued the work-stop order ?

Mzr. Carpex. We were in phase I of the master plan. We had invested
a little over $2.2 million to that point. We had completed 20 kilometers
of roads. We had done the engineering sork and surveying for a
10,000 foot-long and 200 foot-wide airport that would be on the island,
a dock that was to extend some 700 feet out into the Tortuga Channel,
and for the first major hotel on the island. In addition, we had con-
tracts for two other hotels and a contract with an Italian group to lease
from us some $2 million worth of land on the island. In addition to
that, we had set up a sales crganization to begin leasing lots in the first
two subdivisions. And we had signed provisional leases for over one-
half of those lots.

Chairman Proxarre. When did the work actually stop?

My, Carpen. On March 28, 1978. :

Chairman Proxatme. And you were given the stop-order when?

Mr. Carpen, On that day. They came into the island——-

Chairman Prox»ire. As soon as you were told to stop, you did?

Mr. CarpEx [continuing]. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxaure. Now, befors getting into the problems you en-
countered after you were forced to stop work in 1973, I want to get
into the details of the attempts to get you to pay a bribe.

Tirst, in April of 1974, you were told not to visit Tortue Island even
to inspect your property ?

Mr. Carpew. That is right.
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Chairman Proxarre. And you were warned that if you tried to sail
there, your boat would be blown out of the water?

Mr. Carpew. That is vight.

Chairman Proxarme. Who made that statement to you and what did
you do about it?

Mr. Carnex. The Director of Civil Aviation at the airport, my sec-
retary, the colonel in charge of the airport—the airport is under mili-
tary authority in IHaiti—and myself were in a conversation on the
landing area just in front of the airport where passengers disembarlk.
We were asking for a possible alternative to flving there. I suggested,
“WWhat if we drove to Port-au-Paix. which is a small town lying op-
posite the island, and just sailed across?” And it was then that the
colonel of the airport——

Chairman Proxarare. The colonel of the airport said your beat would
be blown out of the water?

Mr. Carvex. That is right.

“hairman Proxarme. ITe was Haitian?

Mr. Canpex. Yes.

Chairman Proxarme. In March of 1975, you were suunmoned to the
Office of the Under Secretary of Commerce?

My, Caroexn. That is right.

Chairman Proxaare. And negotiations for a new contract were he-
gun. Did it appear at this time that the project might finally be get-
ting underway ? Were yowr hopes renewed ¢

Mr. Carorx. Yes, sir. I was summoned from a businessman’s oflice
with the word that the Under Secretary of Commerce was calling all
over town trying to find me. The contract at that time was supposedly
located in the Ministry of Finance and I had no reason to be expecting
a call from or to have contact with the Under Secretary of Commerce.
But the word came that he urgently wanted to see me. I went to his
office. He said:

I received a call this morning from the President of Haiti, and he told me for
us to complete the work on this contract as quickly as possible.

" TTe reported to me that when the President had called him, he said :
“To vou know Bill Carden ?” And he said, “Yes, I do.”® And he said,
“Well, find him and get this contract over with.” And while I was
having this conversation with the Under Secretary, the telephone rang
and it was the President himself inquiring as to whether he had
reached me and what we were doing about the contract.

Chairman Proxyre. Now, on April 12, 1975, that is more than a
vear later—13 months in fact-—you were allowed for the first time, as
T understand it, to visit vour property. Is that correct ?

M. Carory, Well, I shonld say that there was an unofficial visit some
3 months earlier. when T was allowed to go to the island long enough
to drop a payroll, We literally touched down, left the money and took
off again. But, this was the first official inspection trip where we got.
out, walked around, looked at the equipment. saw the deteriovation.
and made some estimate of what kind of salvage value was Ieft in
the equipment,

Chairman Proxarre. What was your estimate?

My, Caroex. Less than $100.000.

Chairman Proxarre. What was that equipment worth ?
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Mzr. Caroex. The equipment—the supplies, plans, and materials—
was worth between $450,000 and $500,000 when we left the island, when
we were forced to stop work, '

Chairman Proxire. Any other salvage value at all exce];t for the
perhaps less than $100,000 you could get for the equipment?

Mz. Carpen. Well, T hardly see any because the plans and drawings
apply to that island. They are not the kind of thing where we could
find another island and use them. If they cannot be used on Tortue,
they can’t be of value to us. S"hey would only be of value to someone
who came in and took over after we left.

Chairman Proxarre. You refer to a few days later going to the
house of one of your employces and finding him very frightened. What
was the redson for his fright?

Mr. Caroew. The fright was occasioned by a eall from an individ-
ual—from this individual that later met me in the park, threatening
physical harm to this employee if he did not get me to his house that
morning in order that this meeting could be arranged for the park.

C(%?airman Proxarre. Your employee told you he had been threat-
ened ¢

Myr. Caroex. Yes. The employee, I might add, remained quite
frightened.

Chairman Proxanre. Yes.

Mr. Carpen. And in great fear.

Chairman Proxarme. Now, did you suspect at that point that you
were going to he shaken down for a bribe ? _

My, Carpex. Well, I had no idea. When I went to the employee’s
house, I really thought this individual was going to hit me up for a
raise. And I was frankly kind of dreading the encounter becanse with
no work going on and things at a complete standstill, there was really
no justification for a raise. But this is really what I expected.

Chairman Proxarre. Now, while you were there, a telephone call
camein?

Mpr. CarpEN, Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxy . . Was that telephone call for you to take part
in the conversation ¢

Mr. Caroex. No, I took no part in the conversation. The employee
was explaining to me that he was asked to bring me to his house and
had just indicated that we were to have some kind of a meeting with
an individual representing the Haitian Government, who would ex-
plain things to me further. The employee said, “They are going to put
the touch on you.” While he was explaining this, the telephone rang.
The employee talked te the individual and broke into tears again in
fear. I really thought T had a hysterical individual on my hands and
worried about the two n¢ us driving in separate cars to this appointed
rendezvous. But we did get there. I sat in my car alone until this
individual approached.

Chairman Proxaore. Then you were approached by a person. Who
did this person say he represented ? ‘

Mr. Carbex. At first the individual and I engaged in some rather
heated conversation about the fact we were not going to have any
further conversation if he did not identifv himself by name. I finally
saw that that was fruitless. The individual purported to represent the
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‘Government of Haiti. As it later developed this individual represented
a group of 12 other individuals—that is, there were 13 in all involved
in se};%;ing up the demands that were made to Translinear for this
payoff.

Chairman Proxyire. You say he did claim to represent the Haitian
Government;?

Mr. Carpen. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxarre. What branch of the Government?

Mr. Caroex. He said he was “from the palace.”

Chairman Proxyire. From the palace?

Mr. Caroexn. That could mean any one of several branches because
there are several——

Chairman Prox»re. Did you ask him whether he represented or
claimed to represent the President?

Mr. Caroexn. No, I did not put it into those words. When he said
he came “from the palace,” it was obviously a claim to represent the
official voice of the Government of Haiti.

Chairman Proxnrre. Did he give any kind of official indication that
he represented the palace, any kind of badge or anything of that sort?

Mr. Carpgn. No, sir. .

Chairman Proxamre. You said he spoke contemptuously of Trans-
linear’s efforts. Was he intimidating? Did he threaten you?

Mr. Caroen. Well, he did. I was not smart enough at the time to be
:ffrightened. I was more angry than I was anything else. I was frankly

urious.

Chairman Proxmme. How did he threaten you? Did he threaten
your life? v :

Mr. Carvex. No, not my life. But he just said, “It was going to be
very unhealthy for Translinear and for other American companies
if we did not cooperate.” .

Chairman Proxmre. He used that term “unhealthy”?

Mzr. Caroen. Yes, sir. '

Chairman Proxmme. And you said he ordered you to fire your
attorney and hire Mr. Sieyed ?

Mzr. Carpen. Yes. A

Chairman Proxmire. Who you later learned was employed by the
Haitian Justice Department. How did you find that out that M.
Sieyed was employed by the Justice Department ?

Mr. CarpEx. Well, after Mr. Crook reported to the Embassy and
I spoke to the Minister, I went to several different businessmen in
Haiti that day and said, “Look, this proposition has been made. What
do you think about it Is this real 2 Who is this %”

And one of the businessmen that I went to knew immediately who
it was and said that, “Mr. Sieyed is an attorney that works in the
Department of Justice.” T Jater was taken:

Chairman Proxarme. How did he know who he was?

Mr. Caroex. 1 was later taken to the Justice Department in Haiti,
which is rather difficult to deseribe architecturally, but there is a large
covered lobby with grillwork opened from the street and in which
there is a kind of reception room. And the businessman and T sat
outside one day in a car until Mr. Sieyed was spotted inside this lobby.
Then we got out and went inside and kind of walked around and
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came back outside. And he said, “Is that the man?? And T said, “Yes,
it is.” :
Chairman Prox»re. So, you saw him at a desk in the building?

Mr. Canvex. Not so much at a desk, I saw him with papers in his
hand having come out of a room inside the Justice Department. He
was obviously a man on some official business there,

I might say, parenthetically, Senator, that this same businessman
did a lot of work for me in trying to find out who the unidentified
individual in the park was. He also took me back to the Justice
Department on another occasion in late October of 1975. He asked,
“Do you see in the lobby the individual that approached you in the
park?” And he was, in fact, also in the lobby of the Justice Depart-
ment.

Chai?rman Proxiure. Do you believe that this man is a Government
official ¢

Mr. Caroex. It is my assumption.

Chairman Proxarre. That this man who approached you—-—

Mr. Carpex. That is my personal belief, yes, that he does work for
the Justice Department—well, that he does work for the Justice
Department.

Chairman Proxaree [continuing]. In what capacity?

My. Carpen. Thave no idea.

Chairman Proxmire. Do you think that simply because you saw him
in the building ¢

Mr. Caroex. Yes, and because this businessman said that, “as far
as he could determine, he worked for the Justice Department.” There
is an unusual employment situation in Haiti. A. man does not neces-
sarily have to have an obvious job before he is employed in some of
these places. -

Chairman Proxarme. Now, one of the demands was one that you de-
posit half a million dollars, $500,000, in the National Bank of Haiti.
In what name was that deposit to be made? ‘

My, Caroen. The deposit was to be made into two accounts: one
was to be made into the Translinear account. And if, for any reason—
and the reason did not have to be under our control—but if for any
reason we did not resume work in 30 days on the island, it was to be
immediately forfeited. The other $200,000—— ‘

Chairman Prox»ore. Forfeited to whom ?

Mr. Caroex [continuing]. Forfeited to the Republic of Haiti.

Chairman Proxarme. That was $250,000 2 o

Mr. Carnen: No, that was $300,000. The other $200,000 was to be
deposited into an account that was identified to me as the Fund
Defense Nationale, which supposedly goes for the widows and orphans
of the military and police, but I have been told that this account is
often used for other purposes.

Chairman Proxmire. Such as?

Mzr. Carpen. The personal use of certain people in the Government.

Chairman Proxurre. What people in the (Iiovérnment?

M. Canorxn. Well, I have been told, and I have no knowledge of this,
but I have been told that members of the President’s family~—not the
President himself, but members of the President’s family,
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Chairman Prox»ure. Another demand was that you give five un-
named persons half the stock in Translinear ¢

Mr. Carbex. No, not five—yet-to-be-named persons. There was no
identification.

Chairman Proxume. I should have said five yet-to-be-named
persons. :

Mr. Carpex. There was no indication at that time of the number of
people.

Chairman Proxarine. I beg your pardon. I should say yet-to-be-
named persons.

Mr. Carpex. And this was to be worked out later as to how this was
to be done. .

Chairman Proxyire. Do you have any idea of who those persons
might be and how much half the stock would have been worth had the
Tortue project been allowed to go forward. You said something like
$27 million as of July

Mr. CarpEx. Asof July of 1977.

Chairman Proxarire. Yes, as the net worth of the project. So T
presume this would be worth $13.5 million on that basis. Is that
correct ?

Mr. CarpEx. Well, theoretically, it would be in July .of 1977 be
worth that much, Senator. T did not know at the time who these un-
named persons were to be, The Translinear employee had a second and
a third meeting with this individual who met us in the park. And the
second meeting included the 12 other individuals that were working
with this individual. And at that time, it was indicated they were to be
the ones to receive this stock.

Chairman Proxmire. Now, according to your statement, you said
that the man who approached you mentioned another U.S. firm that
received a mineral contract from the Government because it had co-
operated. Do you know what firm he referred to and what he meant
by “cooperated”? ,

Mr. Caroexn. Well, T have been told what firm that was. T am hesitant,
frankly, to say, because that firm did not involve Translinear. We are
here only representing Transliner and I would rather not name——

Chairman Proxarre. Well, T am not going to ask you to name the
firm, unless you have some pretty solid evidence, because it would be
unfair and unfortunate if an innocent firm, through some hearsay,
was damaged.

My, Carpen. Exactly. We personally contacted that firm to find out
1f, in fact, this was true, and they denied anvthing of this nature
having happened between themselves and the Republic of Haiti and
T have noreason to doubt it.

Chairman Proxarire. Does the firm have a mineral contract in
Haiti?

Mr. CARDEN. Yes, sir.

Chairman Prox»re. But you have no evidence other than this al-
legation that thev had “cooperated”? - ‘

Mer. Carpew. That is correct.

Chairman Prox»mre. Is it your present belief that the payoff de-
mands come from officials of the Haitian Government and, if so, what
do you base that on?
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Mr. Caroex. It is my personal belief that the demands did orignate
somewhere within the Haitian Grovernment, because of checking that
ITaitian business friends did for me, and because of our experience with
the contract immediately after this bribery attempt—it being shifted
to another Ministry and then to another Corpmission. So we can only
assume that this is prima facie evidence that someone in high places
was interested in .either receiving this money or seeing Translinear
disappear.

Chairman Proxmire. Now, Mr. Ambassador, yon are a man of
remarkable and very impressive background. When you decided to
malke this very substantial investment of your own funds and that of
other principals, did anything of this kind occur to you at all? You
are a sophisticated man, having been an Ambassador to Australia and
a man who has been successful. Did you anticipte you might run into
difficulties like this? Did you explore this possibility as one problem
that might develop or did it just not occur to yout

Mz, Croox. No, I think it did occur to us, Senator. We believe that
Haiti was in a new period. We had the assurance of official Haitian
statements that Flaiti wanted to attract American investment and that
they wounld provide a healthy and wholesome climate for that invest-
ment. I contacted the Amervican Embassy and asked if the contract,
under which we were to operate, was legitimate and if they believed
that Haiti was under a new era. And they answered aflirmatively.

I don’t know how sophisticated I was. I think in retrospect I svas
probably rather naive. But, I did believe that it would be a rewarding
venture, both in terms of honest profit and in terms of being able to
do something for an underdeveloped country.

Chairman Proxsuze. Now, in your statement, vou say that o military
guard was placed in your camp when the employees were rejected from
Tortue. Approximately when did that occur?

M. Croox. This would have occurred on the date that our men
were flown out.

My, Carprn. March 23, 1973.

Mr. Croox. Yes; of the island.

Chairman Prox»rre. March 23, 197317

Mr. Carpex. Yes, sir,

Chairman Proxarre. According to your statement, you reported the
April 15 extortion attempt within 1 hour to the Deputy Chief of the
Mission at the U.S. Embassy in Port-an-Prince. What was the Deputy
Chief’s reaction?

Mr. Croox. I would say, sir, it was a nonrenction. He listened. He
was courteons. There was no response.

Chairman Proxacre. This is shocking. As I say, you are an Ambas-
sador, a former Ambassador to Australia. This is a very, very, sub-
stantial investment. A bribe demand of this kind would seem to me
to be of the greatest importance to our Government. If our Govern-
ment is to protect American citizens and to do its best to assist in
protecting their property abroad, this would seem to me to be a classic
case where they should have moved. Weren’t you shocked that theve
was no real reaction? '

Mr. Croox. I was disappointed.

Chairman Proxmme. Well, as an Ambassador, as a person who
knew that Ambassadors, after all, are under the direction of the State
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Department, did you take further action? Did you go to the State
Department?

Mr. Croox. I am sorry, Senator?

Chairman Proxmyrre. Did you appeal to the State Department?

Mr. Croog. Yes; we had contacted Washington on many occasions.
My only contact with Washington after reporting this to the Embassy
came some weeks later. I frankly thought that the Embassy perhaps
was quietly investigating on its own and that I would hear something
from the Ambassador there. The telegram that I sent to the Presi-
dent of Haiti was & very strong and detailed telegram containing
charges of exappropriation, confiscation, and intimidation. And a
copy of that was sent to the Secretary of State. I had hoped that that
might produce some response.

Chairman Proxaore. Let me identify that telegram. I have a copy
of it here. That telegram was sent on what date?

Mr. Caroen. July 16, 1975.

Chairman Proxsrre. Let me just read from that telegram. It says:

On May 8th, 1975, culminating two years of negotiation—
This is a telegram you sent to the President of Haiti—it says:

On May 8, 1975, culminating two years of negotiation, this company was
assured by Minister Bayard that our pending contract met all basic require-
ments and was acceptable to Haiti, On May 9, 1975, our representative, Mr. Bill
Carden, was accosted in the park by an individual purporting to represent the
President for Life of Haiti. Mr. Carden was instructed to pay a bribe of
$500,000 and 50 percent of stock of this American company before the contract
would be signed. Mr, Carden was verbally abused for his race, nationality, and
because he was a foreign investor in Haiti. He was threatened with the blockage
of the contract unless a letter addressed to your Excellency accepting the above
conditions was sent. Ag Translinear rejected this extortion attempt and reported
}Zt i;r}xlmediately to the American Embassy and officials of your government, and so

orch,

Now, having taken that action, what was the reaction, if any, of
President Duvalier?

Mr. Croox. We received word that the President was quite angry.

Chairman Proxmre. Angry at you?

Mr. Croor. Yes. And that Mr. Crook was not to return to Haiti—
that he would not be welcome back in Haiti. I then tried to move a step
back in the company and pushed Mr. Carden forward in the hopes
that perhaps something could be salvaged, but the response to the
telegram was dramatic.

Chairman Proxarme. The response to the telegram was what?

Mr. Croox. Was dramatie, in terms of the anger that it caused in
Haiti, not in terms of any result concerning the contract.

Chairman Proxyare. Was there any evidence that the President of
Haiti took any action in this regard within his own Government? Was
there any indication that he was attempting to determine about this?
I can understand hisanger, but—-

Mzr. Crooxs. I knew of nothing.

Chairman Proxare [continuing]. But, you know of no action he
took to investigate this?

Mr. Croor. No, sir.

Mr. CarpeN. Senator, may I interrupt to say that on my next trip
to Haiti after this telegram, I was told by the Minister that Mr. Crook
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would never be allowed to return to Haiti and that if he attempted to
do so, he would be arrested at the airport.

Chairman Proxmrre. Have you returned to Haiti since then?

Mz, Croox. No, sir. And that is information that has been kept
{rom me. T am happy to hear about that. I won’t return.

Chairman Proxmire. Now, you served as Ambassador to Australia
under President Johnson’s administration. Did you ever hear of any
similar incidences during your service in Australia?

Mr. Croox. No, sir.

Chairman Proxayare. What would you have done had an American
businessman reported an atempted extortion to you?

Mr. Croox. I think I would have picked up the phone and called
the Prime Minister of Australia and reported it in detail and ask for
permission to see him immediately. I think I would have followed
through. T hope I would have done so.

Chalrman Proxuire, Is that what you expected to be done on your
behalf by the American Ambassador to Haiti when you reported to
him what had happened ?

Mr. Croor. The American Ambassador was out of the country. My
report was not to him. But, yes, I expected something at that level and
of that immediacy to take place. .

Chairman Proxarire, Now, in view of the reaction of the President
of Haiti to your telegram, do you have any reason to expect that that
might have had some success? I think that it is quite a different situa-
tion if the U.S. Ambassador takes this position, as compared to a
private businessman.

Mr. CrooE. Yes.

Chairman Proxure. So, it is possible that if the U.S. Ambassador
had spoken up with force and strength, that he might have gotten a
different reaction?

Mzr. Croox, I think it is very possible.

Chairman Proxarmre. Why, in your judgment—well, let me put it
this way. Is there any possibility in your mind that he did quietly do
this without your knowledge ? :

Mr. Croox. Yes, I think there is a possibility that Ambassador Isham
made inquiry. I am not privy of course to what occurs between the
Embassy and the palace. :

Chairman Proxaare. If they did, why wouldn't they tell you?

Mzr. Croox. I don’t know,sir.

Chairman Proxyure. As a former Ambassador, wouldn't you feel
that that is a courtesy owing to a businessman who had endured this
kind of treatment? . AU

Mr. Croox, I think, Senator, it is more than a courtesy. I think it is
aright that is owed to an American businessman. ) .

Chairman Proxmme. Youare correct. It is a right. It is not a
courtesy. That is much better. You feel it would be a right, then, of
the businessman to be informed if there had been any attempt on the
part of the Ambassador to call this to the attention of the President
of Haiti?

Mr. Croox, Yes,sir.

Chajrman Proxarme. Did you make any other effort to contact the
Embassy in Haiti or the State Department about the extortion attempt
and, if so, what were the results of such efforts?

78-547T—77——10
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Mr. Caroex. Let me answer that, if T may, Senator. I have made
five other trips to Faiti since the first extortion attempt. And on the
first three of those trips, I continued to keep the American Embassy
informed of what went on in TTaiti while I was there. T always visited
the Embassy immediately upon arriving, suggesting what I hoped to
accomplish on that trip, and then I visited the Embassy toward the
end of the trip, saying what had happened. T finally hecame discour-
aged at the results. On my last two trips to Faiti, T did not visit the
American TBmbassy. And the second bribery attempt, frankly, was
never reported because of the reception we received on the first bribery
attempt.

Chairman Proxarire. Let me ask you. Ambassador C'rook, did you
ever diseuss this matter with the T.S. Ambassador there?

Al Croow, Yes, T ealled the 1.8, Ambassador fram Rockport, Tex..
where T was spending some time on vacation, and brought him up to
date on the incident and onr inability to penetrate the Government at
any point to have any response or get any appointments. I told him
our attornev had informed us that in his best opinion. the project was
dead, and the issue was closed. And informed him that because the
company was now drained of any funds other than what I was per-
sonally putting in it. that we were going to withdraw. T went over
again briefly the bribery attempt. By this time, he was conversant
with it, e expressed regret that the project was being terminated.

Chairman Proxarme. What was his reaction? You say he just ex-
pressed regret ?

Mr, Croox. ITe was sympathetic and expressed regret, yes, sir.

Chairman Proxarmre. Now, T understand that the T.S. Ambassador
flew to Tortue Tsland with an American businessman not connected
with Translinear on at least one oceasion to look over your property
during a period when you and your associates were barred from
Tortue. Did you ever ask Ambassador Tsham about this? If so, what
did he say ? Do you know what the purpose of the visit was?

Mr. Croox. Perhaps Mr. Carden could answer that.

Mr. Carpexn. Senator, the Ambassador did visit the island on one
occasion with an American, a nationalized Haitian citizen who has
business Interests in Cap ITaitian, which is approximately 35 miles to
the east of Tortue Island. This husinessman was interested in either
leasing or huying our equipment since we were restricted from using
it on the island. And the Ambassador did visit the island with this
individual. I visited the Ambassador in his office shortly after this
taok place and asked him why he thought they were able to fly to the
island and we were not. And he said he thought it was because this
particular businessman had some pull that Translinear did not have.

Chairman Proxarre, Was that trip made with Translinear’s prior
knowledge or approval?

Mr. Caroexn. No, sir, it was not. Not that we had to approve any-
thil}g. This businessman in Cap Haitian, who was interested in the
equipment, had talked about it since the island had been shut off to
Translinear. It was no surprise to me that he was interested in flying
there. I was a bit surprised that members of the American Govern-
ment went up there when they told us it was impossible for Trans-
linear to go and that they had done everything they knew to do, to
allow us to get these flights resumed. :
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Chairman Proxarime. Mr, Ainbassador, I want to be sure I have a
complete picture of your attempts to call the situation to the atten-
tion of the Iaitian Government. We have n copy, as I say, of your
cable to the Prosident of ITaiti. Were there any other attempts to
communicate with Haitian officials about 16?7 Was there any followup
attempt with any one else in the Haitian Government or——

Mr. Croox. There was a second telegram sent by Mr, Carden, who
was informed that if an spology should be sent, or an apology of kind
should be sent, that negotiations might get off high center. And this
was during the period when I was saying “Well, if T have become a
block in this negotiation, let me step aside.” Other than that tele-
oran, which was quite brief and innocnous, I know of no contact with
the Government, 3Mr. Carden has made several and was our representa-
tive theve.

Mr. Carprx. That telegram was sent, Senator, on September 3, 1975,

Chairman Proxarmee. Now, you say that a fow weeks after the April
extortion attempt, the contract (liscussions with the Haitian Govern-
nient were shifted to another ministry in Haiti and then to the Pres-
idenial Conumission and then the Presidential Commission was abol-
ished. What significance do you place on those developments?

My, Croox. There were two developments that we thought were
aimed directly at ns: The abolishment of that Commission was one
and the changing of the law in Haijti stating that land could be leased
to foreigners for no longer than 9 years after we had paid approxi-
mately. $800.000 or $1 million for 5,000 acres of land with 100 years
lease. We believed that those actions were directed at our project.

Chairman Prox»are. Now. in the second extortion attempt, accord-
ing to yowr statement, Mr. Carden, you were telephoned in late No-
vember of 1975 from Haiti and told that Translinear would be signed
if vou met certain conditions.

Mr, CaroeN. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxaurr. Who was the telephone call from that you
once again go down to Haiti?

Mr. CaroEn. This was from a Haitian businessman I had known
from the first year that I had been in Haiti. ¥e was the gentleman who
had been instrumentsal in introducing me to several Ministers.

Chairman Proxarmz. What date did you arrive and which officials
did yousee?

Mr. Carpex, T arvived on Monday, December 1, 1975. I believe the
first of December was a Monday, but I arrived on December 1 on an
evening. I was met by these two businessmen. When the attempt to
extract $50,000 for the signatuve on the contract was reported, I
refused. I later went to the Minister’s office in an attempt to see him,
but was told by his secretary that the Minister was not in, even
though T knew for a fact that he was in. T went, back later the same
day and received the same response. I saw that it was going to be
impossible to see him. I was told by these business friends that it was
over, Qur attorney confirmed that rumor had told him that it was over.
I met two members of the Minister’s family: his son, who is the man-
ager of American Airlines in Haitl and his wife, who is the owner
of a very successful cosmetics firm there. And they told me that they
thought it was over. And with this kind of report, I proceeded to
close down all Translinear’s interests in Haiti, to close down our
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office that was located in the airport there, to dismiss the employees
we still had, and to sell the equipment, materials and supplies in our
office and to return to the United States, because it was obvious it
was a hopeless situation.

Chairman Proxare. I want to run over this drama once again. I
think we have gone over it, but I want to go over it again.

You said you were met with an under-the-table demand for $50,000.
Now, where were you when this demand was made?

Mr. Carpen, When I was met at the airport by these two business-
men, I was told this as we were driving from the airport to their
home——

Chairman Proxmire. Did they make the demand on you?

Mr. Canoex. Noj; they did not make it themselves. They were
serving as agents, saying, “Look, we've got this down to these two
conditions.” And I repeated, as I said over the telephone to him
when he called, that those two conditions are not a problem. He said:
“There is one other issue. They are asking for $50,000 before the
contract is signed.”

Chairman Proxmire. Who did they say they were agents of?

Mr. Carvexn. The Under Secretary of Commerce, Minister Bayard.

Chairman Proxyre. The Under Secretary of Commerce?

Morx. CARDEN. Yes, sir.

Chairman Proxarire. What ishisname again?

My, CarpEN. Minister Andrew Bayard. B-a-y-a-r-d.

Ciﬁha,ilg'man Proxaore. And you were supposed to make the payment
to him?

Mr. CarpEN. Yes.

Chairman Proxare. Just write out a check to his name, or deposit
the money——— ‘

Mr. Carpex. That was not discussed. I just said:

I told .both of you before that if there is ever a condition of payment or
a bribe, we aie not going to do it. If we have to put some extira people on a
payroll after a contract is signed, I ecan understand that, because that is a
way of life here, but we are not going to give money to anyone.

We would give legitimate jobs, but we would not give money and we
would not give anything to get a contract signed.

Chairman Proxaire. Do you have any way of knowing whether that
official knew about who was behind the demand ?

Myr. Carpen. The first demand or the second demand ?

Chairman Proxarre. The second demand.

Mz, Carpen. Whether he knew himself ?

Chairman Prox»ire. You say the payment was to be made to this
particular person whom you have identified. Did you know that
ﬁe Ex;as actually the beneficiary? Do you have any reason to know

hat?

Mr. Carpex. The only reason that T have—-—

Chairman Proxare. Do you have any reason to Inow that he
wasn’t acting as an agent for somebody ?

. Mr. Carony. The only reason I have to know is that he was expect-
ing me; he did refuse to receive me after we said no; and that the two
members of his family that I met with, Senator, were quite embar-
rassed. At the time of my meeting them, although I did not confront
them with the fact that money had been demanded, it was obvious
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they were very uncomfortable to see me, which was very unusual from
the past. I had invited his son one one occasion to come to Texas and
go hunting. And I have an import company in Dallas and the Min-
ister’s wife and myself were in the process of some negotiations for
my importation of the perfumes and cosmetics she produced in Haiti.
So I had'a good relationship with them, but suddenly it was very cold
and embarrassing.

Chairman Proxmire. And what did they say or do when you refused
to pay the bribe again?

Mr., Caroen. Well, of course I refused to the two businessmen who
met me at the airport. And they said: “Well, you know, it still might
be able to be worked out.” They did have extensive conversations with
the Minister and his family. But, as I said, on the morning of Decem-
ber 2, the businessman that had spent that morning with the Minister,
came back to say that it is all over.

Chairman Prosxmire. Now, did you attempt to report the second
attempt to Haitian officials?

Mr. Carpex. To our officials in Haiti or——

Chairman Proxmire. Fither one. First to the Haitian officials?

M. Carorn. I reported it to our attorney.

Chairman Proxarre. Did he make any attempt to report it to the
Haitian officials? ,

Mr. Caroex. I'have no idea. I really felt, if you could put yourself
in my place, this was the 31st trip I had made to Haiti and——

Chairman Proxarre. I understand that. I am not passing any judg-
;nent on what you should have done. I just want to find out what the

acts are.

Mr. Carpen. Noj; I did not go to any other Minister and report this.
I merely proceeded to begin to close down our operation there.

* Chairman Proxmire. If he had reported this to Haitian officials,
you would have known about it?

Mr. Carosw, Yes.

Chairman Proxmire, As far as you know, it was not reported ?

Mr. Caroen. That is right.

Chairman Proxamre, Well, then, was this reported to U.S. officials,
to the Ambassador?

Mz, Carpex. I did not report it, because—

Chairman Proxuyare, Why not ?

Mz, Carpex. Because of our——

Chairman Proxmire, Previous experience?

Mr. Carpen [continuing]. Our rather unsatisfactory previous ex-
perience. I have made three trips and—- ‘ :

Chairman Proxaire, Was this the same Ambassador at that point?

Mr. Caroex. Yes, sir. I made three trips to the State Department
here in Washington, D.C. during the period of these attempted nego-
tiations in Haiti, and T have made countless trips to the American
Embassy in Haiti. And I had franlkly come to the conclusion it was
hopeless.

Chairman Proxaure. Now, Ambassador Crook, following the sec-
ond extortion attempt, did you report the incident to the U.S. Embassy
or the State Department.?
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Mr. Croox. No, sir, I did not. I agreed with Mr. Carden we should
salvage what we could and I wanted to get him out of Haiti and get
him home. So I asked him to come home.

Chairman Proxarme. Now, Ambassador Crook, according to your
statement you have been told not to return to Haiti, yet your property
and your investment, ig still on Tortue. Is it your belief that you ere,
in effect, de facto ejected from Haiti and that your property has been
taken without your consent and w'thout compensation ?

Mz, Croox. Yes, sir; it is.

Chairman Proxarre. Do you believe that the Lortue project was
terminated and that your property was taken from you because you
refused to pay the bribes?

Mr. Croor. Yes; in the'main, I believe that that was the cause of
the disruption. T also think that there was at that time, and that there
isnow, the motivation for someone else to develop that island. I believe
that we have proven the tremendous value and worth of the project.
And when the extortion attempt was made, Mr. Carden was told that
thero was someone ready with cash to develop it. So, I think those two
motivations: The fact that we would not pay and that it is a desirable
project for somebody and is worth much more now than it was when
1t was only & concept, I think those two motivations led to this act.

Chairman Prox»rire. Now, since these hearings were scheduled, and
wa brought this out to a limited extent. but I would like to get a full
answer now, have you been contacted by the State Department? If
s0, hy whom and what was said to yvou?

Mr. Croox. As soon as the hearing was scheduled, I thought out of
courtesy I should notify the Taitian desk that I would be testifying
and that I would be touching on these matters. T called Mr. Dan
Strauser at the State Department and told him that I had been invited
to appear. Then on Friday of last week, in Texas, Mr. Strauser called
me and we chatted I suppose some 20 minutes. I think that was the
first give and take conversation I had had on the subject where I
felt that they were listening. .And I told him, “This is the first time
you have not been so defensive that T felt that T was the culprit in
this situation; that T felt that we were criminals and that you were
siding with Haiti.”

Andhe said:

I want you to know that we have never had a complaint of any kind against
your company and that we have no criticism whatsoever of Translinear and that
we would like to see this matter worked out amicably.

My response was that unless we heard directly from some high of-
ficials in Haiti, that we were going to proceed; and that even if we
did hear, that wo still would make this testimony and bring these
charges, hut that we would be willing to negotiate with them further.

At this point, Senator, I think the contract has no value to us. We
have broken off on the negotiations. We would like to get our equip-
ment back and the cost that we have put into the project back. Becanse
T think the husiness climate in TTaiti is so hostile at this point towards
us, and T think toward other American businesses, Senator, that it
wonld be futile for us to attempt to continue the project.

Chairman Proxarre. Now, I understand that you have business
interests in Mexico. Iave officials in that country ever attempted to ex-
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paid any bribes to Mexico? '

Mr, Croox. No offizial has ever attempted to extort and we have
never paid a bribe of any kind at any level.

Chairman Proxyme, THow substantial are your business interests
in Mexico? :
Mr, Croox. I have an interest in a furniture factory in San Luis-
potosi, which I am told is the largest furniture factory in Mexico, I

have a minority interest with another partner.

Chairman Proxarze. Nov, in view of your experience, and it is hard
for me to imagine & more difficult or more trying or painful experi-
ence than yon have gone through economically because you have suf-
fered very great financial losses and vou have devoted a great deal
of time and energy to this. I would like each of you gentlemen to tell
me whether it makes any sense, in your judgment, for businessmen
to pay bribes or make payofls in foreign countries in order to continne
doing business there? I wonder whether, knowing what you know now,
youmight do things differently in Haiti?

Mzr, Croox. Senator, it makes no sense to begin a course of bribery.
Inthelong term, you would become so involved with so great an outlay
of money that it would be very difficult to operate. You can’t divide
morality between foreign and domestic. It would be demoralizing to
the company at home.

But, I do understand how a climate that lends itself to bribery,
Senator, eventually wears down an American businessman, cspecially
when the conduct of his country abroad has not been inspirational,
when he cannot look to it for support or strength of any kind. And the
results ave to have your pride and your conscious, and then go bank-
rupt. I am sympathetic. I think there is a degree of hypoerisy in
chastising an American business abroad without facing up to the fact
that this Government should perhaps heed the admonishion of “phy-
sician heal thyself.”

Chairman Proxarre. Are you saying that once you get on the hool,
that once vou pay a bribe—vhether $30.000 or half a million dollars
or maybe $13 million or $14 million, ag it might have been—once you
are on the hook, that you are just squeezed ; that you are in a position
where you can be imposed on over and over again and, in effect, black-
mailed? If you paid the bribe, if you have taken that action, then you
are pretty much a vietim of whatever the government vnder those
circumstances wants to do do with you. Is that right ?

Mr. Croox. Exactly. I have never been on the hook, but contracts
have to be renewed and new contracts have to be issued and negotiated
and sianed. And at every point, when the word gets out that you will
pay off, you have to pay. '

Chairman Proxarme. Isn’t it further a problem that—and you have
different situations in all cases—but when you do pay a bribe, you
don’t know whether you get delivery on it? You may simply be ont
the $5,000 or $500,000 and get no results.

Mr. Croox. Well, of course. We cannot emphatically say that we
know this man represented the government of Haiti, We believe he
did. We believe all evidence points to the fact that he did. But, it is
conceivable that he was an independent.



148

Chairman Proxame. Supposing he did represent the government
of Haiti. What is to keep any corrupt official who was in the govern-
ment of Haiti, Mr. Crook, from simply taking the money and putting
it in his pocket and not giving you any satisfaction ? '

Mr. Croox. Yes; or knowing that you are going to get the contract
anyway, taking the eredit for it. '

Chairman Proxyire. Anybody who takes the moral position that
they will accept a bribe, it seems to me he is unlikely to be of any firm
assistance when you expect their word to come through that they will
deliver on the bribe. Isn’t that correct?

Mr. Croox. Yes; that is correct.

Chairman Prox»mre. Mr. Carden?

Mr. Carpen. There is very little I could add to elaborate on Ambas-
sacdor Crook’s statement. I would like to comment on one portion of
yvour question. You asked if there is anything we would do differently.
I suppose that knowing what we know now, I doubt if we would go
into an investment climate like this.

However, as. I tried to bring out in my statement, and as Ambas-
sador Crook said in his statement, we did undertake every kind of
investigation that we felt was necessary for doing business abroad in
this country.

They have a bright voung President down there. I personally am
very impressed with what he is trying to do. The depth of manage-
ment in the government is not particularly deep though, and he is
having to rely on advisers that remain from the previous administra-
tion.

I wish I could say that there was some point in this activity of 4-
vear’s duration where we could say at this point it would have been
smaxrt to leave. But at every step on the way, Senator, as we review this
4 years later, it seemed very logical at the time—and it still seems
logical in retrospect—to have continued these attempted negotiations.
We did have a legitimate contract. We did have a legitimate third-
party contractual right and we still feel we have those rights.

Chairman Proxmmre. And what you started to say—and maybe you
said it and I missed it—is the fact that one very important avea of in-
vestigation for any American husiness firm investing in a developing
country or any country, for viat matter, Mr. Carden, is whether or
not bribes may be necessary. Correct?

Mr. Carpexn. That is right.

Chairman Proxanre. Whether or not you have an atmosphere that
may be so corrupting that you either are going to lose your property
or be put in anuntenable and impossible position.

My. Caroew. I couldn’t agree more.

Chairman Prox»are. Therefore, this is something that we have to
look at, and something that ought to be a warning to developing coun-
tries, if they expect to have American capital in the future, and they
should recognize that it is a very foolish course of action and only
temporarily of benefit to permit these bribes to be accepted.

Now, the other aspect: that troubles me—and Ambassador Crook,
vou ecan help me on this—after all, people in the State Department are
good people, as T am sure yvou and I recognize, and they are interested
in helping this country and they are interested in having good rela-
tions twith other countries. I am sure that there is no element of cor-
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ruption on the part of the State Department in this ‘whole matter.
They must have been thinking about something. What they are think-
g about, I presume, is our relations with a foreign country and a
foreign government and the head of a foreign government.

Can you help us in meeting this problem ? You are going to be fol-
lowed by Mr, Ingersoll, the No. 2 man at the State Department, who
is going to appear and testify later this week. Xe was going to appear
tomorrow, but he is meeting with Mr. Xissinger tomorrow, and he
will appear o little later. I presume that this is a very difficult thing
for the Secretary of State and the State Department; that is, on the
one hand, they want to be friendly with all the governments but on
the other hand, they want to protect and defend American commercial
interests, It is casy to take a moral position and one that we all want
to take ‘on this—I certainly do, and I know you do—but, let’s be as
practical and as tolerant and as sensitive as we can to the problems of
the Secretary of State. B

Now, how do we meet the problem of trying to stay friendly with
goxjixénments that condone this kind of practice or that may engage
in it?

Mzr. Croox. Well, Senator, I certainly couldn’ answer that. I recog-
nize that the State Department has its own set of priorities and the
priority of an Bmbassy does not coincide necessarily with the priorvi-
ties of an American business abroad. That is complicated when Ameri-
can businesses abroad arve in competition for the same item. So the
Embassy must be, and in this case has been, very discreet and sensitive
to these matters.

But, in answer to the popularity portion of your question, of how do
we maintain the good will of a nation, I think a partial answer to
that is that we operate consistently at the highest standard of ethics.
And if the foreign government is aware of that, that seems to me to
be the beginning of an improved understanding. But, if we, by wink or
smile or nod, ignore that bribery is going on and that it is because the
country is underdeveloped and they are not morally responsible, then
there has got to be a break somewhere; there has got to be a rupture
somewhere down the line. So, I think we must make it known that we
deal one way at home and abroad. And if those customs clash or coin-
cide, we don’t deal.

Chairman Proxamre. Isn't it true that a consistent policy of op-
posing bribery, of trying to root it out, of doing all we can to protect
innocent persons who have been solicited for bribes and of trying to
expose those who solicited bribes, isn’t it true that it is not only to
the interest of the American businessman, but in the great and clear
and long-term interest of all the countries involved ?

M. Croox. Of course. .

Chairman Proxaure. Certainly, it would be to the interest of Haiti
were the State Department to take this position and to use everything
in its power to persuade the President of Haiti that his interests are
being damaged by people who are engaged in this practice in his gov-
ernment ; isn’t that true ?

Mr. Croox. I believe that to be true.

Chairman Proxamre. I will conclude by saying that the Deputy
Secretary of State, Robert Ingersoll, informed me this morning after
the hearing began that he would not be able to appear as scheduled.
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He has promised to reschedule his testimony during the next few days.
I hope we can announce a new date shortly.

Ve've heard two stories this morning. One was the anatomy of an
attempted shake-down ; the other story is a profile of an honest—vell,
I should say of two honest American businessmen who refused to
buckle under to extreme pressure in a foreign country. I think America
can be proud of Ambassador Crook and Mr. Carden. They behaved
honestly and, as far as I can tell, with complete discretion under very
trying circumstances and at considerable sacrifice to both of them and
to the stockholders they represent. The testimony shows that some
businessmen want to act strictly within the law. The question in my
mind is whether the U.S. Government is encouraging or discouraging
such proper and lawful behavior.

There will be a new date set for resumption of these hearings and
that will be announced in the next day or so. This hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12 noon, the subcommittee adjourned, subject to
the call of the Chair.]
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Krumbhaar, Jr., minority counsel ; and M. Catherine Miller, minority
economist,

OrenNing STATEMENT oF CHAIRMAX Proxyine

Chairman Proxagms. The subeommittee will come to order,

The disclosures of corporate bribes and payofls have dealt the public
two severe blows.

First is the fact that many of the Nation’s largest and most pres-
tigious business firms have stooped to making bribes and have allowed
themselves to be shaken down by foreign government officials,

At the same time, there is a continuing thread running through many
of the payoft disclosures of U.S. Government acquiescence and even
encouragement of the bribery system.

A high official in the Nixon administration once advised that people
should pay atfention not to what Government officials say but rather
to what they do.

An application of that guideline to the system of bribery that has
been uncovered may explain the apparent discrepancy between official
statements and official actions. v

For example, Secretary William Simon condemns the Lockheed
bribes and other payoffs in the strongest terms. But Secretary Simon
has failed to exercise his authority as Chairman of the Loan Guaranty-
Board to require Lockheed to disclose full details of the bribe.

Spokesmen for the Pentagon have also stated publicly their opposi-
tion to bribes and payoffs with regard to foreign military sales. But
behind the scenes the Pentagon has been aware of outrageously high-
“sales commisgions” and has actually lectured contractors on how to
make payoffs.

One of the things we hope to learn today is whether the State
Department’s behavior falls into this pattern. Unfortunately, there
have been-allegations that it does. :

(151)
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The importance of this question cannot be over-emphasized. The
public has a large stake in international commerce and international
arms sales. The business community certainly has a stake in whether it
must go along with the bribery system.

The economy is influenced by the bribery system directly and indi-
rectly and it is therefore most appropriate that this committee’s in-
quiry go forward on the broad range of issues involved in illegal and
Improper payments, at home and abroad.

Our witness today is the Honorable Robert S. Ingersoll, Deputy
Secretary of State. Secretary Ingersoll has o distinguished record in
private business as well as with the government. He has been the presi-
dent, chairman of the board, and chief executive officer for the Borg-
‘Warner Corp., has served as trustee for the University of Chicago and
the California Institute of Technology; was the U.S. Ambassador to
Japan from 1972 to 1974; and was the Assistant Secretary of State for
East Asian Affairs. . _

Secretary Ingersoll, unfortunately, the subcommittee did not obtain
a copy of your statement until afternoon today so I have not had an
opportunity to study it, as carefully as T would like. -

Now you may proceed in your own way. It is a very interesting state-
ment and we have a number of questions for you when you conclude.

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT S. INGERSOLL, DEPUTY SECRETARY
: OF STATE :

Moz, Ingersorr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I am pleased to be here today to discuss a serious problem which
bears directly on U.S. foreign relations and economic interests: the
revelations about alleged corrupt practices involving U.S. multina-
tionals abroad. ]

First, let me again state emphatically that the Department of State
condemns in the strongest terms any and all corrupt practicesinvolving
corporations, whether United States or foreign. We have stated this
posttion in several forums recently, but I want to reiterate it here today
as the basis for all the comments I make to you. The Department’s
view—and my own personal view as one with experience in business
and Government—is that bribes or other illicit payments cannot be
condoned. Moreover, this is not a new policy. The Departnient of State
has never condoned such payments. e

They are ethically wrong; their disclosure can unfairly tarnish the
reputations of responsible American businessmen ; they malke it more
difficult for the U.S. Government to assist U.S. firms in the lawful
pursuit of their legitimate business interests abroad;-they encumber
our relations with friendly foreign governments; they:are, in the long
run, bad business, as firms involved in such practices risk loss of con-
tracts, sales and even property ; and they contribute to a deterioration
of the general investment climate. - I :

The 11.S. Government has taken the position that .any investor who
makes illegal payments cannot look to the United States to protect him
from legitimate law enforcement actions by the responsible authorities
of either the host country or of the United States. Weé.stipport coopera-
tion by the T1.S. agencies investigating-these cases with responsible for-
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eign authorities who are seeking information consistent with the re-
quirements of the law and procedural fairness. .

However, the U.S. Government will provide appropriate diplomatic
protection to American nationals abroad who are not treated fairly in
accordance with international law. We are concerned at threats of
extrajudicial sanctions which may be disproportionate to the offense
and based on unproved allegations. We do not believe that economic
retaliation is an appropriate response to payments which, although
controversial, ave either lawful under the foreign law concerned, or if
" unlawful, are subject to specific civil or eriminal penalties prescribed
by that law. ‘

Ot course, we also oppose such retaliation for failure to malke such
payments, as alleged in some recent cases. The Department of State
has a responsibility to assist American businessmen who are treated
unfairly.

In international discussions of enterprise behavior, the United States
has supported two basic principles:

First, all sovereign states have the right to supervise and regulate
the activity of foreign investors in their territory, consistent with the
minimum standards of justice called for by international law.

Second, investors must respect the laws of the nations in which
they operate and conduct themselves as good corporate citizens of
tl;fesga nations, refraining from improper interference in their internal
affairs, :

Unfortunately, however, in these matters foreign investors and
traders are not always faced with clear-cut choices in unambiguous
circumstances. Instead, they frequently find themselves operating un-
der unclear rules, local customs, and business methods far removed
from those learned in business schoool. A foreign investor who receives
“suggestions” from officials of the host government is placed in a
difficult position. Many courageous businessmen have refused to go
along with questionable practices abroad, and in some cases have had
to forgo business opportunities as a result.

We are told that businessmen from other countries take the view
that what we call improper payments are a basic requirement of the
societies In which they operate, and represent centurvies old practices
which no amount of indignation or legislation can change. These busi-
nessmen. are reluctant to support either domestic or international legal
action for fear that such measures would not only do no good, but
would also burden commerce and provide a dangerous instrument for
selective application against individual corporations. Some American
businessmen may share this point of view, but increasing numbers are
concluding that some action is necessary to deal with the situation.

What should be done? Obviously, the principal responsibility for
dealing with criminal acts in foreign countries 1s that of the govern-
ments directly concerned. But we too have a responsibility to make
sure that U.S. laws regulating corporate behavior are vigorously en-
forced, and that official U.S. programs in foreign countries are effec-
tively managed to gnard against these practices, The responsible U.S.
agencies are already taking significant steps. The SEC and the IRS
are giving the problem vigorous attention, and their efforts can be ex-
pected to have a substantial deterrent effect.
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The Departments of State and Defense have taken steps to insure
that foreign governments who purchase defense articles and services
under the foreign military sales program are fully informed of any
agents fees that are included in the price of the goods sald. Under
the applicable regulations, the foreign government is notified of any
such fee at the time of the DOD offer to sell. If the foreign govern-
ment responds that the fee is unacceptable, the American supplier
is advised that DOD will not consider the fee an allowable cost under
the contract.

In several cases foreign governments have established a general
policy that contingent fees are not to he allowed on FMS cases. The
TTSG has responded to that policy bv adopting a regulation with re-
spect to such countries that no contingent fee will be allowed as an
item for reimbursement unless it is specifically approved in advance
by the purchasing government.

We believe that our procedures on FAMS transactions can be fun
ther improved, and support the concept of systematic reporting along
the general lines of the pending amendments to the security assistance
bill. Of course, it is important that any such leaislation respect the
legitimate need for confidentiality of business information, the public
disclosure of which could harm the competitive position of American
companies.

But this is an international problem and significant progress will
come onlv on a broad scale. It is tempting to try to deal with the situa-
tion unilaterally, but there are serious risks for the United States
in such an approach. There is widespread recognition in the Congress
that such unilateral action would put U.S, companies at a serious dis-
advantage in the export trade. Senate Resolution 265, adonted hv a
vote of 93 to 0 Tast November 12, takes note of the trade distorting
effect of corrupt practices and calls upon the executive branch to nego-
tiate a multilateral agreement to deal with the problem. ,

We have seen dramatic evidence in reeent weeks of the potential
conseciences of disclosure in the United States of events which affect
the vital interests of foreign governments. Preliminary results have
included serious political crises in friendly countries, possible cancel-
lation of major overseas orders for T.S. industries and the risk of
general cooling toward TU.S. firms ahoard. Manv foreign commentators
and opinion makers have expressed concern about the effects of T7.S.
processes in their countries and suggested that the United States has
a responsibility to take into account the interests of its allies when it
is cleaning up its own house.

I wish to state for the record that arievous damage has heen done
to the foreign relations of the United States by recent disclosures of
unsubstantiated allegations against foreign officials. As I said. we do
not condone, nor does the U.S. Government condone, bribery by
American corporations overseas. On the other hand, it is a fact that
public discussion in this country of the alleged misdeeds of officials
of foreign governments cannot fail to damage our relations with these
gaovernments.

We think there are many advantages to a multilateral approach
which is based on international agreement hoth as to the basic stand-
ards to be applied in international trade and investment, and the pro-
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cedures to curtail corrupt practices. A coordinated action by exporting
and importing countries would be the only effective way to inhibit
improper activities of this kind internationally. An international
agreement would also help insure that action would be taken against
those who solicit or accept payments, aswell as those who offer or make
them,

As a first step we have negotiated strong language condemning
bribery, as part of the voluntary guidelines for multinational enter-
prises which are being drasyn up in the QECD.

However, in the area of eriminal law, such as bribery, move is
needed. Effective action, consistent with individual rights, must be
in accordance with established legal procedures. Thus, in this area
we favor action pursuant to national law and international agreement.

Therefore, I am taking this occasion to announce that the United
States is proposing a multilateral agreement on corrupt practices.

The agreement would be based inter alia on the following principles:

It wounld apply to international trade and investment transactions
with government, that is, government procurement and such other
governmental actions affecting international trade and investment
as may be agreed; it would apply equally to those who offer or make
improper payments and those who request or accept them; host—
importing—governments would agree: (1) to establish clear guide-
lines concerning the use of agents in connection with government pro-
curement and other covered transactions, and (2) to establish appro-
priate criminal penalties for bribery and extortion by enterprises and
government officials; governments would cooperate and exchange in-
Tormation to help eradicate such corrunt practices; and uniform pro-
visions would be agreed for disclosure by enterprises, agents, and offi-
cials of political contributions, gifts, and payments made in connec-
tion with covered transactions.

Our delegation to the second session of the UN Commission on
Transnational Corporations, now meeting in Lima, has been instructed
to call for such an agreement.

At this point, I would like to say a few words about the Lockheed
case. A number of foreign governments have expressed great concern
about disclostires resulting from Senate investigations, or reports at-
tributed to those investigations, that are said to implicate high offi-
cials. These governments have requested the Department of State’s
assistance to obtain the documentation necessary to investigate these
allegations,

The Department has always cooperated fnlly with foreign govern-
ments whose interests are affected by these disclosures. But we do not
have the corporate documents in question. These, where they exist,
are held by Lockheed, by the Senate Subcommittee on Multinationals
or by the SEC subject to a court order.

Press reports have given the erroneous impression that the State
Department has not been responsive to the requests of foreign gov-
ernments for information developed on this matter. This is not the
cage. The Department has been concerned that premature public dis-
closure of unsubstantiated charges against foreign officials might un-
fairly damage the rights of individuals and cause serious problems
in U.S. rvelations with other countries.
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However, we have never questioned the need for friendly foreign
governments to have access to the information to carry on their own
Jegitimate investigations, and we have taken appropriate steps to
facilitate that access.

In recent days we have been consulting urgently with the SBEC and
with the Department of Justice to develop & procedure that would
facilitate the exchange of information with interested foreign govern-
ments. Under this procedure, the Department of Justice would enter
into cooperative arrangements with the responsible law enforcement
agencies of other interested governments, as it has done in past cases
of interest to more than one government. It will arrange for the ex-
change of information in accordance with the traditional procedures
established to protect the integrity of criminal investigations and the
rights of individuals affected.

That is to say, foreign law enforcement officials would be expected
to assure that information secured from U.S. sources would be treated
on a confidential basis until such time as the foreign law enforcement
agency had decided that it wished to proceed with a criminal prosecu-
tion against a particular individual.

Should any exchange of information require modification of the
court order in the SE'C-Lockheed case, the Government will be pre-
pared to propose suitable amendments to the court.

Finally, let me say that the Department of Justice is already mak-
ing inquiries to determine whether overseas payments and related
activities by Tockheed have involved violations of U.S. law. This mat-
ter is being pressed with vigor. It should be understood, however, that
foreign governments have an equal interest in prosecuting offenses
against their laws, and in some cases the nature of the alleged wrong-
doing is such that foreign law enforcement officials have an even more
urgent need to proceed than T.S. law enforcement officials. These
varying priorities will have to be resolved by mutual discussion be-
tween our Department of Justice and foreign law enfercement officials.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, we are proposing two new actions to
deal with the international bribery problem. First, a multilateral
agreement to be negotiated within the United Nations system to help
deter and punish such activities by enterprises, agents, and govern-
ment officials.

Second, a framework for bilateral cooperation with foreign law
enforcement agencies with which we can make satisfactory arrange-
ments for the exchange of evidence. We are hopeful that these initia-
tives will prove to be effective.

Chairman Proxnire. Thank you very much, Mr. Secrctary. We
appreciate your testimony.

The announcement of a proposed multilateral agreement on corpo-
rate practices is very welcome. It is also very intriguing. I hope we
can. get more information on this proposal and I wonder if you could
elaborate on it somewhat.

For example, most, if not all countries, now have criminal laws
against bribery and against extortion. How would the new agreement,
which would make such actions crimes, change anything?

Mr. Ineersorn. Make such what? o

Chairman Proxyme. Which would make such actions erimes, how
would this change anything that we have now?
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Mr. Ineersonr. Well, T think it is rather premature to say exactly
how this might come out because it is being proposed that & special
group be formed in the U.N. Commission on Multinational Corpora-
tions to pursue this subject. We have not given our delegates there any
more guidelines than the general guidelines because we think it is up
to the people in this special group to come up with what they think
would be appropriate.

Chairman Proxmire. You see the problem that I am trying to get at
is that we found that law enforcement can be very effective within a
country’s borders. In some cases it is a little more effective than
others but it can be more effective. The U.N. has never impressed me as
a very effective enforcement organization. I think it is a great organiza-
tion and I strongly believe in’it, but it does not give me much con-
fidence that if we work this way we can strengthen the law enforce-
ment operations it countries that do not seem to have the will now
to act against crimes of this kind.

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, I think that if you can get agreement by a
large proportion of the members, I think you will have at least a
moral obligation on the part of those governments to pursue their
own laws or to even establish——

Chairman Proxarmme. 'Well, they have that now; don’t they?

Mr. Ingersonr. Except they do not have international pressure on
them because there is no such agreement.

Chairman Proxuare. I wonder how strong that international pres.
sure really is. We have a situation now with Japan where they are
just pleading to get information in the Lockheed case for example
and both houses of their legislature passed resolutions asking for it.
The Prime Minister has asked for it. The Ambassador has asked for
it. Yet they cannot seem to get that information.

Mzr. IvaErsonr. Well, I propose, I suggested in this statement the
means by which they and other governments can get access, but we
believe it would be premature to release information of an allegation
nibure until ithas been investigated by their agencies and ours who are
responsible for law enforcement.

Chairman Proxmrre. Well, I want to come to that a little later.
Let me ask you, Are you proposing a treaty that would have to be
ratified by the Senate or would it be an IExecutive agreement?

Mr. IneErsorr. I think it would be one ratified by the Senate. We
would consider it a treaty ; yes.

Chairman Proxnrre. Isn’t this a cumbersome, protracted type of
undertaking? Why wouldn’t it make more sense for us to act uni-
laterally whenever U.S. firms are concerned, Mr. Ingersoll, to the
extent it is legally possible for us to act. And if other countries follow
our example and want to enter into an agreement with us, then fine.

Mr. Incersorr. I see nothing wrong with the T.S. Government
acting on U.S. corporations operating within the United States. I
think you get into a fuzzy area when you begin to prosecute for actions
outside the United States where foreign citizens may be involved and
evidence may have to be gathered from those foreign citizens outside
the United States. , . .

Chairman Proxmime. Well, if a crime is committed outside of the
United States, why should not we provide all the information promptly

78-547—77——11
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and not in a matter of months or years but within a matter of days to
the appropriate law enforcement officials? We haven’t done that in
the Lockheed. We haven’t done in some other cases. Why not?

Mzr. IngErsorr. I am not a lawyer but I believe we normally try to
keep evidence in the hands of the law enforcement agencies until
they have developed a case. I have been told that you can jeopardize
the case by prematurely leaking information on the particular situa-
tion at hand.

Chairman Proxarire. Now you say, and I quote: *As a first step we
have negotiated strong language condemning bribery, as part of the
voluntary guidelines for multinational enterprises which are being
drawn up i the OECD. However, in the area of criminal law, such
as hribery, more is needed.”

TWell what do you have set up to provide for an inspection system
and for an enforcement system? What arve you proposing in the way
of penalties and in the way of making this really have the firmness
and effectiveness that would inspire credibility ? :

Mr. Ineersorn. As I mentioned earlier, Mr. Chairman, I think that
is up to the U.N. Commission that is studying this problem in Lima
at the present time. I would not want to prejudge their recommenda-
tions on this, The first step that I refer to is a guideline for multi-
national corporations that covers much more than corrupt practices
or bribery. It covers a whole gamut of practices by multinational
corporations. When I referred to the criminal situation, I am referring
primarily to bribery. That is the area where we think that this inter-
national agreement is necessary. The first is a voluntary agreement,
or it is suggested that it be a voluntary agreement, because the cir-
cumstances of multinational corporations ave so diverse that it is
almost impossible to get an agreement that everybody will subsecribe
to. But when it comes to bribery, criminal bribery, we see no reason
for any discretion and we believe that an international agreement,
Senator, should be developed by such a U.N. body.

Chairman Proxnimre. Well, I am trying to see how specific, how
far you have been able to go. And I realize you have to leave much
of this to the UN ageney that is studying it for the full details. But
you say, for example: “It would apply equally to those who offer or
make improper payments.” Now you say that is more than bribes.
What else do you have in mind ? Would vou be as specific as possible?

Mr. Incersorr. Well, I am not sure what they will come up with.
In this country, imnroper payments include politieal contributions.
In other countries they are not improper. So I think it is up to this
group to determine what they call “improver.” Another one might
be excessive commissions where the amount, of the commission is un-
reasonable in relation to the amount of sale. Commissions in them-
selves ave not improper if they are rvelated in the amount to the sale
itself or the amount of effort required to make the sale.

Chairman Proxarre. What did you have in mind when you said,
“clear guidelines concerning the use of agents in connection with
government procurement?” What kind of guidelines? Can you give
me an example or two ?

Mr. Incrrsorn. Well, there have been some countries in racent
months that have decided that any military saies to their govern-
ments should not have any agent or commission involved. Other gov-
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ernments rely on agents. Therefore, I think it is going to have to be
spelled out that if a country specifically excludes an agent in a trans-
action, then that would apply in their case. In other countries, an
agent with a reasonable commission for his effort is proper.

. Chairman Proxmme. Is there some danger that this might result
in enfeebling the present restrictions that some countries have in order
to get to the Towest common denominator?

Mzr. Ixeersorn. That is up to the country.

Chairman Proxare. In order to make suve that you don’t lose a
competitive advantage to a country that might have an easier system ?

Mr. IncErsorr. I don’t see that there would be any disadvantage to
2 country if they wanted to exclude all commissions, because every-
body involved would be under the same rules. If some country said,
“we are going to have an agent or commission,” then everybody has
the same rules. So I don’t think it would be a disadvantage.

Chairman Proxarme. Then you say, “governments should cooperate
:and exchange information to help eradicate such corrupt processes.”
‘What information would be exchanged and would it be made public?

Mr. Ineersorr. If there were a criminal action, and I refer to the
process that we would suggest, I would say when the case is brought
to trial or for an indictment, then T would think, yes, it would be made
public. Prior to that time T think it would be improper.

Chairman Proxyme. Senator Helms.

Senator Herars, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Ingersoll, I listened with interest to your statement. It was
-quite eloquent and the thrust is one that I think all of us would agree
with essentially. I do have some problem, sir, however in your tense.
I notice throughout the statement that you used the present tense in
asserting that bribes and other illicit payments “cannot be condoned”
and so forth.

Now, when Mr. Hanghton appeared before the Banking Committee
'some weeks ago, I asked him specifically whether he had any impres-
sion that the State Department and/or the Defense Department
knew about the alleged kickbacks and bribes and consultant fees at
the time. I recall, My. Chairman, that before responding he consulted
with his attorney. He did not give an unequivocal answer, but he did
indicate clearly that both State and Defense did indeed have an
awareness of this. ‘

So my question to you: Did the State Department in the past have
-any knowledge about these kinds of alleged transactions?

M. Incersort. What time frame are you talking about, Senator.

Senator Heras, You may select your own time frame, sir. I partic-
ularly want to know whether at any time the State Department had
known about these transactions ? ‘ ‘ '

Mr. Iveersonn. I would like to refer you to the first page of my
statement when I say: “The Department of State has never condoned
such payments.” You are perhaps quarreling with my tense in a few
places and I'tried tomake it—— ' ‘ :

Senator Hrrms. I wasn’t quarreling with it. I just want to know
what the facts are,sir.. -~ -+ = T : :

Mer. Incersors. Well, you were saying that it may be in the future
‘but on the very first page I say: “The Department of State has never.
-condoned such agreements.”
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+ Chairman Proxarme. Would the.Senator yield? You said “condone”
but Senator Helms' question is whether you knew about it. That is
quite different. » . :

Senator Herms. Precisely. .

Mr. Ingersorn. I am coming to that. I want to be sure it is under-
stood we havenever condoned such payments.

Now, whether or not we knew about them, as far as I know we did
not know about them until they were brought to our attention after the
SEC made their investigation. That was our first knowledge.

Senator Herms. In other words, you are saying that at no time, to
the best of your knowledge, did the State Department ever close its
eyes to information it had, Mr. Ingersoll, that this sort of practice may
have been goingon? At no time?

* Mr. Ingrrsory. As far as I know, Senator Helms,

Senator Herms. Did the State Department ever discuss this problem
with a foreign government prior to the more highly publicized episodes
that have occurred ?

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, my tenure in the State Department goes back
only 4 years and almost 2 of those were in Japan. But in the time I
havebeen in Washington I have not known of any.

Senator Hzrazs. Prior to

Mr. INeERsoLL. Are you referring primarily to Lockheed or are you
talking about any other case ?

Senator Heras. I want to know about all companies, sir.

Mr. Ingersorr. I don’t know of any.

Senator Heraes. If you have any information about another com-
pany, I want to know about that.

Mzr. Incersorr. No, I didn’t. No, 1 just wanted to know if you were
referring to Lockheed. i

Senator Flrras. Are you aware whether the State Department at
any time even discussed formulation of a policy to deal with sach
situations as this? Now, again I am using the frame of reference prior
to the more highly publicized cpisodes? —

Mr, Incersonr. Well, the fivst time that this came to my attention
wasin connection with the United Brands case in Honduras. That is of
rather recent vintage, of sometime last year.

Senator Hrras. You may have covered this in your statement prior
to my arrival, Mr. Ingersoll, but has the State Department ever
instructed our ambassadors to announce that no bribes or kickbacks
would be tolerated and that the Embassy would assist the U.S. firms in
resisting extortion ¢

M. Incersorr. I would say that this particular run of cases really
began about last year. We have circulated to the Embassies the response
that we have given particularly in the case of the United Brands case.
In that case we gave the Embassies our response in that case, which was
by letter. And gave them copies of that. .

Wo have also circulated the public statements that we make saying
that we condemn any kind of an action of this type. We have not
given any specific instructions to the embassies other than the ones they
have. So I would say we have kept them informed and we have, by
our general instructions, expected them to report anything of this,
type. A T . .
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Senator Hrras. Very well. Has any ambassador abroad ever re-
%uested assistance from Washington to help solve this problem ? Now,
.would prefer, sir, to have your impression from a date prior to the
highly publicized episode with which we are dealing specifieally now.
r. IngersoLr. Well, as I say, I wasnot aware of this until last year.

I have no knowledge of it before that time,

Senator Feras. Is it possible Secretary Kissinger would have more
knoyledge about it than you?

Mr. Incersorn. Well, he came to the Department about 3 or 4
months before I did so perhaps in that short time he would have,

Senator Irrus. Arve you speaking for Secretary Kissinger in this
connection as to the specific questions I have asked

Mr. Inerrsorn, Well, I don’t know. I would think that I would
have as much information on that as he would because we share all of
this, As I say, there were 3 or 4 months that he was Secretary of State
before I came on as Assistant Secretary of State.

Senator Heras. So you are saying, 1f I may summarize it—and cor-
rect me if I am wrong—so you are saying, sir, that the State Depart-
ment had absolutely no knowledge of anything of this sort gcing on
at any time prior to the time frame that we are talking about?

n Mpy. Inerrsors. I can only say to my knowledge, Senator, we did not
ave.

Scnator Flerars. You have not heard it discussed ¢

Mr, Incersors. I have not.

Senator Hreras, You have not heard it discussed in executive ses-
siong at the State Department?

M. Incersonn. No.

Senator Hrras. Mr, Chairman, I renew my snggestion that we call
Secretary Kissinger and find out what he knows about this.

Chairman Proxsrme, Well, I renew my reaction, which is that that
is an excellent idea. We will do that within the Banking Committee.
That is where you made your request. '

Senator Hrras. Very well.

Chairman Proxztme, That is a good idea. Now, Mr. Secretary, you
were a businessman for many years. I presume you had some direct
involvement in international sales with Borg-Warner? Were yon
aware of a system of bribery and payoffs when you were there?

Mr. InoERSOLL. Y €S, si1.

Chairman Proxaare, You were aware?

My, IzgersorL. Yes, sir,

Chairman Proxarme. Did your company make any such payments?

Mr, Izveersorr, Not that I know of.

Chairman Proxsmre. What was the extent of your awareness?

Mr, Incersorn. It was general knowledge that you frequently lost
business because you didn’t {my off, and our policy was not to pay off.

Chairman Proxmme. Well, if you lost business, to whom did you
lose business? ,

Mr. Inceursorn, Supposedly it was to those who made the payoffs.

Chairman Proxarn. Did you lose business to any American firms?

Mr, IncErsorr. I can’t say for sure, but I would 1magine there were
some American firms,and there were certainly many foreign firms.

Chairman Proxuire. If there were some American firms, did you
call on the State Department for assistance?
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Mr. Incersorr. No, because it was in a foreign country. It is not
something that we felt the State Department could change in the
customs of that country. ; .

Chairman Proxmme. It seems to me that is precisely the place
where only the State Department could really be of assistance. I
realize they can’t change it; but they could at least malke representa-
tions on behalf of businessmen who are being hurt by this kind of
conduct, couldn’t they ? ,

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, I will tell you frankly when I fivst started call-
ing on American embassies, I didn’t find I got enough help from
* them so I didn’t malke many repeat calls.

Chairman Proxmire. I hope you have changed that since you have
been one of the top people in the State Department.

Mr. Ineersorr. It was changed before I came to the State Depart-
ment. It was in the latter part of the 1960’s it began to change. They
began. to recognize the need to pay more attention to economic policy.

Chairman Proxarre. Well, T want to come to that in a minute in
connection with a case I think you expect me to inquire about. Before
I do that, I would like to ask you some questions about Lockheed. You
were Ambassador to Japan during the period when at least some of
the bribes and payoffs by Lockheed to Japanese officials took place.
‘Were you aware formally or informally of any of these payofls while
you were Ambassador ? ,

Mr. Ineersorr. I was not.

Chairman Proxarme. Can you state categorically that you were not
aware of the bribery in Japan or any other country in connection with
the foreign military sales program during your tenure as Ambassador
or Assistant Secretary and your present capacity, except the revela-
tions made in the press and the official hearings?

Mr. IncErsorr. That is true, except some of these have come to us
and been publicized since. The first one I mentioned was one I think
came to the State Department first—the United Brands case.

Chairman Proxriian. Oan you tell us what action you have taken
about the bribes that did come to your attention, if any?

Mr. Incersorr. On United Brands we refused a request from the
company to assist in suppressing the information that was suggested
to us, Senator, on the grounds that revelation might be contrary to
foreign policy interests. : :

Chairman Proxame, Well, I want to come to that, too. But before
I do let me ask this. Supposing you were informed of the bribes while
you were Ambassador to Japan. What actions would you have taken
under those circumstances ? , ’

Mr. Incersort. I would report it to the Department.

Chairman Proxmire. Is that all? Would you have just reported it?

Mr. Ineersornr. Well, I think it would be up to Washington to give
me guidance cn what kinds of actions they would like to have me take.

Chairman Proxuire. Would you have made any protestations to the
Government of Japan and inform them? Wouldn’t that be the action
of a friendly country if they knew of a.crime that had been committed
in their country? _ PR -

Mr. Iweersonn. It depends on what kind of informaton had come
to my attention and how much assurance X had that it was correct..
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‘Without investigating authority or the ability to run down a rumor,
I think it would be very difficult to make protestations to the Govern-
ment until I knew more about it.

Chairman Proxmire. Well, why wouldn’t it have bcen the proper
policy to have taken whatever action you could, Mr. Tngersoll, to in-
quire of Lockheed directly, and to ask the State Department to get
whatever information they could get, and then in turn make that
available to the Japanese Government?

Mr. Ineersorrn. I didn't know that any of this was going on.

Chairman Proxmrre. I know, but I am saying why wouldn’t that
have been a proper policy if you had been the Ambassador at the time

“when this was going on or if you were informed when you were
Ambassador?

Mz, Ixeersorr. I think it is pretty hard to answer a hypothetical
question without knowing the exact circumstances or the facts in the
case. Y can’t make a general reply without kmowing just what it would
have been.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, then what has changed in the attitude of
the embassies? You are acting just the way you acted or as you said
the embassies acted back in the early 1960’s.

Mr. Ingersors. No, I don’t think so,

Chairman Proxmire. I don’t see that you have done anything
different.

Mzr. Ingersorn. Well, I didn’t know of it; so, without the mowledge,
I could not malke the protestation or even report to the Department.

Chairman Proxamrme. But all you said you do is tell the Department.
You wouldn’ take any other action?

Mr. Invezrsorr. I can’t tell what action would have taken place after
I have reported it to the Department.

Chairman Proxare. All right, sir, let me pursue that in this way.
You are now one of the top people in the State Department. As I
understand it, you are No. 2 man. If you received such a report
from an embassy, what action would you advise taking now? What is
your understanding of the action that the State Department would be
expected to take under present policy? ,

Mr. IngersorL. If it were a request from a company and they could
give me regsonable evidence that the act took place, I would certainly
recommend a protest to the government, if it were a government that
was involved. : :

Chairman Proxmire. 'Well, what kind of evidence do you want?
These people who solicit bribes are pretty cagey and careful. They are
not gomg to leave anything in wrting. Do you want a photograph
or 2 tape recording or what kind of hard evidence do you need?

Mr. Incersonn., Well— 2

Chairman Prox»rre. After all if it is a reputable businessman why

“isn’t it proper to pass onto the foreign government the allegation, Mz,
Ingersoll, with the understanding, with the clear expression, that this
is simply an allegation for them to investigate, if they wish, but it

- comes from a source which we can ascertain is a reputable firm.

Mr. Tvgersorr. T think if we have that Iind of evidence, we certainly
should passiton. .. . o . e

 Chairman Proxarrs, All right, sir, now the State Department .- -
pressed its concern. about pogsible foreign policy repercussions if the
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details of the Lockheed bribes were disclosed. You did that, I under-
stand, to the court. Since then the Japanese Government formally
requested details including the names,of,reclglents of the bribes. And
because of the court’s position the Japanese Government has not been
able to secure those. So what the State Department’s official response
to that request and have the details been given to the Government of
Japan?

Mr. Invoersonn. Well, I would like to say that a letter was sent to the
court by Secretary Kissinger on the 28th of November, last year.

I would just like to quote from that letter because there has been
a ot of—— ‘

Chairman Proxmire. Would you give us that letter so we can make
that part of the record ?

My, Inerrsorr. Surely.

[The letter referred to follows:]

THE SECRETARY OF STATE,
Washington, D.C., November 28, 1975.
Hon. EbwARrp H, LEvI,
Attorney General

DeAnr Mr. ATTORNEY GENERAL: I am writing to request that you exercise your
authority under section 516 of Title 28 of the United States Code to file a Sug-
gestion of Interest of the United States in a matter now pending before Judge
John H. Pratt, United States District Court for the District of Columbia. The case
before Judge Pratt, Securities and Baechange Commission v. Lockheed Aircraft
Oorp. et. al., Mise. No. 75-0189, concerns the effort of the Securities and Hix-
chunge Commission to enforce a subpoena and subpoena duces tecum of June 19,
1975, against the Lockheed Corporation. The subpoenas are for testimony and the
production of documents in connection with an investigation of allegedly im-
proper activities by Lockheed, including unreported payments to foreign officials.
Lockheed hag filed a cross-motion and proposed an order which would require
the company to comply with the subpoenas, with provision, however, for protec-
tion from public disclosure of the names and nationalities of certain foreign
persons identified in the subpoenaed documents or in future depositions.

On November 19, 1975, Rogers and Wells, Counsel for Lockheed wrote to me
formally requesting the Department of State to file a Suggestion of Interest in
the case. Accordingly, officers of the Department have examined some. of the
documents under subpoena which contain the names of officials of friendly
foreign governments alleged to have received covert payments from Lockheed.
As the Department has stated on many occasions, the making of any such pay-
ments and their disclosure can have grave consequences for significant foreign
relations interests of the United States abroad. We reiterate our strong con-
demnation of any such payments, but we must note that premature disclosure
of third parties of certain of the names and nationalities of foreign officials at
this preliminary stage of the proceedings in the present case would cause damage
to United States foreign relations. We wish to emphasize that our expressions
of interest pertains only to a very small number of documents. We would be
pleased, should Judge Pratt so desire, to have representatives of the Department
meet with him and commsel for the parties in camere, and discuss the precise
limits of the Department’s area of concern.

The Department has stated and reaffirms its resolve not to shield American
firms which have made such payments from legitimate law énforcement actions
by responsible authoritieg of either the host country or the United States. Our
interest in having certain documents in this case protected grows simply out of
our desire that documents which contain uncorroborated, sensational and poten-
tially damaging information not be made publie as long as that is not necessary
for purposes of effective law enforcement. The Department of State wishes to
make clear that it requests protection for the foreign policy interests of the
United States only to the extent that this can be accomplished without impeding
investigation and enforcement actions by authorized agencies of the United
States. In this case, the Department of State respectfully defers to the judgment
of the Court as to whethér a protective order can be fashioned which will pre-
vent premature disclosure to thiré parties of the names and nationalities of cer-
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tain foreign officials withont impeding access to the information in question by
appropriate law enforcement hodies.
I would appreciate your bringing the views of the Department of State on this
niatter to the attention of Judge Pratt, )
© - Best regards, ) ’
HeNRY A. KISSINGER.

Mr. Ingersors, But it goes on to say, Senator:

Officers of the Department have examined some of the documents under sub-
pena which contain the names of officials of friendly foreign governments alleged
to have received covert payments from Liockheed,

It goes onto say:

Our interest in having certain documents in this case protected grovvs simply
out of our desire that documents which contain uncollaborated, sensational and
potentially damaging information noi be made public as long as that is not
necessary for purposes of effective law enforcement, The Department of State
wishes to make clear that it requests protection for the foreign poliey interests
of the United States only to the extent that this could be accomplished without

impeding investigation and enforcement actions by authorized agencies of the

United States. -
And then it goes on:

In this case, the Department of State vespectfully defers to the judgment of
the court as ‘to whether a protective order can be fashioned which will prevent
premature disclosure to third parties of the names and nationalities of certain
foreign officials without impeding access to the informsation in question by
appropriate law enforcement bodies. :

-Chairman Proxarme. It seems to me that puts a tremendous burden
on the court. After all, the State Department is far better equipped to
determine and make & judgment as to whether or not a foreign country
can provide protection for the innocent. It would seem to me in a case
of a country like Japan with its excellent record in this regard, that
you would be able to provide Japan or provide many countries with
this information, with the understanding that they would not disclose
information that might damage innocent people.

Mr. Iveersonr, This is just the procedure that I proposed in my
statement. - . ' :
Cltmirma,n Proxame. Well, you asked the court to make the judg-
ment. SR : :

My, Ingersorr. No, that was at that time before the procedure was
established. " - S ' ' o

"

Chairman Proxmirr, Well, let me ask you this then. Has the State |

Department to date provided, taken action to see that that information
is made available to the Government of Japan? ,

- Mr. Ingersorr. The State Department has been discussing with the
SEC and the Justice Department that this procedure——

Chairman Proxyire. You say, “discussing.” This has been discussed
for weeks and weeks and weeks. .~ -

Mr, Ineersorr, Well I was saying through this-discussion the pro-
cedure has been established. And the Justice Department is nowin a
position-to-provide documents to interested foreign governments.

- Chairman Proxmire, When was this established ? - o

Mr, IncErsorL. Last week.

Chairman Proxmme. When was Japan notified ? ,

Mr. Incersorr. This is the announcement today to all governments
and not just Japan, because there are other governments involved.
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-Chairman Proxyre. You just announced it today for the first time?

Mr. Invangsorr. Right. '

Chairman Proxatme. Let me see if Trunderstand precisely what you
are saying. Are you saying now that this information will be-released ?

Mz. Incersorn. Will be made available.

Chairman Proxmme. Will be made available? T should say, not
released,; will be made available to the Japanese Government.

Mr. Incersorn. Well, I tried to point out that this does not apply
only to the Japanese Government but all interested governments.

Chairman Proxamme. I understand, but as far as Lockheed is con-
cerned. there is a specific situation.

1%1‘. Ixcersorn. There are specific cases from other governments as
well.

-Chairman Proxarme. There are indeed, but T am talking about that
particular situation fivst.

Mr. Incersorn. This procedure will be made available to the Japa-
nese Government and any other government that would request it.

Chairman Proxscme. When will they get it ?

Mr. Ineersorn. That is up to the SEC and the Subcommittee on
Multinational Corporations, and the Justice Department to work that
out with the law enforcing agency of the foreign government.

Chairman Proxmrre. Well, I think what is likely to happen—and
we had a hearing just the other day as you know when we had Mr.
Haack and Chairman Hill of the SEC—and it was apparent there
that there is negotiation going on now between the SEC and Lock-
heed. And that negotiation is to determine the method in which an
investigation will be made of the Lockheed payments, that is, who
will make the investigation. It will be the directors of Lockheed
presumably and some independent person perhaps. If that is done, that
investigation is expected to take 6 months. Do you think that is
satisfactory?

Mr. Iveersorr. I think it is if it protects innocent people who might
have their reputations damaged by unsubstantiated allegations.*

Chairman Proxarre. But as Mr. Haack pointed out and as we all
know, innocent people have been virtually destroved by the rumors and
allegations. For the life of mé I can’t understand why it takes months
and months and the major part of a year to make available informa-
tion that should be rather divect and simple. The fact is that Lockheed
made payments and they admitted it. They paid $24 million in illegal
payments abroad and about $8 million in Japan. I can’ for the life of
me understand why that cannot be made evident. They cannot say
those checks were made to a specific agent by name. They must have
been made to a number of agents in Japan. If they could give that,
that country and the other countries involved could investizate it. But
they have a beginning then and they know where to go if they do
that. They have the documentation for the start. ,

Mr. Trweersorr. Well, T have suggested a process by which that can’
take place by any foreign government that wishes to-avail themselves
of this procedure. ' :

A'Seeletter from Mr. Ingersoll 6f Mar, 31, 1976,'appendix; p. 187.
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Chairman Proxyme. Well, that sounds like a mighty cumbersome
detailed procedure. You go to a Federal court and you go to a con-
gressional committee and Government agencies.

Mr. Ineersorr. No, I said in my statement that we would ask the
courts to modify their order to make this possible.

Chairman Proxyre. When did you ask the court to do that?

Mr. Incersort. I said we would do so. T didn’t say we had.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, when would you?

Mr. Ingersorr. Whenever we get a request.

Chairman Proxarre. You mean you haven’t gotten a request from
the Japanese Government?

Mr. Incersorn. Not for that, no sir. And it may not be necessary.
Tt may be possible to transfer these documents without the court order
being modified. .

Chairman Proxamre. Well, at any rate you are telling me that in the
event a foreign government like Japan or Flolland or whatever the
foreign government is, wishes to secure this information, that if they
malke the protestation to the Department of State, you will in turn go
to the court and ask the court to modify their restrictions so that
under proper safeguards, My. Ingersoll, this will be made available to
the foreign countries. Isthat right?

Mr. Inarrsorr. That is right.

Chairman Proxarme. Do you want to modify that ?

Mr, Iveersorn. I wnderstand that the preluninary judgment of the
SEC is that there will be no nced for the modification of the court
order. So that the process could be implemented immediately.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, you made that clear but let’s see if I
understand it now. By “immediately” you mean that could be done
today?

M:Z. Ixeersorr. I think that each government will have to make its
arrangements with our Justice Department.

Chairman Proxarire. So you are saying that instead of going to the
State Department, the forecign government can go divectly to the
Justice Department ? .

Mr. Ivemrsorr. They will malke their vequests to us. ' We in turn would
ask the Justice Department to be in touch with their Minister of Jus-
tice or law enforcement agency in that country.

Chairman Proxmme. Senator Helms.

Senator Hrerys, Mr. Ingersoll, I certainly don’t want to even have
the appearance of badgering you, and I don’t want to belabor the
point, but I am somewhat mystified in the light of all the reports that
have come to me, sir, that apparently at the State Department during
all of these years when these things were alleged to have occurred, that
there was a complete “hiear no evil and see noevil.?

Now, just tell me this one more time. Nobody at the State Depart-
ment ever dreamed anything of this sort was going on at any time?
I am talking about the official top-echelon people. :

Mer. Iweersors. Well, I probably was in a position to be closer to it
than anybody else because I was in Japan at the time. And the only
thing that I heard was that people were cutting price to get the order.
Now, that is done all over the world both in this country and elsewhere.
So that T did not see that that was any reason for me'to report to the
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State Department or anywhere else or to complain to the Japanese

Government. .

Senator Hrras. Mr. Chairman, I think I have no further questions.
- Chairman Proxarme. Mr. Ingersoll, you said earlier that unilateral
action should be talken only with respect to acts committed within the
United States. Suppose a firm’s international sales are subsidized by
our Government with a low-interest loan or a loan guarantee? Should
our Government take no unilateral action with respect to such a firm
that we know is engaging in bribes in a foreign country ? )

Mr. Ixcenrsorr. Well, we suggested we subscribe to the—I think
both the Flouse and Senate have come up with an amendment to the
Foreign Military Sales Act whereby it is required that they disclose
any such payments or any actions on their part of this type. We cer-
tainly do subscribe to that requirement. I think this would give our
Government an opportunity to see whether there are any improper
payments. e

Chairman Proxarmre. Now, with respect to foreign military sales,
in your statement you say:

Defense and State have taken steps to insure that governments who make
purchases under the foreign military sales program are fully informed of any
agent’s fees that are included in the price of the goods sold.

Is this a recent action?

Mr. IngersoLr. I would say on a universal basis, yes, but it has
been done selectively in recent years.

Chairman Proxyrire. When was it taken on a universal basis?

My, Incersorr. I will have to supply that for the record. I don’t
really know,

Chairman Proxare. How recently roughly? Can you tell us that?
Was it the last week or two?

My. Ixceersorn. I know some cases were last year but I don’t know
whether it went before that. That is the first time it came to my
attention.

Chairman Proxmime. Was it done by Executive order or regula-
tion or an oral understanding or what? -

Mr. IneeERSOLL. Yes, it was a regulation of the Defense Department
which primarily handles the FMS contracts.

Chairman Proxyrre. Would you get us a copy of that and send it
to the committee?

Mr, IngersoLL. Surely.

[The following information was subsequently supplied for the
record :]

[Telegram]

To: CSA Washington, D.C.; ONO VWashington, D.C.; CSAF Washington, D.C.;
CARMISH MAAG Tehran, Iran; CJUSMAG, Athens, Greece; GJUSMAG
Bangkok, Thailand ; CTUSMAG Seoul, Xorea ; CMAAG Addis Ababa, Bthio-
pia; CMAAG Ankara, Turkey; CMAAG Bonn, Germany; CMAAG Copen-
hagen, Denmark; CMAAG Lima, Peru; CMAAG Lisbon, Portugal; CMAAG
Madrid, Spain; OMAAG Manila, Philippines; CMAAG Oslo, Norway;
OMAAG Paris, France; CMAAG Rome, Italy; CMAAG Santo Domingo,
Dominican Republic; OMAAG Taipei, Taiwan ; CMAAG The Hague, Nether-
lands; USDAQO Canberra, Australia; USMTM Dhahran, Saudi Arabia;
COMUSMILGP Burenog Aires, Argentina; COMUSMILGP Caracas, Vene-
zuela ; COMUSMILGP Guatemala City, Guatemala ; COMUSMILGP La Pagz,

Bolivia; COMUSMILGP Montevideo, Uruguay; COMUSMILGP Panama
City, Panama; COMUSMILGP Quito, Ecuador; COMUSMILGP Rio de
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Janeiro, Brazil; COMUSMILGP San Salvador; COMUSMILGP San Jose,
Costa Rica; COMUSMILGP Santo Domingo; COMUSMILGP Tesucigalpa,
Honduras; COMUSMILGP Asuncion, Paraguay; USDAQ Vienna, Austria;
COMUSMILGP Managua, Nicaragua; CMDAQO Tokyo, Japan; CHMAAG
Brussels, Belgium; JBUSMC Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; USDAOQ Jakaria, In-
donesia; USDAO el Aviv, Israel; USDAO Amman, Jordan; AMEMB
Kuwait, Kuwait; USDAO Beirut, Lebanon; CHUSBMISH Monrovia,
Liberia ; USDAO Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia; USDAO Mexico City, Mexico;
CHMUSLO Rabat, Moroceo; USDAO Wellington, New Zealand; USDAO
Islamabad, Pakistan; USDAO New Delhi, India; USDAQ Singapore;
USDAO Stockholm, Stweden; USDAO Berne, Switzerland; USDAO Tunis,
Tunsia; USDAO London, England; USCINCEUR Vaihingen, Germany;
USCINCSO Quarry, Heights, Canal Zone; and CINCPAC Honolulu, Hawaii,

IFrom : A5SD :I8A (6A.)/0SAA/TS.

Subject : Agents fees/commissions for foreign military sales.

References: (A) DA MSG 1109002 Jul 75 (Nutal) ; (B) AFLGPC Letter dated 1
July 75 Subj: agent's fees/commissions for foreign military saleg (Nutal) ;
and (C) ONM procurement planning memorandum (PPM) number 27 dated
3 July 75 (Notal).

1. The following outlines current policies for the inclusion of agent's fees
for foreign military sales and supersedes previous policies issued on subject.

2. Unless a purchasing government has indicated to contrary (see paragraph
5 below) it is policy of Department of Defense that all agent's fees anticipated
to be included in FMS contracts be made known to purchasing government prior
to or in conjunction with submission of letter of offer to that government. Such
advice will include (a) the name and gddress of the agent(s); (b) the estimate
of the proposed fee, along with a statement as to the percentage of sale involved
if such fee is based on a percentage of the sale price; and (c) a statement
indicating one of the following, whichever ig applicable: (I) appropriate of-
ficials within the U.S. DOD consider the fee to be fair and reasopable; (II) in
the event only a portion of the proposed fee is considered fair and reasonable, o
statement to this effect together with the rationale therefore; or (IIT) the USG
cannot determine reasonableness of hte proposed fee. The most appropriate
means of providing such advice normally will be as a “note” to the lefter of
offer. Such a note may also include . the coniractor’s explanation of and/or
juslification for the proposed charge, together with any other data which may
be requested by the purchasing government,

3. The “notes” to the letter of offer also will inciude a statement to the effect
that acceptance of letter of offer by the purchasing government, after receipt
of the notification outlined above will constitute that government’s approval of
the agent’s fee/commission involyed.

4, Where it is not possible to determine prior to presentation of letter of offer
whether or not the price to be paid for materiel/services will include agent's
fees, the purchasing government will be notified as soon as possible if subsequent
contract negotiations indicate that agent’s fees charges will be claimed by
contractor, ‘This notification will include the information outlined in paragraph 2
above, along with an indication that the DOD will determine whether or not
to accept such costs as a valid charge to the contract unless contrary notification
is veceived from the purchasing government within 30 days of the date of the
notification. No agent’s fees will be accepted by the contracting officer prior to
that date. ‘

5. DOD reserves right to disallow any fee on basis that amount is unreasonable
or agent is not bonafide. If DOD determines any fee unreasonable or that the
agent is not bonafide the fee svould not be allowable .and therefore no réport
of agent’s fee would be included within the letter of offer. Further, no fee shall
be accepted by DOD if disapproved by the purchasing government.

8. Defense security assistance agency will consider country requests to deviate
from the above policy. Currently, requests have been honored from the govern-
ments of Tran, Kuwait and Israel and the minister of defense and aviation of
Saudi Arabia that all letters of offer issned to these governments will include the
tollowing statement : Quote

All U.S. government coniracts resulting from this letter of offer shall contain
one of the following provisions, unless the agent's fee/commission has been
identified and payment thereof approved in writing by the government of (blank)
before contract award : .

(a) For firm fixed price: confracts or fixed price contracts with escalation:

The contractor certifies that the contract price does not include any direct or
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indirect costs of agent’s fees/commissions for contractor sales agents involved
in foreign military sales to the government of (blank).

(b) All other types of contracts:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this contraect, any direet or indirect
costs of agent’s fees/commissions for contractor sales agents involved in foreign
military sales to the government of (biank) shall be considered as an unallowable
item of cost under ¢his contract, Unquote.

Accordingly, with respect to these four purchasers, paragraph 3 of this message
will not apply. As to them, specific writtén approval of agent's fees/commissions
isrequired prior o contract award.

7. Inclusion of a ‘“mote” to the letter of offer with respect to agent's fees/
commission shall not be deemed, with respect to distribution and availabiiity of
copies of the letter of offer as altering the proprietary nature, if any, of such
data for the purposes of 18 U.8.C. 1905.

Chairman Proxmire. Suppose a bribe or a large agent’s fee is paid
but not included in the price of goods sold. Will the steps that have
been taken cover that kind of a situation?

My, Ixerrsorr,. You mean if a company—— .

Chairman Proxyire. I mean in the form of a kickback. That is
what Lockheed said they did: They said they didn’t bribe anybody;
they just had Ikickbacks. The distinetion was, of course, that their
stockholders' weren’t hit with it and they said the guarantee wasn’t
affected because the poor sucker was the customer in the foreign
country. They would pay more. They. would pay the bribe in effect
out of the higher prices. Would that be covered ? That is my question.
Would that be covered in your regulations?

Mr, Ixeersorn. I think the DOD regulations provide that any pay-
ment, whether it be a bribe or any commission or anything, must be
reported. Therefore the foreign government knows if they are paying
a commission, they know it in the price.

Chairman Proxmmme. Well, that is right. I wanted to be sure it was
covered in either of them because you state:

The Departments of Stafe and Defense have taken steps to insure that foreien
governments who purchase defense articles and services under the Foreign
Military Sales program are fully informed of any agent’s fees that are included
in the price of the goods sold.

* M. Twemrsora. Yes.

Chairman Proxmire., That would answer that question. Then if it
is not included in the price, you also would be assured that you would
be notified, be informed % )

Mr. Incersonr. If it is not included, we wouldn’t know about, it.

I understand the new regulations that ave being proposed in this
particular foreign assistance bill will cover commissions paid out of
profits as well as those that are considered a cost. So I think that would
cover those cases.

Chairman Proxarme. All right, sir, whether it is included in the
price or whether it is aside and apart from the price, and therefore
taken ont of profits? :

My Ixamrsorr. They are required.

Chairman Proxwrre. The foreion government would be informed ?

Mpr. Iwarrsorr. The seller would be required to——

Chairman Proxmrre. Inform the government of the procuring
countrv ? )

Mr. I_NGERSOLL. Well, to us, to the U.S. Government under the new
legislation, and then we would in turn notify the foreign government.
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Chairman Proxmme. I see. But that is not the case now?

M. IneeErsorn. No.

Chairman Proxyre. When will that go into effect ?

Mr. Ineersorr. Whenever that bill gets passed. I think it is still in
conference now.

Chairman Proxare. Suppose a very large fee is paid, reported, and
not objected to? Is that OXK under your ]?)olicy? Supposing a very large
fee ispaid, reported, and not objected to?

Mr. Incersorn. Would that be what?

Chairman Proxyure. Is that all right under your policy?

Mur. Ineersorr. If it has relation to the size of the order and the
ei%’ort required to get the order; I would say yes. Well, you can have
a large——

Chairman PROXMIRE. Well, suppose it is large, the fee is large in
relation to the order. Suppose it is excessive but there is no objectiom
toit? : s
My, In¢ERsOLL. By the purchaser you mean. :

Chairman Proxyrme, That is rght. Suppose, for exanmple, - the
usual eommission on these things is 1 percent but here i~ one that is 20
percent or 10 percent or 10 times the usual commission? .

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, it depends on the size of the order. If it were
a small order, 20 percent probably wouldn’t be enough. If it were s
large order, 1 percent might be too much., B

Chairman Prox»me. Suppose it is 10 or 20 times the usual
commission. : : :

Mr. Eveprsorn. Under the present regulations the Defense Depart-
ment could prohibit inclusion of any agent’s fee as an item of allow-
able costs to the purchaser in a foreign military sales transaction 1716
determined that the fee was unreasonable or that the agent was not
bona fide. Criteria are set forth in the regulations for making such
determinations. If Defense proved unable to reach such a determina-
tion, it could refer the matter to the purchasing government.

Chairman Proxamire. Well, does that mean that the bribe is all right
ifitisnot protested? :

My, Iwaersorn. Well, if the purchaser or the foreign government
believes that that is the cost of making a sale to them and they do not
eliminate a commission, I don’t know what concern we have.

Chairman Proximre. Let me give you an example. Assume we have
a sale of arms to a government for $1 billion. The agent who persuades
the government to buy the arms charges the seller 5 percent or $50
million. You are saying such a huge payment is acceptable so long as it
is reported and approved by the foreign government even though the
agent may in fact have distributed the $15 million to various govern-
ment officials # Is that correct? '

Mr. Ineersorn. If the government wants to purchase any articles
on that basis, I don’t quite kmow why we should want to preclude their
being able to do so. I might say that I have had some experience with
commissions for agents and the circumstances can change; that is,
the size of the orders that he has been nominally getting. He might
have a 20-percent or a 15-percent commission under a circumstance
where it is very difficult to get the business. All of a sudden, as has been:
the case in the Middle Bast where there is a large flow of money and



n large flow of sales, the commission that heretofore was completely
proper is no longer proper and that should be principally up to the
purchaser to negotiate a revised commission rate. And I think that
the buyer is the one who should have the responsibility for that.
You are not going to be expecting a salesman to want to cut his price
unless by competition he is forced to. Sometimes——

Chairman Proxarire. T am talking about foreign military sales.

Mpr, Incersorn. Yes, but they arve sales in which we do not
contribute——

Chairman Proxmime. In which the U.S. Government is involved.
Are you saying a $15-million bribe wouldn’t be considered anything
we should be concerned about unless the purchaser objects?

Mz, Incersorr. I would like to differentiate between a commission
and a bribe. I don’t believe that legitimate commissions are bribes
because that is a legitimate way of doing business around the world.
If there is a bribe involved, that is illegitimate.

Chairman Proxarrre, If there is o bribe involved, it is what ?

Mr, Incersorr. It is illegitimate X would say in most countries, and
certainly in this country. Most countries have laws against bribery.

Chairman Proxasrize. But under this new system that you are pro-
posing though, Mr. Ingersoll, they are military sales, foreign military
sales made by our Government. And if bribes are paid in the foreign
country, no action would be taken unless that foreign country objects?

M. IncErsorr. Well, I think this case; Mr. Chairman, is a very dif-
ficult one. I think commissions are usually paid to an agent. e may
have some relationship to the government and he may have, as you
say, some of this onto other members of the government. We report—
that is, the DOD looks over the commission that is reported in the
expected sale. DOD can determine at the outset, using criteria set
forth in the armed services procurement regulations, that the fee is
unreasonable or that the agent is not bona fice, thus excluding the fee
as an item of allowable costs. If it cannot reach such a determination
on the basis of information available to it, it could refer the issue to
the purchaser.

Chairman Proxarre. Well, I am not talking about the reasonable-
ness of the commission. I realize sometimes commissions may or may
not be reasonable. I realize they may be somewhat excessive. I realize
that is something we can’t do a great deal about. But what we should
be able to do something about; if all of these actions mean anything,
is to prevent bribes.

M. Ineersorr. Well, I think it is very worthy, a very worthy effort,
but I am not sure you are always going to be able to do it in other coun-
tries, In this country, yes.

Chairman Proxarire. Well, what has been changed by the State De-
partment and Pentagon arrangement that you described? Until re-
cently at least the Pentagon was teaching its contractors how to make
payoffs as I said in my opening remarks. You may recall the state-
ment published by the Pentagon in 1974, “Agents’ fees in the Middle
East,” which dealt with the problem in which it said, “Influence in
-these countries may range from family ties to the payments of substan-
tial sums to individuals in high government positions.”



The statement continues:

Since most major Defense contractors both United States and foreign have local
agents for the express purpose of influencing a sale. It is no wonder that the
decisionmaking process is complicated by conflicting points of view as to the
proper equipment to acquire, Obviously the agent with the greatest margin of
profit has a distinet advantage over those with a lesser fee in that greater influ-
ence can be applied to all pergonnel in the govermmental decisionmaking chain.

Now, as a result of the new arrangement, are such statements no
longer being made to U.S. contractors?

My, Ixeersorn. Well, I would like to have a copy of that becanse I am
not aware of it. But I do not know of that practice being pursned by
the Defense Department. I know that they are providing the foreign
governments with the amount of the fee, or if the government says,
*1We do not permit a fee,” then the DOD does not agree to a fee in the
price. v

Chairman Proxaire. Well, I have here the document to which I
referred. It says, “Defense Security Assistance -Agency, Washington,
D.C.> It is & memorandum to the aerospace industry, the electronic
industry, the NSTA and was signed by Joseph K. Hoenig, assistant
director, sales negotiations. It is dated July 5, 1974.

And then T take it that in view of the assertions that you have made
that State and Defense are cooperating in this, that that kind of policy
is no longer the policy being pursued ?

Mz, INgersorL. As far as T know it is not.

Chairman Proxarre. Well, don’t you thinlk

My, Incersorn. And I was not aware of this document you speak of.

Chairman Proxarme. Well, this is 2 most disturbing document. This
is a document that is counseling in efiect corruption. It suggests
bribery.

Mr. Incersorz. It is counseling the way business is done in those
aveas. I would certainly subseribe to that.

Chairman Prox»rire. Supposing business is done through kidnap-
ping and assassination and extortion, should we give them instructions
on how to do it, on how to rub somebody out to get the sale?

Mr, Incersorn. I wasn’t aware of this document and I certainly
wouldn’t condone it or recommend it be distributed.

Chairman Proxarrre. Well, I would think in view of the fact it has
been distributed, that it would be most important that the State
Department and the Defense Department issue instructions to these
people who receive this document, saying that now the policy is quite
different and we not only condemn bribery but are taking every action
we can to prevent it.

Mr. Incersory. I think you are right, siv.

[The following information was supplied for the record :]

We have looked into the Defense Department document entitled “Agents Fees
in the Middle East” and are informed that it has not been disseminated by
Defense for many months, I helieve the significant changes in Defensge Depaviment
practices with respect to agent’s fees, which are set forth subsequently and are
known throughout the industry, make further clarification of the above document
unnecessary at this time,

Chairman Proxyire. I am convinced, as T am sure you are as a suc-
cessful businessman of high integrity, that bribery was something that
disturbs you a great deal.
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Mzr. Ineersorr. It really does. ‘ '

Chairman Proxmire. And it really hurts your honest operations.
Atmd Itam sure the great majority of American businessmen want to
stop 1t

I\IZII'. Inaersorn. It wasn’t only overseas. It was in this country.

Chairman Proxmire. Well, I am sure that is true but right now we
are concerned with the problem here. Of course that is the State
Department’s responsibility.

Now, you said iﬁmt the State Department did not know about—in a
response to Senator Helms earlier, Mr. Ingersoll, you said the State
Department did not know about these hribes until the SEC’s disclo-
sure this year. Isn’t it a fact that our embassies in the Middle East and
the highest officials in the State Department have kmown for years of
payments of large fees to agents as high as 10 to 15 percent of sales in
some cases? Tsn’t it true State Department officials have helped nego-
tiate or expedite the payment of those fees?

Mr. Incersors., Certainly not to my knowledge. And T cannot believe
that we would negotiate or expedite any kind of fee.

Chairman Proxyire. Are you aware that documents filed with the
STEC by Northrop Corp. show a long-standing pattern of such involve-
ment by both State and Pentagon employees in sales abroad?

Mr. Tvarrsorn, No, T am not.

Chairman Proxmire. Well, we will be happy to make those docu-
ments available to vou. Thev are filed with the SEC.

Mzr. Inezrsorr. Are you talking about agents’ fees or are you talking
about bribes? ‘

Chairman Proxmire. Well, I am talking about fees that are extraor-
dinarily large especially in view of the size of the sales involved
and that the State Department and the Defense Department, and the
State Department particularly, assisted in negotiating those fees.

Mr. IneErsorn. You mean with the governments?

Chairman Proxarre. With the government. That is right. Northrop
‘Corp.,is what T am talking about specifically.

Mu. Ineersorn. State Department officials assisted in the negotiation
of those fees?

Chairman Proxarre. We will provide that doenmentation to you,

Mer. Inanrsorr. That is contrary to anything I have ever heard, but
‘T wonld like to see it, sir, .

Chairman Proxaree. Will you comment on it when we send you the
-documents ? Will you give us your response?

Mr. Ingrrsorn. Yes.

Chairman Prox»rme. You will?

Mr. Inarrsorn. Yes, sir, v

[The following information was subsequently supplied for the
record:] ‘

Pursuant to Senator Proxmire’s offer Committee Staff provided the Depart-
ment of State with the following documents :

(1) unsigned copy of a one page letter dated July 5, 1974 from Josef K.
Hoenig, Assistant Director, NBSA/ATR Division of the Defense Security Assist-
ance Agency covering an “article” prepared by the Department of Defense
entitled “Agent's Fees in the Middle Bast” (4 pages) ; ‘

(2) a-copy of a five page typed document numbered 453457 and 7-11 en-
titled “Five page hand written memo, on graph paper, entitled notes for con-

versation with Adnan” (names of the persons who authored and transecribed
the document wete not listed).
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(8) copy of five page document, numbered 479-483 and 338-37 apparently
summarizing various documents from Northrop’s files, (Name of author of
summary lot listed) 3

© (4) copy of 3 page telegram dated Maxch 2, 1972 from Manuel &. Gonzalez
to Gaylord Anderson and R, G. Rogan bearing numbers 495-497 and 52-54;

(5) copy of two page document stamped “Northrop Private” with handwritten
notafion “Note for Mr. Jones’ Trip (undated, apparently late 1970 or early
1971)* Dearing numbers 488 and 489 and 45 and 46. (Name of author nof listed).

I have reviewed the above listed documents and, as explained below, do not
find in them any showing that the State Department or Defense Department
assisted in negotiating or expediting the payment of agents fees,

(1) The first document was an article prepared in the Depdrtment of Defense,
Defense Security Assistance Agency without, to my knowledge, the participa-
tion of the Department of State. We are informed that it was published only
in the Congressional Record and was withdrawn from cirenlation by the Defense
Department shorfly after its basic inadequacy became apparent, i.e its failure
to emphasize the strong U.S. Government opposition to bribery of foreign
governient officials or exorbitant agents feeg. It does not, however, allege any
involvement by personnel of the Departments of State or Defense in negotiating
or expediting the payment of any agent’s fee.

(2) The second document purports to recount events in Saudi Arabia on July
27-28, 1971 surrounding the signing of a Letter of Offer by the Saudi Minister
of Defense and Aviation. With respect to the American Ambassador (Atbagsas
dor Nicholas Thacher who retired from U.S. Government service in 1973) and
General Olin Smith (formerly Chief of the U.S. Military Training Mission in
Saudi Arabin) the document indicates:

The Ambassador and General Smith went to the Saudi Ministry of Defense
on July 27, 1971 to witness the scheduled signing of the Letter of Offer; they
conferred with the Minister of Defense and were informed that the signing had
been postponed to the following day ;

The Ambassador and General Smith then met at the American Embassy,
July 27, first with General Hashim (a Saudi Geperal) and a Mr. Monsouri and
then with Northrop representatives, and requested authority from the U.S. De-
fense Department to certify the price of 20 F-5-B aircraft as a ceiling price;
this request wag turned down; ) )

The Ambassador then attended the signing ceremony on July 28 at the Saudi
Ministry of Defense and allegedly assured the Saudi Minister of Defense that
there were no middle men in the contract in the United States or Saudi Arabia
since this was a government-to-government transaction.

Though the document contains a long description by itg upnamed author of
company inirigues over its agents arrangements, it does not suggest that the
Ambassador or General Smith were in any way aware of either these arrange-
ments or the intrigue or that they facilifated the negotiation or performance
of these arrangements. Since my testimony, State Department personnel have
consulted with. Ambassador Thacher telephonjcally and he recalls no knowledge
of Northrop's agents arrangements at the time the Letter of Offer was signed.

(3) The third document which apparently reflects some unnamed person’s sum-
mary of 1 number of docnments in Northrop's files containg one entry relating to
State Department activities. That entry dated December 3; 1973 summarizes o
memorandum to file from “Gonzalez” and states that a telegzam had been sent
by the State Department, “signed by Hexry Kissinger', to Ambassador Alkins
requesting him to secure the Minister of Defense’s appproval for agent’s fees on
government-to-government (FMS) transactions. The entry subsequently notes
that Ambassador Akins had advised Colling, presumably another Northrop em-
ployee, that he would not initiate a discussion of this issue with the Minister of
Defense. It also states that Ambassador Akins had told Colling “I'd better find
Khashoggi and get him fo speed up Sultan, . . .

A ecable was sent to the American Embassy in Saudi Arabia in early No-
vember, 1973. Since, 25 you know, all cables gent from the Depeartment bear
the Secretary’s napie whisi he is present in Washington, the appearance of
his name on a cable does not indicate that he saw or was personally aware of it.
The cable in question was sent in order to seek Saudi verification of a conten-
tion by Northrop’s agent that the Saudl Minister of Defense considered the
agent's fee contemplated for a particular transaction to be reagonable, In re-
gponse, the Embassy stated that it did not wish to raise the fee issue with the
Saudi Government, and the matter was never raised with respect to the particular
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transaction. A similay issue was raied, however, with repect to related trans-
actions in 1975 with the result that the Saudi Minister of Defense determined
that no agent’s fees would be permitted for those transactions.

The Northrop document also alleges that Ambassador Akins advised “Collins”
that he would approach Khashoggi. Ambassador Akins has informed Department
personnel that he made no such statement and that, while he was Ambassador
to Saudi Arabia, he never once mef with Khashoggi.

The same document goes on to summarize Northrop memoranda in 1974 de-
seribing discussions and communications between Northrop employees and Ma-
jor General Robert F. Trimble (USAX) and other Air Foree staff about North-
rop’s agent’s arrangements, Though this shows some Air Force awareness of
Northrop's agent's arrangements, it does not indicate involvement by the U.S,
Government in facilitating negotiation of agent’s fees or expediting their
payment, ‘

(4) The fourth document (a coded telegram from Manuel G. Gonzalez to
Northrop representatives in Lebanon) states that Gonzalez disclosed to “Thacher”
(presumably Ambassador Thacher) that Northrop had a consultant/representa-
tive agreement with Khashoggi’s company. It also states that Ambassader
Thacher said that Khashoggi’s commission on the various F-0 transactions
through government-to-government channels was substantially lower than on
other (undefined) direct sales. Though the cable indicates that Ambassador
Thacher was knowledgeable regarding Northrop's fee arrangements with Kha-
shoggi, it does not suggest that he assisted in negotiating those fees or in expedit-
ing their payment. Moreover, as noted, Ambassador Thacher has denied to
Department personnel any recollection of awareness of Nortanrop's fee arrange-
ments at the time.

(5) The fifth document contains a general statement c¢vmmending U.S. Gov-
ernment personnel, particularly Ambassador Thacher ard General Smith, for
helping to make the -5 program a success. Again, there is no indication they
assisted in negotiating Northrop's agent’s fees or in expediting their payment.

Chairman Proxatrre. You say that bribes, in the long run, are bad
business, as firms involved in such practices risk loss of contracts,
sales; and even property.

Assuming the United States has the constitutional authority to
regulate foreign activities of U.S. corporations. would you favor legis-
lation outlawing hribes to foreign officials by the U.&. corporations?

Mzr. Ingersonn. Well, I am inclined to think from the standpoint of
the Republie, Senator, that would probably he a good idea. How you
carry 1t ont, I don’t know. I think that is probably up to our law
enforcement agencies to determine that.?

Chairman Proxace. Well, your support is very important. I think
there are ways that it can be carried out. Nothing is likely to be 100
percent effective all the time, Tt seems fo me through requiring dis-
closures, imposing responsibility on anditors and accountants and so
forth, that you can——

Mr. Incersorr. Oh, I am all for disclosure. As I said, we subscribe
to the amendments that have been appended to the Foreign Security
Assistance Act.

Chairman Proxmire. In your statement you say, “unilateral
actions.” As distinet from what vou are proposing today and you have
announced—you say, “Unilateral action would put U.S. companies at
n serious disadvantage in the export trade.” Are you saying that the
United States should continue to encourage firms to go along with the
bribery system or help cover up evidence of bribes until an interna-
tional acreement is reached ?

Mr. Inerrsonr. Well, I think that this subject lras been so distorted
in the press by the fact that commissions are considered as bribes, but

1 See letter from Mr., Ingersoll of Mar, 31, 1976, appendix, p. 187.
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I think it would be unfair to American companies to have to report
commissions and the proprietary information they have in doing their
business, when their competitors are not required to do so. I certainly
don’t condone bribes but I do believe that commissions are a legitimate
way of doing business and I think a very necessary way of doing
business.

Chairman Proxarme. I think so, too. As far as commissions and
bribes being confused, the Lockheed Corp. admitted that they made
I think $160 million in payments abroad; $24 million of which were
payments to foreign officials.

M. IngErgoLL, But there is a headline in one of today’s newspapers
that talks about $70 million being paid to sell jets abroad. Now, I
don’t know what the volume of the business was, and I only read
halfway down the article or three-quarters of the way down and it
does not say how much business was done that required such payments.
I think it velates to the amount of business——

Chairman Proxame, Well, I agree with that. I am talking about
payments to government officials. I am not talking about commissions,
And T agree commissions can be almost any percentage if it is in fact
a comumussion. IT somebody makes a real effort to sell, sometimes it
can be more than 50 percent of the price and be legitimate if it was a
tremendously hard article to sell. But we are talking now about pay-
ments to the officials of the foreign government, who are in the pay
of the foreign government and not working

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, as I say, I think it is probably inevitable that
there will be such legislation but I don’t know how you can enforce
it. And T think it will put American companies at a disadvantage
just because the purchaser is going to say, “I won’t chance my doing
business with that company because it might have an allegation.” And
the allegation might not be true, but the allegation would come out.
Therefore, they are not going to take the chance of doing business.

Chalrman Proxarme. Of course one way to enforce it is through
disclosure.

Mr. Incersorn. Well, that is what we are subscribing to.

Chairman Prox»are. Now, let me get into something else that I
think is of great importance. We had testimony on Tuesday from the
former Ambassador to Australia, U.8. Ambassador William Crook,
and also from William Carden of Translinear, Ine,, concerning at-
tempts by government officials in Haiti to extort money from their
company, soliciting bribes. They testified that they reported the ex-
tortion attempt to the U.S. Embassy and they sent the State Depart-
ment a copy of a telegram addressed to the President of Haiti Iast July
complaining of the extortion attempt but they tetsified the Embassy
did not offer to help them and did not try to help them.

As o vesult of their vefusal to malke payofls and the lack of support
from their own government, they have lost the investment. They have
been asked not to return to Haitl, Ag a matter of fact, they lost at least
$3 million and incurred substantial other losses on sums they had
available for investment.

TWhat is your response to these charges?

Mr. Iveprsorn. Well, first, Translinear Corp. was a subeontractor
to Dupont Caribbean Corp. Therefore, their contract was with another
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company and not with the Haitian Government. When the original
prime contractor, that is Dupont Caribbean, had their contract can-
celed for nonperformance, Translinear Corp. had the first response to
the Dupont Caribbean Corp., with whom they had their contract.
When they were not able fo zet satisfaction, that is with Dupont
Caribbean Corp., they then went directly to the Haitian Government
to see if they could negotiate a contract with them. They never had a
contract with the Haitian Government, So that I don’t know all they
told you, but they have come to the Embassy in Haiti and they have
come to the Department. We have responded. We have made repre-
sentations to the Flaitian Government. They came to us the last time
in July of last year and until they came to us on February 17 of this
year, we had po contact with them, They did not ask us to intercede
on their behalf, They came to us on that date and told us there had
been a request for an extortion in December, 2 months before. We were
not even aware of it-until they came and said that they were going to
disclose this in your hearings. And we understand that there has not
been an expropriation of their property, that they even have a lawver
in Haiti today—as has been released in a press conference by the Under
Secretary of Commerce and Industry in Haiti-—and that they are
p(]egotliating to sell the property, which they consider theirs on this
island.

Chairman Proxurre. Well, we sent you a transcript of the hearings.
I never met either Mr. Carden or Mr. Crook until they appeared be-
fore this committee. All of the conversation between us took place on
the public record and we sent you a full transeript of that so vou
knew of what they told us.

It seems to me it is irrelevant that they were a subcontractor. The
fact is that they were shaken down and they were approached. Nobody
disputes the fact that they have outlined. At least I have not seen any
disputation of the facts as they described them. They did tell the
agency about it. I asked Mr. Crook what he would have done, as Am-
bassador to Australia, if a firm had approached him with this Find of
information. He said he wounld have immediately called the Govern-
ment of Australia in that case and he would have made a full report
to them and wonld have asked for an investigation and he would have
asked for satisfaction, He said in this particular case the American
%mbgssador to Haiti did absolutely nothing except offer them a cup
of coffee.

Mr. Ineersorr. That is entirely contrarv to the facts because the
Ambassador did tall to the Government of Haiti and the Government
said: “Ignore any requests for funds. Deal directly with us, You
don’t have to deal through an intermediary.” And Mr. Crook and his
partner, Mr. Carden was notified of this. As a matter of fact, the
GGovernment of Taiti has said that they would he willing to negotiate
with Translinear Clorp. but will not accept the terms of the contract
Translinear submitted.

Chairman Proxmire. This seems to be a pretty had breakdown
of communications. I think you would agree with me that My, Crook
and Mr. Carden are honest and men of integrity. And I know of
no reason why we wouldn’t expect them to speak the truth. Mr. Crook
has had a long record of service to this Government. As you know,



he has been a successful businessman. e has been, as a matter of
fact, a top man in the State Department as an ambassador.

Mr. Iweersorn. If you would like to take the time, I have the
record of this and I can cite that for you.

Chairman Proxarre, All right, let’s hear it.

Mr. Secretary, before you get into that, let me say what we were
told. Mr. Carden, who is the president of Translinear, on April 28
of last year, almost a year ago, went to the Embassy and told about the
problem and the bribe. He went back to the Embassy on the 9th and
10th to report a lack of progress. Again, he discussed the problem.
That was in May. Later in May he was back in Haiti and on May 22
he went to the Embassy again; he identified the lawyer whom he was
told he should hire in place of the lawyer he had; and pointed out
that that lawyer was in fact employed by the Haitian Government.
And between June 12 and July 18 he——well, yes, Jater in June I should
say, Mr. Ingersoll, he called the Ambassador on the phone from Dallas
and told him about the telegram he was going to send to the Presi-
dent of Haiti, Mr. Duvalier. Now, go ahead. '

Mr. Ixveersorrn, Well, that is true. I don’t know whether it was Mr.
Crook of Mr. Carden who came to the Embassy after they had
been to the Government and complained of this extortion attempt.
They told the Embassy that the Government had said not to pay
any attention to that; that they (Translinear) did not need to malke
any payoff; that they should deal directly with the Under Secretary
of Commerce, Mr. Bayard. Bayard said it must have been a con man
that was trying to take their money and it was not necessary.

Inview of that fact——

Chairman Proxare. Who told them that ?

Mr, Ivemrsorn. Under Secretary Bayard. The Haitian Govern-
ment——

Chairman Proxarze. Who in the U.S. Embassy ? ,

Mr. Ineersorr. Well, this says the DCM. Mr. Crook called on the
DCM and reported the attempts by an unidentified man to solicit a
$500,000 bribe from Translinear.

Chairman Proxuire. What was that date

Mzr. Iweersorn. May 7.

Mr. Crook says he reported the extortion aitempt to Mr. Bayard, who
advised Mr. Crook to ignore it. Crook did not ask for assistance on the extor-

tion attempt but asked that it be made a matter of internal record in the
BEmbassy. .

Then on May 27 :

Mr. Carden called on the Embassy’s Beonomie Officer saying, among other
things, that “three minor matters had to be resolved.”

Junel:

Mr. Crook on June 1 telephoned the Ambpassador to report Transli‘near’s
decision to pull out of negotiations with an intention to recoup losses in the
face of the bleak situation caused by Haitian delays. However, further meet-
ings ave still scheduled with the Haitian Government, Crook made no request
for Embhassy assistance, ‘

July11:

The Ambassador and the Economic Ministet,calied on the Finance Minister
to discuss investment difficulties including Translinear. The Ambassador urged
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the Haitian Government to inform the company whether it wished to con-
tinue negotiations and name the official to do so or inform the company it
does not plan to enter into a contract. The Ambassador expressed hope that
the Government would explain clearly its reasons for not wishing to sign
a contract.

Mr. Crook ealled the Department on July 15 and said that Translinear’s
investors had lost patience with the Haitian Government delays and want to
make publie charges of confiscation of property and extortion. Crook says that
he does not hold this position but is under pressure from investors. He was
invited to come into tlie Department the following week for conversations but
did not.

July 16:

On July 16 Mr. Crook sent the circular telegram to President Duvalier with
copies to Senator Sparkman, Senator Bentsen, Senator Brooks, Senator Xen-
nedy, Senator Jackson, Congressman Pickle, as well as to the Secretary.

August14:

Again, ;n August 14 the Ambassador and the Economiec Minister from our
Embassy discussed Translinear's negotiations * with Secretary Murat of
Commerce.

On October 20 Bayard wrote to William Carden saying Translinear’s con-
traet proposals were unacceptable. The Haitian Government objects to Trans-
linear’s tacties but is ready and willing to meet at “any time of your choosing
to work on a draft convention (i.e. contraet).”

We did not have this letter at that time, Senator. We didn’t get
that until later. But it was sent. Translinear did not inform us of it.

October and November, Translinear officials visited Haiti and did
not contact the ““mbassy, which at the time was unaware of their
visits.

Then the next contact we had was on February 17 when Mr. Crook
called and told us about this hearing and what he was going to say.

Chairman Proxaare. Well, let me ask Mr. Kaufman, who is the
counsel of the committee, to inquire about this. He has made a very
intensive investigation. Let me say I can certainly sympathize with
the reason that Mr. Crook and My, Carden did not contact the Em-
bassy much more than they did because whenever they did contact it,
their response to us was they did nothing; the Embassy gave no reac-
tion whatsoever and no help and no encouragement and no assistance
and no suggestions and they met with nothing but a blank wall,

Mr. Ixerrsorrn. Well, I reported some of the things the Embassy
did to the Government.

My, Kaurnaw, Mr. Secretary, does your record show that Mr. Car-
clen telephoned the Embassy from Dallas—that is, telephoned the Em-
bassy in Haiti from Dallas prior to July 16 to describe the telegram
that Translinear intended to send to the President of Haiti protesting
the attempted extortion ?

Mr. Ingursorn. What was the date of this telephone eall?

Mr. Kaurazan. The telephone call was made between ,June 12 and
the middle of July. We don’t have the precise date.

Mr. Ineersorr. Well, there is a call on June 10 that T referred to
where he reported the Translinear decision to pull out of negotiations
but it does not say anything about a telegram going forth. He talked
to our representatitve here in the Department the day before the tele-
gram went out and did not mention it.

Mr. Kauraan, According to Mr. Carden, he talked with Ambassa-
dor Isham prior to July 16 and deseribed the telegram. In fact, he
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read a draft of the telegram, which was addressed to the President of
Haiti, which also included a description of the attempted extortion.
And according to Mr. Carden, Ambassador Isham urged Mr, Carden
not to send that telegram ; urged him, and the others in Translinear,
toremain patient. Do your records show that?

Mr. Incersorr, I have no record of that but there is a record here
that before sending the cable “Translinear officials had explained their
situation to the Embassy in June. As a result, our Ambassador con-
veyed concern to the Minister of Finance on July 11, and July 16 the
Economic Counselor of the Embassy met with the Under Secretary
of Commerce and impressed upon him the urgency of resolving the
issue.” There were two actions taken after the call in June. '

Mr. Xauvrnmax. In fact the telegram was sent by Translinear to the
President of Haiti on July 16 describing the alleged attempted ex-
tortion; a copy of which was sent to the State Department. Did the
State Department receive that copy of the telegram?

Mr. IncersorL. Yes,sir.

Mr. Kauraan. You said that the Embassy did talk with the Gov-
ernment of Haiti around the middle of July and urged Government
officials to try to speed up the negotiations and resolve the problems
with Translinear. Was it on those occasions that the Embassy officials
reported the alleged attempted extortion ?

Mzr. Ixcersorn. No, because when it was originally reported to the
Embassy, Mr. Crook said that he had already reported it to the Gov-
ernment and that he had been given the information that he should
pay no attention to it.

Mz, Kavuramax. I see,

Mzr. Inaersorr. We didn’t see that it was a current request on their
partatall.

- My, Kaurnax, I see. So in other words, Mr. Crook had stated to the
‘Embassy that he had talked with the Haitian officials and that the
Haitian officials responded that he should not concern himself about
thisincident?

M. IncersorL, That was on May 7.

Mr. Kavramaw. Did anyone from the Embassy ever report the al-
leged attempted extortion to Haitian officials?

Mr, Incersorr. We did not discuss that, to my knowledge, that is,
the extortion attempt, until February when the second extortion at-
tempt was presented to us. We did not know about that until February
and then we did mention that to the Haitian government. But in both
cases—in the case when Mr. Crook talked to the government and in
the case when we talked to them—the Government sald: “Ignore it
because these are not representatives of the Haitian GGovernment, be-
cause these do not represent the Haitian Government.” :

Mr. Kaurman. You said that our Embassy did discuss the extortion
attempt in February with the Haitian officials? Can you give us the
date of that discussion ? -

Mr. Ineersorr., On February 25 the Ambassador discussed the
Translinear-Haitian contract and the extortion allegation with Minis-
ter Bayard, who said that the Haitian Government was still willing
to negotiate the contract and he said that the extortion was probably
the work of some confidence man trying to extort cash from a
businessman.
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Mr. Kauraan. February 25% That is last week I believe. Is it not?
And that was after the chairman invited you to testify in this hearing,
is that not correct ? c v S

Mr. IneersorL. I think the chairman’s letter was dated the 27th of
Tebruary and this was on February 25. At least the letter X have from
the chairman is dated February 27, '

Mr. Kavrman. That is correct, Mr. Secretary, but I believe that
discussions on the staff level between the committee and your office
tool place prior to the 27th, : o

- Mr. Ixerrsonr. It may have, I am not aware of it. But Translinear
had told the Embassy that they had already notified the Government.
They had not told us of the second allegation until 2 months' after
1t took place. I am referring to the second extortion attempt.

Chairman Proxarme. In view of this entire situation and doing your
best as a former businessman yourself, Mr. Secretary, and recogniz-
ing the problems Translinear has and the losses they have suffered,
would you recommend that these gentlemen try again? :

Mr. Ineersorr. It is hard for me to know the exact circumstances
because they were a subcontractor. They had no relationship te the
Haitian Government. Their prime contractor had the relationship.
How they have related to the Government since that time, it seems to
be a mixed story. It has been going on.I would say for & years or
214 years anyway.. They have been unable to resolve their contract
terms with the government. I would say if they have been willing te-
compromise to meet the Haitian Government’s demands for sover-
eignty—as I understand it, this is the isene; it is the matter of sover-
eignty on this particular Island—and the Haitian Government will not
accept some of the terms they have suggested and if they are willing:
to modify that, they could find out the true interest of the Haitian
Government by trying a modification.

Chairman Proxarmme. Well, you see here is a situation where this
firm designed a very, very elaborate and expensive—it was $15 mil-
lion I think it was or more—prcject for hotels, golf courses, tennis
courts, a beach, a beantiful development in Haiti that would have been
very beneficial to both Haiti and to the firm.involved. They were warm-
1y encouraged to do this. They proceeded very constructively np until
the time that they discovered water on the Island. When they dis-
covered water, they found that this would greatly increase the eco-
nomic value of their operation. It was within a very short time after
they discovered water and it became known they discovered water, that
the shakedown occurred and then the attitude of the government began
to change. It was clear that another firm could step in——

Mr. Inemrsort. I think the contract had been cancelled before that
time. The contract with Dupont Caribbean was—-- .

Chairman Proxarme. But their rights had not been canceled.

Mr. Ingersort., Well, no, their legal rights—— . o

Chairman Proxacmrs. Translinear’s rights were assured by the Gov-
ernment up until that point. oo

Mr. IneersorL. I.don’t know what the terms of the contrast are but
T would assume their recourse would be to the prime contractor. And
if it flowed through to the subcontractor, then they had some rights.
But I don’t know what the contract said. . .
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Chairman Proxaire. Well, at any rate will the State Department
help them get back their property that was taken from them or recoup
their losses? C o . \ o

Mr. Incersorn. The State Department will be very happy to help
them in any request they make. They have made almost ne requests to
us, They have told us of the facts in some cases‘and in some they have
delayed telling us. They have not asked us to enter into and help them
except to tell the Haitian government they would like to negotiate a.
contract, which they neverhad. = * = ' .

Chairman Proxyre. Well, if they doask, will you help?

Mr. IncERsOLL. You arve darned right, . x

Chairman Proxaoie. Now, has Translinear’s property been in effegt
expropriated ? : - pt ‘

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, I mentioned eavlier that it does not look as if
there had been an expropriation if they ave down there negotiating the
sale of the property, which they say is theirs. T wouldn’t say .that is
expropriation becanse they wouldu’t have the right to sell it~

Chairman Proxmire, Well, they had equipment that was worth a
great deal at the time. I think they said it was $500,000 worth. It is now
rusted. It has deteriovated greatly because of the weather, of course.
Tt has been left out because they felt they could not go back there. At
one time Mr, Crook tvas told that if he came back to the Island—and
this was after he sent the telegram~—he would be arrested. They feel
they are unable to operate effectively down there.. :

Mr. Ingersorr. Well, say that— o SRR ~

Chairman Proxmire. And they were prevented from going to the
island. At one time they were told that if they:sailed over there, their
ship would be blown out of the water. . ‘ :

Mr. Iveursorn. As I say, it is reported—and I only get this from a
press report—that their lawyer is negotiating the sale of the equip-
ment, If he is negotiating the sale, he must think he has title to it and ib
has not been expropriated. o :

Chairman Proxatre. Of course we do give substantial aid. In fiscal
1976 we gave $18.7 million in technical assistance throungh development
loans and Public Law 480. In 1977 the administration is requesting
$28.8 million to Haiti. Why should we continue to give foreign aid to
abcmu{t?ryfthat abuses American firms the way Translinear has been
abused ? o ’

Mr. Ineersorn. Well, T do not want to'say what the facts of this case
are because I do not know. We have had relatively little contact or
request from this company. Until they come to us and we cgn get in-
volved in it, I don’t think we can go to the Government of Haiti and
claim certain factsthat we avenotawareof. - - -

"Chairman Proxnre. Well, will youtalk to Ambassador Brook about
this personally? ' S , o

M, Twerrsorn. I would be glad to. S :

Chairman Proxyrre. Now, on Wednesday the House approved an
amendment to the International Security Assistance Act, which would
result in cutting off aid to any country where government - officiale
received bribes or extorted payoffs from.U.S. funds. Do you support
that amendment? , - _—

Mr, INgERSOLL. Yes, Sil.

Chairman Proxyre. You do?

]
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Moy Imeersorr. I see no reason not too.

Chairman Proxarre. You do support it ?

Mr. IngersoLL. Yes, sir, bub I think you must be sure you can prove
the allegation.

Chairman Proxarze, Yes, sir.

My, Incprsorn. In this particular case I am not sure there is proof.

Chairman Proxare. Now, it was reported recently the American
firm Rollins, Inc. had admitted to the SEC it paid bribes to
government officials in Mexico amounting to $127,000 in the past 5
years. According to Rollins, it will continue to pay bribes in the future. -
They say that is the way they intend to operate because they say that
is how they have had to operate in Mexico. Does it make any difference
to the State Department or the Embassy in Mexico that this firm
admits paying bribes and will continue to pay bribes in the future?
What doyou do about that?

Mr. Ixoersorn. Well, the State Department is not an enforcement
agency and certninly not an enforcement agency of laws in another
country. If we should be told of a violation of U.S. law, we would
report it immediately to the U.S. law enforcement agency.

Chairman Proxarme. But this is an American firm. It seems to me
we ought to do our best to try to persuade our firms to be good citi-
zens in foreign countries. A State Department official was reported by
the Wall Street Journal to have said there is just no way he can un-
derstand these payments to local and municipal officials can be con-
strued as legal. They have to be illegal. Shouldn’t we take some kind
of netion? Shouldn’t the State Department at least publicly condemn
the intention of this firm to pay bribes in a foreign country, a friendly
country like Mexico %

Mpr. Ingersorr, I think the SEC is the enforcement agency. And
if he is making these statements before the SEC and says he intends
to continue to do'so, I think it is up to the SEC.

Chairman Proxymre. Well, the SEC has taken a position that per-
haps won’t have a material effect on many stockholders. It seems to
me it is a matter of morality and it is a matter of also of good be-
havior in foreign countries. Tt would seem the State Department
could at least take the action of indicating its strong disapproval.

Mr. Ixeersornr. Well we have.

Chairman Proxare. To Rollins? Have you told Rollins?

Mr. Ineersorr. No.

Chairman Proxyrme. It was reported in the Wall Street Journal
that this was a policy they expected to adopt in the future. They are
going to pay bribes in Maxico. They said so.

Myr. Ineersorn. I don’t think we should tell every company that
says they are going to pay bribes, that we condone it. We make a pub-
lic statement on it.

Chairman Proxaure. I don’t say condone it; I say condemn it.
~ Mr. Incersonn. Well, I am saying we do condemn it. I am saying
that we say that generally and we don’t need to say it to every com-
pany that says that they are going to pay bribes.

Chairman Proxaire. Then you are saying you condemn that ac-
tion by Rollins?

Myr. Ixcersorn. We do condemn that. We certainly do.
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Chairman Proxaine. Now, finally, Mr. Secretary, let me say we
appreciate your appearance here. I know it is not always pleasant to
have to go through some of these things. I think it is good that you
have taken the actions that you have taken although X am concerned
about how effective it will be and how swift and prompt the effect
will be. The international agreement may take a long, long time,
if it is ever ratified and approved and made effective.

Incidently, when would it become effective? Would it become effec-
tive if the Senate ratifies it? Would it depend on the ratification of
a certain number of other countries before it would go into effect?

My, Ingmrsorr. Well, this is the first time we made the announce-
ment. I think it is premature to say how soon or how many govern-
ments are going to be involved.

Chairman Proxmure. Usually isn’t that the form? It requires not
just this government’s action but at least half or two-thirds of the
governments who are interested, corvect?

Mr. Incersorr. We would certainly press for urgent approval but
how long it would take cther governments to act 1 could not say.

Chairman Proxsme. ' Well, this is something that may take yeais,
Meanwhile we do have this very, very serious corruption problem.

Mr. Incersorn. Well, I think just the fact that it is being proposed
and being acted upon by countries will have a deterrent effect
immediately.

Chairman Proxarme. Wouldn’t it be desirable for the State Depart-
ment to make a policy of specifically and dirvectly by letter notifying
all firms operating abroad of the opposition that this country has, as
amatter of policy, to bribes. So in view of the fact that this has become
so widespread, shouldn’t you spell out the dangers involved in bribes—
the danger being that once they are hooked, they are in a position to
be blackmailed and there is no guarantee people who will take bribes
and are that dishonest; that they will deliver—and also specifically
and divectly and effectively state that the State Department stands
ready to assist firms and indicate the ways the State Department can
and would assist in event a bribe is reported ; namely, that yon would
make protestations to the Government involved and that you would
do everything you could to protect and assist those who resisted the
solicitation for bribes?

Mr. Ixcersorr. I think it is a geod ides. I think we should look
into it. '

Chairman Proxarire. Why don’t you take that kind of action, malke
that kind of policy? Wouldn't that do a lot of good?

Mr, Inerrsorr. My initial reaction is really that the Department of
Commerce should have that kind of contact and they in twn can
report to us any extortion attempt made on U.S. corporations overseas
but the primary contact with U.S. corporations should be by the
Department of Commerce. And we would he glad to assist the Depart-
ment of Commerce in carrying out such policy. v

Chairman’ Proxarize. Well in view of the fact that the State Depart-
ment is a foreign office and is the Department that is responsible for
a foreign policy and our conduct abroad, it would seem to me at the
very least it would be very unseful for the State Department to com-
municate this to the Commerce Department.

78-547—"77—-13
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My, INcrrsorL. I agree.

Chairman Proxsure. And try to work out with the Commerce De-
partment a procedure of notifying firms about this and that the State
Department should also be sure that it finds a way of letting firms
know exactly the steps that can be taken in the event that bribes are
solicited. e

M. Ineersorr. I think it iga good idea and I thmk We should dlqcuss
it with the Department of Commerce :

‘Chairman Proxaire. All right, sir. Well, thank you very much. The
subcommittee stands 1(11 ourned. :

[Whereupon, at 5 p.m., the subcommittee 'ui] ourned, subject to
the call of the Chair.]
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APPENDIX

THE DEPUTY SECRETARY OF STATE,
- Washington, D.C,, March 31, 1976
Hon., WILLIAM PROXAMIRE, ;
U.8, Senute,

Dean SEXATOR Proxaing; We have reviewed and annotated the transeript of
my testimony hefore the Joint Eeonomic Committee on Mareh 5, 1976, and also
attach appropriate inserts in response to requests during the testimony and in
your letter to me on March 19, 1976.

1 should like to clarify two points in our diseussion. First, I am concerned over
{he misconception fostered by press accounts that there will be significant delays
in implementing the arrangements established by the Executive Branch to exe
change information on the Lockheed case with the Government of Japan and other
foreign governments. (I refer to the New York Times account on March 6 of my
appearances before your Committee, and the article by Jerome Cohen in the New
York Times of Mareh 29.) As I made clear in my testimony, the arrangements
which we are recommending can be implemented immediately, so that the in-
formation flow could begin at once. Moreover, it was never intended thaf fmelgn
governments should wait until the SEC's investigation of the compauy is
completed,

When I telephoned you on March 6 concemmg the New York '.I‘unes artcle,
you were kind enough to agree that it was incorrect in that respect and that you
would try to correct the 1ec01d

Thr second guestion concerns my attitude towaxdq the 1egumt10n of. foreign
activities of TN, companies. As I pointed out.at the hearing, there is an impor-
tant distinction between brxbeq, which should be prohibited by the countries di-
rectly concerned, and commissions which may be perfectly legitimate..I do not
helieve that extraferritorial criminsal legislation by the United Stateg can he an
effective solution to this problem. Dixclosure, on the other hand, may he very lLelp-
ful to defer bribery, hut effective action vequires a concerted effort on the part of
the international community, not just action by the United States alone. Further,
premature unilateral action by the United States could put U.S. firms at a se-
rious competitive disadvantage in foreign markets.

I would apprecinte your including these comments as part of the official rec-
ord of my testimony,

In addition, in response fo the request in your letter, I enclose a cnpv of the
Department’s statement of current policy regayding foreign military sales, which
inciudes a detailed explanation of the role of the Departments of State and De-
fense in processing traunsactions under the Foreign Military Sales Act generally.

Sincerely,
ROBERT S. INGERSOLL,

Enclosure: S
[From Current Policy, No. 4, July 19751

U.8. FOREIGN Mrmmr's‘xims'

The high level of spending througlmut tie world on military equipment anu
services—more than $2.5 trillion by 108 developmg and 28 developed countries
over an li-year period (1963-1978)*—is a matter of considerable ¢ondern to the
Administration, Congress, and the pubﬂe As ‘the most teehno‘togically—advmlced
industrial natmn the United States is the leading supplier of arms, In TFiseal
Year 1974 this countrv received orders totnhng $8.3 bllhon in- foreign xmhtuly

1 World Military. Etpenditure‘; und Arms Ttaée, 1963-—19’(3 U.S. Arms Control uud Dis-
armament Agency Publication 74, 1875.
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sales from 70 governments. Other principal arms exporters are the U.S.S.R.,
France, and the United Kingdom in that order.

The developing countries are now spending almost as much of their gross
national produnct on militaey expenditures as the developed countries, In fact, the
trend of military expenditures as a percent of the GNP is declining in the devel-
oped countries as it rises in the developing world. Factors influencing the rise in
military spending by developing countries include the conflicts in the Near East
nnd REast Asia, and more recently the need felt by newly-independent nations and
those with petrodollar surpluses to establish and/or equip their armed forces
with modern wéapons systems.

Considerable misconceptions exist as to the U.S. role in providing military
materiel and services to selected countries and to the extensive controls which
exist within the government over exports of such materiel, Thomas Stern, Deputy
Director of the Department of State's Bureau of Politico-Military Affairs,
recently discussed these topics before the Senate Subcommittee on Foreign
Assistance and Economic Policy of the Foreign Relations Committee (June 18,
1975). This Current Policy report is based on his statement and portions of the
ACDA report.

THE INTERNATIONAT, ENVIRONMENT

The most fundamental reason for security assistance and military sales is fo
be found in American history and the growing realization in this country that, in
the 20th century, we could not isolate ourselves from the mainstream of major
forces and events abroad, The view that aggression should not be permitted to
succeed had, after our experience in World War II, assumed a certain nioral
force. The emergence of new threats in the late 1940’s toward Greece and
"Turkey, Europe, and then Korea, ‘were clear challenges to our own security.

As the leading proponent of collective security and international organization,
we looked to the newly formed United Nations to respond. Where it could not,
we. created regional collective security organizations. Where required and ap-
propriate, we slso entered into special bilateral arrangements. Throughout this
immediate post-war period, the United States saw the danger to its interests as
beth military and ideological—i.e., as a threat to the beliefs, values, and institu-
tions of the western world.

In a world that has divided along bipolar lines the United States’ role as a
major supplier was clear and straightforward : We sold or gave military materiel
and services to countries that were closely associated with us in opposition to
the Soviet Union and 'the People’s Republic of China. While the legislative and
executive branches sometimes debated the specifies of our security assistance
program, there existed a consensus on the relationship of our program to our
security, and it was generally supported.

Alore recently, however, changes in the international scene have made Se-
curity relationships a much more complex subject :

The rigid bipolar world of the 1950's and early 1960’s no longer exists. Our
painful involvement in Viet-Nam is ended. Power no longer is measured today
in purely military terms.

The post-bipolar period is an era of increasing interdependence in the fields
of international trade, internafional security, and in development and shared
environmental ¢oncerns,

Despite this interdependence, the world of nations is constantly growing. The
total now approaches 150. All have some kind of armed force, and few judge
themselves capable of insuring international order or of maintaining the integ-
rity of their territory without external sources of military supply. Furthermore,
no government can be indifferent to its security, however it defines it, and se-
curity requirements will conipete with economic and social development for a
share of whatever resources are available,

It follows, then, that the level and quantity of military transactions betiveen
nations will be substantial. Most of the world’s nations have no arms industries.
Their equipment and related services must be acquired from the more industrial-
ized nations ona cash, credit, or grant basis.

In the early 1950°s the United States and the United Kingdom were the domi-
nant suppliers of major weapons systems. The Soviet Union is now very active,
and . France has equalled. and at times surpassed Britain as a major weapons
sapplier. Nine nations were the source of 97 percent of world military exports
over the period 19641973, The United States delivered 5l percent, the Soviet
Union 27 percent, the United Kingdom, France and China 10 percent, and Czecho-
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sloyakia, Poland, Canada, and West Germany 8.5 percent, These trends all point
toward the growth in size and complexity of the international military trade.

Today the purchasers from the United States vary widely in their security
concerns and politieal orientations, There are, of course, the traditional United
States allies, such as the NATO countries of Western Iurope. In addition, we
sell military items to Israel, Korea, Jordan, the Philippines, and Thailand-—
countries with which we maintain special ties and connections. Within the past
3 years, a substantal proportion of our military sales has shifted to the Persian
Gult area, This is an area where a spectacular transition is in progress—in
terms of the balance of economic power, the emergence of new political institu-
tions, and the transfer of technology from industrialized nations to states in the
region. It is also an area where concerns for security and stability have loomed
large since Britain's temmnination in 1971 of its protective presence, Because the
forces at work in the Persian Gult could have a profound influence on thie world
balance of power; the V.S. Government has developed a special relationship
with a number of states in the avea.

THE MACHINERY OF DECISION

In developing and implementing its policy, the U.8. Governmment in recent years
has instituted a well-structured review process that passes on all requests for
military materiel and services within the framework of the Foreign Assistance
and Foreign Military Sales Acts,

The normal review channel for military equipment transfers which involve
appropriated funds is the Security Assistance Program Review Committee,
chaired by the Under Secretary of State for Security Assistance and consisting
of representatives from State, Defense, Treasury, Office of Management and
Budget, the National Security Council, the Agency for International Develop—
ment, and the Arms Confrol and stzumament Agency. The Committee reviews
both the level and the content of each country program.

In cases of cash sales through government channels or commercial sales, the
procedures vary somewhat depending on type of case. All eases are processed
within policy guidelines established by the Depfutment of State. Furthmmme,
all major cases must be approved by senior officials in the Department.

‘Within ithe State Department cases are reviewed by the regional bureau in-
volved and the Politico-Military Bureau., In very important cases the President
or the Secretary of State may make the decision.

Although ithe views of Defense Department officials are fully taken into ac-
count in the decision-making process, it should be emphasized that the Defense
Department does not make policy with respect to military sales or transfers. The
prime respong'bility of the Defense Department is to implement national policy.
This is clearly understood ywithin the Bxecutive Branch but may not be so
clearly understood by the publie.

Procedures in and of themselves, of course, cannot insure that sales, or any
other activity, support the national interest. Decisions are made by men, nof
organizational and staffing arrangements. But procedures can help insure that
the relevant information, analysis, and perspectives are brought to bear on the
{ssue for decision, .

CONSIDERATIONS IN TRANSFER DECISIONS

The United States normally takes into account a large range of considerations
when judging whether to eénter into a military supply relationship and, when that
decision ig positive, determining what kinds and quantities of materiel and serv-
ices we will provide. Each case is unique and is so handled. There are, however,
several fairly consistent yardsticks that we apply. On the political side we
assess ¢

Tha role the country playsin its surroundings, what interests it has in common
with the United States, and where our interests diverge.

YWhether the transactions will do more to further U. b objectives on balance
than other economic or political measures.

“T'he position of influence that sales might help support, including the potential
restraint that can be applied in conflict mtuahons

Whether a particular sale would set o precedent which could lead to further
requests for arms, or similar requests from other countries.

The current internal stability of the recipient country, its capacity to maintain
that stability, and its attitude toward human rights.
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The possible adverse impaet on our relations with a friendly government of
not selling.

The options available to the recipient country. Will a refusal result in the
country’s training to other sources of supply? What source? What will be the
political, military, and economic implications of this? If a country has options
that it will nnhesitatingly emplay, would our refusal to sell mean the forfeiting
of opportunities to develop or maintain parallel interests and objectives?

There are also important economie questions to be considered :

“Whether the proposed sale is consistent with the recipient country’s develop-
ment goals or our economic agsistance program, if there is one.

Whether the sale might strain the country’'s ability to manage its deht obhliga-
tion or entail operations and mamtenance costs that might make excessive claims
on future budgets.

‘The economic benefits to the United States from the sale or co-production of
arms, especially to the oil rich stafes. As significant as these benefits may be,
however, they remain secondary and certainly would never decide an issue.

‘Finally, there are the following military aspects to be taken into account:

The threat the military eapability-is-supposed to counter or deter, whether we
agree on the nature of the threat, and how it relates fo our own security. During
a period when the United States and some other major powers are transferring
some security responsibilities, we must attempt to understand the security con-
cerns of smaller countries. To us their concerns may seem exaggerated, but to
them their concerns are usually very real.

How the proposed transfer affects the regional military balance, regional mili-
tary tensions, or the miilitary build-up plans of another country.

Whether the recipient country has the capability to absorb and utilize the
arms effectively.

What other mxhtarv interests—for example, U. S overflight rights or access to
facilities—would be supported by the trausaction.

The impact on our readiness. Since the Arab-Israeli War of Qctober 1973 we
have had to assess the impact of sales on the readiness posture of our own favces.

Whether o substantial physical dependence on .S, sonrces of supplv could
enable us to better control conflict under some circumstances.

Hxeept in special circumstances we do not sell or otherwise transfer certain
sensifive items such as hand transportable surface-to-air missiles and riot-eontrol
agents such as tear gns which are primarily designed for use against crowds.

The basic issue is to malke the best ]Josm‘ble sysfematic judgment in light of the
totnhtv of 1.8, interests just as we do in other international political judgments.
This is a critical peint : Security relationships are an element of foreign policy
and thus neither more nor Jess suhject to uncevtainties than any other tool of
policy. Like any ofher tool it could theoretically be dispensed with, But in an
age when we need to exploit onr capabilities to the maximum it would be point-
less to forego the use of any tool that, when wisely used. promises substantial
benefit at acceptable cost and risk,

~ RATIONALE FOR TRANSFERS

The Tnited Statex is, for many countries, the supplier of choice, Our nroduets
are preferred because they are of high quality. Our hardware is well-designed,
well-made, and dependable. Onr supporting systems—training and logistics—are
second to none.

Of equal importance, many nations want to buy from us because they want to
be associated with the United States on other matters of mutual interest, and
they may wish to avoid relations with other exporting countries whose inten-
tions are open to question. Military assistance, and most recently milifary sales,
have been supporting elements in relationships with friends and allies over the
years, Noting the public’s concern about the U.S. arms role, Under Secretary of
State Joseph J. Sisco stated June 10, 1975 :

“Americans . . . are tmubled at seeing their country in the arms-supply
business. The image of the ‘merchant of death’ dies hard. We should put this
jssue into proper perspéctive to demonstrate that we are dealing with it in
the context of an overall and carefully developed policy concept. We can-
1ot pick up elements with which we feel comfortable and ignore others, For
every country in the world, defense is the key to national suryival. If we
do not take this into account in our relations with that country, the totality
of our relaionships with that country will suffer, as well as our political and
economic objectives.”
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Even nations not under immediate threat find it prudent to maintain a certain
level of military capabiiity to meet unforeseen foreign or domestic contingencies
much as we did through long periods of our own history. Also, a military estab-
lishment is almost an inevitable symbol of national sovereignty, especially in
new countries that are developing a national identity and pride. One may have
reservations about this, butitis a fact of life.

Obviously it is not in the U.S. interest to cater to extreme expectations and
we practice maximum restraint in dealing with countries under these eircum=-
stances. But refusal to sell any.military articles and services would be inter-
preted in some cases as a signal by the United States that we do not support the
security concerns of the counfries involved or that we do not consider them
mature enough to be trusted with sonie types of military equipment. There have
been cases in which we in fact made such judgments in light of our interests,
and as a result refused the sale of sought-after equipment. However, we must
recognize the sensitivity of these problems and-make careful judgments in a
context of trying to foster maturity and responsibility.

It has been argued that relationships involving military exports harbor hid-
den dangers. Based primirily on our Viet-Nam experience, some think that these
transactions, whatever our intentions, can draw us into quarrels among nations,
or within nations. It'is true that military transfers by their nature are not as
politically neutral as non-military trade or economic ass1stance, especlally when
the supplier is a nation, such as the United States or U.S.8.R., that is recognized
as having global interest and responsibilities. Military assistance and sales are
by design stpportive of bilateral relationships and broader foreign policy inter~
ests, However, a distinetion can be made between these transfers, whether grant
or sales, that support a recognized security commitment and others which sup-~
port a more general relationship. In the latter case, commitments Are not en-
tailed; in the former, transfers only support a commitment already made. More-
over, to the extent that military transfers strengthen the ability of states to
defend themselves, they can diminish the excessive dependence on the United
States which has s6 often led to pressules for direct U.S. military involvement
in the past.

It is possible that those who argue that our military assistance and sales
policies are intrinsically destabilizing and eventually lead to conflict may be
assuming a narrow view of history. An arms balance in areas of tension has,
in most cases, inhibited the occurrence of conflict. Also, a good case can and
should be made that the risk of war is increased in situations when a power
imbalance exists, where the stronger power is tempted to take advantage of
the weaker, or where one or the other powe1 attempts to markedly alter the
power 1e1at10nsh1p "

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, D.C., April 21, 1976.
Hon, WILriaM Pnoxmkn .
U.8. Senate,

DEAR SENATOR PRoxumn T wish to clarify one point covered in the materlal
attached to former Deputy Secretary Ingersoll’s letter to you of March 81, re-
garding the Department’s role in the matter of agent's fees in Saudi Arabia.
The need for clarification arises from the ambiguity of the wording used in one
section of the presentation forwarded to you, which has apparently led to a basic
misunderstanding by at least one person who has reviewed the document and
has called it to our attention.

The point in question is covered in.item (3) on pages 34 of the attachment
to Mr. Ingersoll’s letter” The last sentence of the first paragraph under item
(8) states “that Amhassador Akins had told Collins ‘I better find Khashogei and
get him to speed up Sultan . . .'”. In referring to this point, the second succeed-
ing paragraph said ‘“‘the Northrop "document also alleges that Ambassador Akins
advised ‘Colling’ that he would approach Khashogei”

According to material, available to us, the actual guote in the Northrop docu-

ment itself; quoting Collins, is as follows: “Akins told me I better find Khashoggi -

and get him to speed.up Sultan . . .” From this, it is clear, according to the
Northrop document, that Akins did not say that he would himself approach
Khashoggi; rather, ‘Akins was said to have suggested to Collins that he (Collins)

1 See Deputy Secretary Ingersoll’s response for the record, p. 175.
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approach Khashoggl. The latter suggestion was normal inasmnuch as Collins was
an employee of Northrop and Northrop had an existing relationship with Khash-
oggi. I regret the ambiguity in the presentation we forwarded to you, which was
au entirely inadvertent editorial oversight.

To further emphasize the point, I believe it useful to reiterate the point alre‘ldy
made under item (3) of the attachment to Mr. Ingersoll’s letter, to the effect
that Ambassador Akins informed Department personnel that he never once met
with Xhashoggi while Akins was Ambassador to Saudi Arabia.

Sincerely yours,
RogperT J. MCCLOSKEY,
Assistant Secretary for
Congressional Relations.

DAvLLAs, TeX., May 12, 1976.
Hon, EMMANUEL BRrOS, .
Alinister of Pinance and Economic Affairs,
Department of Finance, Port-au-Prince, Republic of Haiti, West Indies.

Dear MinisTER Bros: Translinear, Inc. is in receipt of a letter from Minister
Henri P, Bayard dated Marech 17, 1976, in which we are told that the Haitian
Government believes it impossible to sign a new contractual agreement with
Translinear, Ine. and that the Haitian Government wishes to repossess the Island
of La Tor tue

If this is the position of the Haitian Government, Transhuear, Inc, herewith
declares that it is the vietim of breach of contract, conﬁscatlon and expropriation
of assets, and attempted bribery and extortion. Althou gh we have been grievously
damaged, the only claim we are herein making an'amsi: the Haitian State is for
the amount of our-actual dollar investment loss, $2,755,798.

Even though only slight documentation accompanies this claim an extensive
array of documents supporting each point will be submitted for your examina-
tion if desired.

Although Translinear, Inc. believes the development of La Tortue as we origi-
nally contracted to do is in the best interests of the Haitian State, we accept the
right of the Haitian Government to deny us this right, provided just and ade-
quate compensation for the loss is paid, We believe the above sum is fair and
minimal. .

Sincerely,
Wrirrtad R. CARDEN,
. President, Translinear, Inc.

Enclosure, :

CLAIM OF TRANSLINEAR, INC., AGAINST THE REPUBLIC OF HAITI
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Whereas, on April §, 1971, a Convention was executed between the Republie of
Haiti and Dupont Caribbean, Inc. pertaining to the economie and tourist devel-
opment of the Island of La Tortue, such Convention having been ratified by the
Decree of the President for Life of the Republie of Haiti, His Excellency Francois
Duvalier, and the Haitian Cabinet, dated April 5, 1971, as published in the
official journal “Le Moniteur" issue No. 27 of even date; and

Whereas, such Convention was amended in certain respects, such Amendment
having heen ratified by the Decree of the President for Life of the Republic of
‘Haiti, His Bxcellency Jean Claude Duvalier, and the Haitian Cabinet, issue
No. 3 of even date; and

TWhereas both the original Conventiom and the amended Convention contained
stipulative clauses against expropriation and confiseation of assets of any parties
to the Convention; and

TWhereas, the Republi¢ of Haiti was an interested wifness to and recognized
that Lranslinear, Inc., a Texas corporation, entered into certain Land Lease and
Land Release Agreement with Dupont Caribbean, Ine,, such agreement being
dated April 12, 1972, whereby Translinear, Inc. acquired certain land lease and
administrative rights then held by Dupont Caribbean, Inc. under the Convention
of April 5, 1971, as amended, and as hereinabove deseribed ; and

YWhereag, the Republic of Haiti recognized and acknéwledged that Translinear
paid certain monies in ¢¢nnection with property rights acquired pursuant to such

&
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agreement with Dupont Caribhean, Inc, and invested substantial sums of money
in developing the general purposes of the Convention of April 5, 1971; and

‘Whereas, the Republic of Haiti was an interested witness of the development
and construction activities carried on by Translinear, Ine. on La Tortue Island,
and was further a witness of the business activity of Translinear, Inc, in the
Haitian capitol of Port-au-Prince, which activities included an office in the na-
tional airport, Haitian employees, telephone service, bank account, promohoml
advertising, and a multi-media film extolling the investnient climate in Haiti
and the development opportunities on La Tortue; and

TWhereas, on March 8, 1973, the Justice Department of the Republic of Haifi
in bringing charges against Dupont Caribbean, Inc. of breach of contract for
reasons of non-performance, requested the Huitian attorney for Translinear, Inc.
to read into the court record a statement of the interests of Translinear, Inc. in
the case; and

Wheleas, on August 27, 1978, judgment was rendered by the Port-au-Prince
Civil Court, sitting as a reguhr and legally convened Civil Court of the Republie
of Haiti, ruled cancellation hut not recision of the Convention with Dupont
Caubbean, Inec, of April 5, 1971, as amended January 20, 1972, for the herein-
above mentioned reasons; and

TWhereas, the cancellatxon of the Convention was upheld by Haitian appellate
courts on .Tanuau 28,1974, and June 24, 1974; and

Whereas, the cancellation did not rescind the publie coutxactual rights of
third parties to the Convention, such as Translinear, Ine.; and

Whereas, the Republie of Haiti, in furtherance of its national and inter-
national interests, expressed its desxre to continue the development of Tortue
Island by entering inte & new Convention solely with Translinear, Inc., pro-
viding for the economic and tourist dev elopment of the Island of La Tortue,
subject to the sovereignty of the Island remaining in the Republic of Haiti; and

TWhereas, the Republic of Haiti, suddently, inexplicably and without warn-
ing did deny Translinear, Inc. access te the Island of La Tortue for a period
of approximately two years, thereby effect.vely confiscating and expropriating
the valuable construction equipment and engineering plans Pranslinear was
forced to leave on the Island; the recent request by the Haitian Government
thi franslinear remove the equipment from the Island did not mention that the
two year lack of preventive maintenance has reduced high quality equipment to
s condition of scarcely salvageable junk; and

TWhereas, in May 1975 8 Haitian individual, claiming to represent the Haitian
Government, did in a clandestine manner approach an officer of Translinear, Ine,
and did attempt to extort from this American company a sim of $500,000 and
one half of the company stock in exchange for & new .contractual relntwnslup
between the Republic of Haiti and Translinear, Inc.; the abovementioned in-
dividual explained that Translinear, Inc. would never received a contract until
such payment had been made; and

Whereas, '.[Tanslmear, Inc has now been told by the Republic of Haiti that
it is not welcome in Haiti, that no new Convention will be signed, and that its
ruined equipment is to be removed from La Tortue Island; this being done with-
out due process, without an opportunity for Translinear, Inc. to present its case,
without an investigation by the Haitian Government into the incident of at-
tempted bribery and extortion, and in total and complete violation of the publie
third pavty rights enpoyed, exercised and held by Translinear, Inc. under the
Convention of April 5, 1971, as amended January 20, 1972; and

. Now, therefore, on these grounds and reasons, and on all other grounds and
reasons which may be hereinafter introduced and supplemented for being
right, equitaple and just, and all rights reserved. Translinear, Inec. presents to
the Haitian Government; a claim of losses in the amount of $2,755,79S, a smm
detailed and explained in Exhibit 1. This sum is fair and just and does not in-
clude a statement of damages suffered by Translinear, Inc, which the company .
believes to be in excess of one hundred million dollars.

FACTS AND SUPPORTING REASONSA

The Convention signed between the Haitian State and Dupont Caribbean, Inc.,
and the amendment thereto, were officia], public documents signed by two differ-
ent Presidents of the Haitian Republic and by members of the Haitian Cabinet:

The Republic of Haiti was aware of the Land Lease and Land Release Agree-
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ment of April 12, 1972, signed between Translinear, Inc. and Dupont Caribbean,
Inc. Letters announcing this Agreement were sent on April 11, 1972, to the
Ministry of Finance and 'to the Department of Contributions. Perlodlc progress
reports of the Translinear development activities in Haiti were delivered to the
Minister of -Interior Tuckner Cambronne, Director of the National Bank An-
tonio” Andre, and Haitian representative to the Dupont Caribbean Freeport
Authority Weber Alexandre.

‘When the Haitian Government requested the original Convention be amended,
it was the Translinesr attorney, Mr. Robert A. Fanning, who represented Du-
pont Caribbean, Inc. in the negotiations.

Tnder the terms of the Land Release Agreement, most of the expenses and
obligations of Dupont Caribbean, Ine. in Haiti were paid for or carried out by
Trnnslinear, Inc. This included the surveying and mapping of the Island of La
Tortue, which was submitted to the Republic of Haiti on May 23, 1872, and
confirmed on June 6, 1972.

‘When Translinear, Inc. began construction work on La Tortue in August
1872, the Republic of Haiti requested and received from Translinear, Inc. a
manifest of the equipment sent by barge from the United States to La Tortue.
The equipment was allowed to enter the Republic of Haiti duty free in recogni-
tion of the tax-free franchise held by Translinear, Ine. through its third party
rights vested in the Convention of April 1971.

On September 7, 1972, Translinear, Inc., received a letter from the Dupont
Caribbean Freeport Authority, signed by the Haitian representative to the
Authority, Mr. Weber Alexandre, giving Translinear permission fo carry on con-
struction activities on La Tortue. The letter was sent at the direction of Mr.
Luckner Cambronne, Minister of Interior and National Defense.

In November, 1972, Translinear, Ine. brought a 1972 Ford sedan into Port-au-
Prince duty-free from the U.S. mainland, another recognition of the separate
third party franchise held by Translinear under the Convention. At the same time
Translinedr sent a Chevrolet truck and a cement block machine to La Tortue
from the T.S. Both pieces of equipment were allowed to enter Haiti duty-free.

In January 1978 over $1,800 in office furniture was sent from Florida to the
Translinear office in Port-an-Prince. This furniture entered duty free under Trans-
linear's Clonvention rights.

In TJune, 1973, after work was stopped on Tortue Island and the Republic of
Haiti had brought suit against Dupont Caribbean, Inc., Translinear brought
approximately $3,600 in electronie and audio-visual eqtupment into its office in
Port-au-Prince, This equipment entered duty-free. ’

Office supplies. equipment and substitute pieces of electronic equipment were
periodically brought into Haiti on a duty-free basis duritiz 1978, 1974, and 1975,

Translinear, Inc. operated a full-time office, staffed by Haitian employees, in a
national facility, the Francois Duvalier International Airport. The company also
kept an active bank account in the Banque Nationale. "There was a telephone in
the airport office and a box at the post office. A1l of the above giving evidence hoth
of Translinear's active business life in Haiti and the recognition by the Govern-
ment of Translinear’s pregence there,

‘When the Republi¢ of Haiti initiated legal prnceedm"q arainst Dunont Carib-
heasq, Ine. the separate third party €tatus of Tramlmeqr was specifically men-
tioned in the preliminary hearing of March 8, 1973 at which time the Trans-
linear attorney was 1nv1ted to read a qtfttement of the Tranahneur interests into
the conrf reeonrd.

On March 28, 1973, Ta Tortue was visited by three Haitian officials (Ministers
of Finance Franeisatie and .Justice Fortuné and Governor Attorney Jeanty).
They examined the work done by Tr anshnear on the Tsland and were highly com-
plimentary, They issned a stop work order whlch recognwed 'I‘ransh,nem 's sepa-
rate third party status.

In a letter dated April 2, 1973, the Ameriean Ambassadov t6 Haiti, the Hon-
orable Clinton B, Knox, mformed Translinear of a conversation he had held with
Haitian Finance Minister Francisque, who had assured the Ambassador “that the
interests and investments of Translinear will be protected and that he hopes
your company wil]l continue to carry on its work an Tortuea.”

In preparing itg case against Dupont Caribbean, the Haitian Government
requested copies of all checks written by Translinear on the project and copies
of all license applications for prospective island. businesses held hy Translinear.

In the list of charges made against Dupont Caribbean as detailed in the Haitian
Court decision of August 27, 1973 mention is made of Translinear’s third party
requests for meetings of the Dupont Caribbean Freeport Authority.
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Because of the size of the Translinedr investment in Haiti, Translinear made a
request to the Haitian Embassy in Washington, D.U. that some statement be
released in the U.S. recognizing Translinear's rights in the dispute between Haiti
and Dupont Caribbean. In early June, 1973, the Bmbassy released a four para-
graph statement in which they acknowledged the actions of Dupont Caribbean
had “created collateral problems” for third parties “which have the gerious and
sympathetic consideration of the Haitian officials.” )

In the Haitian civil action against Dupont Caribbean no complaint of any kind
was made against Translinear, Ine, and the decision against Dupont did not
mention Translinear.

Although the Civil Court decision of August 27 against Dupont Caribbean men-
tioned the possibility of recision of all rights that Dupont ever held under the
Convention of April 1971, the actual decision simply cancelled the Convention as
of August 27. Under Haitian Civil Law this meant that all publie third party
rights were still in existence. Translinear, Inc. held such rights, including a valid
lease-hold for 99 years to 4,800 acres of land on La Torfue, A copy of a title
opinion on this land is attached as Exhibit 2,

Shortly after the Court decision of August 27, the President of T'ranslinear was
informed by Minister of Commerce Fourcand that President Duvalier wished
Translinear, Inc. to continue its development work on La Tortue, On November
15, 1973 Minister Fourcand formally recognized, by letter, the Translinear in-
vestment on Tortiue and requested that Translinear prepare a new contract for
stibmission to thie Haitian Govervment. See Exhibit 8.

A proposed contract was snbmitted in December 1978, and for the next twventy-
four months Translinear was subjected to an unbelievable series of delays, broken
appointments, unanswered letters, and movement from minister to minister, The
company attempted to make every change and adjustment in the contract that
was desired by the Haitian Government, Although 'ranslinear officials were told
on several oceasions that the contract was almost ready for signature, no signing
was ever forthcoming, During this period, Translinear made evéry adjustment
and change suggested by the Government and offered a financial remuneration
to the Government that represented a larger percentage of return than the
Government enjoyed with any foreign investor, During the entire negotiation
process, Translinear continued to receive the private encouragement of Haitian
officials that an agreement was very near,

During the entire period of time that Translinear, Ine. cperated in the Re-
public of Haiti, the company was careful to keep Haitian offitials at every level—
from the President for Life down to secondary officials in certain ministries—
aware of the Translinear situation in Haiti. Our files contain numerous letter
to various officials. The construction work on La Tortue was visited by a large
number of Government representatives. The Translinear multi-media promo-
tional films on Haiti and the Tortue development was seen by over a thousand
Haitian business and government leaders, including Major Awvril, who rep-
resented the National Palace, and several members of 'the Cabinet. Between No-
vember 1971 and December 1975 Translinesr, Ine. had eorrespondence and/or
conversation with the following Haitian officiils vegarding the Translinear posi-
tion in the Repiblic of Haiti: President for Life, Jean Claude Duvalier; Min-
isters of Imterior and Defense Luckner Cambroane, Roger Lafoutant end Paul
Blanchet; Minister of Finance Francisque ‘and- Emanuel. Bros; Minister of
Commerce and Industry Jean Pierre, Serge Fourcand, and Antonio Aundre;
Undersecretary of Commerce Henri Bayard; Ministers of ‘(oordination and In-
formation Fritz Cineas and Plerre Gousse ; Ministers of Justice Fouraler Fortune
and Aurelian Jeanty; Directors of Tourism Andre Theard and Jean Baptiste;
Member of the Subcommission ori: Foreign Investment Bdouard Dupont; Haitian
Ambassador to the United States Reneé Chalmers; Haitian Charge <’Affairs
Josette Philippeaux; Haitian Consul in New Yotk Herve Michel ; and Haitian
Representative to the Dupont Caribbean Freeport Authority Weber Alexandre,
Because of the distinguished mature of'these individuals and:the extensive cor-
respondence, receipts and documents in the Translinear files; it is impossible for
the Republic of Haiti to claim to be an innocent witness to the Translinear rights
in that country. o ' EREE

Howevér, in April 1974 Tradslinear was informed ‘that it could no longer go
to La Tortae Island to service and maintain the construction equipment and
supplies it was forced to leave there when the work stoppage begsn in March
1978, No explanation was given for this denial of access to land for tvhich Trans-
linear had purchased a ninety-nine year lease, During the next twenty-four
months, Translinear was allowed to make only two brief trips to the Island: one
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for the purpose of delivering a payroll, a second inspection trip was made unQer
the embarrassing supervision of military guard. Although Translinear was in-
formed by both the U.S. Embassy and Haitian officials that the company could
go to the Island by requesting permission to visit twenty-four hours in advance
of departure, such permission was not forthcoming although it was requested
on numerous occasions, At one point T'ranslinear officials were told they would
be “blown out of the water” if they attempted to sail across Tortuga channel
to the Island. )

"Phis denial of access 'to a valid leasehold and the equipment thereon is a prima
facie case of confiscation and expropriation of assets, The recent request from
the Haitian Government to Translinear to remove the equipment from the Island
ignoves the significant damage to the equipment suffered during two years of
inattention and neglect.

On two oceasions during 1975 (May 9 and December 2) the Translinear, Inc.
President was informed a new contract could be signed if certain monies were
given to selected Haitians. On both occasions a previously friendly attitude he-
came decidedly hostile when the attempted bribery was rebuffed.

A concerned Translinear stockholder wrote to two United States Senators ask-
ing their inquiry into the attempted bribery of an Aruerican firm abroad, When
this information was shared with the Haitian Under-secretary of Commerce,
Henri Bayard, his response was an indignant letter accusing Translinear of inter-
ferring with the sovereignty of the Republic of Haiti, Nothing could be further
from the truth. The fact was that certain Haitians were attempting to com-
promise the legality and honesty of an American firm operating abroad.

Moreover, the unfriendly attitude of the Haitian Government toward Trans-
linear, Ine. in recent months has frightened away a group of Haitian business-
men who made a firm offer to purchase the construction equipment on La Tortue
(provided approval could be abtained from the Government to remove the equip-
ment from the Island).

From April 12, 1972, when Translinear, Inec. entered into a contractual relation-
ship with Dupont Caribbean, Ine,, the company has met all contractual obligations
and paid all debts both with Dupont Caribbean, Ine. and secondarily with the
Republic of Haiti. We have always acted with dispatch, broken no Haitian laws,
have never abused Haitian national sovereignty. and have always attempted to
follow the Haitian ethie. We have answered &1l requests and have waited pa-
tiently for the legal process in Haiti to be completed with Dupont Caribbean.
Our problems, plans and hopes were shared with the Government at all levels;
our development activities on the Island were conducted with a sympathetic
awareness of the history of Lia Tortue as a part of Haitian national pride, with
a strong interest in the ecological soundness of the construction activities, and
with the best interest of the people living there in mind.

Translinear, Inc. was adequately financed to complete the development for
which it had contracted. Indeed, most of the funds originally expanded repre-
sented the personal resoruces of the stockholders. Translinear has never received
a single complaint in Haiti for its actions or policies from an employer, worker,
citizen, businessman or island resident. To the contrary, the company has received
numerous assurances from all quarters that our presence is desired and a resump-
tion of work on the Island is fervently hoped for.

In the dozens of articles written about the project, there has never been any
negative publicity about Translinear, Inc. Indeed, until Translinear officials
reported to a U.S. Joint Congressional Committee that the company had suffered
two attempts at bribery and extortion within Haiti, there had never been any
charges or complaints leveled against the company by the Government of Haiti.
Suddenly, in response to this report to the American Congress of an illegal action
toward a U.S. company abroad, the Haitian Government became angry, and a
letter from the Republic of Haiti to Translinear oa March 17, 1976, calls the

Translinear position “manifestly hostile” and accuses the company of ignoring .

a proposal to negotiate. The fact is that the President of Translinear, Ine. was
in Haiti December 1-5, 1975, at which time he was told that the Haitian Govern-
ment would no longer negotiate with Translinear and that the company was
through in Haiti.

Translinear officials have made over one hundred and fifty trips to Haiti dur-
ing the past four years. The Haitlan Government has never made g request or
suggestion to Translinear that has not been followed. We have made every con-
tractual alteration suggested, consistently maintained that a new Convention
should be a genuine joint-venture with the profits equally shared, and have con-
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tinnally assured the Haitian Government that we desire its sovereignty to be
guaranteed in any new Convention.,

he past four years of unjustly thwarted developnient activity on La ‘Lortue
and the attendant lack of due process in denying Translinear, Ine’s contractual
lease-hold rights have been a4 most disappointing and expensive experience for
this company. We have suffered breach of contract, confiscation and expropris-
tion of assets, and attempted bribery and extortion. The serious material dam-
ages we have endured run into the tens of millions of dollars, being deprived of
the increase in asset value of our investment and the profits therefrom which
would have followed from the fulfillment of the Convention.

The actual Transtinear dollar logs amounts to $2,7565,798.

On the grounds and for the reascns enumerated above, Translinear, Inec. re-
speetfully requests the Government of the Republic of Haiti to reimburse it for
actual losses in the indicated dollar amount,

Bxrmir I

TanLe 1-—Trenslincar, Inc., Expenditures Matde Relative to Tortuga Investment
as of Janwuary 31, 1976

Cash outlays (schedule 1) $1,699, 165
Related companies’ outlays (schedule 2) 529, 213
Note payable—Indian River Construction Co. 123, 000
Total : 2,851, 378

Stock issued:
In settlement of debt? 111, 000
TFor services rendered 24, 500

135, 500

Accrued interest mayable:

Related companies on monies advanced 203, 927
Indian River Qcastruction Co. 24, 993
228, 920

Contingent liability * 40, 600

$2, 7585, 108
1111,000 shares issued nt $1 per share, 40,000 shares issued at §0 cents per share; par

v nme=25 cents per §
2 Potential cost of B‘lorxda lawsult.

TABLE 2.~—Translinear, Inc., Expenditures Made Relative te Tortuga I'nvestment
us of January 81, 1976
Cash ontlays

Land leasehold—includes DCI payments $536, 851, 63
Leasehold improvements 412 908. 62
Office equipment 10,173. 52
Deposits and licenses 975, 00
Equipment escrow, Indian River Construction €o. oo 54, 100. 00
Expenses:
Operating *—after allocations to Boca Chica . 52, 028,19
Repairs, maintenance and supplies—Haiti . . 26, 721. 79
G‘onsulting fees : 26, 300. 00
Ingineering and architectural fees-—-. 65, 189. 76
TLegal and professional fees ] 96, 823,95
Management fees—TCM—{not paid) :
Interest 42, 720. 60
Salaries and payroll taxes 181 628, 29
Sales commissions i 900. 00
Sales promotion 23,932, 74
Travel expense 139, 001. 48
Telephone and telegraph 28, 869. 39
Totals . $1, 699, 164. 96

1Includes all other expenses.
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TapLe 8.—Translinear, Inc., Bexpenditures Made Relative to Tortuga Investment,
January 81,

Land leaseliold (ECM, IBV and T/L parinership) $380, 213
Management fees (including 77,246 accrued) 149, 090
Total 8529, 213

Exmmir 2
Qctoper 25, 1972,
Memorandum to: T'ranslinear Ing,,
First Nationel Bank Building,
Dallas, Tex.

By virtue of two agreements entered into by ‘Translinear Ine. and Dupont
Caribbean Inc, and International Business Ventures, Translinear has acquired
the leasehold interest on approximately 5,000 acres of land located on the
western end of the Island of La Tortue also known as Tortaga Island, said
being part of the territory of the Sovereign Republic of Haiti.

The first contract above mentioned, namely the one signed by Dupont Carib-
bean Inc. and Translinear Inc. is dated April 12, 1972, is in my opinion a valid
contract.

By this contract, Translinenr Ine, purchased from Dupont  Caribbean Ine,
which transferred to Translinear Inc, all of its interests in the possession nnd
use of.approximately 1.000 carreaux of unimproved land, located east of the
721 Georef meridian on the Island of Tortuga; the contmct: contains no
stipulation restricting the right of Translinear Ine. to transfer in whole or
in part the leasehold interest it acquired from Dupont Caribbean. Ine,

The contract was signed by the duly authorized representatives of each of
above mentioned corpomtmn and lawful compensation considered adequate by
each parties, was given by ’I‘mnqhnear in payment for its purchases.

Further the transaction itself, that is the transfer of leasehold interest, is
permitted and provided for by the laws of the Republic of Haiti.

The second contract, dated July 81, 1972 transfers into Translinear Ine. the
leaseliold interest which had been acquired by International Business Ventures
and limited partnership, from Dupont Caribbean Ine,, on land located within the
above mentioned area of the Island of Tortuga.

The same remarks made on the first contraet also applies to this second
contract, thatis:

(1) The transaction is lawiul;

(t2) Compensation is of a lawful nature and considered adequate by the
parties;

(1 3) The contract was signed by authorized representatives of each parties;
and

(4) The contract contains no clause restricting the right of Translinear to
transfer in whole or in part the interests it required.

These vights now vested into Translinear Ine. are in faet rights transferred
by Dupont Caribbean Inec, which received them from the Haitian State by
virtue of two (2) documents, one published in Le Moniteur, the Official Gazette
of the Republic of Haiti, in the issue of Monday April 5§, 1971 and second one
.published in the issue of January 20, 1972 of the same Official Gazette.

These documents, while stating that the ownership of the land of the Island
of ortuga, is and remains property of the Republie of Haiti, stnpulate that
said Republic leages to Dupont Caubbean Inc. land to be relensed in lots of 150
carreaux each for a first period of 25 years with an antomatic renewal for
further periods of 25 years provided certain fiseal obligations and other require-
ments of the contraet be met at the time the renewal is requested.

The Government released to Dupont Caribbean Inc, eleven (11) parcels of
180 carreaux each after payment of the rental for tlns total area of 1.500
carreaux for the first 25 years.

Incidentally, one carrenux is equal to 1.2923 hectares or 3.19237 acres.

The transaction, leasing of Government land, is Iawful, compensation of a
Iawful nature was paid, the contract was signed by the authonzed representa-
tives of the partieq and no stipulation in the contract forhids Dupont Caribhean
Ine, to transfer in whole or in part the right it had aequired to the use and
possession of the land released by the Haitian State.

"u"
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The contracts befween the Haitian State and Dupont Caribbean Ime. were

'duly approved by Presidential decree duly countersigned by the members of

the Cabinet.

Notice has been given by Translinear Inc. to the Haitian State that it has
acquired the rights of possession and of use of the land released by the Haitian
State to Dupont Caribbean Inc. and all legal formalities required by Haitian
law to be fulfilled by the beneficiary of such transfer have been met by
Translinear Inc.

Therefore, Translinear Inc, has a clear chain of title to the Government land
released by said Government of Haiti to Dupont Caribbean Ine, and the t wnsfer
of leasehold interest regarding this land have been effected in aeccordan.a with
Haitian Law.

I wish to state that I am an Aftorney member of the Port-au-Prince Bar
and have been practicing for close to 24 years; I am not a director, shiareholder
or full time employee of Translinear Inc. or of any of its afiiliated companies.

Very truly yours,
JEAN Cravpe N, LEGER.
Exuisir 3

SECRETAIRERIE D'IUTAT DU (JOMAMEHCE ET DE L'INDUSTRIE,
Port-au-Prince, Novembre 15, 1973.
TRANSLINEAR, INC.
I'irst National Banl Building,
Dallgs, Tea.

Messicurs ; Comme vous avez déja dd apprendre, le Tribunal Civil de Port-
au-Prince a rendu une décision pronongant la résolution du Contrat intervenu
enfre ln DUPONT CARIBBEAN, INC, Mousieur Don PIERSON d'une part
et I'Titat Haitien d’'autre part.

Cependant, il n'est point dans Yintention de I'Etat Haitien d’abandonner le
projet de développment de 'Ile de la Lortue of particulidrement, des Mille Six
Cent; Cinquante (1.650) carreaux de terve se trouvant & la pointe de la Tortue.

En raison de I'intérét que vous avez témoigné i ce projet et des investissements
que vous avez faits, Son Excellence le Président & Vie de République m'as
instruit d’envisager avec votre Compagnie mie reprise du project sur des bases
favorables, tant aux intéréts de la République qu’d ceux de voitre Compagnie.

En conséquence, nous vous sauyvions gré de préparer une proposition détaillée
que vous devrez soumettre aux organislmes appropiés due Gouvernement-—

Recevez, Megsieurs, mes meilleures salutations.

Dr. Seree N, TOURCAND,
Secrétaire @Btat duw Commerce et de I'Industrie.
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